
NOTICE: Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 
contact the City Clerk at (248) 524-3316 or via e-mail at clerk@troymi.gov at least two working days in 
advance of the meeting. An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TROY CITY COUNCIL 
 

 

REGULAR MEETING 

AGENDA 
 
 

 

JULY 20, 2015 
CONVENING AT 7:30 P.M. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submitted By 

The City Manager 

 

 

 

 

mailto:clerk@troymi.gov




 

 

 
 
 
 
TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
   Troy, Michigan 
 
FROM:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT:  Background Information and Reports 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
This booklet provides a summary of the many reports, communications and 
recommendations that accompany your agenda.  Also included are suggested 
or requested resolutions and/or ordinances for your consideration and 
possible adoption. 
 
Supporting materials transmitted with this Agenda have been prepared by 
department directors and staff members.  I am indebted to them for their 
efforts to provide insight and professional advice for your consideration. 
 
As always, we are happy to provide such added information as your 
deliberations may require. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
VISION: 
To honor the legacy of the past and build a strong, vibrant future and be an 
attractive place to live, work, and grow a business. 
 

GOALS: 
Provide a safe, clean, and livable city 

 Practice good stewardship of infrastructure  
 Maintain high quality professional community oriented police and fire protection 
 Conserve resources in an environmentally responsible manner 
 Encourage development toward a walkable, livable community 
 
Provide effective and efficient local government 

 Demonstrate excellence in community services 
 Maintain fiscally sustainable government 
 Attract and support a committed and innovative workforce 
 Develop and maintain efficiencies with internal and external partners 
 Conduct city business and engage in public policy formation in a clear and 

transparent manner 
 
Build a sense of community 

 Communicate internally and externally in a timely and accurate manner 
 Develop platforms for transparent, deliberative and meaningful community 

conversations 
 Involve all stakeholders in communication and engagement activities 
 Encourage volunteerism and new methods for community involvement 
 Implement the connectedness of community outlines in the Master Plan 2008 
 
Attract and retain business investment 

 Clearly articulate an economic development plan 
 Create an inclusive, entrepreneurial culture internally and externally 
 Clarify, reduce and streamline investment hurdles 
 Consistently enhance the synergy between existing businesses and growing 

economic sectors 
 Market the advantages of living and working in Troy through partnerships 
 
 
 
 

 

TROY CITY COUNCIL 
 

VISION STATEMENT AND GOALS 
Adopted: Monday, February 7, 2011 

 



 

 
 



 

 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

July 20, 2015 – 7:30 PM 

Council Chambers 

City Hall - 500 West Big Beaver 

Troy, Michigan 48084 

(248) 524-3317 

INVOCATION:  Pastor Vincent Messina From Woodside Bible Church 1 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 1 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 1 

B. ROLL CALL: 1 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: 1 

C-1 On behalf of the City of Troy Employees’ Casual for a Cause Program for the 
Months of March & April 2015, Community Affairs Director Cindy Stewart will 
Present a Check in the Amount of $596 to Executive Director Mary Grace 
McCarter from Rainbow Connection (Presented by:  Cindy Stewart, Community 
Affairs Director) 1 

C-2 SAFEbuilt Scholarship Presentation to Curtis Hsu and Ellen Zhang (Introduced by 
Paul Featherston, SAFEbuilt Building Official and Cindy Stewart, Community 
Affairs Director) 1 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 1 

D-1 No Carryover Items 1 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 2 

E-1 Public Hearing – Rezoning Application – File Number: Z 746 – Proposed Troy Fire 
Station No. 4 – North Side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121 E. Maple), 
Section 25 from R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood 
Node ‘C’) District (Presented by Brent Savidant, Planning Director) 2 



E-2 Public Hearing – Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment – File ZOTA 247 – Oil and 
Gas Extraction (Presented by Brent Savidant, Planning Director) 2 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY RESIDENTS 

AND BUSINESSES: 2 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 4 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 4 

H-1 No Postponed Items 4 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 4 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – None; b) City 
Council Appointments – None 4 

I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority, Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA), Planning 
Commission; b) City Council Nominations – Charter Revision Committee, Historic 
District Commission, Traffic Committee 4 

I-3 Closed Session Requested 11 

I-4 TAP Grant Presentation – Trails and Pathways (Introduced by:  Kurt Bovensiep, 
Public Works Manager) 12 

I-5 Standard Purchasing Resolution #1:  Award to Low Bidder and Budget 
Amendment – Contract 15-8 Wattles Mill and Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Overlay 
(Introduced by:  Steve Vandette, City Engineer) 12 

I-6 Resolution Concerning Fireworks (Introduced by:  Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney, 
and Gary Mayer, Chief of Police) 12 

I-7 Ballot Language for Library Millage Question - November 3, 2015 City General 
Election  (Introduced by:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager, Lori Grigg Bluhm, City 
Attorney, Aileen Dickson, City Clerk, and Cathleen Russ, Library Director) 13 



J. CONSENT AGENDA: 14 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 14 

J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council 14 

J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 14 

a) Special City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – July 13, 2015 .............................. 15 
b) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – July 13, 2015 ........................................... 15 

J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  None Submitted 15 

J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 15 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 2:  Award to Lowest Bidders Meeting 
Specifications – Traffic Control Signs and Posts ................................................ 15 

b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 4:  Cooperative Contract Award – Purchase 
of Grounds Maintenance Equipment .................................................................. 15 

J-5 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements Hunters 
Park 2 Site Condominiums – Project No. 15.904.3 15 

J-6 Relocation of Election Precincts 19 and 28 16 

J-7 Request to Accept an Offer to Purchase a City-Owned Remnant Parcel on 
Livernois Road at Cutting, Section 10 – Sidwell #88-20-10-101-018 16 

J-8 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Troy Market Homes, 
LLC – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-030 16 

J-9 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United 
Holdings, Inc. – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-028 17 

J-10 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United 
Holdings, Inc. – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-031 17 

J-11 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Srinivas Locula and 
Haripriya Locula – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-029 17 

J-12 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements – Multi-
Tenant Development – Project No. 15.906.3 18 



J-13 Request to Vacate a Portion of an Existing Public Utility Easement – Sidwell #88-
20-21-326-014 18 

J-14 Resolution Calling Public Hearings Regarding Approval of District Boundary 
Amendments and Approval of the Amended, Restated and Extended 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan of the Cities of Southfield 
and Troy Joint Local Development Finance Authority 18 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 31 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted 31 

K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at  
some future point in time):  None Submitted 31 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY 

RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES: 31 

M. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 31 

N. COUNCIL REFERRALS: 31 

N-1  No Council Referrals 31 

O. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 31 

O-1  No Council Comments Advanced 31 

P. REPORTS: 31 

P-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees: 31 

a) Planning Commission-Draft – June 23, 2015 ..................................................... 31 
b) Planning Commission-Final – June 23, 2015 ..................................................... 31 

P-2 Department Reports: 32 

a) Update on Request for SMART Bus Shelters in Troy by Resident Martha 
Wells .................................................................................................................. 32 

b) Update: Sale of Surplus City Parcels ................................................................. 32 
c) Summary of Traffic Committee Discussion of Tucker Barricade ........................ 32 



P-3 Letters of Appreciation: 32 

a) To Paul Featherston Commending Mark Riley for His Excellent Service ........... 32 

P-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted 32 

Q. COMMENTS ON ITEMS ON OR NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM MEMBERS OF 

THE PUBLIC OUTSIDE OF TROY (NOT RESIDENTS OF TROY AND NOT FROM 

TROY BUSINESSES): 32 

R. CLOSED SESSION: 32 

R-1 Closed Session – City of Troy v. Grand Sakwa 32 

S. ADJOURNMENT: 32 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 33 

PROPOSED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS AND STUDY SESSIONS: 33 

SCHEDULED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 33 

August 10, 2015 at 6:00 PM Discuss the Great Lakes Water Authority ................ 33 

2015 SCHEDULED REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 33 

August 10, 2015 Regular Meeting ......................................................................... 33 
August 24, 2015 Regular Meeting ......................................................................... 33 
September 14, 2015 Regular Meeting ................................................................... 33 

September 28, 2015 Regular Meeting ................................................................... 33 
October 12, 2015 Regular Meeting ....................................................................... 33 
October 26, 2015 Regular Meeting ....................................................................... 33 
November 9, 2015 Regular Meeting ...................................................................... 33 

November 23, 2015 Regular Meeting .................................................................... 33 
December 7, 2015 Regular Meeting ...................................................................... 33 
December 14, 2015 Regular Meeting .................................................................... 33 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 1 - 
 

INVOCATION:  Pastor Vincent Messina From Woodside Bible Church 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:   

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

B. ROLL CALL: 

a) Mayor Dane Slater 
Jim Campbell 
Steve Gottlieb 
Dave Henderson 
Ellen Hodorek  
Ed Pennington  
Doug Tietz 

 
b) Excuse Absent Council Members: 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby EXCUSES the absence of ______________ at the 
Special Study and Regular City Council Meetings of July 20, 2015, due to ________________. 
 
Yes:       
No:       

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  

C-1 On behalf of the City of Troy Employees’ Casual for a Cause Program for the 

Months of March & April 2015, Community Affairs Director Cindy Stewart will 

Present a Check in the Amount of $596 to Executive Director Mary Grace McCarter 

from Rainbow Connection (Presented by:  Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs 
Director) 

 

C-2 SAFEbuilt Scholarship Presentation to Curtis Hsu and Ellen Zhang (Introduced by 
Paul Featherston, SAFEbuilt Building Official and Cindy Stewart, Community 

Affairs Director) 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 

D-1 No Carryover Items 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 2 - 
 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

E-1 Public Hearing – Rezoning Application – File Number: Z 746 – Proposed Troy Fire 

Station No. 4 – North Side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121 E. Maple), 

Section 25 from R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood 

Node ‘C’) District (Presented by Brent Savidant, Planning Director) 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
WHEREAS, The City is in receipt of a rezoning request, from R-1E to NN (Node “C”), File 
Number Z-746, as demonstrated by the Ordinance to amend Chapter 39 of the Code of the 
City of Troy and as illustrated in the attached Certificate of Survey; 
 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the proposed 
rezoning from R-1E to NN (Node “C”). 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, The Zoning District Map is hereby AMENDED. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
 

E-2 Public Hearing – Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment – File ZOTA 247 – Oil and 

Gas Extraction (Presented by Brent Savidant, Planning Director) 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SCHEDULES a joint meeting of the City Council and 
Planning Commission to discuss proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to 
the regulation of oil and gas facilities, as requested by City Management. 
 
Yes:       
No:       

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY 

RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES: 

In accordance with the Rules of Procedure for the City Council, Article 17 – Members of 

the Public and Visitors: 

Any person not a member of the City Council may address the Council with recognition of the 
Chair, after clearly stating the nature of his/her inquiry or comment. City Council requests that if 
you do have a question or concern, to bring it to the attention of the appropriate department(s) 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 3 - 
 

whenever possible. If you feel that the matter has not been resolved satisfactorily, you are 
encouraged to bring it to the attention of the City Manager, and if still not resolved satisfactorily, to 
the Mayor and Council. 

 Petitioners shall be given a fifteen (15) minute presentation time that may be extended with 
the majority consent of City Council. 

 Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes to address any Public Hearing item. 

 Any Troy resident or Troy business representative, not a petitioner of an item, shall be 
allowed to speak for up to three (3) minutes total to address Postponed, Regular Business, 
Consent Agenda or Study items or any other item on the Agenda as permitted under the 
Open Meetings Act during the Public Comment for Items On the Agenda from Troy 
Residents and Businesses portion of the Agenda. 

 Any Troy resident or Troy business representative, not a petitioner of an item, shall be 
allowed to speak for up to three (3) minutes to address any topic not on the Agenda as 
permitted under the Open Meetings Act during the Public Comment for Items Not on the 
Agenda from Troy Residents and Businesses portion of the Agenda. 

 Any member of the public who is not a Troy resident or Troy business representative shall be 
allowed to speak for up to three (3) minutes to address any topic on or not on the Agenda as 
permitted under the Open Meetings Act during the Comments for Items On or Not On the 
Agenda from Members of the Public Outside of Troy (Not Residents of Troy and Not From 
Troy Businesses) portion of the Agenda. 

 All members of the public who wish to address the Council at a meeting shall be allowed to 
speak only if they have signed up to speak within thirty minutes before or within fifteen 
minutes after the meeting’s start time. Signing up to speak requires each speaker provide his 
or her name and residency status (Troy resident, non-resident, or Troy business owner). If 
the speaker is addressing an Item (or Items) that appear on the pre-printed agenda, then the 
speaker shall also identify each such agenda item number(s) to be addressed. 

 City Council may waive the requirements of this section by a majority vote of the City Council 
members. 

 Agenda items that are related to topics where there is significant public input anticipated 
should initiate the scheduling of a Special meeting for that specific purpose. 

The following has been approved by Troy City Council as a statement of the rules of decorum for 
City Council meetings. The Mayor will also provide a verbal notification of these rules prior to 
Public Comment: 
 
The audience should be aware that all comments are to be directed to the Council rather than 
to City Administration or the audience. Anyone who wishes to address the Council is required 
to sign up to speak within thirty minutes before or within fifteen minutes of the start of the 
meeting. There are three Public Comment portions of the Agenda. For Items On the Agenda, 
Troy Residents and Business Owners can sign up to address Postponed, Regular Business, 
Consent Agenda, or Study items or any other item on the Agenda. Troy Residents and 
Business Owners can sign up to address all other topics under Items Not on the Agenda.  All 
Speakers who do not live in Troy or own a Troy business may sign up to speak during the 
Comments on Items On and Not On the Agenda from Members of the Public Outside of Troy. 
Also, there is a timer on the City Council table in front of the Mayor that turns yellow when there 
is one minute of speaker time remaining, and turns red when the speaker's time is up.    



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 4 - 
 

In order to make the meeting more orderly and out of respect, please do not clap during the 
meeting, and please do not use expletives or make derogatory or disparaging comments about 
any one person or group.  If you do so, then there may be immediate consequences, including 
having the microphone turned off, being asked to leave the meeting, and/or the deletion of 
speaker comments for any re-broadcast of the meeting.  Speakers should also be careful to 
avoid saying anything that would subject them to civil liability, such as slander and defamation.  
 
Please avoid these consequences and voluntarily assist us in maintaining the decorum befitting 
this great City. 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 

H-1 No Postponed Items 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – None; b) City 

Council Appointments – None 
 

a) Mayoral Appointments:  None 
 

b) City Council Appointments:  None 
 

I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority, Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA), Planning 

Commission; b) City Council Nominations – Charter Revision Committee, Historic 

District Commission, Traffic Committee 
 

a) Mayoral Nominations:   
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby FORWARDS the following nominated 
person(s) to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City Council 
Meeting for action: 
 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
Appointed by Mayor 
7 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 5 - 
 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name 
App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 2 Notes 3 
 

Dziurman Theodore 5/7/2017 4/30/2015 BCBA exp 1/1/2020 NO Reappointment  

Kerwin Mary 1/16/2017 4/30/2017    

Kornacki Rosemary 12/12/2015 4/30/2017    

Swartz Robert D. 12/16/2017 4/30/2017    

Vacancy   4/30/2016 
Bruce Wilberding’s 
unexpired term. 

 
 

Vassallo Joseph J. 5/7/2017 4/30/2018    
 

 

Nominations to the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority: 
 

Term Expires:  4/30/2018  

 
Term currently held by: Vacancy – Bruce Wilberding’s 

unexpired term (resigned 4/11/2014) 
  

Term Expires:  4/30/2018  

 Term currently held by: Theodore Dziurman 
 

Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume Expire Notes 1 

Salgat Charles 5/20/2017  
 

 
 

Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA) 
Appointed by Mayor 
5 Regular Members 

Staggered 4 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 1 Notes 3 

Beltramini Robin 4/4/2016 6/30/2018 Resident Member  

Hodorek Ellen  11/13/2017   

Hoef Paul V. 5/1/2017 6/30/2015 Resident Member Requests 
Reappointment 

Kidder Michael 1/13/2009 6/30/2015 Member  

Sharp John 7/15/2013 6/30/2016 Resident Member  

Shields David 6/14/2014 6/30/2016 Member  

Slater Dane  11/9/2015 Alternate  



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 6 - 
 

Spanos Irene     

Vitale Nickolas 4/27/2017 6/30/2015 Resident Member Requests 
Reappointment 

 

 

Nominations to the Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA): 
 

Term Expires:  6/30/2019  (Resident Member) 

 Term currently held by: Paul V. Hoef 
 

Term Expires:  6/30/2019  (Member) 

 Term currently held by: Michael Kidder 
 

Term Expires:  6/30/2019  (Resident Member) 

 Term currently held by: Nickolas Vitale 
 

Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume Expire Notes 1 

McCown Paul D. 7/10/2015  

Schick Michael 1/13/2017  

Sinutko Jaime 8/5/2016  
 

 
 

Planning Commission 
Appointed by Mayor 
9 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 2 Notes 3 

Apahidean Ollie 11/22/2015 12/31/2017   

Boudon Frank 6/17/2016 7/31/2015 STUDENT NO Reappointment 

Brikho Frencheska 3/23/2017 7/31/2016 STUDENT  

Crusse Karen 11/13/2016 12/31/2017   

Edmunds Donald 11/15/2012 12/31/2016 EDC EXP 
4/30/3014;  

Requests 
Reappointment 

Hutson Michael 9/4/2014 12/31/2015 Sust Design 
Rev Comm-Ad 
Hoc 

 

Krent Thomas 9/20/2015 12/31/2016  Requests 
Reappointment 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 7 - 
 

Kuppa Padma 12/18/2016 12/31/2016   

Sanzica Philip 9/24/2014 12/31/2015 PC Rep On Zba  

Strat Thomas 10/15/2016 12/31/2017 Sust Design 
Rev Comm-Ad 
Hoc 

Resigned 7/15/15 

Tagle John 9/12/2014 12/31/2015   
 

 

Nominations to the Planning Commission: 
 

Unexpired Term Expiring: 12/31/2017  

 
Term currently held by: Thomas Strat resigned 

7/15/2015 
 

Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Expire 

Notes 1 Notes 2 

Desmond Thomas 10/21/2016   

Faison Carlton 7/1/2017   

Kaltsounis Orestis Rusty 12/12/2015  P&R Bd exp 9/30/2015; ZBA (Alt.) 
exp 1/31/2015 

Kaltsounis Andrew 10/15/2016  Liquor Advisory Comm. exp 
1/31/2016 

Lambert Dave 3/10/2016  ZBA exp 4/30/2014 

Schick Michael 1/13/2017   

Slifkin Elizabeth 3/24/2017 STUDENT  

Talarico Paula 1/8/2017   

Wilsher Cynthia 10/9/2016   
 

 
Yes:  
No:  
 

b) City Council Nominations:  

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby FORWARDS the following nominated person(s) to 
serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City Council Meeting for 
action: 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 8 - 
 

Charter Revision Committee 
Appointed by Council 
7 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name 
App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 1 

Berk Robert 2/27/2015 4/30/2016  

Bernardi Maryann 11/18/2013 4/30/2015 NO Reappointment 

Bliss Daniel 11/16/2013 4/30/2015 NO Reappointment 

Howrylak Frank 2/1/2014 4/30/2017  

Kanoza Shirley 2/21/2015 4/30/2016  

Weisgerber William 11/17/2013 4/30/2015 NO Reappointment 

Wilsher Cynthia 2/27/2016 4/30/2017  
 

 

Nominations to the Charter Revision Committee: 
 

Term Expires:  4/30/2018  

 Term currently held by: Maryann Bernardi 

  

Term Expires:  4/30/2018  

 Term currently held by: Daniel Bliss 
 

Term Expires:  4/30/2018  

 Term currently held by: William Weisgerber 
 

Interested Applicants: 
No applicants on file. 

 
 

Historic District Commission 
Appointed by Council 
7 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last 
Name 

First 
Name 

App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 2 Notes 3 

Chambers Barbara 12/20/2015 3/1/2017   

McCown Paul 7/10/2015 3/1/2017 ZBA (ALT) exp 1/31/2018  

McGee Timothy 8/13/2014 5/15/2018   



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 9 - 
 

Petrulis Al 1/8/2016 3/1/2017 ACAB exp 9/30/2015; 
Traffic Comm. exp 
1/31/2017 

 

Schuchter Doris 11/22/2013 5/15/2015 Historical Society 
Recommendation 

NO 
Reappointment 

Talarico Paula 1/8/2017 3/1/2018   

Voigt W. Kent 1/23/2015 3/1/2016   
 

 

Nominations to the Historic District Commission: 
 

Term Expires:  5/15/2018  

 Term currently held by: Doris Schuchter 
 

Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume Expire Notes 1 

Adams John 12/19/2016  

Huber Laurie 6/10/2017 P&R Bd. exp 9/30/2015 

Salgat Charles 5/20/2017  
 

 
 

Liquor Advisory Committee 
Appointed by Council 
7 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 1 Notes 3 

Comiskey Ann M. 3/18/2016 1/31/2018   

Ehlert Max K. 11/5/2016 1/31/2018   

Godlewski W. Stan 12/14/2012 1/31/2017   

Gorcyca David 12/6/2015 1/31/2017   

Hall Patrick C. 12/12/2014 1/31/2016   

Huber Robert M. 8/26/2016 7/31/2015 STUDENT Graduated 2015 

Kaltsounis Andrew 12/13/2014 1/31/2016   

Oberski Jeff     

Payne Timothy P. 2/8/2014 1/31/2018   
 

 

Nominations to the Liquor Advisory Committee 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 10 - 
 

Term Expires:  7/31/2016  STUDENT 

 Term currently held by: Robert Huber (Student) 
 

Interested Applicants: 
No student applicants on file. 

 
 

Parks and Recreation Board 
Appointed by Council 

7 Regular Members and 1 Troy School Board Member: 
Regular Member: 3 Year Term  /  Troy School Board Member: 1 Year Term 

 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name 
App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 1 

Baker Julia (Judy) 5/7/2015 9/30/2016  

Bo Elaine    

Hauff Gary 2/6/2014 7/31/2015 Troy School Dist. Rep. on P&R Board 

Huber Laurie 2/8/2014 9/30/2015  

Kaltsounis Orestis Rusty 1/20/2014 9/30/2015  

McGee Timothy 8/13/2014 9/30/2017  

Slifkin Elizabeth 3/24/2017 7/31/2016 STUDENT 

Stewart Jeffrey 6/27/2015 9/30/2016  

Toth Steve 10/3/2013 9/30/2016  

Zikakis Janice 10/15/2016 9/30/2017  
 

 

Nominations to theTraffic Committee: 
 

Term Expires:  7/31/2016  Troy School Dist. Rep. 

 Term currently held by: Gary Hauff, Troy School Board Member 
 

Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Expire 

Notes 1 Notes 2 

Brandstetter Tim 10/17/2016  Traffic Comm. exp 1/31/2018 

Brikho Frencheska 3/23/2017 STUDENT Planning Comm. exp 7/31/2016 

Regan Kathleen 3/26/2017 STUDENT Traffic Comm. exp 7/31/2016 

Salgat Charles 5/20/2017   

Wilsher Cynthia 10/9/2016   
 

 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 11 - 
 

Traffic Committee 
Appointed by Council 
7 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name App Res 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire 

Notes 1 

Brandstetter Tim 10/17/2016 1/31/2018  

Easterbrook David 12/2/2015 1/31/2016 Stevan Popovic's unexpired term 

Huotari William   Ex-Officio Member 

Kilmer Richard 12/12/2015 1/31/2017  

Mayer Gary   Ex-Officio Member 

Nelson William   Ex-Officio Member 

Petrulis Al 1/8/2016 1/31/2017 ACAB exp 9/30/2015 

Regan Kathleen 3/26/2017 7/31/2015 Student 

Vacancy   1/31/2016 O. Apahidean resigned 2/13/15  

Wilsher Cynthia 10/9/2016 1/31/2018  

Ziegenfelder Peter 12/9/2015 1/31/2017  
 

 

Nominations to theTraffic Committee: 
 

Term Expires:  1/31/2016  

 
Term currently held by: Vacancy (O. Apahidean resigned 

2/13/15) 
   

Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume Expire Notes 1 Notes 3 

Huber Robert 6/10/2017   
 

 
Yes:       
No:       
 

I-3 Closed Session Requested 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 

BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL MEET in Closed Session, as permitted by 
MCL15.268 (e) Pending Litigation – City of Troy v. Grand Sakwa. 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 12 - 
 

Yes:       
No:       
 

I-4 TAP Grant Presentation – Trails and Pathways (Introduced by:  Kurt Bovensiep, 
Public Works Manager) 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That the City Council for the City of Troy, Oakland County, Michigan, hereby 

AUTHORIZES the City of Troy’s Parks, Streets, and Drains Divisions to pursue a 
Transportation Alternative Program grant application for an amount not to exceed $500,000 in 
local match for the first phase of a three phase project to provide a non-motorized pathway 
network from Troy’s City Hall to the Clinton River Trail. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
 

I-5 Standard Purchasing Resolution #1:  Award to Low Bidder and Budget 

Amendment – Contract 15-8 Wattles Mill and Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Overlay 
(Introduced by:  Steve Vandette, City Engineer) 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS Contract No. 15-8, Wattles Mill & HMA 
Overlay, to Pro-Line Asphalt Paving Corp.,  11797 29 Mile Road, Washington Twp., MI, 48095 
for their low total bid of $2,183,316.97. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon submission of proper 
contract and bid documents, including bonds, insurance certificates and all specified 

requirements, and if additional work is required such additional work is AUTHORIZED in an 
amount not to exceed 10% of the total project cost. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That Troy City Council AMENDS the 2016 Major Street Budget to 
transfer additional funds in the amount of $540,000 to the capital budget; a copy of the bid 

tabulation shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

I-6 Resolution Concerning Fireworks (Introduced by:  Lori Grigg Bluhm, City 
Attorney, and Gary Mayer, Chief of Police) 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 13 - 
 

Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
WHEREAS, 2011 PA No. 256 amended the law concerning fireworks in the State of Michigan, 
and these new provisions were effective on January 1, 2012; and  
 
WHEREAS, This law was amended in part by the passage of 2013 PA 65, but the state law still 
precludes local units of government from enacting legislation to totally limit the ignition, 
discharge or use of consumer fireworks on the day before a national holiday, the day of a 
national holiday, and the day after a national holiday; and  
 
WHEREAS, The revised state fireworks statutes have resulted in many complaints and 
concerns being raised by a number of municipal constituents during the most recent 4th of July 
holiday period, and have resulted in far more fireworks related noise, litter and potential safety 
issues; and  

 
WHEREAS, The statutory revisions to the state fireworks statutes have created many concerns 
for Michigan municipalities, including but not limited to the allowance of the storage of 
explosives next to residences and businesses, and the removal of local control and discretion 
for the ignition, discharge, and use of fireworks; and  
 
WHEREAS, Proposed revisions have been introduced in both the State House of 
Representatives (HB 4367) and the State Senate (SB 0300), but action on these bills appears 
to have stalled.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the Troy City Council strongly URGES the 
Michigan legislature to revisit and revise the state fireworks statutes, MCL 28.451 et. seq. in 
order to allow local units of government to carry out the obligation to preserve the quality of life 
and safety that its citizens expect.  

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk shall SEND a copy of this Resolution to all 
state elected officials representing any portion of the City of Troy. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
 

I-7 Ballot Language for Library Millage Question - November 3, 2015 City General 

Election  (Introduced by:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager, Lori Grigg Bluhm, City 
Attorney, Aileen Dickson, City Clerk, and Cathleen Russ, Library Director) 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES for placement on the ballot for the 
November 3, 2015 General Election, the following proposal:  



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 14 - 
 

 

CITY COUNCIL WOULD BE AUTHORIZED TO RENEW A LEVY OF 0.7 MILLS 

FOR FIVE YEARS FOR DEDICATED LIBRARY FUNDING WITH THE 

SUCCESSFUL PASSAGE OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTION: 
 
Shall the City of Troy renew its previously authorized millage of 0.7 mills 
against all taxable property for a five (5) year period of time, 2016 through 
2021, inclusive, for the dedicated purpose of operating and maintaining the 
library? 0.7 mills are equal to $0.70 on each $1,000.00 of taxable value. If 
approved, the additional millage levied will raise approximately $3,203,233 in 
2016, the first year it is levied. Millage revenue would be disbursed to the 
City for library purposes.  Of this amount, state law requires the capture of 
approximately $5,042 for Local Development Finance Authority, $52,808 for 
Downtown Development Authority, and $3,197 for Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority purposes.  This proposal is authorized under 
Section 6 of Article IX of the Michigan Constitution. 
 
Yes ______ No ______ 

 
Yes:       
No:       

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES all items on the Consent Agenda as 

presented with the exception of Item(s)           , which shall be CONSIDERED after 
Consent Agenda (J) items, as printed. 
Yes:       
No:       
 

J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council  
 

J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following Minutes as submitted: 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 15 - 
 

a) Special City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – July 13, 2015 

b) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – July 13, 2015 
 

J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  None Submitted 
 

J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 
 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 2:  Award to Lowest Bidders Meeting 

Specifications – Traffic Control Signs and Posts 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS one-year contracts to provide Traffic 
Control Signs and Posts on a proposal by proposal basis to the five (5) lowest total bidders 
meeting specifications for an estimated total cost of $73,941.35; as detailed below and at unit 
prices contained in the bid tabulation, opened July 9, 2015, a copy of which shall be 

ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting, with the contract expiring June 30, 2016. 
 

Bidder Proposal 

Estimated 

Total 

Custom Products Corp A $3,391.75  

Garden State Highway Products B, C, D $2,932.80 

Vulcan Signs E, F, G, K $54,290.80 

Lightle Enterprises of Ohio LLC I $2,016.00 

Dornbos Sign & Safety  J $11,310.00 

Estimated Grand Total 

 

$73,941.35  

 

b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 4:  Cooperative Contract Award – Purchase of 

Grounds Maintenance Equipment 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby WAIVES formal bidding procedures and 

AUTHORIZES the City of Troy to purchase seven (7) pieces of Toro grounds maintenance 
equipment from Spartan Distributors of Auburn Hills, Michigan, for an estimated total cost of 
$190,126.32 at Billy Casper Contract pricing; as detailed in the attached tabulation which shall 

be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon the contractor’s 
submission of properly executed bid documents, including insurance certificates, and all other 
specified requirements. 
 

J-5 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements Hunters 

Park 2 Site Condominiums – Project No. 15.904.3 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 16 - 
 

Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the Contract for the Installation of 
Municipal Improvements (Private Agreement) between the City of Troy and Mondrian 
Properties Hunters Park 2, LLC for the installation of Water Main, Sanitary & Storm Sewer, 

Concrete Pavement and Sidewalk, and the Mayor and City Clerk are AUTHORIZED to execute 

the documents, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-6 Relocation of Election Precincts 19 and 28 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the request to relocate voting 
precincts #19 and #28 from Christ Our Light! Catholic Church, 3077 Glouchester, to Lutheran 
Church of the Master, 3333 Coolidge Highway, beginning with the November 3, 2015 City 
General Election, as recommended by City Management. 
 

J-7 Request to Accept an Offer to Purchase a City-Owned Remnant Parcel on 

Livernois Road at Cutting, Section 10 – Sidwell #88-20-10-101-018 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council Resolution #2014-04-040 approved the sale of the City owned 
remnant parcel having Sidwell #88-20-10-101-018 without obtaining a sealed bid;  
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council APPROVES the sale of the 
remnant parcel, described in the Offer to Purchase attached hereto, to Walter E. Boyd for 
$30,000.00. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the Engineering 
Department to expend the necessary closing costs to complete this sale. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Mayor and City Clerk are AUTHORIZED TO 

EXECUTE the Agreement to Purchase and the Warranty Deed, on behalf of the City. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED TO RECORD said 
documents, including all attachments, at the Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of 

which shall be ATTACHED to and made a part of the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-8 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Troy Market Homes, 

LLC – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-030 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 17 - 
 

 

RESOLVED, That City Council hereby ACCEPTS two permanent easements for sidewalks and 
storm sewers & surface drainage from Troy Market Homes, LLC, owner of the property having 
Sidwell #88-20-27-180-030. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the permanent 

easements with Oakland County Register of Deeds, copies of which shall be ATTACHED to the 
original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-9 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings, 

Inc. – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-028 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That City Council hereby ACCEPTS A permanent easement for sidewalks from 
Michigan United Holdings, Inc., owner of the property having Sidwell #88-20-27-180-028, and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the permanent 

easement with Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the 
original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-10 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings, 

Inc. – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-031 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That City Council hereby ACCEPTS a permanent easement for sidewalks from 
Michigan United Holdings, Inc., owner of the property having Sidwell #88-20-27-180-031. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the permanent 

easement with Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the 
original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-11 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Srinivas Locula and 

Haripriya Locula – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-029 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That City Council hereby ACCEPTS two permanent easements for sidewalks and 
storm sewers & surface drainage from Srinivas Locula and Haripriya Locula, owners of the 
property having Sidwell #88-20-27-180-029. 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 18 - 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the permanent 

easements with Oakland County Register of Deeds, copies of which shall be ATTACHED to the 
original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-12 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements – Multi-

Tenant Development – Project No. 15.906.3 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 
RESOLVED, That the Contract for the Installation of Municipal Improvements (Private 

Agreement) between the City of Troy and Alrig USA, is hereby APPROVED for the installation 
of sanitary sewer, storm sewer, sidewalks, paving, soil erosion and landscaping, and the Mayor 

and City Clerk are AUTHORIZED to execute the documents, a copy of which shall be 

ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-13 Request to Vacate a Portion of an Existing Public Utility Easement – Sidwell #88-

20-21-326-014 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby VACATES a portion of a public utility easement as 
recorded in Liber 43410, Page 099 by Quit Claim Deed. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City 
Clerk to execute Quit Claim Deeds conveying interest of the vacated portion of the public utility 
easement to the property owners, Galleria of Troy, LLC, for the property having Sidwell #88-20-21-
326-014. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby DIRECTED to record the Quit Claim 

Deed with Oakland County Register of Deeds, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original 
Minutes of this meeting. 
 

J-14 Resolution Calling Public Hearings Regarding Approval of District Boundary 

Amendments and Approval of the Amended, Restated and Extended Development 

Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan of the Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint 

Local Development Finance Authority 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2015-07-      
 
WHEREAS, The City of Troy (“Troy”) and the City of Southfield (“Southfield”) have previously 
established the Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint Local Development Finance Authority (the 
“Authority”), a multi-jurisdictional local development finance authority under the provisions of 
Act 281, Public Acts of Michigan, 1986, as amended (“Act 281”); and 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 19 - 
 

WHEREAS, The Authority currently exercises its powers within the authority district (the 
“Authority District”) identified in the Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 
previously approved by the Authority, Troy and Southfield (the “Current Plan”); and 
 
WHEREAS, The Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) has previously 
designated the Authority District as a “certified technology park” (commonly known as a 
“SmartZone”) in accordance with Act 281; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Authority, Troy and Southfield are negotiating an agreement with the MEDC 
under which Troy and Southfield are authorized to amend the Current Plan to extend the 
duration of the Current Plan for an additional period of 15 years and to amend the boundaries 
of Authority District to include additional lands in Southfield that have been or that are expected 
to be designated as a “certified technology park” by the MEDC, all in accordance with the 
provisions of Act 281; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Authority, by resolution adopted on July 14, 2015, has requested that Troy 
and Southfield amend the boundaries of the Authority District to include additional lands in 
Southfield that have been or that are expected to be designated as a “certified technology park” 
by the MEDC; and 
 
WHEREAS, It is necessary to conduct a public hearing in connection with the consideration of 
the proposed amendments to the boundaries of the Authority District as required by Act 281; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, In accordance with the provisions of Act 281, the Authority, by resolution adopted 
on July 14, 2015, has approved an Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and 
Tax Increment Financing Plan (the “Amended Plan”), which amends and restates and extends 
the duration of the Current Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Authority has submitted the Amended Plan to Troy and Southfield for 
consideration and approval; and 
 
WHEREAS, It is necessary to conduct a public hearing in connection with the consideration of 
the Amended Plan as required by Act 281. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT: 
 
1. Determination of Necessity of Boundary Amendments. In order to encourage local 

development, to prevent conditions of unemployment and to promote economic growth, 

the City Council DETERMINES that it is necessary to expand the boundaries of the 
Authority District pursuant to the provisions of Act 281. 

 
2. Designation of Amended District Boundaries.  The amended boundaries of the Authority 

District in which the Authority will exercise its powers in accordance with Act 281 is 

hereby tentatively DESIGNATED to be as set forth in Exhibit A attached to this 
resolution and made a part hereof. 

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 20 - 
 

3. Public Hearing on Amended District Boundaries; Notices.  There SHALL be a public 
hearing on Monday, August 24, 2015, at 7:30 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time, in the Troy 
City Hall to consider adoption by the City Council of a resolution amending the 
boundaries of the Authority District in which the Authority will exercise its powers. 
 
The City Clerk shall cause notice of said public hearing to be published twice in a 
newspaper of general circulation in Troy.  Each publication of the notice shall be not less 
than 20 days and not more than 40 days before the date set for the public hearing.  The 
notice shall be published as a display advertisement prominent in size.  The City Clerk 
shall also cause notice of the public hearing to be mailed not less than 20 days prior to 
the public hearing (i) by first class mail to all property taxpayers of record in the 
proposed Authority District located within Troy as shown by the most recent tax roll of 
Troy and (ii) by certified mail to the governing body of each taxing jurisdiction levying 
taxes that would be subject to capture if the Amended Plan is approved. 
 
The notice of said public hearing shall be in substantially the form attached to this 
resolution as Exhibit B. 

 

4. Acknowledgment of Amended Plan.  The City Council hereby ACKNOWLEDGES 

receipt of the Amended Plan from the Authority and DIRECTS the City Manager or City 
Clerk to advise all local taxing jurisdictions of the Amended Plan and of the City 
Council’s intention to consider approval of the Amended Plan. 

 

5. Public Hearing on Amended Plan; Notices.  There SHALL be a public hearing on 
Monday, August 24, 2015, at 7:30 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time, in the Troy City Hall to 
consider adoption by the City Council of a resolution approving the Amended Plan. 
 
The City Clerk shall cause notice of said public hearing to be published twice in a 
newspaper of general circulation in Troy.  The first publication shall be not less than 20 
days before the date set for the public hearing.  The notice shall be published as a 
display advertisement prominent in size.  The City Clerk shall also cause notice of the 
public hearing to be mailed not less than 20 days prior to the public hearing by certified 
mail to the governing body of each taxing jurisdiction levying taxes that would be subject 
to capture if the Amended Plan is approved. 
 
The notice of said public hearing shall be in substantially the form attached to this 
resolution as Exhibit C. 

6. Rescission.  All resolutions and parts of resolutions insofar as they conflict with the 

provisions of this resolution be and the same hereby are RESCINDED to the extent of 
such conflict. 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY TO BE INCLUDED IN THE 
PROPOSED AMENDED AUTHORITY DISTRICT 

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 21 - 
 

Southfield CTP 

 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 22 - 
 

Southfield CTP – Lawrence Technological University Expansion 

 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 23 - 
 

Troy CTP 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON  
AMENDED DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 

 
CITY OF TROY 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND, STATE OF MICHIGAN 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ON APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO THE DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
OF THE CITIES OF SOUTHFIELD AND TROY 

JOINT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 
 

 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City Council of the City of Troy, County of 
Oakland, State of Michigan (the “City of Troy”), will hold a public hearing on Monday, August 
24, 2015, at 7:30 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time, in the Council Chambers in City Hall located at 
500 W. Big Beaver Rd., Troy, Michigan, to consider the adoption of a resolution amending the 
boundaries of the authority district in which the Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint Local 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 24 - 
 

Development Finance Authority (the “Joint Authority”) will exercise its powers pursuant to the 
provisions of Act 281, Public Acts of Michigan, 1986, as amended. 
 

PROPOSED AMENDED DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
 
 It is proposed that the current district boundaries of the Joint Authority be amended to 
include additional lands located in the City of Southfield, County of Oakland, State of Michigan 
(the “City of Southfield”).  If approved by the City Council of the City of Troy and by the City 
Council of the City of Southfield, the amended boundaries of the district in which the Joint 
Authority will exercise its powers will consist of the following areas in the City of Troy and in the 
City of Southfield: 
 
 
In the City of Troy:   
 

Troy CTP 

 
 
 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 25 - 
 

In the City of Southfield: 
 

Southfield CTP 

 

 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 26 - 
 

Southfield CTP – Lawrence Technological University Expansion 

 
 
A legal description of the proposed amended district boundaries of the Joint Authority is 

on file at the office of the City Clerk of the City of Troy for public inspection during normal 
business hours. 
 
 At the public hearing, all residents, taxpayers, property owners from a taxing jurisdiction 
in which the proposed amended district boundaries is located or an official from a taxing 
jurisdiction with millage that would be subject to capture desiring to address the City Council 
shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard in regard to the approval of the proposed amended 
district boundaries of the Joint Authority. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION may be obtained from the office of the City Clerk, 500 W. Big 
Beaver Rd., Troy, Michigan 48084. 
 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Troy pursuant to Act 281, 
Public Acts of Michigan, 1986, as amended. 

 
 

       Aileen Dickson, CMC 
       City Clerk 

City of Troy 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 27 - 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON  
AMENDED PLAN 

 
CITY OF TROY 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND, STATE OF MICHIGAN 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ON APPROVAL OF THE AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN OF THE 

CITIES OF SOUTHFIELD AND TROY 
JOINT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

 
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City Council of the City of Troy, County of 
Oakland, State of Michigan (the “City of Troy”), will hold a public hearing on Monday, August 
24, 2015, at 7:30 p.m., prevailing Eastern Time, in the Council Chambers in City Hall located at 
500 W. Big Beaver Rd., Troy, Michigan, to consider the adoption of a resolution approving the 
Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan (the 
“Amended Plan”) of the Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint Local Development Finance 
Authority (the “Joint Authority”) pursuant to the provisions of Act 281, Public Acts of Michigan, 
1986, as amended. 
 
 The Amended Plan applies to the following property in the City of Troy and in the City of 
Southfield, County of Oakland, State of Michigan (the “City of Southfield”): 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 28 - 
 

In the City of Troy: 
 

Troy CTP 

 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 29 - 
 

In the City of Southfield: 
 

Southfield CTP 

 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 30 - 
 

Southfield CTP – Lawrence Technological University Expansion 

 
 
 

Copies of the proposed Amended Plan and maps, plats, etc., are on file at the office of the City 
Clerk of the City of Troy for public inspection during normal business hours. 
 
 At the public hearing, all interested persons desiring to address the City Council shall be 
afforded an opportunity to be heard in regard to the approval of the Amended Plan of the Joint 
Authority.  All aspects of the Amended Plan will be open for discussion at the public hearing. 
 
 FURTHER INFORMATION may be obtained from the office of the City Clerk, 500 W. Big 
Beaver Rd., Troy, Michigan 48084. 
 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Troy pursuant to Act 281, 
Public Acts of Michigan, 1986, as amended. 

 
Aileen Dickson, CMC 

       City Clerk 
City of Troy 

 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 31 - 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of a resolution 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Troy, County of Oakland, State of Michigan, at a 
regular meeting held on July 20, 2015, and that said meeting was conducted and public notice 
of said meeting was given pursuant to and in full compliance with the Open Meetings Act, being 
Act 267, Public Acts of 1976, and that the minutes of said meeting were kept and will be or 
have been made available as required by said Act. 
 

        
   Aileen Dickson, CMC 

  City Clerk 
 
Yes: 
No 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted 
 

K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at 

 some future point in time):  None Submitted 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY 

RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES: 

M. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 

N. COUNCIL REFERRALS:  

Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for 

Placement on the Agenda 

N-1  No Council Referrals  

O. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 

O-1  No Council Comments Advanced 

P. REPORTS: 

P-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:   
a) Planning Commission-Draft – June 23, 2015 
b) Planning Commission-Final – June 23, 2015 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 32 - 
 

P-2 Department Reports:   
a) Update on Request for SMART Bus Shelters in Troy by Resident Martha Wells 
b) Update: Sale of Surplus City Parcels 
c) Summary of Traffic Committee Discussion of Tucker Barricade  
 

P-3 Letters of Appreciation:   
a) To Paul Featherston Commending Mark Riley for His Excellent Service 
 

P-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted 

Q. COMMENTS ON ITEMS ON OR NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC OUTSIDE OF TROY (NOT RESIDENTS OF 

TROY AND NOT FROM TROY BUSINESSES): 

R. CLOSED SESSION:  

R-1 Closed Session – City of Troy v. Grand Sakwa 

S. ADJOURNMENT: 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA July 20, 2015 

 

- 33 - 
 

 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
 

PROPOSED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS AND STUDY SESSIONS: 
 

 
 
 

SCHEDULED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
August 10, 2015 at 6:00 PM ...................................... Discuss the Great Lakes Water Authority 

 
 
 

2015 SCHEDULED REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
August 10, 2015 ............................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
August 24, 2015 ............................................................................................... Regular Meeting 

September 14, 2015 ........................................................................................ Regular Meeting 

September 28, 2015 ........................................................................................ Regular Meeting 

October 12, 2015 ............................................................................................. Regular Meeting 

October 26, 2015 ............................................................................................. Regular Meeting 

November 9, 2015 ........................................................................................... Regular Meeting 

November 23, 2015 ......................................................................................... Regular Meeting 

December 7, 2015 ........................................................................................... Regular Meeting 

December 14, 2015 ......................................................................................... Regular Meeting 
 

 



 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM

 
 
Date: July 15, 2015 
 
To:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
From: Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
 R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 

Subject: PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746) – Proposed Troy 
Fire Station No. 4, North side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121 E Maple), Section 25, 
From R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood Node ‘C’) 

 
The City of Troy seeks rezoning of the subject parcel from R-1E One Family Residential District to 
NN Neighborhood Node (Node “C”) District. The City intends to construct a new Fire Station No. 4 
on the site. The existing fire station will remain in operation until the new station is constructed and 
operational, after which the old station will be demolished.  
 
The parcel to be rezoned is presently comprised of a parking area and a single family home. Fire 
stations are permitted by right in the NN district. A site plan will be submitted to the Planning 
Commission for review and approval following rezoning. A concept drawing was included with the 
application. The drawing was intended to show general scope and is not an actual proposed site 
plan.  
 
The Master Plan classifies this area as Neighborhood Node. The rezoning is therefore consistent 
with the Master Plan. 
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on this item at the June 23, 2015 Regular meeting 
and recommended approval of the rezoning with a vote of 9-0. The agenda item from that meeting 
summarizes that meeting and is attached. 
 
Two Troy residents who own property east of Fire Station #4 expressed opposition to the rezoning 
at the public hearing. Their concerns included loss of privacy and decrease in property values. 
Representatives of the Planning Department and Fire Department met with the residents at the site 
on June 30, 2015 to listen to their concerns. These concerns will be shared with the design team so 
they can be considered during site design.  
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. Planning Commission agenda item from June 23, 2015 Regular meeting. 
3. Planning Commission Minutes from the June 23, 2015 Regular Meeting (excerpt) 

 
G:\REZONING REQUESTS\Z 746  Troy Fire Station Four  Sec 25\CC Memo_Public Hearing 2015 07 20.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
E-01







Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

13,815

1:

Feet13,8150 6,907



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

323

1:

Feet3230 161



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

323

1:

Feet3230 161



PC 2015.06.15 

  Agenda Item # 10 

 

 
 
DATE: June 18, 2015 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 

SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746) – 
Proposed Troy Fire Station No. 4, North side of Maple, East of John R 
(2103 and 2121 E Maple), Section 25, From R-1E (One Family 
Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood Node ‘C’) 

 
The City of Troy seeks rezoning of the subject parcel from R-1E One Family Residential 
District to NN Neighborhood Node (Node “C”) District. The parcel is presently 
comprised of a parking area and a single family home. The City intends to construct a 
new Fire Station N. 4 on the site. Fire stations are permitted by right in the NN district.   
 
The Master Plan classifies this area as Neighborhood Node.  A description of this 
classification is attached.   
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA), the City’s 
Planning Consultant, summarizes the rezoning request.  CWA prepared the report with 
input from various City departments including Planning, Engineering, Public Works and 
Fire.  City Management supports the findings of fact contained in the report and agrees 
with the recommendation.   
 
Please be prepared to discuss this item at the June 18, 2015 Planning Commission 
Regular meeting.  
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps 
2. City of Troy Master Plan (excerpt) 
3. Report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
4. Concept drawing 

 
 
G:\REZONING REQUESTS\Z 746  Troy Fire Station Four  Sec 25\PC Memo 06 23 2015.doc 

 



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

323

1:

Feet3230 161



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

323

1:

Feet3230 161



93

CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Neighborhood Nodes: 

The Economic Neighborhood

Located at intersections of the City’s main • 
roads.
Work together with Social Neighborhoods to • 
create a more livable community.
Mixed use.• 
Provide neighborhood gathering places.• 
Accommodate the daily needs of residents.• 

Neighborhood Nodes are the concentrated, 

commercial and mixed-use centers situated 

at major intersections of Troy thoroughfares 

that serve as the center of the City’s Economic 

Neighborhoods.  The nodes are specifi cally 
identifi ed on pages 95 and 96.  Economic 
Neighborhoods are destinations created as 
“go to” places that take on a social role, serving 
both as a place to meet basic needs of the 
community and as 21st century village centers.  
The attributes of Economic Neighborhoods 
are described in more detail in the fi nal 
section of this Chapter, and the urban design 
characteristics of Neighborhood Nodes will be 
described in depth in Chapter 10.  The nodes 
will typically permit a mix of commercial, offi  ce, 
and high-density residential, although the 
predominant uses in any Neighborhood Node 
development must be in keeping with the 
node characteristics described on pages 95 and 

96.  Industrial uses will not be permitted in the 
Neighborhood Nodes. 

The Economic Neighborhoods of Troy also 
center on the square mile grid system.  Unlike 
the social neighborhood, the Economic 

Neighborhoods are centered on major road 

intersections where commercial and offi  ce 

development occurs.  When destinations are 
created, these nodes become a “go to” place 
and take on a social role.  Each of these nodes 
serves four quadrants of the overlapping social 
neighborhoods and has the ability to bring 
residents of four neighborhoods together.  

These Economic Neighborhood nodes 
are destinations that draw people, visually 
distinguished from the balance of corridor strips 
through greater density and scale.  Variation in 
building height will often be used to separate 
the node from the surrounding area, but will 
not be so extreme as to visually overpower 
abutting neighborhoods.  The separation of 
building heights at intersections with the 
“between” segments of corridors stimulates the 
visual concept of “pulsing” development and 
sets up a system of visual anchors.   

Moderately dense residential environments 
may be encouraged within some nodes to 
provide steady activity for longer periods of the 
day.  In these cases, residences may be mixed 
with offi  ces on upper fl oors or be developed 
immediately adjacent to the commercial areas.  
Connections between the commercial activity 
and residences must be directly and seamlessly 
integrated.  

During the course of the planning process, the 
Planning Commission closely analyzed the need 
for additional neighborhood nodes throughout 
the City.  The City will continue to consider 
the demand for additional nodes as part of 
subsequent plan revisions.

NEIGHBORHOOD NODES



94 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

DESIGN CONCEPT
These nodes are within a fi fteen • 
minute walking distance of residential 
neighborhoods to permit alternative modes 
of transportation.  

Development will be denser and taller than • 
the surrounding area, encouraging visual 
prominence to signal a gathering space.

Nodes should be generally confi ned to a • 
1,000 foot radius from a major intersection.

The nodes provide uses and spaces that • 
attract and welcome neighborhood 
residents.  

SITE DESIGN ATTRIBUTES
Buildings should be separated from the • 
right-of-way line by a landscaped greenbelt, 
one lane of off -street parking or a pedestrian 
walk, or a combination of these.  

Primary parking areas will be located within • 
rear or interior side yards.

Off -street parking should be screened from • 
the public right-of-way by a knee wall or low 
decorative fence with a hedge of plantings.

Walks will connect adjacent developments • 
and the public sidewalks.

Well-defi ned crosswalks with timed • 
signalization will permit safe crossings.

Flexible use of space allowing modest • 
outdoor gathering spaces, such as plazas, 
will be encouraged.

BUILDING DESIGN ATTRIBUTES
Buildings should be between two and three • 
stories, although one–story structures 
accommodating gas stations or other 
special situations may be permitted.  

One-story buildings should have a minimum • 
exterior height of sixteen feet.

A ground level story should have a • 

minimum height of twelve feet from 
fi nished fl oor to fi nished ceiling.  

Facades facing major thoroughfares will • 
be treated as fronts and should have a 
minimum of half transparent glass and 
special architectural design treatments.  

Fenestration (the arrangement of windows • 
and doors) should be highlighted through 
the use of awnings, overhangs or trim 
detailing.  

Lighting will be carefully managed so as not • 
to encroach on adjacent residential areas.

The following pages contain a table 
describing the primary intended uses and 

character of the Neighborhood Nodes designated 
on the Future Land Use Map.  Individual Nodes are 
numbered and identifi ed on the Economic Nodes 

Map following the table.



95

CITY OF TROY MASTER PLAN

CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Node/Intersection Primary Uses and Character

A 14 Mile and 
Dequindre Road

Non-residential uses catering to the day-to-day needs of the workforce in the 
surrounding industrial area.  Restaurants and convenience needs integrated with 
banks and other service uses in compact developments would suit the needs of this 
area.

B Maple Road and 
Dequindre Road

The unique neighborhood node is home to a collection of uses serving the local 
Polish population.  Uses complementary to the cultural center and bank which help 
this area serve as a gathering place and focus area for the neighborhood could 
include limited housing, service uses, or specialty retail and dining.

C John R. Road and 
Maple Road

The node would best serve the area with a predominantly commercial mix of uses 
catering to the immediate residential area coming and going from their homes. The 
node should serve as a transition to the more intense commercial development to 
the south.

D Big Beaver Road and 
Dequindre Road

This area should be a high-intensity, high-density, compact area that serves as a 
notable entry point to the community.  Development may include residential, retail, 
office, and service-oriented uses, but should be designed to create a very noticeable 
“gateway” into Troy with its complex, high-density, mixed-use character.

E Wattles Road and 
Dequindre Road

The predominant use in this node should be offices, both medical and professional.  
Limited commercial service uses designed to complement the main focus of the 
area as an office node serving this area of the City may also be permissible, if clearly 
secondary to the primary office character of the area.

F John R Road and 
Wattles Road

This node may include all uses from high-density residential in combination with 
restaurants, limited office, and retail.  Development at this intersection should include 
at least two of these uses in any one development, in order to better complement 
and strengthen the already mixed-use character of the node.

G Rochester Road and 
Wattles Road

A careful blend of commercial uses and office uses, effectively transitioned into the 
adjoining residential neighborhoods, should be the main uses at this intersection.  
Recent residential development in the area has taken pedestrian access to the 
intersection into consideration with effective pathways and sidewalks, and any new 
development at the intersection must continue this positive trend.

H Livernois Road and 
Wattles Road 

This lower-intensity area is characterized by single-family residential directly abutting 
the southwest corner of the intersection, and uses which generate only sporadic 
activity, such as churches and day care.  This node contains the Troy Museum and 
Historic Village. New development or redevelopment at this node must be especially 
considerate of the adjoining residential and low-intensity uses and should not 
include any retail or restaurant uses.  Office and other uses similar to the existing uses 
would likely provide the best combination here.

I Crooks Road and 
Wattles Road

Development at this location should be low-impact and provide a high benefit to 
the neighborhood using the least amount of land.  Compact, walkable mixed use 
development with a combination of uses serving the immediate surroundings would 
be an ideal fit.  Integrated compact development which would allow a user to park 
once and meet several daily needs would be a positive contribution to the node. The 
City also recognizes that expansion of the White Chapel Cemetery into the northeast 
corner of this node would be appropriate.

J Dequindre Road and 
Long Lake Road

Predominantly commercial, catering to both local needs and regional traffic, 
new development and redevelopment should be mostly commercial, identifying 
opportunities for small office mixed-use and variations in floor area to allow for 
a wide range of commercial types.  Pedestrian access to the adjoining area and 
effective screening should be primary areas of focus during the site design process.



96 CHAPTER 9: LAND PATTERNS

Node/Intersection Primary Uses and Character

K John R Road and 
Long Lake Road

Like Crooks Road and Wattles Road, compact, walkable mixed use development with 
a combination of uses serving the immediate surroundings would be an ideal fit.  
Integrated compact development which would allow a user to park once and meet 
several daily needs would be a positive contribution to the node.

L Rochester Road and 
Long Lake Road

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

M Livernois Road and 
Long Lake Road

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

N Dequindre Road and 
Square Lake Road

Low-intensity commercial uses should remain, but redevelopment should include an 
integrated compact residential component, live/work units, or small office.  Service-
oriented use development in combination with new residential development would 
provide a unique setting here.

O John R Road and 
Square Lake Road

Near a known heron rookery, this node must be careful to respect this important 
natural resource.  New development or redevelopment should complement the 
churches and limited commercial uses in the area, and should incorporate above-
average landscaping, natural buffers, and conscientious site design to enhance the 
known natural features in the area.

P Rochester Road and 
Square Lake Road

Major commercial uses dominate and should continue to provide a foundation for 
this neighborhood node.  While uses in the area may cater to regional traffic, service 
uses, retail, and limited office uses designed to provide service to the immediate 
residential neighborhood should be incorporated into any new development or 
redevelopment plans.

Q Livernois Road and 
Square Lake Road

Development in this area should be especially considerate of the remaining historic 
asset of the neighborhood.  Adaptive use of existing historic structures must be 
considered before demolition or relocation of these resources.  Low-intensity uses 
working in conjunction with one another to form a central neighborhood village, 
walkable and accessible, would create an ideal complement to the predominantly 
residential surroundings.

R John R Road and 
South Boulevard

Small local commercial uses and office uses should be the focus of this node, to 
complement the large scale office development across the City’s boundary to the 
north, within the City of Rochester Hills.

S Rochester Road and 
South Boulevard

This neighborhood node provides a suitable mix of uses to cater to the daily needs 
of the immediate residential area, while also providing a unique opportunity for 
specialty retailers, compact walkable residential development, and small-scale office 
development in an integrated, mixed-use setting.

T Livernois Road and 
South Boulevard

Limited local commercial and housing for seniors in a dense development pattern 
should remain the primary focus of this neighborhood node.

U Crooks Road and 
South Boulevard

Intersections L, M, and U and should remain, predominantly commercial, catering 
to local needs and regional traffic, new development and redevelopment should be 
mostly commercial and should serve to further enhance this successful commercial 
area.  Opportunities for integrated residential or office development should be 
considered only when clearly secondary to commercial development.

 



 
 Date:     June 12, 2015 

Rezoning Analysis 
For 

City of Troy, Michigan 

 

 
 
Applicant:  William Nelson, Fire Chief 
 c/o City of Troy, Michigan  
 500 W. Big Beaver Rd. 
 Troy, MI 48084 
 
Project Name: Troy Fire Station #4 Rezoning 
 
Location: 2103 and 2121 E. Maple Rd. (north side of Maple, east of John R.) 
 
Current Zoning: R-1E, One-Family Residential   
 
Proposed Rezoning:  NN-C, Neighborhood Node 
 
Action Requested: Rezoning to NN-C, Neighborhood Node 
  
Required Information: As provided within this review 
 
 

PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 

 
The applicant, the City of Troy, is proposing to 
rezone two (2) parcels from R-1E, One Family 
Residential, to NN-C, Neighborhood Node.   2103 
E. Maple is approximately 1.10 acres in area and 
has split zoning of R-1E on the eastern portion and 
NN-C on the western portion.  The western 
portion (zoned NN-C) is currently improved with 
Troy Fire Station #4 while the eastern portion 
(zoned R-1E) is improved with a parking lot 
associated with the fire station. 2121 E. Maple is 
approximately 0.5 acres in size and is currently 
improved with a single-family detached home. 
 

Zoned 
NN-C 

Zoned 
R-1E 



Troy Fire Station #4 Rezoning 
June 12, 2015 

2 

 

The City of Troy purchased 2021 E. Maple with the intent of demolishing the existing fire station and 
home and constructing a larger station. Publicly-owned and operated office and service facilities 
(including fire stations) are permitted by-right within the NN-C District.  
 
The applicant is requesting that the eastern portion of 2103 E. Maple and all of 2121 E. Maple be 
rezoned to NN-C.  If rezoned, the applicant will submit a site plan for approval.  An aerial image of the 
subject site is depicted in Figure 1.  
 
Figure 1: Subject Site 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject Site 



Troy Fire Station #4 Rezoning 
June 12, 2015 

3 

 

 

MASTER PLAN 

 
The adopted 2008 Troy Master Plan designates the subject site as, “John R. Road and Maple Road” 
Neighborhood Node. The Master Plan states that this node, “[…] would best serve the area with a 
predominantly commercial mix of uses catering to the immediate residential area coming and going 
from their homes. The node should serve as a transition to the more intense commercial development to 
the south.” The Future Land Use of the subject site and surrounding parcels is illustrated in Figure 2 and 
Table 1 below: 
 
 

Figure 2. – Future Land Use 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 1. – Future Land Use 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Direction Future Land Use 

Subject Site Neighborhood Node 

North Neighborhood Node/Single 
Family Residential 

South South John R. Road 

East Single Family Residential 

West Neighborhood Node 

Subject Site 



Troy Fire Station #4 Rezoning 
June 12, 2015 

4 

 

The Master Plan envisions a mix of commercial, office and high-density residential for the Neighborhood 
Nodes. The proposed rezoning to Neighborhood Node corresponds to and is consistent with the Troy 
Master Plan.  
 
 

ZONING AND LAND USE 

 
The Zoning and existing land uses for the subject site and surrounding parcels is listed in Table 2 and in 
Figure 3: 
 

Table 2. – Zoning/Existing Land Use 
 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 

Subject Site   

 2103 – East R-1E Parking Lot for Fire Station 

 2103 – West NN-C Fire Station #4 

 2121 R-1E Single-Family Home 

North R-1E Single-Family Home 

South R-1E Vacant 

East R-1E Single-Family Home 

West NN-C General Retail/Service 

 
 

Figure 3. – Zoning of Subject Site and Surrounding Parcels 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject Site 

Zoned 
NN-C 

Zoned 
R-1E 



Troy Fire Station #4 Rezoning 
June 12, 2015 

5 

 

The two (2) subject parcels are zoned NN-C, Neighborhood Node and R-1E, One Family Residential. 2103 
E. Maple features split zoning, with NN-C on its western portion and R-1E on its western portion; only 
the eastern portion is proposed to be rezoned. The subject site is bordered on its north, east and south 
by R-1E, One Family Residential District and is bordered on its west by NN-C, Neighborhood Node.  
 
The intent of the Neighborhood Nodes District is to serve as the core of the “economic neighborhoods” 
of Troy as identified in the Master Plan. Economic destinations are intended to serve as “go to” places 
that serve as village centers, which can include integrated residential development. Neighborhood 
Nodes should draw people and should be visually distinguished from the surrounding area. However, 
development within Neighborhood Nodes must respect adjacent neighborhoods and should provide 
appropriate transition to adjacent residential areas. 
 
The applicant offers the following reasons for the proposed rezoning and new fire station: 
 

 The NN District is consistent with the zoning of the abutting property to the west. 

 The NN District is consistent with the Master Plan which calls for a neighborhood node at this 
location. 

 Fire stations must be strategically-located in the community based on travel distance from the 
station to the protected properties in the response district.  

 Fire Station #4 is in need of replacement due to obsolescence; the most practical alternative to 
replace the existing station is to build a new building on the existing site (which has been 
expanded through the purchase of the property immediately east of the existing site. This 
alternative maintains fire protection from the site during construction.  

 
Overall, the proposed rezoning is consistent with the existing NN-C zoning of the abutting property to 
the west.   Any future site plans must meet the standards of the NN-C District and mitigate any impacts 
upon adjacent one-family-zoned or used parcels. A future site plan will be reviewed by the Planning 
Commission. 
 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 

 
If the proposed rezoning is approved, any future development shall be required to meet the standards 
of the Neighborhood Node regulating plan contained within the Zoning Ordinance. The applicant has 
submitted a conceptual site plan for the future fire station which illustrates a 10,500 sq. ft. building, 
thirty-six (36) parking spaces and a stormwater detention pond. Per Table 5.06.C.2 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, Building Types A, B and C are permitted by-right on sites zoned NN-C, while Building Type D 
is permitted with special approval.  Though we have not completed a full site plan review, it appears 
that the conceptual plan meets the zoning requirements for NN-Neighborhood Node.   Issues such as 
buffering, building placement, lighting, and landscaping will be reviewed as part of a detailed site plan 
review.   
 

REZONING STANDARDS 

 
As set forth in Section 16.03.C, the following standards shall be applied to a rezoning:  
 

1. The proposed rezoning is consistent with the Master Plan.  If the current zoning is in material 
conflict with the Master Plan, such conflict is due to one of the following: 



Troy Fire Station #4 Rezoning 
June 12, 2015 

6 

 

a. A change in City policy since the Master Plan was adopted. 
b. A change in conditions since the Master Plan was adopted. 
c. An error in the Master Plan. 

 
CWA Comment: The adopted 2008 Troy Master Plan designates the subject site as, “John R. 
Road and Maple Road” Neighborhood Node.  The Master Plan envisions a mix of commercial, 
office and high-density residential for the Neighborhood Nodes. The proposed rezoning to 
Neighborhood Node corresponds to and is consistent with the Troy Master Plan.   
 

2. The proposed rezoning will not cause nor increase any non-conformity. 
 
CWA Comment:  The rezoning will not cause any non-conformity.  Any future development 
requires a site plan review by the Planning Commission. 

 
3. Public services and facilities affected by a proposed development will be capable of 

accommodating service and facility loads caused by use of the development. 
 

CWA Comment:  The rezoning will improve public service to the area, while not increasing public 
utilities.   
 

4. The rezoning will not impact public health, safety, or welfare. 
 

CWA Comment: The rezoning will improve public health, safety, and welfare by providing a 
modern fire station to serve the surrounding area.   
 

5. The rezoning will ensure compatibility with adjacent uses of land. 
 

CWA Comment:  A portion of the site is currently used as a parking lot for the fire station.  The 
other portion is a single-family home, which the applicant proposes to remove.   Issues such as 
buffering, building placement, lighting, and landscaping will be reviewed as part of a detailed 
site plan review.  Through proper site design, the rezoning will not impact adjacent uses of land.  

 
We find that the proposed rezoning is consistent with the required standards.   
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
The proposed rezoning from R-1E to NN-C is in substantial compliance with the City of Troy Master Plan, 
is consistent with abutting commercial uses to the west, and meets the rezoning standards set forth in 
Section 16.03.C of the Zoning Ordinance.  We recommend approval of the proposed rezoning.  
 

 







PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL  JUNE 23, 2015 
   
 
 

 

REZONING REQUEST 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746) – 
Proposed Troy Fire Station No. 4, North side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 
2121 E Maple), Section 25, From R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ 
(Neighborhood Node ‘C’) 
 
Mr. Carlisle addressed the proposed rezoning as relates to the Master Plan, 
compatibility with the surrounding areas and the rezoning standards of the 
Zoning Ordinance. Mr. Carlisle stated that if the proposed rezoning is approved, 
the existing fire station would remain in service during the construction of the new 
fire station. He recommended approval of the proposed rezoning. 
 
Assistant Fire Chief David Roberts was present. 
 
Mr. Savidant addressed a conceptual drawing of the building layout. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
The following residents were present to express opposition to the proposed 
rezoning because of the close proximity of the new fire station to their homes. 
 

 Natasha Duda, 2167 E Maple 
 Lena Tereziu, 2155 E Maple 
 Theodhor Duda,  2167 E Maple 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-041 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Strat 
 

RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that the R-1E to NN ‘C’ rezoning request, located on the north side of 
Maple Road, east of John R (2103 and 2121 E. Maple Road), in Section 25, 
being approximately 0.885 acres in size, be approved. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 



 

 

1 

 

MMEEMMOO  
 

 
Date:  July 17, 2015 
 
 
To:   Mayor and City Council 
  
From:  Brian M. Kischnick, City Manager 
    
Subject: Recommendation Regarding ZOTA 247 – Gas and Oil Extraction 
 
 

On the a July 20, 2015 City Council meeting there is a Public Hearing scheduled for the Gas 
and Oil Extraction Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment (ZOTA Number 247).   The Planning 
Commission initiated this ZOTA and unanimously recommend approval.   Representatives of 
the Associated Petroleum Industries of Michigan met with staff and I.   It became apparent 
that the City should have some direct interaction with the Michigan Department of 
Environmental Quality (MDEQ) to fully understand how the MEDQ regulates gas and oil 
extraction.  MEDQ could further educate the City regarding the techniques of gas and oil 
extraction and the impacts of those techniques. 
 
City Council, Planning Commission and the City Manager all have the same interest to strike 
a balance between protecting neighborhoods from negative land uses and their impacts while 
at the same time not being exclusionary.  Therefore, I recommend that City Council conduct 
their Public Hearing and then schedule a Joint City Council and Planning Commission Study 
Meeting.  This will allow a thorough education on the subject as well as understand the 
Planning Commission’s position.  Then, we can move forward in a direction with an enhanced 
understanding of the issue.   
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
E-02



 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
 
Date: July 16, 2015 
 
To:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
From: Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
 R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
Subject: PUBLIC HEARING – ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number: ZOTA 247) 

– Oil and Gas Extraction 
 
This item was initiated by the Planning Commission, who recognized that the Zoning Ordinance is 
presently silent on the issue of oil and gas extraction. This effort is intended to protect Troy residents 
and property owners against the negative secondary effects of these facilities while at the same time 
creating reasonable standards for oil and gas extraction facilities. 
 
The provisions were discussed by the Planning Commission at previous meetings. The proposed 
provisions would regulate oil and gas extraction in Troy, including fracking.  
 
Draft amendments include the following: 

• Oil and gas facilities are permitted in IB District as a Special Use 
• Requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres 
• Requires increased setbacks based on adjacent use/zoning 
• Requires extensive fencing, landscaping, and limited lighting  
• Requires adherence to strict nuisance and performance standard requirements 
• Requires submittal of a detailed Operations Plan 

 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on this item on June 23, 2015, and recommended 
approval of the text amendment with a 9-0 vote. The attached Planning Commission item provides 
additional background. 
 
The State of Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) has a website with 
considerable information on oil and gas extraction. The attached map shows there is a significant 
number of oil and gas wells in Michigan, particularly along a band in the northern southern 
Peninsula, between Manistee County and Alpena County. There are not a significant number of oil 
and gas wells in Oakland County. There is one operational oil and gas well in Troy, a natural gas 
well located on the MSU Management Center campus at 817 W. Square Lake Road (see attached 
photograph).  
 
Hydraulic fracturing (commonly referred to as “fracking”) is a method of oil and gas extraction. The 
MDEQ has information available that describes this practice (see attached). The attached map 
provided by the MDEQ indicates there are ongoing fracking operations in Michigan but none in 
Oakland County. 
 
Oil and gas extraction in Michigan is regulated by the Natural Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act (PA 451 of 1994), Part 615 Supervisor of Wells. These are the standards affecting 



 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

potential oil and gas facilities in Troy today. The most significant standard is a distance requirement 
of 450 feet from a site and a residential building. Oil and gas facilities can presently be located in 
residential areas, provided other standards in the Act are met. The proposed provisions would be 
additional standards over and above what the Act requires. The attached table compares the 
standards of the Act with the proposed City of Troy provisions for oil and gas facilities. Further, the 
attached map shows potential sites available to be used today as sites for oil and gas facilities. 
 
The Planning Commission was provided with a map showing all properties in Troy zoned IB and at 
least 5 acres in area. Since the Planning Commission public hearing, City staff was able to create a 
map showing properties that met this criteria as well as the additional setback criteria proposed in 
the amendment. The additional criteria reduced the potential area available for oil and gas facilities.     
 
There is a significant amount of information available related to this item. It is important that City 
Council is fully informed on this topic. City Management recommends that this item be studied and 
discussed at a joint meeting of City Council and the Planning Commission. Further, City 
Management proposes to invite representatives of the Oil, Gas and Minerals Section of MDEQ to 
attend the meeting, make a brief presentation and be available to answer questions related to the oil 
and gas industry. 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to form and legality:  _____________________________________ 
  Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 
 
Attachments: 

1. Table – Comparison of Regulations. 
2. Map - Potential Oil and Gas Facility Sites (existing State of Michigan requirements). 
3. Map – Potential Oil and Gas Facility Sites (proposed Zoning Ordinance provisions). 
4. Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment Public Hearing Draft 
5. Planning Commission minutes from June 23, 2015 Regular meeting (excerpt). 
6. Planning Commission agenda item from June 23, 2015 Regular meeting. 
7. Map - Oil and gas well in Michigan (from MDEQ website). 
8. Photograph of natural gas well at MSU Management Center, 817 W. Square Lake Road, Troy MI. 
9. Hydraulic Fracturing of Oil and Gas Wells in Michigan (from MDEQ website). 

10. Map - High Volume Hydraulic Fracturing in Michigan. 
11. Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (excerpt), Part 615 Supervisor of Wells. 
12. Questions from Councilman Henderson, with responses. 

 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 247 Oil and Gas Extraction\CC Memo_Announce Public Hearing 2015 07 13.doc 



COMPARISON OF REGULATIONS 

STATE OF MICHIGAN SUPERVISORS OF WELLS VERSUS PROPOSED CITY OF TROY PROVISIONS 

REGULATION STATE OF MICHIGAN 

SUPERVISORS OF WELLS 

CITY OF TROY  

PROPOSED PROVISIONS 

Minimum Lot Area No requirement 5 acres 

Zoning District No requirement IB Integrated Industrial and Business District 

Permitted by Right or by Special 

Use Approval 

By right Special Use 

Minimum Distance from Residential 450’ from residential building 500’ from residentially zoned or used property 

Minimum Distance from Right-of-

Way 

No requirement 500’ from property 

Minimum Distance from Religious 

Facility 

No requirement 500’ from property 

Minimum Distance from School No requirement 500’ from property 

Minimum Distance from Hospital No requirement 500’ from property 

Maximum Height Requirements No requirement 110’ for drilling derrick/rig and 22’ for wellhead 

Minimum Landscaping No requirement Staggered 10’ tall evergreen trees placed 

around perimeter of fence with minimum 

landscape greenbelt buffer of 25’ in depth 

Fencing Requirements No requirement Site to be completely enclosed by 6’ high fence  

Construction Activity Hours No requirement Limited to between 7am and 8pm 

 



⠀愀猀 瀀攀爀 匀琀愀琀攀 漀昀 䴀椀挀栀椀最愀渀 爀攀焀甀椀爀攀洀攀渀琀猀⤀



⠀愀猀 瀀攀爀 瀀爀漀瀀漀猀攀搀 琀攀砀琀 愀洀攀渀搀洀攀渀琀⤀



CITY OF TROY 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND 
 CHAPTER 39 OF THE CODE 

 OF THE CITY OF TROY 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DRAFT 

 
The City of Troy ordains: 
 
Section 1.  Short Title 
 
This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as an amendment to Chapter 39, Zoning 
Ordinance, of the Code of the City of Troy.  
 
Section 2.  Amendment 
 
Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy is amended as follows: 
 
Add the following definitions in Section 2.02 to read as follows:  
 
DERRICK – Any portable framework, tower mast and/or structure which is required or used in 
connection with drilling or re-working a well for the production of oil or gas. 
 
DRILLING PAD-- The area of surface operations surrounding the surface location of a well or 
wells. Such area shall not include an access road to the drilling pad. 
 
HYDRAULIC FRACTURING OR FRACKING– The process of injecting water, customized fluids, 
sand, steam, or gas into a gas well under pressure to improve gas recovery. 
 
HORIZONTAL DRILLING- The drilling of an oil or natural gas well at an angle so that the well 
runs parallel to the formation containing the oil or gas. 
 
OIL AND GAS -- Crude oil, natural gas, methane gas, coal bed methane gas, propane, butane 
and/or any other products or similar substances that are produced by drilling an oil or gas well.   
 
OIL AND GAS DEVELOPMENT -- The well site preparation, construction, drilling, redrilling, 
hydraulic fracturing, and/or site restoration associated with an oil or gas well of any depth; water 
and other fluid storage, impoundment and transportation used for such activities; and the 
installation and use of all associated equipment, including tanks, meters, and other  equipment 
and structures whether permanent or temporary; and the site preparation,  construction, 
installation, maintenance and repair of oil and gas pipelines and associated equipment and 
other equipment and activities associated with the exploration for, production and transportation 
of oil and gas. The definition does not include natural gas compressor stations and natural gas 
processing plants or facilities performing the equivalent functions. 
 
  
OIL OR GAS WELL--A pierced or bored hole drilled or being drilled in the ground for the 
purpose of, or to be used for, producing, extracting or injecting gas, oil, petroleum or another 
liquid related to oil or gas production or storage, including brine disposal. 



 
OIL OR GAS WELL SITE -- The location of facilities, structures, materials and equipment 
(whether temporary or permanent), that are necessary for or incidental to the preparation, 
construction, drilling, production or operation of an oil or gas well. This definition also includes 
exploratory wells. 
 
NATURAL GAS COMPRESSOR STATION -- A facility designed and constructed to compress 
natural gas that originates from a gas well or collection of such wells operating as a midstream 
facility for delivery of gas to a transmission pipeline, distribution pipeline, natural gas processing 
plant or underground storage field, including one or more natural gas compressors, associated 
buildings, pipes, valves, tanks and other equipment. 
 
NATURAL GAS PROCESSING PLANT -- A facility designed and constructed to remove 
materials such as ethane, propane, butane, and other constituents or similar substances from 
natural gas to allow such natural gas to be of such quality as is required or appropriate for 
transmission or distribution to commercial markets but not including facilities or equipment that 
is designed and constructed primarily to remove water, water vapor, oil or naturally occurring 
liquids from the natural gas. 
 
STORAGE WELL-- A well used for and in connection with the underground storage of natural 
gas, including injection into or withdrawal from an underground storage reservoir for monitoring 
or observation of reservoir pressure. 
 

Revise the following table in Section 4.21 to read as follows:  
 

 
Add Section 6.33 to read as follows: 
 
Section 6.33: Oil and Gas Well/Development Standards for Special Use Approval: 
 
The purpose of this section is to provide for the reasonable development of land for oil and gas 
drilling while providing adequate health, safety and general welfare protections of the residents of 
Troy.  It is necessary and appropriate to adopt reasonable requirements for oil and gas resource 
development so that these resources can be obtained in a manner that protects the environment, 
protects residential properties and residential property values, and mitigates negative impacts. 
 
The following requirements shall apply to the location, installation, drilling and operation of any 
well for the commercial extraction of oil, gas or other hydrocarbons in the City: 
 

A. Spacing and Well Setbacks. In addition to the spacing and setback requirements of the 
State of Michigan and the regulations of its Supervisor of Wells, the drilling, completion, 
or operation of oil or gas wells or well site shall not be located within 300 feet from any 
road right-of-way, 500 feet of a residentially zoned or used property or any property used 
for a religious facility, public or private school, or hospital, and 100 feet from any other 
property line. The setbacks in this section also apply to the area underground, and 

 R1A-
R1E 

RT MF UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Oil and Gas 

Well or 

Development 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S NP NP NP NP NP 



preclude any horizontal drilling within the setback unless the applicant demonstrates to 
the City’s satisfaction a legal entitlement to drill on adjacent properties through mineral 
rights acquisition or other means.    
 
The measurement of the setback shall be made from the edge of the well site (in a 
straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects), to the closest exterior 
point of the adjacent parcel.  

 
B. Height. The completed wellhead structure shall not exceed twenty-two (22) feet in 

height. The temporary drilling derrick/rig shall not exceed one-hundred and ten (110) feet 
in height. 
 

C. Minimum Lot Size.  The minimum lot size shall be 5 acres. 
 

D. Fencing, Landscaping, and Lighting. 
1. An oil or gas well site shall be completely enclosed within a 6-foot high fence. 
2. Staggered ten (10) foot tall evergreen trees shall be placed around the perimeter 

of the fence with a minimum landscape greenbelt buffer of twenty-five (25) feet in 
depth.  This landscaping buffer shall be in place within thirty (30) days of the 
removal of the temporary drilling derrick/rig. The landscape buffer and trees shall 
be regularly irrigated and maintained. 

3. Exterior lighting shall comply with Section 13.05 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 

E. Nuisance Mitigation. The drilling, completion, or operation of oil or gas wells or other 
wells drilled for oil or gas exploration purposes shall comply with Section 12.06, 
Environmental Performance Standards. Those standards address potential nuisances 
such as noise, smoke, dust, open storage, fire and explosive hazards, odors, wastes, 
and vibration. Due to the unique nature of this type of operation, additional information 
and standards may be required. 
 

F. Dust, Noise, Vibration, and Odors. All operations shall be conducted in such a manner 
as to minimize, so far as practicable, dust, noise, vibration, or noxious odors, and shall 
be in accordance with the best accepted practices defined by the Michigan Department 
of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) for the production of oil, gas and other hydrocarbon 
substances in urban areas. All equipment used shall be constructed and operated so 
that vibrations, dust, odor or other harmful or annoying substances or effects will be 
minimized by the operations carried on at any drilling or production site or from anything 
incidental thereto, and to minimize the annoyance of persons living or working in the 
vicinity.  Additionally, the site or structures on the property shall not be permitted to 
become dilapidated, unsightly, or unsafe. The City may impose additional reasonable 
restrictions upon such operations to reduce adverse impacts upon adjacent properties.   

 
G. Oil and Gas Processing Facilities. Associated processing facilities that separate oil, gas, 

and brine and hold said products for transport off-site for further refinement and 
processing are not permitted. 
 

H. Compliance with Laws and Permit Issuance. The drilling, completion, or operation of oil 
or gas wells or other wells drilled for the purpose of oil or gas exploration shall be done 
in conformity with all State and Federal laws, statutes, rules, and regulations pertaining 
thereto and particularly with the State of Michigan and the regulations of its Supervisor of 
Wells. This shall include obtaining the required permit from the Supervisor of Wells, 



which permit shall be provided to the City before the City can grant special use approval 
under this section. This requirement also applies to, but is not limited to the plugging of 
wells, the exploring for, producing, marketing, and transporting of petroleum products, 
and the disposition and removal of any byproducts utilized and associated with said 
activities.  
 

I. Associated Permits and Approvals. Special use approval for the drilling, completion, or 
operation of oil or gas wells or other wells drilled for oil or gas exploration purposes is in 
addition to and are not in lieu of any permit or plan which may be required by any other 
provision of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance, Building and Fire Codes, or by any other 
governmental agency, unless expressly outlined. 

 
J. Operations 

1. Permitted Construction Activity Hours. Site preparation and construction of well 
sites are limited to the hours of 7 am to 8 pm. Construction activities associated 
with establishing of the well sites may be eligible for an exception by the Building 
Department in accordance with the City’s Special Hours Work Permit if such 
activities are in compliance with applicable laws and permits.   
 

2. The movement of drilling rigs, tanker trucks or heavy equipment used in 
connection with the drilling or operation of oil or gas wells over public roads and 
streets, shall be consistent with the City’s Traffic Engineer’s approval, which shall 
be obtained in advance. The City’s Traffic Engineer shall identify the streets 
which may be used and any conditions that may apply.  

 
3. All brine, mud, slush, saltwater, chemicals, wastewater, chemical, fluids or waste 

produced or used in the drilling or production of oil or gas shall be safely, lawfully 
and properly disposed of to prevent infiltration of or damage to any fresh water 
well, groundwater, watercourse, pond, lake or wetland. 
 

4. The oil or gas well site shall be kept in a clean and orderly condition, free of trash 
and debris, with weeds cut. Machinery and equipment not being used in the 
operation of the well shall not be stored or kept at the well site.  
 

5. An oil or gas well shall include measures or controls satisfactory to the City 
Engineer to prevent migration, run-off or discharge of any hazardous materials, 
including but not limited to any chemicals, oil or gas produced or used in the 
drilling or production of oil or gas, to adjoining property or to the City of Troy 
sanitary sewer system, stormwater system or any natural or artificial 
watercourse, pond, lake or wetland. There shall be no off-site discharge of storm 
water except to an approved drainage system in accordance with the City’s 
engineering requirements.  

 
K. Inspection. The Building Official, and any other designee of the City Manager, shall have 

the right and privilege at any time during the construction phase and any drilling 
operation to enter upon the premises covered by the special use approval for the 
purpose of making inspections to determine if the requirements of this section are 
complied with or the requirements of any other code or ordinance of the City are met.  

L. Injection wells. Injection wells used for brine disposal or other chemicals from production 
wells or from other sources shall be expressly prohibited within the City. 
 



M. Pipelines. No operator shall excavate or construct any lines for the conveyance of fuel, 
water, oil, gas or petroleum liquids on, under, or through the streets, alleys or other 
properties owned by the City without an easement or right-of-way license from the City. 
 

N. Submittal Requirements.  In addition to submittal requirements for a Site Plan as set 
forth in Article 8 and Special Use as set forth in Article 9, the following information shall 
be submitted as part of the application:  

 
1. Environmental Impact Statement.  Applicant shall submit an Environmental 

Impact Statement filed with the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality 
in connection with a well permit under Part 615 of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, MCL 524.61501, et seq, and the administrative 
rules promulgated under Part 615, as amended. 

 
2. Hydrogeological analysis.   

 
3. Emergency Response Plan.   Pursuant to State and Federal law, the operator 

shall provide any information necessary to assist the City Emergency Services 
Department with an emergency response plan and hazardous materials survey 
establishing written procedures to minimize any hazard resulting from the 
operation.  The Emergency Response Plan should include emergency contact 
information.   
 

4. Reclamation Plan.  A written statement that describes how the land will be 
returned to a stable and productive condition post drilling operations.    
 

5. Operations Plan to include:  
i. Site ingress/egress 
ii. Haul Route Map.   Vehicle Routes for Truck Traffic. Construction vehicles and 

commercial trucks, associated with drilling and/or production operations shall 
be restricted to roads designated by the City Engineer. 

iii. Hours of Operation.  State listed hours of operation. 
iv. Soil Erosion, Mud and Dust Control Plan. 
v. Noise Control Plan.  Prior to the granting of special use approval and the 

commencement of operations, the petitioner shall submit a noise 
management plan, detailing how the equipment used in the drilling, 
completion, transportation, or production of a well complies with the 
maximum permissible noise levels of the Zoning Ordinance. If Special Use 
Approval is granted, the Petitioner shall be responsible for verifying 
compliance with this section and the noise management plan after the 
installation of the equipment. The noise management plan shall: 
i. Identify operational noise impacts 
ii. Provide documentation establishing the ambient noise level prior to 

construction. 
iii. Detail how the impacts will be mitigated. In determining noise mitigation, 

specific site characteristics shall be considered, including but not limited 
to the following: 

1. Nature and proximity of adjacent development, location, and type 
2. Seasonal and prevailing weather patterns, including wind 

directions 
3. Vegetative cover on or adjacent to the site 



4. Topography 
vi. Odor and Fume Control Plan 
vii. Pollution Prevention Plan 
viii. Impact Mitigation Plan 
ix. Monitoring controls.    

 
Section 3.  Savings 
 
All proceedings pending, and all rights and liabilities existing, acquired or incurred, at the 
time this Ordinance takes effect, are hereby saved.  Such proceedings may be 
consummated under and according to the ordinance in force at the time such proceedings 
were commenced.  This ordinance shall not be construed to alter, affect, or abate any 
pending prosecution, or prevent prosecution hereafter instituted under any ordinance 
specifically or impliedly repealed or amended by this ordinance adopting this penal 
regulation, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this ordinance; and new 
prosecutions may be instituted and all prosecutions pending at the effective date of this 
ordinance may be continued, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this 
ordinance, under and in accordance with the provisions of any ordinance in force at the 
time of the commission of such offense. 
 
Section 4.  Severability Clause 
 
Should any word, phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance be held invalid 
or unconstitutional, the remaining provision of this ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
Section 5.  Effective Date 
 
This amendment to the Zoning Ordinance shall take effect seven (7) days after 
publication, which shall be published within 15 days of adoption, as required the 
Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (Act 110 of 2006). 
 
This Ordinance is enacted by the Council of the City of Troy, Oakland County, Michigan, at 
a regular meeting of the City Council held at City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver, Troy, MI, on the 
_______ day of _____________, 2015. 
 
 
  ______________________________ 
  Dane Slater, Mayor 
 
 
  ______________________________ 
 Aileen Bittner, City Clerk  
 
 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 247 Oil and Gas Extraction\CC Public Hearing Draft.doc 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 

 
 

ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT 
 
9. PUBLIC HEARING - ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number 

ZOTA 247) – Oil and Gas Extraction 
 
Mr. Savidant gave a PowerPoint presentation. He addressed the proposed 
regulations as relates to: 

 Zoning District 

 Special Use permit 

 Minimum lot size and setbacks 

 Screening and lighting 

 Potential oil and gas sites (map) 

 Nuisance performance standards 

 Submittal requirements 

 Comparison with Rochester Hills regulations 
 
Mr. Motzny addressed the proposed regulations with respect to the 
constitutionality and non-exclusionary aspects of the law.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Jennifer Halucha of 3219 Abington would like the City to strengthen its proposed 
regulations. She addressed regulations imposed by other communities. 
 
Lois Pylat of 2378 Topaz encouraged members of government to contact 
Lansing in an effort to stop fracking. She addressed the potential for health 
consequences. 
 
Cynthia Khan of 6902 Aurora addressed the dependency on other countries for 
energy and encouraged the use of our country’s resources. 
 
Toni Kovach of 2370 Topaz would like the City to strengthen the proposed 
regulations and provide protection of those who are in ill health. 
 
Michael Ross of 152 Randall addressed the viable direction in which our country 
needs to go to stabilize its borders and international economy. 
 
John Griffin of American Petroleum Institute, 124 W Allegan, Lansing, 
encouraged interested parties to learn more about the extraction of oil and 
fracking before speaking negatively on the matter. He addressed permitting in 
Troy, geological findings in Oakland County, protection of property rights and 
State regulations. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 

 
 

Chair Edmunds encouraged residents to contact their State legislators. 
 
Mr. Savidant advised the audience the Planning Commission is the 
recommending body for a proposed text amendment and a Public Hearing will be 
scheduled at a future City Council meeting for consideration. 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-040 
Moved by: Hutson 
Seconded by: Kuppa 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City 
Council that Articles 2, 4, and 6 of Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy, 
which includes miscellaneous provisions related to oil and gas extraction, be 
amended as printed on the proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment.  
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 



  PC 2015.06.23 
  Agenda Item # 9 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
DATE: June 19, 2015 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 247) – Oil 

and Gas Extraction 
 
 
This item was initiated by the Planning Commission, based on a recognition that the 
Zoning Ordinance is presently silent on the issue of oil and gas extraction.  
 
The provisions were discussed by the Planning Commission at previous meetings. The 
proposed provisions would regulate oil and gas extraction in Troy, including fracking. 
These operations would be permitted subject to special use approval in the IB (Integrated 
Industrial and Business) zoning district only, on parcels that are at least 5 acres in size or 
greater.  
 
The Planning Commission discussed this item at the May 26, 2015 Regular meeting and 
requested that a public hearing be scheduled. Following the public hearing, the item can 
be forwarded to City Council for consideration and action. 
 
Please be prepared to discuss this item at the June 19, 2015 Planning Commission 
meeting. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Public Hearing Draft ZOTA 
2. Map of potential oil and gas sites. 

 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 247 Oil and Gas Extraction\PC Memo 06 23 2015.doc 



 
PROPOSED RESOLUTION 

 
 
ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 247) – Oil and Gas Extraction 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06- 
Moved by:  
Seconded by:  
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council that 
Articles 2, 4, and 6 of Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy, which includes miscellaneous 
provisions related to oil and gas extraction, be amended as printed on the proposed Zoning 
Ordinance Text Amendment.  
 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent: 
 
MOTION CARRIED / DENIED 
 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 247 Oil and Gas Extraction\Proposed PC Resolution 06 23 2015.doc 



CITY OF TROY 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND 
 CHAPTER 39 OF THE CODE 

 OF THE CITY OF TROY 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DRAFT 

 
The City of Troy ordains: 
 
Section 1.  Short Title 
 
This Ordinance shall be known and may be cited as an amendment to Chapter 39, Zoning 
Ordinance, of the Code of the City of Troy.  
 
Section 2.  Amendment 
 
Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy is amended as follows: 
 
Add the following definitions in Section 2.02 to read as follows:  
 
DERRICK – Any portable framework, tower mast and/or structure which is required or used in 
connection with drilling or re-working a well for the production of oil or gas. 
 
DRILLING PAD-- The area of surface operations surrounding the surface location of a well or 
wells. Such area shall not include an access road to the drilling pad. 
 
HYDRAULIC FRACTURING OR FRACKING– The process of injecting water, customized fluids, 
sand, steam, or gas into a gas well under pressure to improve gas recovery. 
 
HORIZONTAL DRILLING- The drilling of an oil or natural gas well at an angle so that the well 
runs parallel to the formation containing the oil or gas. 
 
OIL AND GAS -- Crude oil, natural gas, methane gas, coal bed methane gas, propane, butane 
and/or any other products or similar substances that are produced by drilling an oil or gas well.   
 
OIL AND GAS DEVELOPMENT -- The well site preparation, construction, drilling, redrilling, 
hydraulic fracturing, and/or site restoration associated with an oil or gas well of any depth; water 
and other fluid storage, impoundment and transportation used for such activities; and the 
installation and use of all associated equipment, including tanks, meters, and other  equipment 
and structures whether permanent or temporary; and the site preparation,  construction, 
installation, maintenance and repair of oil and gas pipelines and associated equipment and 
other equipment and activities associated with the exploration for, production and transportation 
of oil and gas. The definition does not include natural gas compressor stations and natural gas 
processing plants or facilities performing the equivalent functions. 
 
  
OIL OR GAS WELL--A pierced or bored hole drilled or being drilled in the ground for the 
purpose of, or to be used for, producing, extracting or injecting gas, oil, petroleum or another 
liquid related to oil or gas production or storage, including brine disposal. 



 
OIL OR GAS WELL SITE -- The location of facilities, structures, materials and equipment 
(whether temporary or permanent), that are necessary for or incidental to the preparation, 
construction, drilling, production or operation of an oil or gas well. This definition also includes 
exploratory wells. 
 
NATURAL GAS COMPRESSOR STATION -- A facility designed and constructed to compress 
natural gas that originates from a gas well or collection of such wells operating as a midstream 
facility for delivery of gas to a transmission pipeline, distribution pipeline, natural gas processing 
plant or underground storage field, including one or more natural gas compressors, associated 
buildings, pipes, valves, tanks and other equipment. 
 
NATURAL GAS PROCESSING PLANT -- A facility designed and constructed to remove 
materials such as ethane, propane, butane, and other constituents or similar substances from 
natural gas to allow such natural gas to be of such quality as is required or appropriate for 
transmission or distribution to commercial markets but not including facilities or equipment that 
is designed and constructed primarily to remove water, water vapor, oil or naturally occurring 
liquids from the natural gas. 
 
STORAGE WELL-- A well used for and in connection with the underground storage of natural 
gas, including injection into or withdrawal from an underground storage reservoir for monitoring 
or observation of reservoir pressure. 
 
Revise the following table in Section 4.21 to read as follows:  
 

 
Add Section 6.33 to read as follows: 
 
Section 6.33: Oil and Gas Well/Development Standards for Special Use Approval: 
 
The purpose of this section is to provide for the reasonable development of land for oil and gas 
drilling while providing adequate health, safety and general welfare protections of the residents of 
Troy.  It is necessary and appropriate to adopt reasonable requirements for oil and gas resource 
development so that these resources can be obtained in a manner that protects the environment, 
protects residential properties and residential property values, and mitigates negative impacts. 
 
The following requirements shall apply to the location, installation, drilling and operation of any 
well for the commercial extraction of oil, gas or other hydrocarbons in the City: 
 

A. Spacing and Well Setbacks. In addition to the spacing and setback requirements of the 
State of Michigan and the regulations of its Supervisor of Wells, the drilling, completion, 
or operation of oil or gas wells or well site shall not be located within 300 feet from any 
road right-of-way, 500 feet of a residentially zoned or used property or any property used 
for a religious facility, public or private school, or hospital, and 100 feet from any other 
property line. The setbacks in this section also apply to the area underground, and 

 R1A-
R1E 

RT MF UR MHP CF EP CB GB IB O OM RC PV P 

Oil and Gas 
Well or 
Development 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP S NP NP NP NP NP 



preclude any horizontal drilling within the setback unless the applicant demonstrates to 
the City’s satisfaction a legal entitlement to drill on adjacent properties through mineral 
rights acquisition or other means.    
 
The measurement of the setback shall be made from the edge of the well site (in a 
straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects), to the closest exterior 
point of the adjacent parcel.  

 
B. Height. The completed wellhead structure shall not exceed twenty-two (22) feet in 

height. The temporary drilling derrick/rig shall not exceed one-hundred and ten (110) feet 
in height. 
 

C. Minimum Lot Size.  The minimum lot size shall be 5 acres. 
 

D. Fencing, Landscaping, and Lighting. 
1. An oil or gas well site shall be completely enclosed within a 6-foot high fence. 
2. Staggered ten (10) foot tall evergreen trees shall be placed around the perimeter 

of the fence with a minimum landscape greenbelt buffer of twenty-five (25) feet in 
depth.  This landscaping buffer shall be in place within thirty (30) days of the 
removal of the temporary drilling derrick/rig. The landscape buffer and trees shall 
be regularly irrigated and maintained. 

3. Exterior lighting shall comply with Section 13.05 of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 

E. Nuisance Mitigation. The drilling, completion, or operation of oil or gas wells or other 
wells drilled for oil or gas exploration purposes shall comply with Section 12.06, 
Environmental Performance Standards. Those standards address potential nuisances 
such as noise, smoke, dust, open storage, fire and explosive hazards, odors, wastes, 
and vibration. Due to the unique nature of this type of operation, additional information 
and standards may be required. 
 

F. Dust, Noise, Vibration, and Odors. All operations shall be conducted in such a manner 
as to minimize, so far as practicable, dust, noise, vibration, or noxious odors, and shall 
be in accordance with the best accepted practices defined by the Michigan Department 
of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) for the production of oil, gas and other hydrocarbon 
substances in urban areas. All equipment used shall be constructed and operated so 
that vibrations, dust, odor or other harmful or annoying substances or effects will be 
minimized by the operations carried on at any drilling or production site or from anything 
incidental thereto, and to minimize the annoyance of persons living or working in the 
vicinity.  Additionally, the site or structures on the property shall not be permitted to 
become dilapidated, unsightly, or unsafe. The City may impose additional reasonable 
restrictions upon such operations to reduce adverse impacts upon adjacent properties.   

 
G. Oil and Gas Processing Facilities. Associated processing facilities that separate oil, gas, 

and brine and hold said products for transport off-site for further refinement and 
processing are not permitted. 
 

H. Compliance with Laws and Permit Issuance. The drilling, completion, or operation of oil 
or gas wells or other wells drilled for the purpose of oil or gas exploration shall be done 
in conformity with all State and Federal laws, statutes, rules, and regulations pertaining 
thereto and particularly with the State of Michigan and the regulations of its Supervisor of 
Wells. This shall include obtaining the required permit from the Supervisor of Wells, 



which permit shall be provided to the City before the City can grant special use approval 
under this section. This requirement also applies to, but is not limited to the plugging of 
wells, the exploring for, producing, marketing, and transporting of petroleum products, 
and the disposition and removal of any byproducts utilized and associated with said 
activities.  
 

I. Associated Permits and Approvals. Special use approval for the drilling, completion, or 
operation of oil or gas wells or other wells drilled for oil or gas exploration purposes is in 
addition to and are not in lieu of any permit or plan which may be required by any other 
provision of the City of Troy Zoning Ordinance, Building and Fire Codes, or by any other 
governmental agency, unless expressly outlined. 

 
J. Operations 

1. Permitted Construction Activity Hours. Site preparation and construction of well 
sites are limited to the hours of 7 am to 8 pm. Construction activities associated 
with establishing of the well sites may be eligible for an exception by the Building 
Department in accordance with the City’s Special Hours Work Permit if such 
activities are in compliance with applicable laws and permits.   
 

2. The movement of drilling rigs, tanker trucks or heavy equipment used in 
connection with the drilling or operation of oil or gas wells over public roads and 
streets, shall be consistent with the City’s Traffic Engineer’s approval, which shall 
be obtained in advance. The City’s Traffic Engineer shall identify the streets 
which may be used and any conditions that may apply.  

 
3. All brine, mud, slush, saltwater, chemicals, wastewater, chemical, fluids or waste 

produced or used in the drilling or production of oil or gas shall be safely, lawfully 
and properly disposed of to prevent infiltration of or damage to any fresh water 
well, groundwater, watercourse, pond, lake or wetland. 
 

4. The oil or gas well site shall be kept in a clean and orderly condition, free of trash 
and debris, with weeds cut. Machinery and equipment not being used in the 
operation of the well shall not be stored or kept at the well site.  
 

5. An oil or gas well shall include measures or controls satisfactory to the City 
Engineer to prevent migration, run-off or discharge of any hazardous materials, 
including but not limited to any chemicals, oil or gas produced or used in the 
drilling or production of oil or gas, to adjoining property or to the City of Troy 
sanitary sewer system, stormwater system or any natural or artificial 
watercourse, pond, lake or wetland. There shall be no off-site discharge of storm 
water except to an approved drainage system in accordance with the City’s 
engineering requirements.  

 
K. Inspection. The Building Official, and any other designee of the City Manager, shall have 

the right and privilege at any time during the construction phase and any drilling 
operation to enter upon the premises covered by the special use approval for the 
purpose of making inspections to determine if the requirements of this section are 
complied with or the requirements of any other code or ordinance of the City are met.  

L. Injection wells. Injection wells used for brine disposal or other chemicals from production 
wells or from other sources shall be expressly prohibited within the City. 
 



M. Pipelines. No operator shall excavate or construct any lines for the conveyance of fuel, 
water, oil, gas or petroleum liquids on, under, or through the streets, alleys or other 
properties owned by the City without an easement or right-of-way license from the City. 
 

N. Submittal Requirements.  In addition to submittal requirements for a Site Plan as set 
forth in Article 8 and Special Use as set forth in Article 9, the following information shall 
be submitted as part of the application:  

 
1. Environmental Impact Statement.  Applicant shall submit an Environmental 

Impact Statement filed with the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality 
in connection with a well permit under Part 615 of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, MCL 524.61501, et seq, and the administrative 
rules promulgated under Part 615, as amended. 

 
2. Hydrogeological analysis.   

 
3. Emergency Response Plan.   Pursuant to State and Federal law, the operator 

shall provide any information necessary to assist the City Emergency Services 
Department with an emergency response plan and hazardous materials survey 
establishing written procedures to minimize any hazard resulting from the 
operation.  The Emergency Response Plan should include emergency contact 
information.   
 

4. Reclamation Plan.  A written statement that describes how the land will be 
returned to a stable and productive condition post drilling operations.    
 

5. Operations Plan to include:  
i. Site ingress/egress 
ii. Haul Route Map.   Vehicle Routes for Truck Traffic. Construction vehicles and 

commercial trucks, associated with drilling and/or production operations shall 
be restricted to roads designated by the City Engineer. 

iii. Hours of Operation.  State listed hours of operation. 
iv. Soil Erosion, Mud and Dust Control Plan. 
v. Noise Control Plan.  Prior to the granting of special use approval and the 

commencement of operations, the petitioner shall submit a noise 
management plan, detailing how the equipment used in the drilling, 
completion, transportation, or production of a well complies with the 
maximum permissible noise levels of the Zoning Ordinance. If Special Use 
Approval is granted, the Petitioner shall be responsible for verifying 
compliance with this section and the noise management plan after the 
installation of the equipment. The noise management plan shall: 
i. Identify operational noise impacts 
ii. Provide documentation establishing the ambient noise level prior to 

construction. 
iii. Detail how the impacts will be mitigated. In determining noise mitigation, 

specific site characteristics shall be considered, including but not limited 
to the following: 

1. Nature and proximity of adjacent development, location, and type 
2. Seasonal and prevailing weather patterns, including wind 

directions 
3. Vegetative cover on or adjacent to the site 



4. Topography 
vi. Odor and Fume Control Plan 
vii. Pollution Prevention Plan 
viii. Impact Mitigation Plan 
ix. Monitoring controls.    

 
Section 3.  Savings 
 
All proceedings pending, and all rights and liabilities existing, acquired or incurred, at the 
time this Ordinance takes effect, are hereby saved.  Such proceedings may be 
consummated under and according to the ordinance in force at the time such proceedings 
were commenced.  This ordinance shall not be construed to alter, affect, or abate any 
pending prosecution, or prevent prosecution hereafter instituted under any ordinance 
specifically or impliedly repealed or amended by this ordinance adopting this penal 
regulation, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this ordinance; and new 
prosecutions may be instituted and all prosecutions pending at the effective date of this 
ordinance may be continued, for offenses committed prior to the effective date of this 
ordinance, under and in accordance with the provisions of any ordinance in force at the 
time of the commission of such offense. 
 
Section 4.  Severability Clause 
 
Should any word, phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance be held invalid 
or unconstitutional, the remaining provision of this ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect. 
 
Section 5.  Effective Date 
 
This amendment to the Zoning Ordinance shall take effect seven (7) days after 
publication, which shall be published within 15 days of adoption, as required the 
Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (Act 110 of 2006). 
 
This Ordinance is enacted by the Council of the City of Troy, Oakland County, Michigan, at 
a regular meeting of the City Council held at City Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver, Troy, MI, on the 
_______ day of _____________, 2015. 
 
 
  ______________________________ 
  Dane Slater, Mayor 
 
 
  ______________________________ 
 Aileen Bittner, City Clerk  
 
 
G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 247 Oil and Gas Extraction\PC Public Hearing Draft 05 21 2015.doc 



A
D

A
M

S

FOURTEEN MILE

MAPLE

M
A

IN

S
T

E
P

H
E

N
S

O
N

BIG BEAVER

SQUARE LAKE

WATTLES

SOUTH BLVD

LONG LAKE

D
E

Q
U

IN
D

R
E

R
O

C
H

E
S

T
E

R

R
O

C
H

E
S

T
E

R

C
R

O
O

K
S

C
O

O
L

ID
G

E

L
IV

E
R

N
O

IS

JO
H

N
 R

Properties Zoned IB

and 5 Acres or greater

I

§̈¦75



OIL AND GAS WELLS
SOUTHERN PENINSULA 

OF MICHIGAN

± 0 10 20 30 405
Miles

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!! !
!!! !

!
! ! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!! !

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

! !
!!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!! !
!

!
! !!!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!

!!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

! !!
! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !!!

!

!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

! !!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!!!

!! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!
!

!

!!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
! !

!!!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!!

!!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!!
!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!

!

!

!

! ! !

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !
!
!!!

!
!

!

!! !!

!

!

! !
!

!

!!! !!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!!
!!!

!

!

!
!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
! !!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

! !! !
!

!

! !

!

!

! !!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!!

!!!
!

!

!!!!

!

!

!
!!!!!!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!
!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!! !

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
! !!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!!

!

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!!

!

!
! !

!!

!

!!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

! !!!
!
!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!! !!

!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!! !!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!
!!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!
!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

! !
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!
!!!

!!

!!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!!!

!!
!

!

!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!!!!
!!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!

!!!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! ! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!!

! !!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!!

!
!!!!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!
!!

!

!
!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!

!

!!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

! !

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!!!

!

! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!!

!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

! !!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!!

!

!!!!!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!
!
!
!!

!
!

!! !
!
!

!!

! !!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!
! !!

!!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!
!! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!
!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!! !
!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!
!!!
!
!! !

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!

! !

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!!

!!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!!!!! !

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

! !!
!

!

!

!

! !
!!!

!

!! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!!!

!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!

!!

! !
!

!

!

!

! !
!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

! !
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!
!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!! !
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!!

!

! !!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!!!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!!

! !!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!
!

!
!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!!! !!

!

! !

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

! !

!!!

!

!

!

!!

! !
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !!!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!!!
!!

!

!!

!

!!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

! !!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!!!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

! !!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!
!
!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!
!

! !

!!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!!!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!
!!! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!! !
!! !
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

! !

! !!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!!

!!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

! !!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

! !

!!!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!!
!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! !!!

!
!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!!

!!!

!

!!!!! !!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!

! !
!

!! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!!

!!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!

! !

!

!

!!!

!

!!!
!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

! !
!

!!!!

!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

! !
!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!!

!
!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
! !

!!
!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!
!! !!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
! !!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!!!!! !

!

!

!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

! !!!
!

!

!

!!!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!!!! !!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
! !!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!!!!!!!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!!!
!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!!!

!
!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!

!!
! !

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!!! !!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!! !

!

!!

!

!

! !

!
!!!!
!!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

! !!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!

!!
!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!
!!!

!
!
!!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
! !

!!!
!
!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!!

!
!
!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!!
!
!!!

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!!!!!!

!

! !
!

! !
!!!

!
!

!
! !

!! !
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!!

!
!!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!!!
!!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!! !

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
! !!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!
!!! !

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!!
!

!
!!

!

!!
!! !!

!
!
!!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!

!
!

!! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!
!!!!

!

!!
!!

!

! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!! !
!!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!
!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
! !

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!!
!

!!!!

!!
!!

!!
!

!!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
! !

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!
!!

!

!!
!!
!

!!!
!!

!

!
!
!!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!!
!
!!!!!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!!

!!!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!!!!

!!
!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!!

!!!

!

!
!
!!

!!!
!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
! !

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!
!
!!
!
!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!!! !!

!
! !!

!

!!!
!!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!
!!

!!!
!
!!
!!!!!

!!
!!
!!!

!
!

!!
!!
!!
!

!
!!!!

!
!

!

!
!!!!!

!!

!

!

!!!
!

!!!!

!!!!!
!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!!
!!

!
!

!!
!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!
!

!!!

!!

!

!!
!
!
!!

!

! !

! !!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!
! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

! !

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!
!
!!!
!

!!

!!
!
!!

!!
!!

!!!!!!
!!!!
!

!
!!
!

!!

!!

!

!!!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
! !!

!!!!!!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!!
!!
!
!!!
!!

!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!
! ! !

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!! !!!!

! ! !!! !

!!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!
!
!
!!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!! !

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!
!!

!!
!

!
! !
!

!

!!
!
!
!!

!
! !

!
!!

!

!
! !

!!!!!

!
!!

!

!

! !!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!!
!
!

!

! !!!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
! !

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
! !!!

!

!
!

!!

!!
!
!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!!!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!
!!!

!!!
!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!! !
!
! !!

!
!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!! !!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!!
!
!
!

!!

!

!

!!!

!
!!!

!
!!

!!!

!!
!!

!
!

!!

!!!

!!

!!
!!

!
!

!!

!

!
!
!
!

!
!!
!
!
!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!!

!
!
!
!
!

!! ! !!!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!
!!!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!!!

!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!! !
!!

!
!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!!!!!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!
!

! !

!

!

!!!

!!!!

!

!
!!!
!
!
!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!!

!!
!!!!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!!!
!!!!

!

!
!!

!!
!!
!

!!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!!!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!
!!

!

!!!

!
!!
!!
!!!
!!!!!!

!!!

!!!
!
!!!!!!

!!

!
!
!

!
!!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!
!

!!!

!
!
!

!!!

!!!

!

!

!!
!!!!!!
!

!!

!!!!
!!
!!

!

!!!
!
!
!!!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!! !

!!
! !
!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!
!

!
!

!!
!

!!!!
!

!
!

! !

! !

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!
!!
!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!!! !

!
!

!! !

!
!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!! !!

! !

!

!

!!
!
!!

!!

!!
!!

! !
!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!
!!!!!!!

!
!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!!

!!!

!
!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!
!!

!!!
!
!
!!!
!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!

!
!
! !

!!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!!

!

!!!

!!
!!

!

!

!!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
! !
!
!!

!
!
!
!!!

!

!

!!!
!
!
!

!

!!!
!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!

!!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!!
!

!
!!

!!!
!

!

!
!!

!

! !

!!

!
!

!!!

!!!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!!

!
!! !

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!!!!!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!
!!!

!!

!!!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!! !! !!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!
!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!

! !
!!!!

!

!

!

!
!!!
!

!

!

! !!
!

! !

!
!

!!!

!!
!

!
!!
!

! !
!

!

!

! !!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
! !
! !

!!

!
!!

!! !

!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

! !

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!!
!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!
!!
!

!
!!!
!!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!!
!
!
! !

!

!
!
!
!

! !!

!! !
!

!
! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!
!!
!

!

!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!!
!
!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!!
!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!
!

!!
!
!!
!!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!
!
! !

!

!

!

!! !
!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!! !!
!

!

!
!!

!

! !

!

!

!
!
!
!
!!

!

! !

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!!
!

!!
!

!

!!!!!!

!!!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!!!

! !
!!

!

! !
!! !
!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!! !

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!

!
!!
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

! !

!
!!!

! !

!

!

!
!
!

!!
! !

!

!

!
! !!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
! !!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

! !
!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!!

! !!
!
!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!
!

!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

! !

!!
!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!
!
!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!
!!!

!!
!!!

!

!!

!!!
!
!

!!!

!
!!
!!

! !!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!
!!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!! !

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!
!

!!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!!!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

! !!

!
!

!
!!
!
!
!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
! !

!

!
!

!!
!
! !

!
!

!
!!

!

!
!
! !

!

!!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!
!!

!
!!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!! !
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

! !
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

! !
!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!!!
!

!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!

!! !
!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!
! !

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!!
!! !

! !!!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!
!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!!

!
!
! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!

! ! !

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!
! !

!!

!
!!
!

!!!!!!!!

!!!!

!!

!
!
!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!! !

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!!!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!!

!

! !!

!!

!!!

!!
!

! !!
!

! !
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
! !!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!
!! !!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!
!!

!!
!
!!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!! !

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!! !
!

! !

!
!! !!

!
!! !

!
!

!

!
!
!
!
!
!

!
! !

!!

! !

!

!
!
!!!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!
!

! ! !
!

!
!
!
!
!

!!
!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!
!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!! !

! ! !

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!
!
!!

!
!
!

!
!!

!!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!!
!!

!

! !

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
! !

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!!!!
!

!

! !!!
!

!!!
!
!
!!
!

!

!!
!!

!!
!

!
!!!

!!
! !!

!

!

!

!
!
!
! !!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!
!
!

!

!
!
!!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!! !!!!!!

!

!
!! !

!
!!
!
!
!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!!
!!

!!!!!
!!!
!!

!!

!
!!!!

!!!
!!!

!! !
!!
!!
!!!!

!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

! !
!

!

!
!
!

!!
! !

!!

!! !

!
!

!

!!

!
!!

! !

!
! !

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!
!!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!!!!

!

!!!
!

!!

!!
!

!!! !

!!!
!
!!!
!!
!!

!
!!!

!!!

!

!
!

!
!!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!
!!
!!
!!
!!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!! !!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!!!!!!
!!!! !
!

!

!

!
!!
!!
!!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!! !

!

!!!!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!!

!
!!

! ! !

!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
! ! !

!

!
!

!

!!
!!
!!
!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!! !!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!! !
!

!!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

! !

!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!
!

!!

!

!!!
!

!

!!!!

!

!!!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!
!!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!
!

! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!! !

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

! !!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!! !
! !!

!
!

!
!!

! !
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!!!!
!

!

!!
!

! !

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!! !

!

!

!!
!!!

!!

!

!!!

!!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!!
!!!
!!

!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!! !
!!!
!
!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

! !
! !

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!
! !
!! !

!!
!
! !
!!

!
!

!!!
!
!
!!

!
!! !!

!!!!
!

!
!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

! !

!

!
!

!!!
!

!!

!!

!!
!

!!!
!
!

!

!! !
!!!

!
! !

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!!
! !!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!! !!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!! !

!

!!
!

!
!
!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!!

!
! !
!

!
!

!
!
!
!!

!

!

!
!!

!!!!
!

! !

!!!!

!
!!!!

!
!!!!!!

!!!
!

!!

!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

! !
!
!

!

!
!

!!!!!

!
!

!!!! !!!!
!

!

!!
!

! !
!!!!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!! !
!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!!
!
!

! !

!!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

! !

!
!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!

!
!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!!

!
!

!

! !
!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!

!
!

!
!!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!!
!!!

! !

! !!!

!
!

!
!
!

!
! !

!
!

!

!
!!

!!
!

! !

!

!

!
!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!! !

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!!!

! !
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!!!! !

!!!!!

!
!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!! !

!

! !

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!
!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

! !
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !
!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

! !
!

!
!
!!!
!!

! !!

!
!

!
!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!!
! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!! !

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!!

! !

!

!! !

!!
!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
! !!

! !
!
! !
! !!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!
!

!

!!!
!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!

!

!!!
! !!

!

!
!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!!!

! !!!
!
!

!
!! !
!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!
! !

!
!!

!!
!
!

!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

! !!

!!!
!!
!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!!!

!!!

!!

!

!!!

!!
!!
!!

!

!
!!

!!
!

!!

!!!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!!

!! !!

!
! !!

!

!
!

!!!!!!!
!

!!
!
!

!!!!!!!!!!

!!!

!!!! !!!!!
!

!!!
!
!!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!!
!!!!

!

!!

!!
!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!!
!
!

!!

!

!!!

!
! !!!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!

!
! !

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!
!!

!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!
!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!

!
!
!
!

!!!!
!!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!! !! !

!

!!
!!

!!! !!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!
!!

!!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!!!
!
!!

!

!!
!!!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!
!
!!!!!
!!!!!
!

!!

!!

!
!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!! !

!

!!!!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!!!!
!
!
!

!

!!!

!
!!

!
!! !!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!!!!!
!

! !

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!!!!

!

!
!!

!!

!
!!!
!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!!
!!! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!
!!!!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!

!!!

!!!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !!!!

!

!!
!

!! !
!
!!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!!!!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!
!!!!

!
!
!!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!!!

!
!

! !

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!!

!
!!
!
!!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!!

!!!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!!!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!!! !!

!
!

!

!!

!
!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

! !!!!

!

!!

!

!
!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!
!
!
!!
!!

!!

!!

!!
!
!
!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!! !
!!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!! !

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!
! !!!

!!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!!!

!
!
!!!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!!!!
!!!

!!

!

!!
!
! !

!
!

!

!!
!

!
! !

!

!

!!
!!

!

! !
!!

!! !!

!

!

!!

!
!!!!!

!

!!

!
!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!!!
!!!
!

! !!
!!!

!

!!

!!

!!!
!

!!!
!

!

!!

! !!

!

!

!!!

!

! !

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!!!!!
!!!!! !

!!!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!
!!

!
!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!!!
!!

!!
!

!

!
! !

!

!!
!!
!!!

!!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!!!

!
!!
!

!! !!
! !!

!

!!
! !!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!
!!

!
!

!!!
!!

!!
!!

!
!!!

!
!
!!

!
!

!!

!!
!!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!!
!!

!

!

!! !

!!!
!!

!
! !!

!
!

!!!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!
!!!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!!!

!!

!!

!
!!

!

! !!!
!!

!
!

!
!
!
!!

!
!

!!
!

!!
!

!
!!!

!!

!
!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!!!!!!!

!

!

!!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

! !

!
!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!!

!! !
!!
!

!!
!

!

!!!!!

!
!!!

!
! !!!!

!!

!

!!!!
!!

!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!!! !

!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!!
!

!

! !! !!

!
!!

!!!
!

!

!!!!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

! !
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!!!!
!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!!
!!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!!

!!
!!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!
! !!

! !!

!!
!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!

!
! !

! !

!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!
!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!
!!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!!
!
!
!

! !!

!

!

!
!

!!!!!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!!!
!
!!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!
! !

!

!
!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!
!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!!

!

! !

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!
!
!

!

!
!
!!!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!
!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!!

! !
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!! !

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!!!!

!

!

!!

!!
!! !!

!

!

!

!

!! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!

!!

!

!!!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!
!

!

! !

!
!

! !!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

! !
!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!

! !!

! !

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!! !
!

!
!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

! !
!
!!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

! ! !

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

! !
!
!

!!

!!!!!! !

!
! !

!
!!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !
!!!!

!!

!!!
!
!!

!
!!
!

!

!
!

!
!!
!

!

!
!
!
!

!!

!

!!!!!!

!

!
!
!!!

!! !
!!!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!

! !

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

! !
!

! !

!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
! !

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!! !

!

!
!!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

! !

! !
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

! !
!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!!!
!!
!
!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

! !!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!! !
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !
!!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!
!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!!!

!

!

! !

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!! !
!

!

!
!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!
!!!!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
! !

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!!
!

!
!

!

! !
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!
!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!!
!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

! !

!!

!

!
! !

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!!
! !

!

! !
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

! !!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!! !

!!!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

! !

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!
! !

!!!
!

! !!

!!
!!

!!
!

! !!
!
!!!

!

!
!
!
!!!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!!!
! !

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!!!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!
!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!
!
!
!

!!!!
!!

!

!
!

!!

!
! !

!
!!
!!
!!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

! !!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!
!

! !!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

! !

!!
!

!

!!
!!

!!
!
!!

!

!!

!!
!
!

!

!!

!

!!!!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!
!
!
!!
!!

!

!!! !

!

!!!

!
!

!
!
!!
!

!
!!
!
!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!
!
!

!!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!
! !!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
! !
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!
!!

!!!

!
!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!!!!!

!

!
!

!
!
!!!
!!

!
!!!

!

!!!!!!!

!!

!!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!

!!!
!!!
! !!

!
!! !

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
! !

!
!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!!

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!
!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!

!
!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!!
!

!
!
!!

!
!! !

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!
!
! !!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!!
!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!
!

!!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
! !

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !
!!

!!!
!

!

!
!!!!

!!
!!
!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!!!!!!!!!

!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!!!!
!!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

! !!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!
! ! !

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!! !

!

!

!!!!
!!

!
! !

!

!!
! !

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !

!
!
!!

!
!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!!!!

!
! !
!

!

!

!
!

!!

! !!!
!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

! !!
!
!
!!!
!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!!

!
!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!!!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!

! !!
!

!!
!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!!

!!

!!
!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!
!!!
!

!! !
!!
! !!

!!

!

!

!!

! !

!!
!

! !
! !

!
!!

!

!!
!!!

!!

!
!!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!

!

!!
!! !

!!!!!!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !
!
!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !

!!

!

!!!
!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!!!
!!!

! !
!!
!!

!!!! !!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
! !

! !!
!!!

!!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
! !!

!
!
! !

!
!
!

!

!

!
!
!
!!
!

!

!!!

!
! !!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!!

! !!

!
!

!

!!
!
!!
!!!!!

!!!
!

!
!
!!
!!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!
!!!!
!!

! ! !

!
!!!!
!!! !!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!
!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!
!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!
!!
!!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!

!
!!
!

!
!

!!
!!

!
!
!

! !
!

!! !

!

!

!!! !

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!!!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!! !

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!!!
!

!!

!
!
!
!

!

! !

!!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!
!
!
!
!
!
!

!!!
!!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!!
!

!! !
!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!
!!! ! !

!
!

!!

!!

!
!

!! !!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

! !!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!! !
!

!

!!

!

!!

!! !

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!!

! !

! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

! !

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!! !

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

! !

!

!

!
!
!

!
!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!! !

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!!
!!
!

!
!!!

!
!
!!
!

!!!
!

!!!

!!
! !!!

!

!!!!

!
!!!!
!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!! !
!!
!!!

!
!

!!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!! !!

!

!!

!

!
!!!!!!!

!
!
!
! !
!!

!! !

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!
!

! !!
! !!

!
!!

!

! !
!
!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!!
!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!!

!

!

!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!
!! !!! !!!!!!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!

!!! !

!
! !

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!
!!
!
!

!!
!!
! !

!

!
!
!

!
!!

! !!

!

!!!
!!
!!

!
!
!

!

! !

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!!
!

!!!!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!!

!

!
!
!!

!

!!
!
!
!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!!
!!

!
!
!
!
!!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

! !!
!
!!

!

!
!

!!! !
!

!

!

!!
!!

!! !

!

!!!! !!
!

!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

! !

!

!!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!!

!
!!
!!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!! !!!
!! !

!

!!

! !

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!
!

!

!
!!
!!
!

!

! !

!!

! !
!
!

!
! !!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
! !

!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!! !!

!!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !

!
!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!!! !!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

! !!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!! !
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!
!
!!
!

!!

!!
!
!

!

!
!
!
!!!

!
!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!!

!!
!!

!!!!
!!!

!
!!!
!
!

!

!
!
!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

! !

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
! !

!
!!!

! !!!!!
!

!

!
!

!
!!!!
!! !!
!!!!
!
!

!

!
!
! !
!

!
!

!!!
! !
!!

!
!
!
!!
!
!!
!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!!!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !!
!
!!
!

!

!

! !

!!!

!
! !

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!
!

!
!
!
!!

!

!!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!
!

!!!

!!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!!!!

!
!!!!
!
!!

!!

!

!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!! !

!
!

!
!

!!

! !
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!!!

!
!

!!!
!

!
!
!

!!

!

!
!!!!!

!!!!!!!!
!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!

!
!!!
!
!

!

!!!
!
!

!
!!! !!!

!
!!!!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

! !

!

!
!

! !!
!

!!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!
!!!

!

!!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!
!
!

!

!

!!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!

!!!!!!!!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!
!
!

!!

!
!!

!!

!!
!!
!
!
! !

!

!!!

!

!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!!!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!
!

!
!!!

!!

!
!!

!

!!!!
!!!

!

!!
!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

! !!!

!!
!!

!!!
!!!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!
!
!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!!
!
!!
!
!!

!

!!!!!!!!!
!
!! !!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!
!!
!!! !!

!
!
!

!

!
!! !
!

!!!!!!!
!
!!
!!!!

!
!!!!

!

!

! !

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!!!

!

!!

!

!!
!
!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!!!
!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

! !!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!!

!!

!
!!
!!!!!
!
!!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!
!
!

!!!

!
!

!!
!

!

!!!
!
!!!!

!

!!!
!!
!

!
!!

!

!
!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!! !
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!
!

!

!!
!!! !

!!

!
!

!

!!!

! !!!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!! !

!
! !
!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!
!
!
!
!

!
!
!

!!
!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!! !
!
!

!
!!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!!!
!!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!!!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!
!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!!!
!
!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!!

!
!
!!
!

! !
!
!!
!

!

!!
!

!!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!
!!
!

!

!!

! !!
!

! !
!
!!!

!

!
!! !

!!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!! !

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
! !!!

!
!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!!
! !!!!

!!

!
!

!!

!!
! !!

!
!

!!!
!

!
!

!!
!!
!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

! !
! !

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!! !!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!!
! !!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
! !

!!
!!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!! !!!

!

!

!
!!

!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!
!!

!!

!!!!
! !!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!
!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!!!

!!! !

!
!

!
! !

!

!!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!!!!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!
!
!!!!!

!

!!

!!!!

!

!!

!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!
!!

!!!

!
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!!
!

!!

!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!
!
!

!
!

!!!!
!

!!!!
!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!!!

!
!

!

!!!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!!

! !
!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!!

!!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!

! !
!

! !
!!

!

!!

!
!
!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!!!
!

!!
!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!
!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!
!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

! !

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!
!!

!

!
!!!

!!
!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

! !

!
!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!
!!
!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!! !!
!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!!

!!

!! !
!!!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!
!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!
!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!!
!!
!

!

!

!!

! !
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!!!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

! !

!
!

!!
!!!
!!!!!
!!
!
!!!!
!!!

!!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!!!

!

!

!
!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!! !!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!!!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!!!
!
!!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!! !

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!

!
!
!

!!!

!!!

!!!!!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!! !!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!!
!

!!
!
!!!
!!!

!

!
!

!
!!!
!

!!
!!!!!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!!!
!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!!
!!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!
!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!

!
!!
!

!!!!

!
!

!!!

!!

!

!
!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!!!!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!! !
!!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!
!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!
! !

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

! !

!

!!!
!

!
!!!! !
!
!!
!!
!

!
!
!

!

!!! !
!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!
!!!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!! !!

!!

!
!
!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!!!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!! ! !!!

!

!
! !!

!!!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!

!!!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!
!

!!!!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

! !

!

!!!
!

!

!!!!
!

!
!
!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!! ! !

!

!!
!

!
!

! !

!!!!

!!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!
!!!

!!
!
!!!

!!
!!!!!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!!!!!

!
!!

!!!!

!!!
!!!
!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!
! !!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!
!!
!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!! !!!!
!
!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!!
!
!

!

!
!
!!
!
!

! !
!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!
!!

!!

!
!
!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!
!

! !! !
!
!

!
!
!

!

!
!!
!!

!
!

!
!

!! !

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

! !
!

!!
!

!!
!

!
!!!!!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!
!!

!!!
! !

!
!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!!! ! !

!

!
!
!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!! !

!!

!

!

!

!
!!!

! !!! !
!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!! !

!

!
!

!

! !
!

!

!
!

!!!!!
!!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!!!!!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

! !!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!!!!!
!!!! !
!!!
!!!!!!!

!

!!!!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!!!!

!!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!! !

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!

! !

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!!
!!

!
!!!!
!
!

!
!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!
!
!
!

!

!! !
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!
!
!
!

!
!!

!

!!!!
!!

!

!
!!
!!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!!

!!
!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!
!!

!
!

! !
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!!
!!!

!
!!!!!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!!

!!

!
!
!!! !

!
!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!

! !!!!! !!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!!!
!!

!
!
!
! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!
!
!

!!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!!
! !!!
!

!!
!!!

!!!

!
!!!!

!

!

!
! !

!
!!
!

!!!

!
!!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!
!!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!
!

!!!!
!!

!!! !!
!

!
!!

! !
!!
!

!
!!!

! !

!
!

!

!
!!

!!

!

! !!

!
!

!

!

!!! !

!

!!!! !!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!!!!
!

!
!

!!!

!

!
!
!

!!

!! !!

!

!
!!!!

!!

!

!

!!
!

! !!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!!

!! !

!!
!

! !!!
!

!!
!
!

!!
!

!
!!
!!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!
!!!! !

!!!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!

! !!!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!!!!
!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!!!!

!
!!

!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
! !

!

!
!
!!

!
!

!!

!! !

!!!!
! !
!!

!

! !!

!!

!

!
!
!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!!!!

!!

! !
!
!

!
!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!!
!!
!!!

!
!
!!
!!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!
!!

!!!
!!

!

!
!
!!
!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!! !!

!

!
!
!

!!!!
!

!!
!

!
!
!

!
!

!!
!

!

!!!

!
!
!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!!!

!!!
!!

!

!
!!!
!
!

!!
!

!!
!
!!
!

! !
!

!

!! !

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!!

!!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!!!!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!!

!!

!
! !!!

!

! !!

!!

!!

!
!!!!

!

!!

!
!

! !!

! !

!!!
!

!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!

! !
!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!
!

! !
!
!

!
!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!

!
!
!!

!
!

!
!!
!

!
! !

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!
!
!
!!
!

!
!!
!
!

!

! !
!

!!
! !

!

!

!
!
!!

!
!!!!
!

!
!

!!! !!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!!!!

!
!

!

!!
!!
!
!

!

!!

!

!
!
!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!
!!!!!
!!
!

!
!!

!
!!

!!

!
!
!

!
!
!!
!!
!

!!! !
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!!
!

!

!
! !!!!!!!

!

!!
!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!!!
!

!

!!

!

!
!!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!!!
!!!!!!!
! !
!!!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!!!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

! !!

!

! !

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!! !

!

!

!!!!

!!!

!!!!!

! !!!

!!

!
!!

!!!

!

!!

!!

!
!!!!!! !

!!!
!!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!!
!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!!
!

!!!
!
!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!!!!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!!!!! !!

!

!

!!!!!
!!!
!!

!
!
!

!
!!!

!
! !!!!
!!!!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

! !!!
!
!!!
!!
!
!! !!

!!!!
!!
!!!!!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!!
!!!!

!
!
!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!!
!

!!!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!
! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!
!

!!

!!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!
!

!

! !

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!
!
!
!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!!
!
!

!

!
! !!

!

!!!
!

!
!
!

!!
!!

!
!

!! !

!!

!
!
!!!
!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!
!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
! !

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!
!!

!
!!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!
!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!!
!
!!

!
!!

!
!!!

!!!!!!!!!
!!
!

!!
!

!
!
!
!!!!

! !!!
!! !

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!
!!
!!

!

!
!
!

!!!
!

!
!

!
! !!!

!
!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!!

!!
!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!!
!!

!!
!

!

!!
!!
!!

!
!!

!

!!
!

!!
!!!

!
!
!

!

!!
!
!!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!!

!

! !
!!
!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!
!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!!

!!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!
!
!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

! !!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!
!!!
! !

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!
!!!

!!
!!!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!
!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!!

!

!!!

!
!!

!!

!!

!

!!

!!!!
!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!! !
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

! !
!

!!! !
!!!

!!
!!!!!!

!!!

! !!!!
!

!!

!!!

!!

!

!

! !
!

!

!!
!!
!
!
!

!
!!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!! !!
!
!!!

!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!!
!

!!!! !

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

! ! !
!!

!!

!!

!

!

! !

!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!!
!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!

!! !!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
! !!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!! !!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

! !

!!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!

! !

!!

!

!!
!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!!
!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!! !
! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!
!

!
!!!!

!!

!

!!
!!
!!
!!

!

!!

!
!!!

!!

!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!!
!!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!!

!
!

!!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!!!!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!
!
!

! !

!!
!

!

!

!!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!
!! !
!

!

!

!
!
!
!!

!

!!!

!

!!
!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!!

!! !!!!!

!!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!
!!!

!
!!
!

!

!!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!
!
!!
!

!

!

!
! !
!

!
!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

! !

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!!!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!!!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!
!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!!

! !

!
!!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!

!!

!!!
!!

!

!!!

!

!
!!!

!
!
!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!!
!

!!!
!!!

!

!!!

!

!

!!!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!!
!!

!
!
!

!

!

!!!!
!!!!

!
!

!
!!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!
!!

!!! !!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!!!

!
!

!

!

! !

!
!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!!!!!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!
!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !
!
!
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!
!

!
!!!

!

!
!
!!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!
!!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!!!!!

!

!! !!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!

!

!!

!!

!

! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!!

!!!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!
!

!!!
!

!!!

!!

!

!
!
!!
!!!!

!
!!!!!!!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!! !

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!!!!

!
!

!!!

!
!!

!!
!!

!
!

!!!!!
!
!
!!!
!
!

!
!!

! !!

!

!!!!

!

!!!!

!!
!!!!

!!!
!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!!!

!
!

!!
!

!!!

!!
!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!! !

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!!
!!

!!!

!!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!
!!! !

!!

!

!

!
!!!!!!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!!
!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!!!

!
!!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!
!!!
!!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!

!!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!
!!

!

!
!!

! !
!!

!

!

!!

!

!!!
!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!!
!
!

!

!!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!!!
!

!
!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!!!
!

!

!!

!!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!
!!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!!!

!

!!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!! !!!!
!

!

!
!
!

!

!!!

!

!!

!!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!

!
!
!!!!!

!

!

!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!

!!

!

!
!
!!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

! !

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!!! !!

!!

!

!
!
!

!!

!!!
!!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!
!
!
!

!

!!!!!!
!!!

!
!!!

!!!
!!
!
!
!!

!

!! !
!
!!
!!

!
!!!

!!
!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!!!

!

!! !
!
!!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

! !

!

!
!
!!

!

!!

!
!
!

! !

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!! !!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!!!!

!

!!

!

!
!!!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!!

!
!!

! !

!!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!
!
!
! !!!

!

!!!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!!

!

!

! !!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

! !

!
!!

! !

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!!
!!!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!!!!!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!
!
!!
!

!!

!!
!!
!

!
!
!!!

!

!!!!

!!!

!!

!
!!!!

!

!!

!

!!
!

!
!
!!!

!
!

!

!!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!!!
!
!!
!
!

!

!
!
!
!
!!

!
!
!

!
! !!
!

!!
!

!
!
!

!

!

!

!!!
!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!!
!

!!

!
!!

!
!
!
!

!!!

!

! !

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!
!!

!!
!

!!!!!
!! !!! !! !!!!!

!

!

!!
!

!
!
!!!!!
!!! !! !!

!!

!!

!
! !

!!!!!
!

!

!

!
!!!

! !
!!

!

!

!! ! !!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!

!

!! !

!

!
!!

!
!

!

! !
!

!!

!

!!

!

!!!!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!!!

!!

!

! !

!!!! !!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!!

!!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!
! !!

!
!

!

!

!
! !

!!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!
!!!!!

!

!

!

! !

!!!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!
!
!

!! !

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
! !!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
! !

!!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !
!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!! !!!
!!!

!!

!

!!!!
!!

!!!!
!
!

!!

!!
!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

! !

!

!!!

!

!

!

! !!

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!! !
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!

!
!

!!
!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

! !!
!

!
!
!

!!
!!

! !!!!!
!

!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!!!! !!!!!

!
!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

! !
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!
!

!

!!!
!

!
!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!!
!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!!!!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

! !

!

!
!

! !!
!

!!!
! !!!!

!!

! !!!!
!!

! !

!

!
!!!
!!!

!

!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

! !!

!

!!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!
!!!

!

!
!
!!!
!
! !!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!

!!!
!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!
!
!

!

!

!!!

!!!

!
!

!!

!

!!!
!

!
!!! !

!

!
!!
!
!
! !

!

!

!
!! !!

!

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!!!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!!

!

! !!!
!
!!

!

!

!
!

!!! !
!

!

!
!
!

!
!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!!
!!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!
!!

!

!

!

!!!!

!

!
!!

!
!

!! !

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!
!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!!
!

!
!!

!!!!!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!!
!!

!!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!
!
!

!

!
!!!!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!
!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!!!

!

!
!!

!

! !!!!!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!!!!

!
!

!

!

!

!!

!

!
!

KENT

BAY

HURON

SANILAC

LAKE

IONIA

OAKLAND

CASS

ALLEGAN

DELTA

IOSCO

SAGINAW

EATON

CLARE

TUSCOLA

WAYNE

ALCONA

NEWAYGO

BARRY

LAPEER

LENAWEE

JACKSON

ST. CLAIR

ALPENA

CALHOUN

INGHAM

OTTAWA

MASON

ANTRIM

GENESEE

EMMET

OSCODA

CLINTON

GRATIOT

BERRIEN

OCEANA

MONTCALM

CHEBOYGAN

OGEMAW

MONROE
BRANCH

OTSEGO

ISABELLA

OSCEOLA

MIDLANDMECOSTA

HILLSDALE

WEXFORD

GLADWIN

WASHTENAW

KALKASKA

MANISTEE

VAN BUREN

MACOMB

MISSAUKEE

LIVINGSTON

CRAWFORD
BENZIE

PRESQUE ISLE

KALAMAZOO

ST. JOSEPH

MUSKEGON

ARENAC

ROSCOMMON

SHIAWASSEE

MONTMORENCY

LEELANAU

CHARLEVOIX

GRAND TRAVERSE

SCHOOLCRAFT
MACKINAC

CHIPPEWA

CHARLEVOIX

MACKINAC

MACKINAC

LEELANAU

CHIPPEWAMACKINAC

!

!

!

!

!

Michigan Department of Environmental Quality
Office of Oil, Gas, and Minerals

September 2012

OIL AND GAS WELL LEGEND
! OIL WELLS 14,542 (4,551 ACTIVE)
! GAS WELLS 13,269 (11,191 ACTIVE)
! DRY HOLES 22,067
! GAS STORAGE WELLS 3,016
! BRINE DISPOSAL WELLS 1,187
! WATER INJECTION WELLS  787
! OTHER WELL TYPES 1,192

!

!



10-08-2014 08.18.46.411



Hydraulic Fracturing 
of 

Oil and Gas Wells in Michigan 

Michigan Department of Environmental Quality
Office of Oil, Gas, and Minerals

www.michigan.gov/ogs
4/2013

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ), Office of Oil, Gas, and Minerals (OOGM) is charged 
with the responsibility of ensuring the best use of Michigan’s geological resources for their social and 
economic benefits while protecting the environment and public health and safety.  The OOGM employs over 
50 staff members who live and work in the communities they protect.  As the use of hydraulic fracturing 
has expanded and developed over the past several decades, the OOGM has worked to stay ahead of 
technological changes by implementing rules and regulations that address potential risks to the environment 
and public health and safety.  Recent advances in technology have opened up new areas to oil and gas 
development.  While this is exciting economic news for some areas, it also poses potential risks to the 
region’s ground and surface waters as well as other environmental resources.  The OOGM staff have worked 
with environmental groups and the oil and gas industry to address concerns before risks become reality. 
This document was created to help the public by providing them with basic information on what hydraulic 
fracturing is, why it is needed and what the OOGM has done to protect the public and resources of the State 
of Michigan.  Terms in bold face type are defined in the glossary at the end of this document.  

DEQ-OOGM Geologist inspecting floor of rig during drilling operation.



What is Hydraulic Fracturing? 
 
Hydraulic fracturing is part of the completion of some oil or natural gas wells after they are drilled. Hydraulic 
fracturing involves pumping water at high pressure to create fractures in reservoir rock that allow the oil or 
natural gas to flow more freely to the well bore. Proppants, usually silica sand, are added to the water to 
hold the fractures open once they are created. Small concentrations of chemicals are added to improve the 
effectiveness of the fracture job.  

Recently, hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling have been utilized, to increase exposure of more 
reservoir rock formation to the well bore to maximize production. Horizontal drilling has been used 
commercially since the 1980s but has not been widely applied until recent years.  Hydraulic fracturing has 
been utilized throughout the United States for more than 60 years and allows production in tight geologic 
formations which would otherwise not yield economical amounts of oil and natural gas. In the past 60 years 
significant advancements of the technology have occurred in such areas proppant development, fluid 
advances, modeling and simulation, and horizontal well integration.  After completing a hydraulic fracture 
treatment the fracturing fluid begins to flow back through the well casing to the wellhead. Typically, 25 to 75 
percent of the hydraulic fracturing fluid is recovered as “flowback” water within a few weeks or months 
after hydraulic fracturing. The rest remains in the oil and gas-bearing formation or is recovered over time 
along with the oil and gas that is produced. 

Hydraulic Fracturing in Michigan

Michigan has comprehensive laws and rules , enforced by the DEQ, that regulate hydraulic fracturing as 
well as every other aspect of oil and gas drilling and production. The DEQ works to consider the risks of 
hydraulic fracturing and to institute regulations that minimize those risks.  In Michigan, since 1952, when 
the first hydraulic fracture stimulation was performed in Michigan, more than 12,000 wells have been 
hydraulically fractured. Most of these are Antrim Shale Formation gas wells in the northern Lower Peninsula.  
Hydraulic fracturing procedures may take one to fifteen days depending on the length of the interval to be 
treated.  OOGM staff inspect the sites regularly during drilling and completion activities. Recent interest 
in horizontally drilling and/or hydraulically fracturing formations has focused on the Utica-Collingwood in 
Northern Michigan, the A1 Carbonate in Mid and West Michigan, and the Black River (Van Wert zone) in 
Southern Michigan.  The formations are more than 3,000 feet deep (4,000 to 10,000 feet below ground 
surface) and due to the long lateral lengths (up to 2 miles) are expected to require significant volumes of 
fluids for hydraulic fracturing. In response, the Supervisor of Wells Instruction 1-2011 was issued, which 
improves environmental protection measures and fosters greater transparency. The Instruction applies 
to high volume hydraulic fracturing well completions. It sets standards for water withdrawal 
evaluation; monitoring and reporting of fracturing pressures and rates; providing information on chemical 
additives; and reporting of flowback water. 

Major Shale Gas plays in the Contiguous U.S., (EIA, 2011)

2



Freshwater Pit

Flare

Company Man 
Trailers

Wellhead 

Steel tanks containing 
produced water

Truck loading produced 
water for transport to
disposal 

Processing &
separation equipment 

Aerial photograph of a Utica– Collingwood well during  “flowback”  after hydraulic fracturing is complete.  The Freshwater 
pit, shown in the upper right, remains in place from the hydraulic fracturing but is not used during the flowback stage.  

Proppant (sand)

Freshwater Pit

Freshwater Tanks

Wellhead 

Freshwater Tanks

Wireline Rig

Slurry Blender

Chemical Storage

Pump Trucks

Frac Trailer

Company Man 
Trailers

Aerial photograph of a large scale staged hydraulic fracturing job performed on an Utica-Collingwood well in Kalkaska 
County in 2011.  Hydraulic Fracturing operations at Antrim Shale wells are not done on such a large scale. 

3



Hydraulic Fracturing Stages 

Figure depicting a horizontal well that has been hydraulic fractured, 
Modified from API, 2012.

Hydraulic Fracturing Concerns:
 
Recent issues raised in other states have thrust it into the forefront of people’s attentions across the state.  
The public has voiced its concerns about hydraulic fracturing and the DEQ has been listening.  Responses 
to common questions the public is asking are addressed on the following pages. 

Q:  Will hydraulic fracturing affect my groundwater? 
A:  Fresh water is needed to hydraulically fracture a well. The quantity of water needed varies based on the 
type of well being completed with hydraulic fracturing.  A vertical well that is hydraulically fractured may use 
about 50,000 to 100,000 gallons of water while a horizontal well that is hydraulically fractured may use up 
to 20,000,000 gallons of water or more.  Withdrawal of water for oil and gas operations is exempt from the 
requirements of Michigan’s water withdrawal statute (Part 327 of Act 451 Natural Resources Environmental 
Protection Act (NREPA)); however, the DEQ requires the operator to perform the same water withdrawal 
impact assessment as any other user of large volumes of water.  Additionally, in situations where a 
freshwater supply well is within one-quarter mile of the proposed hydraulic fracturing withdrawal location, the 
DEQ requires installation of an observation well to monitor water levels.  The DEQ reviews each application 
for a high-volume hydraulic fracturing well completion and determines if a large-volume water 
withdrawal is being proposed. If so, the DEQ will screen that proposed withdrawal using Michigan’s Water 
Withdrawal Assessment Tool.  Under no circumstances will water withdrawals that are determined to 
create an Adverse Resource Impact to the waters of the State be approved.   

Q: Where does the water go? 

A:  Produced water (brine) must be properly handled and disposed of in order to protect public health and 
the environment.  In Michigan, strict rules determine the handling and disposal of these fluids: fluids must 
be containerized in steel tanks (with secondary containment) until they can be transported to disposal wells 
(regulated by the DEQ and Environmental Protection Agency) where the fluid is injected into deep rock 
layers isolated from fresh water supplies.  The DEQ also requires reporting of the volume of flowback 
water recovered after a hydraulic fracturing operation.

4



Q:  What chemicals are used in Hydraulic Fracturing?
A:  The hydraulic fracturing fluid is generally composed of approximately 99.5% fresh water and sand and 
0.5% chemical additives including friction reducers, biocides, stabilizers, acids, and compounds that increase 
the viscosity of the fluid.   Like many household cleaners and solvents, some of the chemical additives used 
in hydraulic fracturing can have adverse health or environmental impacts if they are not properly handled. 
Oil and gas operators are required to provide to the DEQ copies of all Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDSs) 
for additives used in high volume hydraulic fracturing well completions.  The MSDSs include 
information on physical characteristics, toxicity, health effects, first aid, reactivity, storage, disposal, protective 
equipment, and spill response. The DEQ posts the MSDSs on the Department’s web site for public review. 
While the details on some of the chemical compounds used in hydraulic fracturing are exempted from 
disclosure on the MSDSs under federal law, the MSDSs will provide enough information for the DEQ to 
track and monitor spills.  More information about chemicals used in hydraulic fracturing can be found at 
Fracfocus.org. 

Q:  What if there is a spill?
 
A:   Surface spills of chemical additives or flowback water can have adverse environmental or public health 
impacts. Michigan requires secondary containment under tanks and other areas where spills are most 
likely to occur.  If a spill does occur, it must be reported immediately to the DEQ, and cleaned up according to 
strict legal requirements identified in Part 201 of  Act 451 (NREPA).  

What’s in Fracturing Fluid?What’s in Fracking Fluid?

5



Q: Will my groundwater become contaminated? 

A:  A major public concern surrounding oil and natural gas development and particularly hydraulic fracturing 
is the migration of gas or other fluids out of the reservoir and into fresh water aquifers. In other states where 
migration of gas into freshwater aquifers has occurred, it has been the result of improper well construction 
or well construction problems not from hydraulic fracturing itself.  The installation of steel pipe (“casing”) 
encased in cement is critical to preventing migration of gas or fluids.  Michigan has strong regulations that 
require each oil and gas well to have a casing and cementing plan that will contain gas and other fluids 
within the well bore and the formation.  Surface casing must be set a minimum of 100 feet into competent 
bedrock and at least 100 feet below any fresh water zones, this casing is cemented from the base to the 
ground surface. For most deeper wells, and intermediate casing string is set and cemented for added 
protection. Before fracturing or other completion operations can take place, a production casing must be 
set to the depth of the target reservoir and cemented in place.  Geology varies across the state; therefore, 
every casing and sealing plan is thoroughly reviewed for site specific geologic characteristics.  Additional 
strings of casing or revisions to the casing and sealing plan may be required by the DEQ to ensure that the 
plan will prevent migration of gas or fluids.  

COLDWATER SHALE

ANTRIM SHALE

TRAVERSE LIMESTONE

DUNDEE 

DETROIT RIVER ANYHDRITE AND SALT

AMHERSTBERG/SYLVANIA/BOIS BLANC

BASS ISLAND

SALINA SALTS/SHALES

A-2 CARBONATE & EVAPORATE/A-1 CARBONATE & EVAPORATE/POTASSIUM SALT

NIAGARAN/BURNT BLUFF/CABOT HEAD

CINCINNATIAN

UTICA-COLLINGWOOD

GROUND 
SURFACE

1,000'

2,000'

3,000'

4,000'

5,000'

6,000'

7,000'

8,000'

9,000'

STATE EXCELSIOR 1-25 HD1
OLIVER TOWNSHIP, KALKASKA COUNTY
TRUE VERTICAL DEPTH = 8,943
MEASURED DEPTH = 16,890

EXAMPLE UTICA-COLLINGWOOD HORIZONTAL HYDRAULICALLY FRACTURED COMPLETED WELL DESIGN 

GLACIAL DRIFT
FRESHWATER    AQUIFER

CASING STRINGS:

20'' CONDUCTOR SET AT 97 FEET

13-3/8'' SURFACE STRING SET AT 1,142 FEET. CEMENTED TO SURFACE

9-5/8'' INTERMEDIATE STRING SET AT 5,023 FEET. CEMENTED TO 3,100 FEET.

7'' LINER HUNG AT 4,740 FEET AND SET AT 9,101 FEET. CEMENTED TO 6,580 FEET

4.5'' PRODUCTION STRING TO TOTAL DEPTH. CEMENTED TO 7,700 FEET.

FRESHWATER    AQUIFERFRESHWATER    AQUIFER

FRESHWATER    
AQUIFER

SURFACE 
CASING
SET AT
LEAST
100 FEET
BELOW
AQUIFER

M
U

LT
IP

LE
 IM

P
E

R
V

IO
U

S
 LA

Y
E

R
S

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

F
IN

IN
G

 F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

S

6



Glossary

Aquifer: Sediment or rock formation that is contains water and porous and permeable enough to transmit 
water to wells and springs.

Brine:  All nonpotable water resulting, obtained, or produced fromthe exploration, drilling or production of oil or 
gas, or both.

Casing: Heavy steel pipe place in an openhole and cemented into place.  Casing is designed to withstand 
high pressures, large tensile loads and resist chemical reaction and corrosion. A casing string refers to a series 
of connected segments of casing or pipe that serves to prevent the hole from caving, keep the fluids inside 
the casing string from migrating to porous formations, prevents unwanted fluids from entering the hole, and 
protects fresh water aquifers.   

Completion: Equipment and procedures used to bring a wellbore into production and enhance productivity 
after a well has been drilled, cased and sealed.

High volume hydraulic fracturing well completion: A well completion operation that is intended to use a 
total of more than 100,000 gallons of hydraulic fracturing fluid.

Horizontal Drilling:  Deviation of a wellbore from vertical toward a horizontal inclination in order to intersect 
targeted fractures and/or maximize contact with a productive formation.

Large Volume Water Withdrawal:  A water withdrawal intended to produce a cumulative total of over 100,000 
gallons of water per day when averaged over a consecutive 30-day period.  Use of surface water is prohibited 
for activities regulated under Part 615.

Flowback Water:  Flowback water is a mix of fracturing fluids and native water from the formation itself (often 
termed “produced water”) that contains salts and other dissolved constituents.  These fluids come to the 
surface through casing after the well has been completed.  

Reservoir:  A geological formation that contains economically producible quantities of oil and/or gas.

Secondary containment:  A bermed plastic lining or other physical barrier that is used to contain primary 
containers and designed to catch spilled materials from the primary container. Secondary containment 
provides redundancy to primary containers, easing clean-up and protecting the environment.

Water Withdrawal Assessment Tool (WWAT):  A computer program designed to estimate the likely 
ecological impact of a proposed water withdrawal on nearby streams and rivers.  The WWAT considers the 
geographic variations in Michigan’s streams, geology, precipitation and fish community types to formulate 
mathematical models of stream flow, groundwater characteristics, and fish ecology. Stream flow models are 
used in combination with groundwater models to estimate how much a well will reduce the flow in nearby 
streams and to assess any impact to the types and abundance of fish that live there, serving as indicators to 
health of the overall stream ecosystem. (www.miwwat.org).  

Photograph of a Utica–Collingwood well being drilled in Kalkaska County. 

7



More Information / Contact Us

Go to our homepage at www.michigan.gov/ogs and click on “hydraulic fracturing” to find Material Safety 
Data Sheets for the additives used in hydraulic fracturing completions, hydraulic fracturing presentations, 
current maps, regulations, Supervisor of Wells Instruction 1-2011 listing of wells and much more.   

Still have questions? Contact the DEQ-OOGM at:  
Michigan DEQ, Office of Oil, Gas, and Minerals, P.O. Box 30256,  Lansing, MI 48909-7756.  

To report an environmental emergency situation, call our 24-hour Pollution Emergency Alerting System 
(PEAS) at 1-800-292-4706.

References:
GWPC (Ground Water Protection Council) & ALL Consulting, 2009.  Modern shale gas development in the US: A primer. Contract DE-FG26-
04NT15455. Washington, DC: US Department of Energy, Office of Fossil Energy and National Energy Technology Laboratory. Accessed April 2012, 
from http://www.all-llc.com/publicdownloads/ShaleGasPrimer2009.pdf
EIA, 2011. Shale Gas and Oil Plays, Lower 48 States. Digital image accessed April 2012. http://www.eia.gov/oil_gas/rpd/shale_gas.jpg

API, 2012.  American Petroleum Institute, Shale Energy: 10 Points Everyone Should Know, March 2012. Digital image Accessed April 2012 http://www.
api.org/~/media/Files/Policy/Exploration/HYDRAULIC_FRACT_ILLUSTRATION_121609.ashx

0 4020 Miles

1:500,000

5/15/2008

K E N TK E N T

D E L T AD E L T A

B A YB A Y

H U R O NH U R O N

L A K EL A K E

S A N I L A CS A N I L A C

I O N I AI O N I A

C A S SC A S S

O A K L A N DO A K L A N D

M A C K I N A CM A C K I N A C

C H I P P E W AC H I P P E W A

W A Y N EW A Y N E

A L L E G A NA L L E G A N

I O S C OI O S C O

E A T O NE A T O N

C L A R EC L A R E

S A G I N A WS A G I N A W

T U S C O L AT U S C O L A

N E W A Y G ON E W A Y G O

B A R R YB A R R Y

A L C O N AA L C O N A

L A P E E RL A P E E R

L E N A W E EL E N A W E E

J A C K S O NJ A C K S O N

A L P E N AA L P E N A

C A L H O U NC A L H O U N

S T.  C L A I RS T.  C L A I R

M A S O NM A S O N

O T T A W AO T T A W A

I N G H A MI N G H A M

E M M E TE M M E T

A N T R I MA N T R I M

G E N E S E EG E N E S E E

O S C O D AO S C O D A

O C E A N AO C E A N A

C L I N T O NC L I N T O N

O G E M A WO G E M A W

B E R R I E NB E R R I E N

G R A T I O TG R A T I O T

M O N R O EM O N R O E

M O N T C A L MM O N T C A L M

C H E B O Y G A NC H E B O Y G A N

O T S E G OO T S E G O

B R A N C HB R A N C H

S C H O O L C R A F TS C H O O L C R A F T

O S C E O L AO S C E O L A

M E C O S T AM E C O S T A I S A B E L L AI S A B E L L A M I D L A N DM I D L A N D

W E X F O R DW E X F O R D

W A S H T E N A WW A S H T E N A W

M A C O M BM A C O M B

G L A D W I NG L A D W I N

H I L L S D A L EH I L L S D A L E

K A L K A S K AK A L K A S K A

M A N I S T E EM A N I S T E E

V A N  B U R E NV A N  B U R E N

C R A W F O R DC R A W F O R D

M I S S A U K E EM I S S A U K E E

B E N Z I EB E N Z I E

L I V I N G S T O NL I V I N G S T O N

K A L A M A Z O OK A L A M A Z O O

M U S K E G O NM U S K E G O N

P R E S Q U E  I S L EP R E S Q U E  I S L E

A R E N A CA R E N A C

R O S C O M M O NR O S C O M M O N

S T.  J O S E P HS T.  J O S E P H

S H I A W A S S E ES H I A W A S S E E

A L G E RA L G E R

M O N T M O R E N C YM O N T M O R E N C Y

L E E L A N A UL E E L A N A U

L U C EL U C E

C H A R L E V O I XC H A R L E V O I X

G R A N D  T R A V E R S EG R A N D  T R A V E R S E

C H A R L E V O I XC H A R L E V O I X

L E E L A N A UL E E L A N A U

MICHIGAN'S OIL AND GAS FIELDS

Legend

OIL PRODUCING FIELD

GAS PRODUCING FIELD

OIL AND GAS PRODUCING FIELD



HIGH VOLUME HYDRAULIC FRACTURING 

0 2512.5 Miles

AS OF 5/28/15

HIGH VOLUME HYDRAULICALLY FRACTURED WELL COMPLETIONS 
ARE DEFINED IN SUPERVISOR OF WELL INSTRUCTION 1-2011 
AS A 'WELL COMPLETION OPERATION THAT IS INTENDED TO USE 
A TOTAL OF MORE THAN 100,000 GALLONS OF HYDRAULIC FRACTURING 
FLUID'. WE MADE ALL EFFORTS TO TRACE BACK THE WELL COMPLETION 
RECORDS THRU 2008 TO COMPLILE THIS MAP AND LIST.  
THIS INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN IS ACCURATE TO 
THE BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE AND IS SUBJECT 
TO CHANGE ON A REGULAR BASIS, WITHOUT 
NOTICE. WHILE THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL
QUALITY - OFFICE OF OIL, GAS, AND MINERALS (DEQ-OOGM) 
MAKES EVERY EFFORT TO PROVIDE USEFUL AND
ACCURATE INFORMATION, WE DO NOT WARRANT THE
INFORMATION TO BE AUTHORITATIVE, COMPLETE,
FACTUAL, OR TIMELY. IT IS SUGGESTED THAT THIS
INFORMATION BE COMBINED WITH SECONDARY SOURCES
AS A MEANS OF VERIFICATION. INFORMATION IS PROVIDED
"AS IS" AND AN "AS AVAILABLE" BASIS. THE STATE OF MICHIGAN 
DISCLAIMS ANY LIABILITY, LOSS, INJURY, OR DAMAGE
INCURRED AS A CONSEQUENCE, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
RESULTING FROM THE USE, INTERPRETATION, AND APPLICATION 
OF ANY OF THIS INFORMATION.

Legend
PRODUCING WELLS (14)

ACTIVE APPLICATIONS (2)

KENTKENT

DELTADELTA

HURONHURON

SANILACSANILAC

BAYBAY

LAKELAKE

IONIAIONIA

OAKLANDOAKLAND

CASSCASS

ALLEGANALLEGAN

WAYNEWAYNE

SAGINAWSAGINAW

IOSCOIOSCO

TUSCOLATUSCOLA

EATONEATON

CLARECLARE

NEWAYGONEWAYGO

ALCONAALCONA

BARRYBARRY

LAPEERLAPEER

ST. CLAIRST. CLAIR

LENAWEELENAWEE

JACKSONJACKSON

ALPENAALPENA

CALHOUNCALHOUN

OTTAWAOTTAWA

INGHAMINGHAM

MASONMASON

ANTRIMANTRIM

GENESEEGENESEE

EMMETEMMET

OSCODAOSCODA

CLINTONCLINTON

BERRIENBERRIEN

GRATIOTGRATIOT

OCEANAOCEANA

MONTCALMMONTCALM

CHEBOYGANCHEBOYGAN

OGEMAWOGEMAW

MONROEMONROE

OTSEGOOTSEGO

BRANCHBRANCH

ISABELLAISABELLA

OSCEOLAOSCEOLA

MECOSTAMECOSTA MIDLANDMIDLAND

WEXFORDWEXFORD

VAN BURENVAN BUREN WASHTENAWWASHTENAW

HILLSDALEHILLSDALE

GLADWINGLADWIN

KALKASKAKALKASKA

MANISTEEMANISTEE

MACOMBMACOMB

MISSAUKEEMISSAUKEE

CRAWFORDCRAWFORD

LIVINGSTONLIVINGSTON

PRESQUE ISLEPRESQUE ISLE

BENZIEBENZIE

KALAMAZOOKALAMAZOO

ST. JOSEPHST. JOSEPH

MUSKEGONMUSKEGON

ARENACARENAC

ROSCOMMONROSCOMMON

SHIAWASSEESHIAWASSEE

LEELANAULEELANAU

CHARLEVOIXCHARLEVOIX

SCHOOLCRAFTSCHOOLCRAFT

MENOMINEEMENOMINEE

MONTMORENCYMONTMORENCY

MACKINACMACKINAC CHIPPEWACHIPPEWA

GRAND TRAVERSEGRAND TRAVERSE

MACKINACMACKINACMARQUETTEMARQUETTE

CHARLEVOIXCHARLEVOIX

MACKINACMACKINAC

LEELANAULEELANAU

*

ACTIVE APPLICATIONS AND ACTIVE PERMITS - SINCE 2008*

NOTE: ALL WELLS SHOWN WERE EITHER COMPLETED VIA HIGH VOLUME HYDRAULIC FRACTURING, OR ARE PLANNED FOR COMPLETION VIA HIGH VOLUME HYDRAULIC FRACTURING.

ACTIVE PERMITS (16)

PLUGGING COMPLETED (6)

DRILLING COMPLETED (13)

# Permit # Company Name Well Name Well No County Wellhead  T R S Pilot Boring Comments Target formation Well Type Well Status Confidential
1 59112 BEACON EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION CO LLC SCHULTZ 1--36 SANILAC 12N 15E 36 NA well completed Feb. 2012 A1 Carbonate Oil Shut-in NO

2 59173 CIMAREX ENERGY CO SOPER 1-25 HD1 OSCEOLA 17N 10W 25 ACOW well completed Aug. 2008 Antrim Gas Plugging complete NO

3 59979 MARATHON OIL COMPANY PIONEER 1-3 HD1 MISSAUKEE 24N 7W 3 59919 well completed by Encana Feb 2010 Utica-Collingwood Gas Temporarily abandoned NO

4 60041 MERIT ENERGY COMPANY HUBBEL 2-22 HD/HD1 MONTMORENCY 29N 1E 22 NA well completed June. 2010 Niagaran Oil Producing NO

5 60041 MERIT ENERGY COMPANY HUBBEL 2-22 HD1 MONTMORENCY 29N 1E 22 60041 well completed 2011 Niagaran Oil Producing NO

6 60041 MERIT ENERGY COMPANY HUBBEL 2-22 HD2 MONTMORENCY 29N 1E 22 60041 well completed 2012 Niagaran Oil Producing NO

7 60161 ATLAS RESOURCES LLC STATE NORWICH 1-6 HD1 MISSAUKEE 24N 6W 6 NA well not hydraulically fractured to date. Utica-Collingwood Dry Hole Temporarily abandoned NO

8 60170 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE KOEHLER & KENDALL 1-27 HD1 CHEBOYGAN 35N 2W 33 60133 well completed by Encana Oct 2010 Utica-Collingwood Oil Temporarily abandoned NO

9 60198 ATLAS RESOURCES LLC LUCAS 1-13 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 8W 13 60138 well not hydraulically fractured to date. Utica-Collingwood Not available Temporarily abandoned NO

10 60212 COUNTRYMARK RESOURCES INC KELLY ET AL     1-26 HD1 HILLSDALE 6S 2W 26 NA well completed Sept. 2011 Black River (Van Wert) Oil Producing NO

11 60360 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 1-13 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 6W 24 60357 well completed by Encana Nov 2011 Utica-Collingwood Gas Producing NO

12 54696 TIGER DEVELOPMENT LLC STATE GARFIELD & TIGER  1-14 KALKASKA 25N 6W 14 NA Well completed Oct. 2013 Collingwood Gas Temporarily abandoned NO

13 60380 DEVON ENERGY PRODUCTION COMPANY LP CRONK    1-24 HD1 GLADWIN 19N 1W 24 60379 well completed April/May 2012 A1 Carbonate Dry Hole Plugging approved NO

14 60389 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 1-25 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA well completed by Encana Nov 2011 Utica-Collingwood Gas Producing NO

15 60452 DEVON ENERGY PRODUCTION COMPANY LP WILEY 1-18 HD1 GLADWIN 18N 2W 18 60451 well completed May/June 2012 A1 Carbonate Gas Plugging approved NO

16 60537 CONTINENTAL RESOURCES INC MCNAIR ET AL 1-26 HD1 HILLSDALE 6S 2W 26 60536 well completed August 2012 Black River (Van Wert) Oil Producing NO

17 60545 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 2-25 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA well completed by Encana Oct 2012 Utica-Collingwood Gas Producing NO

18 60546 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 3-25 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA well completed by Encana Oct 2012 Utica-Collingwood Gas Producing NO

19 60560 DEVON ENERGY PRODUCTION COMPANY LP STATE RICHFIELD 1-34 HD1 ROSCOMMON 22N 1W 27 60559 well completed Nov 2012 Collingwood Gas Plugging approved NO

20 60575 ALTA ENERGY OPERATING LLC RILEY  1-22 HD1 OCEANA 15N 18W 22 60574 Well completed Dec. 2012/May 2013 A1 Carbonate Oil Well complete NO

21 60579 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE GARFIELD 1-25 HD1 KALKASKA 25N 6W 36 NA Well completed by Encana Dec. 2012 Utica-Collingwood Gas Producing NO

22 60601 CHEVRON MICHIGAN, LLC WESTERMAN 1-32 HD1 KALKASKA 28N 8W 29 60600 Well completed by Encana May/June 2013 Utica-Collingwood Location Producing NO

23 60615 ROSETTA RESOURCES OPERATING LP STATE ORANGE & CHRISTENSEN 1-21 HD1 IONIA 6N 6W 21 60614 Well completed June 2013 A1 Carbonate Dry Hole Plugging complete NO

24 60621 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE BEAVER CREEK 1-23 HD1 CRAWFORD 25N 4W 11 60620 well completed by Encana May 2013 Utica-Collingwood Gas Producing NO

25 60718 JORDAN DEVELOPMENT CO. LLC STATE JEROME & STARNES 15-8 HD1 MIDLAND 8N 1W 8 60717 well completed October 2013 Dundee Oil Well Complete NO

26 60765 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 3-12 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 6W 24 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

27 60766 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 4-12 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 6W 24 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

28 60767 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 5-12 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 6W 24 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

29 60788 UNION GAS OPERATING COMPANY MERTEN 1-24 HD1 OCEANA 15N 17W 24 60787 permit for horizontal well A1-Carbonate Location Permitted Well NO

30 60809 WHITING OIL AND GAS CORPORATION WALKER 11-25 HD1 SANILAC 12N 15E 25 60808 permit for horizontal well A1-Carbonate Location Well Complete NO

31 60811 GEOSOUTHERN OPERATING LLC SHERWOOD 1-22 HD1 LIVINGSTON 4N 3E 23 60804 permit for horizontal well A-1 Carbonate Location Plugging Approved YES

32 60818 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE OLIVER 3-13 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

33 60819 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 4-25 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

34 60820 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE OLIVER 2-13 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

35 60821 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE OLIVER 1-13 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

36 60822 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE EXCELSIOR 5-25 HD1 KALKASKA 26N 6W 1 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES

37 60826 WHITING OIL AND GAS CORPORATION STATE WHEATLAND & REINELT 11-7 HD1 SANILAC 13N 14E 7 60825 permit for horizontal well A1 Carbonate Location Drilling complete NO
38 60848 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE PIONEER 3-4 HD1 MISSAUKEE 24N 7W 3 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES
39 60891 MARATHON OIL COMPANY STATE NORWICH 3-12 HD1 KALKASKA 25N 6W 36 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES
40 60892 MARATHON OIL COMPANY BLACK RIVER CONSERVATION  ASSN. 1-9 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 5W 28 NA permit for horizontal well Utica-Collingwood Location Permitted Well YES
41 60922 O I L ENERGY CORP. STATE CUSTER AND MUNN D2-6 ANTRIM 29N 7W 6 NA permit for directional well Antrim Location Permitted Well NO
42 60930 WHITING OIL AND GAS CORPORATION RICH ET AL 11-33 HD1 SANILAC 12N 15E 4 60927 permit for horizontal well A-1 Carbonate Location Permitted Well YES

43 60955 WHITING OIL AND GAS CORPORATION VAN DAMME 41-4 HD1/2 SANILAC 9N 13E 9 60954 Well Completed November 2014 A-1 Carbonate Location Well Complete YES

44 60969 WHITING OIL AND GAS CORPORATION RICH 14-9 HD1 SANILAC 12N 15E 4 60968 permit for horizontal well A-1 Carbonate Location Permitted Well YES

45 61009 O I L ENERGY CORP. STATE CUSTER AND BGC C3-31 ANTRIM 29N 7W 6 NA permit for vertical well application for a directional well Location Permitted Well YES

46 61061 HSE MI LLC SMITH 1-28 SAGINAW 9N 2E 28 NA Rework via high volume hydraulic fracturing Antrim OIL Well Complete YES

47 61072 HSE MI LLC VONDRUSKA 1-24 GRATIOT 9N 1W 24 NA Rework via high volume hydraulic fracturing Antrim OIL Well Complete YES

48 53588 MERIT ENERGY COMPANY USA BIG CREEK 3-16 OSCODA 25N 2E 16 NA Rework via high volume hydraulic fracturing Richfield OIL Producing NO

49 60859 O I L ENERGY CORP. USA MERRILL 1-18A NEWAYGO 15N 13W 18 NA Rework via high volume hydraulic fracturing Antrim OIL Producing NO

# App # Company Name Well Name Well No County Wellhead  T R S Pilot Boring target formation
1 A130152 MARATHON OIL COMPANY BLACK RIVER CONSERVATION  ASSN. 6-9 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 5W 28 NA Utica-Collingwood
2 A140187 TIGER DEVELOPMENT LLC STATE GARFIELD C4-12 HD1 KALKASKA 27N 5W 28 NA Utica-Collingwood

HIGH VOLUME (>100,000 gallons) HYDRAULIC FRACTURING SINCE 2008 - ACTIVE PERMITS

HIGH VOLUME (>100,000 gallons) HYDRAULIC FRACTURING PROPOSALS - ACTIVE APPLICATIONS
comments

application for horizontal well
application for horizontal well



NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT (EXCERPT)
Act 451 of 1994

PART 615
SUPERVISOR OF WELLS

324.61501 Definitions.
Sec. 61501. Unless the context requires a different meaning, the words defined in this section have the

following meanings when used in this part:
(a) “Department” means the department of environmental quality.
(b) “Field” means an underground reservoir or reservoirs containing oil or gas, or both. Field also includes

the same general surface area that is underlaid or appears to be underlaid by at least 1 pool. Field and pool
have the same meaning if only 1 underground reservoir is involved. However, field, unlike pool, may relate to
2 or more pools.

(c) “Fund” means the oil and gas regulatory fund created in section 61525b.
(d) “Gas” means a mixture of hydrocarbons and varying quantities of nonhydrocarbons in a gaseous state

which may or may not be associated with oil, and includes those liquids resulting from condensation.
(e) “Illegal container” means a receptacle that contains illegal oil or gas or illegal products.
(f) “Illegal conveyance” means a conveyance by or through which illegal oil or gas or illegal products are

being transported.
(g) “Illegal oil or gas” means oil or gas that has been produced by an owner or producer in violation of this

part, a rule promulgated under this part, or an order of the supervisor issued under this part.
(h) “Illegal product” means a product of oil or gas or any part of a product of oil or gas that was knowingly

processed or derived in whole or in part from illegal oil or gas.
(i) “Market demand” means the actual demand for oil or gas from any particular pool or field for current

requirements for current consumption and use within or outside the state, together with the demand for such
amounts as are necessary for building up or maintaining reasonable storage reserves of oil or gas or the
products of oil or gas.

(j) “Oil” means natural crude oil or petroleum and other hydrocarbons, regardless of gravity, that are
produced at the well in liquid form by ordinary production methods and that are not the result of condensation
of gas after it leaves the underground reservoir.

(k) “Owner” means the person who has the right to drill a well into a pool, to produce from a pool, and to
receive and distribute the value of the production from the pool for himself or herself either individually or in
combination with others.

(l) “Pool” means an underground reservoir containing a common accumulation of oil or gas, or both. Pool
includes a productive zone of a general structure that is completely separated from any other zone in the
structure, or is declared to be a pool by the supervisor of wells.

(m) “Producer” means the operator, whether owner or not, of a well or wells capable of producing oil or
gas or both in paying quantities.

(n) “Product” means any commodity or thing made or manufactured from oil or gas, and all derivatives of
oil or gas, including refined crude oil, crude tops, topped crude, processed crude petroleum, residue treated
crude oil, residuum, gas oil, naphtha, distillate, gasoline, casing-head gasoline, natural gas gasoline, kerosene,
benzine, wash oil, waste oil, lubricating oil, and blends or mixtures of oil or gas or any derivatives of oil or
gas whether enumerated or not.

(o) “Supervisor” or “supervisor of wells” means the department.
(p) “Tender” means a permit or certificate of clearance, approved and issued or registered under the

authority of the supervisor, for the transportation of oil or gas or products.
(q) “Waste” in addition to its ordinary meaning includes all of the following:
(i) “Underground waste”, as those words are generally understood in the oil business, and including all of

the following:
(A) The inefficient, excessive, or improper use or dissipation of the reservoir energy, including gas energy

and water drive, of any pool, and the locating, spacing, drilling, equipping, operating, or producing of a well
or wells in a manner to reduce or tend to reduce the total quantity of oil or gas ultimately recoverable from
any pool.

(B) Unreasonable damage to underground fresh or mineral waters, natural brines, or other mineral deposits
from operations for the discovery, development, and production and handling of oil or gas.

(ii) “Surface waste”, as those words are generally understood in the oil business, and including all of the
following:

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 1 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



(A) The unnecessary or excessive surface loss or destruction without beneficial use, however caused, of
gas, oil, or other product, but including the loss or destruction, without beneficial use, resulting from
evaporation, seepage, leakage, or fire, especially a loss or destruction incident to or resulting from the manner
of spacing, equipping, operating, or producing a well or wells, or incident to or resulting from inefficient
storage or handling of oil.

(B) The unnecessary damage to or destruction of the surface; soils; animal, fish, or aquatic life; property;
or other environmental values from or by oil and gas operations.

(C) The unnecessary endangerment of public health, safety, or welfare from or by oil and gas operations.
(D) The drilling of unnecessary wells.
(iii) “Market waste”, which includes the production of oil or gas in any field or pool in excess of the

market demand as defined in this part.
History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995;Am. 1998, Act 115, Imd. Eff. June 9, 1998;Am. 1998, Act 252, Imd. Eff.

July 10, 1998;Am. 1998, Act 303, Imd. Eff. July 28, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61502 Construction of part.
Sec. 61502. It has long been the declared policy of this state to foster conservation of natural resources so

that our citizens may continue to enjoy the fruits and profits of those resources. Failure to adopt such a policy
in the pioneer days of the state permitted the unwarranted slaughter and removal of magnificent timber
abounding in the state, which resulted in an immeasurable loss and waste. In an effort to replace some of this
loss, millions of dollars have been spent in reforestation, which could have been saved had the original timber
been removed under proper conditions. In past years extensive deposits of oil and gas have been discovered
that have added greatly to the natural wealth of the state and if properly conserved can bring added prosperity
for many years in the future to our farmers and landowners, as well as to those engaged in the exploration and
development of this great natural resource. The interests of the people demand that exploitation and waste of
oil and gas be prevented so that the history of the loss of timber may not be repeated. It is accordingly the
declared policy of the state to protect the interests of its citizens and landowners from unwarranted waste of
gas and oil and to foster the development of the industry along the most favorable conditions and with a view
to the ultimate recovery of the maximum production of these natural products. To that end, this part is to be
construed liberally to give effect to sound policies of conservation and the prevention of waste and
exploitation.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61503 Supervisor of wells; assistants; commission as appeal board; hearing;
compensation and expenses; office.
Sec. 61503. (1) The supervisor of wells shall designate suitable assistants as are required to implement this

part.
(2) The commission shall act as an appeal board regarding the issuance, denial, suspension, revocation,

annulment, withdrawal, recall, cancellation, or amendment of a permit under this part. When a producer or
owner considers an order, action, inaction, or procedure as proposed, initiated, or made by the supervisor to
be burdensome, inequitable, unreasonable, or unwarranted, the producer or owner may appeal to the
commission or the court for relief from the order, action, inaction, or procedure as provided in this act. The
chairperson of the commission shall set a date and place to hear the appeal, which may be at a regular meeting
of the commission or a special meeting of the commission called for that purpose.

(3) The supervisor and employees, in addition to their salaries, shall receive their reasonable expenses
while away from their homes traveling on business connected with their duties. A member of the commission
shall not receive compensation for discharging duties under this part; however, a member is entitled to
reasonable expenses while traveling in the performance of a duty imposed by this part. Salaries and expenses
authorized in this part shall be paid out of the state treasury in the same manner as the salaries and expenses of
other officers and employees of the department are paid.

(4) The department of management and budget shall furnish suitable offices for the use of the supervisor
and his or her employees.

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 2 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61503a Gas lease; duties of lessee; monthly revenue statements and payments;
initiation; deferment.
Sec. 61503a. (1) Beginning 12 months after the effective date of this section, a person who has entered into

a gas lease as a lessee prior to or after the effective date of this section shall do all of the following:
(a) Starting after production begins, for a well that begins continuous gas production after the effective

date of this section, or starting on the effective date of this section for a well that began continuous gas
production on or before the effective date of this section, provide the lessor who has an interest in the leased
property with monthly revenue statements written in plain English that provide all of the following:

(i) Under the heading “unit price”, the price received by the lessee per 1,000 cubic feet or 1,000,000 BTUs
of gas sold. The lessee shall pay to the lessor his or her proper share of the gross proceeds or value, as
provided in the lease.

(ii) A statement of the deductions taken from the lessor's royalty, and the purpose of those deductions. The
statement of the deductions shall be itemized, except that a lessee may group deductions under general
categories if the lessee states that a separate itemized statement of the deductions will be furnished upon
written request and states the address to which a written request for an itemized statement should be directed.
This section does not prohibit a lessee from making deductions on an estimated basis for a calendar year or
other 12-month accounting period if this is disclosed in the monthly revenue statement or the separate
itemized statement. If an estimate is used, the lessee shall determine the actual amount and make any
necessary adjustments within 180 days after the end of the calendar year or other 12-month accounting period.
However, if any costs have not been finally determined, the lessee may reserve an amount which the lessee
considers in good faith to be adequate to cover the costs that have not been finally determined and shall make
any necessary adjustments when the actual costs have been finally determined.

(b) Starting at the end of the calendar year or other 12-month accounting period after production begins for
a well that begins continuous production after the effective date of this section, or starting at the end of the
calendar year or other 12-month accounting period when this section becomes effective for a well that began
continuous production on or before the effective date of this section, prepare an annual accounting of gas
sales from the leased property and any deductions taken from the lessor's royalty during the calendar year or
other 12-month accounting period. The lessee shall complete the accounting within 180 days after the end of
the calendar year or other 12-month accounting period. However, if any costs have not been finally
determined, the lessee may account for these on the basis of a reserve which the lessee considers in good faith
to be adequate to cover the costs that have not been finally determined, and shall prepare a supplemental
accounting when the actual costs have been finally determined. The lessee shall notify the lessor of the
availability of the accounting within 180 days after the end of the calendar year or other 12-month accounting
period, and shall furnish a copy of the accounting upon request of the lessor within 30 days of receipt of the
request. The notification as to the availability of the accounting may be made on a monthly revenue statement
and need not be a separate document.

(2) Subject to section 61503b(4), the monthly revenue statements and payments under subsection (1)(a)
shall be initiated promptly after the determination of the divisions of interest of the parties entitled to share in
the production, unless a valid agreement between the lessee and the lessor provides otherwise. However, if the
entitlement of the lessor to receive payment is in question because of lack of good and marketable record title
or because of any circumstance that may expose the lessee to the risk of multiple liability or liability to a third
party if the payment is made, the lessee may defer payment to that lessor until the title or other circumstance
has been resolved, unless a valid agreement between the lessee and the lessor provides otherwise. If the
mailing address of the lessor, or place where payment should be made, is unknown, payment may be deferred
until the lessee receives that information. If the total amount of the royalties is less than $50.00 at the end of
any month, payment may be deferred until the total amount reaches at least $50.00, unless a valid agreement
between the lessor and the lessee provides otherwise.

History: Add. 1998, Act 127, Eff. Mar. 28, 2000.

Compiler's note: Enacting section 2 of 1998 PA 127, which provided that 1998 PA 127 would not take effect unless House Bill No.
4259 of the 89th Legislature was enacted into law, was repealed by Enacting section 1 of 1999 PA 246.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 3 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61503b Postproduction costs.
Sec. 61503b. (1) A person who enters into a gas lease as a lessee after March 28, 2000 shall not deduct

from the lessor's royalty any portion of postproduction costs unless the lease explicitly allows for the
deduction of postproduction costs. If a lease explicitly provides for the deduction of postproduction costs, the
lessee may only deduct postproduction costs for the following items, unless the lease explicitly and
specifically provides for the deduction of other items:

(a) The reasonable costs of removal of carbon dioxide (CO2), hydrogen sulfide (H2S), molecular nitrogen
(N2), or other constituents, except water, the removal of which will enhance the value of the gas for the
benefit of the lessor and lessee.

(b) Transportation costs after the point of entry into any of the following:
(i) An independent, nonaffiliated, third-party-owned pipeline system.
(ii) A pipeline system owned by a gas distribution company or any subsidiary of the gas distribution

company, which is regulated by the Michigan public service commission.
(iii) An affiliated pipeline system, if the rates charged by the pipeline system have been approved by the

Michigan public service commission, or if the rates charged are reasonable, as compared to independent
pipeline systems, based on the pipeline system's location, distance, cost of service, and other pertinent factors.

(2) A lessee shall not charge postproduction costs incurred on gas produced from 1 drilling unit, pooled or
communitized area, or unit area against a lessor's royalty for gas produced from another drilling unit, pooled
or communitized area, or unit area. As used in this subsection, “unit area” means the formation or formations
that are unitized and surface acreage that is a part of the unitized lands, as described in either of the following:

(a) The plan for unit operations that is the subject of the supervisor's order as provided in section 61706.
(b) An applicable agreement providing for unit operations.
(3) If a person who has entered into a gas lease as a lessee prior to or after March 28, 2000 charges the

lessor for any portion of postproduction costs, the lessee shall notify the lessor in writing of the availability of
the following information and if the lessor requests in writing to receive this information, the lessee shall
provide the lessor, in writing, a specific itemized explanation of all postproduction costs to be assessed.

(4) A division order or other document that includes provisions that stipulate how production proceeds are
distributed, received by the lessor from the lessee, shall not alter or define the terms of a lease unless
voluntarily and explicitly agreed to by both parties in a signed document or documents in which the parties
expressly indicate their intention to amend the lease. A lessee shall not precondition the payment of royalties
upon the lessor signing a division order or other document that stipulates how production proceeds are
distributed, except as provided in this subsection. As a condition for the payment of royalties under a lease
other than a lease granted by the state of Michigan, a lessee or other payor shall be entitled to receive a signed
division order from the payee containing only the following provisions, unless other provisions have been
voluntarily and explicitly agreed to by both parties in a signed document or documents in which the parties
expressly indicate their intention to waive the provisions of this subsection:

(a) The effective date of the division order.
(b) A description of the property from which the oil or gas is being produced and the type of production.
(c) The fractional or decimal interest in production, or both, claimed by the payee, the type of interest, the

certification of title to the share of production claimed, and, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, an
agreement to notify the payor at least 1 month in advance of the effective date of any change in the interest in
production owned by the payee and an agreement to indemnify the payor and reimburse the payor for
payments made if the payee does not have merchantable title to the production sold.

(d) The authorization to suspend payment to the payee for production until the resolution of any title
dispute or adverse claim asserted regarding the interest in production claimed by the payee.

(e) The name, address, and taxpayer identification number of the payee.
(f) A statement that the division order does not amend any lease or operating agreement between the

interest owner and the lessee or operator or any other contracts for the purchase of oil or gas.
History: Add. 1999, Act 246, Eff. Mar. 28, 2000;Am. 2000, Act 441, Imd. Eff. Jan. 9, 2001.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61503c Violation of MCL 324.61503a or MCL 324.61503b; penalty; injunction or damages;
separate offenses; recovery of postproduction costs and attorney fees; notice.
Sec. 61503c. (1) Notwithstanding section 61522, a person who knowingly violates section 61503a or

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 4 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



61503b is responsible for the payment of a civil fine of not more than $1,000.00. A default in the payment of
a civil fine or costs ordered under this section or an installment of the fine or costs may be remedied by any
means authorized under the revised judicature act of 1961, 1961 PA 236, MCL 600.101 to 600.9948.

(2) The attorney general or the lessor of a gas lease with respect to his or her lease may bring an action in
circuit court for injunctive relief or damages, or both, against a person who violates section 61503a or
61503b.

(3) If a person who has entered into a gas lease as a lessee violates section 61503a or 61503b, each day the
violation continues constitutes a separate offense only for 5 days; thereafter, each day the violation continues
does not constitute a separate offense. If a person who has entered into a gas lease as a lessee violates section
61503a or 61503b and such a violation affects more than 1 lessor having an interest in the same well, pooled
unit, or unitized area, the violation as to all lessors constitutes only 1 offense.

(4) If a court finds that a lessee deducted postproduction costs from a lessor's royalty contrary to section
61503b(1), the lessor may recover as damages the amount of postproduction costs deducted contrary to
section 61503b(1) and may also recover reasonable attorney fees incurred in bringing the action unless the
lessee endeavored to cure the alleged violation pursuant to subsection (5) prior to the bringing of the action. In
addition, a lessee who prevails in litigation under this subsection may recover reasonable attorney fees
incurred in defending an action under this subsection, if the court finds that the position taken by the lessor in
the litigation was frivolous.

(5) A person shall not bring an action under this section unless the person has first given the lessee written
notice of the alleged violation of section 61503a or 61503b, with reasonably comprehensive details, and
allowed a period of at least 30 days for the lessee to cure the alleged violation.

History: Add. 1999, Act 247, Eff. Mar. 28, 2000;Am. 2000, Act 441, Imd. Eff. Jan. 9, 2001.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61504 Waste prohibited.
Sec. 61504. A person shall not commit waste in the exploration for or in the development, production,

handling, or use of oil or gas, or in the handling of any product of oil or gas.
History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61505 Supervisor of wells; jurisdiction; authority; enforcement of part.
Sec. 61505. The supervisor has jurisdiction and authority over the administration and enforcement of this

part and all matters relating to the prevention of waste and to the conservation of oil and gas in this state. The
supervisor also has jurisdiction and control of and over all persons and things necessary or proper to enforce
effectively this part and all matters relating to the prevention of waste and the conservation of oil and gas.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61505a Drilling permit for well beneath lake bottomlands for exploration or production of
oil or gas; condition.
Sec. 61505a. Notwithstanding any other provision of this part or the rules promulgated under this part,

beginning on the effective date of this section, the supervisor shall not issue a permit for drilling, or authorize
the drilling of, a well beneath the lake bottomlands of the Great Lakes, the connected bays or harbors of the
Great Lakes, or the connecting waterways as defined in section 32301, for the exploration or production of oil
or gas unless the applicant holds a lease that was in effect prior to the effective date of the amendatory act that
added this section that allows the well to be drilled.

History: Add. 2002, Act 148, Imd. Eff. Apr. 5, 2002.

Compiler's note: Enrolled House Bill No. 5118 was not signed by the Governor, but, having been presented to him at 3:44 p.m. on
March 22, 2002, and not having been returned by him to the House of Representatives within the 14 days prescribed by Const 1963, art
IV, sec 33, became law (2002 PA 148) on April 5, 2002, the Legislature having continued in session.

Popular name: Act 451

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 5 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61506 Supervisor of wells; powers and duties generally.
Sec. 61506. The supervisor shall prevent the waste prohibited by this part. To that end, acting directly or

through his or her authorized representatives, the supervisor is specifically empowered to do all of the
following:

(a) To promulgate and enforce rules, issue orders and instructions necessary to enforce the rules, and do
whatever may be necessary with respect to the subject matter stated in this part to implement this part,
whether or not indicated, specified, or enumerated in this or any other section of this part.

(b) To collect data to make inspections, studies, and investigations; to examine properties, leases, papers,
books, and records as necessary to the purposes of this part; to examine, check, and test and gauge oil and gas
wells and tanks, plants, refineries, and all means and modes of transportation and equipment; to hold hearings;
and to provide for the keeping of records and making of reports, and for the checking of the accuracy of the
records and reports.

(c) To require the locating, drilling, deepening, redrilling or reopening, casing, sealing, operating, and
plugging of wells drilled for oil and gas or for secondary recovery projects, or wells for the disposal of salt
water, brine, or other oil field wastes, to be done in such manner and by such means as to prevent the escape
of oil or gas out of 1 stratum into another, or of water or brines into oil or gas strata; to prevent pollution of,
damage to, or destruction of fresh water supplies, including inland lakes and streams and the Great Lakes and
connecting waters, and valuable brines by oil, gas, or other waters, to prevent the escape of oil, gas, or water
into workable coal or other mineral deposits; to require the disposal of salt water and brines and oily wastes
produced incidental to oil and gas operations in a manner and by methods and means so that unnecessary
damage or danger to or destruction of surface or underground resources, to neighboring properties or rights,
or to life does not result.

(d) To require reports and maps showing locations of all wells subject to this part, and the keeping and
filing of logs, well samples, and drilling, testing, and operating records or reports. All well data and samples
furnished to the supervisor as required in this part, upon written request of the owner of the well, shall be held
confidential for 90 days after the completion of drilling and shall not be open to public inspection except by
written consent of the owner.

(e) To prevent the drowning by water of any stratum or part of the stratum capable of producing oil or gas,
or both oil and gas, and to prevent the premature and irregular encroachment of water, or any other kind of
water encroachment, that reduces or tends to reduce the total ultimate recovery of oil or gas, or both oil or gas,
from any pool.

(f) To prevent fires or explosions.
(g) To prevent blow-outs, seepage, and caving in the sense that the conditions indicated by such terms are

generally understood in the oil business.
(h) To regulate the mechanical, physical, and chemical treatment of wells.
(i) To regulate the secondary recovery methods of oil and gas, including pulling or creating a vacuum and

the introduction of gas, air, water, and other substances into the producing formations.
(j) To fix the spacing of wells and to regulate the production from the wells.
(k) To require the operation of wells with efficient gas-oil ratios and to establish the ratios.
(l) To require by written notice or citation immediate suspension of any operation or practice and the

prompt correction of any condition found to exist that causes or results or threatens to cause or result in waste.
(m) To require, either generally or in or from particular areas, certificates of clearance or tenders in

connection with the transportation of oil, gas, or any product of oil or gas.
(n) To require identification of the ownership of oil and gas producing leases, properties, and wells.
(o) To promulgate rules or issue orders for the classifications of wells as oil wells or gas wells; or wells

drilled, or to be drilled, for secondary recovery projects, or for the disposal of salt water, brine, or other oil or
gas field wastes; or for the development of reservoirs for the storage of liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons, or for
other means of development, extraction, or production of hydrocarbons.

(p) To require the filing of an adequate surety, security, or cash bonds of owners, producers, operators, or
their authorized representatives in such reasonable form, condition, term, and amount as will ensure
compliance with this part and with the rules promulgated or orders issued under this part and to provide for
the release of the surety, security, or cash bonds.

(q) To require the immediate suspension of drilling or other well operations if there exists a threat to public
health or safety.

(r) To require a person applying for a permit to drill and operate any well regulated by this part to file a
Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 6 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



complete and accurate written application on a form prescribed by the supervisor.
(s) To require the posting of safety signs and the installation of fences, gates, or other safety measures if

there exists a threat to public health, safety, or property.
(t) To prevent regular or recurring nuisance noise or regular or recurring nuisance odor in the exploration

for or development, production or handling of oil and gas.
History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995;Am. 1998, Act 303, Imd. Eff. July 28, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

Administrative rules: R 324.101 et seq. of the Michigan Administrative Code.

324.61506a Notice of violation.
Sec. 61506a. Upon completion of an inspection under this part, the supervisor shall notify the owner or

operator of the well of any violation of this or any other part of this act that is identified during the inspection.
History: Add. 1998, Act 252, Imd. Eff. July 10, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61506b Conditions prohibiting issuance of permit or authorization to drill oil or gas well;
waiver; exception.
Sec. 61506b. (1) Except as provided in subsections (2) and (3), beginning on the effective date of this

section, the supervisor shall not issue a permit for or authorize the drilling of an oil or gas well if both of the
following apply:

(a) The well is located within 450 feet of a residential building.
(b) The residential building is located in a city or township with a population of 70,000 or more.
(2) The supervisor may grant a waiver from the requirement of subsection (1)(a) if the clerk of the city,

village, or township in which the proposed well is located has been notified of the application for a permit for
the proposed well and if either of the following conditions is met:

(a) The owner or owners of all residential buildings located within 450 feet of the proposed well give
written consent.

(b) The supervisor determines, pursuant to a public hearing held before the waiver is granted, that the
proposed well location will not cause waste and there is no reasonable alternative for the location of the well
that will allow the oil and gas rights holder to develop the oil and gas.

(3) Subsection (1) does not apply to a well utilized for the injection, withdrawal, and observation of the
storage of natural gas pursuant to this part.

History: Add. 1998, Act 303, Imd. Eff. July 28, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61506c Toll-free telephone number; maintenance; use.
Sec. 61506c. The department shall maintain a toll-free telephone number that a person or a representative

of a local unit of government may call in order to receive information on department standards, safety
requirements and educational information related to oil and gas exploration, drilling, permitting, hydrogen
sulfide management, pooling, and other topics related to the extraction of oil and gas.

History: Add. 1998, Act 392, Imd. Eff. Dec. 17, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61507 Prevention of waste; procedure; hearing; rules; orders.
Sec. 61507. Upon the initiative of the supervisor or upon verified complaint of any person interested in the

subject matter alleging that waste is taking place or is reasonably imminent, the supervisor shall call a hearing
to determine whether or not waste is taking place or is reasonably imminent, and what action should be taken
to prevent that waste. If the supervisor determines it appropriate, the supervisor shall hold a hearing and shall
promptly make findings and recommendations. The supervisor shall consider those findings and

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 7 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



recommendations and shall promulgate rules or issue orders as he or she considers necessary to prevent waste
which he or she finds to exist or to be reasonably imminent.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61508 Rules of order or procedure in hearings or other proceedings; entering in book;
copy of rule or order as evidence; availability of writings to public.
Sec. 61508. (1) The supervisor shall prescribe rules of order or procedure in hearings or other proceedings

before the supervisor under this part. Rules promulgated or orders issued by the supervisor shall be entered in
full in a book to be kept for that purpose by the supervisor. A copy of a rule or order, certified by the
supervisor, shall be received in evidence in the courts of this state with the same effect as the original.

(2) A writing prepared, owned, used, in the possession of, or retained by the supervisor in the performance
of an official function shall be made available to the public in compliance with the freedom of information
act, Act No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976, being sections 15.231 to 15.246 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61509 Hearings; subpoena; witnesses and production of books; incriminating testimony.
Sec. 61509. The supervisor may compel by subpoena the attendance of witnesses and the production of

books, papers, records, or articles necessary in any proceeding before the supervisor or the commission. A
person shall not be excused from obeying a subpoena issued in a hearing or proceeding brought under this
part on the ground or for the reason that the testimony or evidence, documentary or otherwise, may tend to
incriminate or subject that person to a penalty or forfeiture. However, this section does not require a person to
produce books, papers, or records or to testify in response to any inquiry that is not pertinent to a question
lawfully before the supervisor, commission, or court for determination under this part. Incriminating
evidence, documentary or otherwise, shall not be used against a witness who testifies as required in this
section in a prosecution or action for forfeiture. A person who testifies as required in this section is not
exempt from prosecution and punishment for perjury in so testifying.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61510 Failure to comply with subpoena; refusal to testify; attachment; contempt; fees
and mileage of witnesses.
Sec. 61510. (1) If a person fails or refuses to comply with a subpoena issued by the supervisor, or if a

witness refuses to testify as to any matters regarding which he or she may be lawfully interrogated, any circuit
court in this state, or any circuit court judge, on application of the supervisor, may issue an attachment for the
person and compel that person to comply with the subpoena and to attend a hearing before the supervisor and
produce documents, and testify upon matters, as may be lawfully required, and the court or judge has the
power to punish that person for contempt in the same manner as if the person had disobeyed the subpoena of
the court or refused to testify in that court.

(2) A witness summoned by subpoena or by written request of the supervisor and attending a hearing
called by the supervisor is entitled to the same fees and mileage as are or may be provided by law for
attending the circuit court in a civil matter or proceeding. The fees and mileage of witnesses subpoenaed at
the instance of the supervisor shall be paid out of the general funds of the state treasury upon proper voucher
approved by the supervisor. The fees and mileage of witnesses subpoenaed at the instance of any other
interested party shall be paid by that party.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 8 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



324.61511 False swearing as perjury; penalty.
Sec. 61511. If a person who is required to give an oath under this part, or by any rule promulgated or order

issued by the supervisor, willfully swears falsely in regard to any matter or thing respecting which the oath is
required, or willfully makes any false affidavit required or authorized by this part, or by any rule promulgated
or order issued by the supervisor, that person is guilty of perjury, punishable by imprisonment for not more
than 5 years or less than 6 months.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61512 Allocation or distribution of allowable production in well, field, or pool; basis.
Sec. 61512. If, to prevent waste, the supervisor limits the amount of oil or gas to be produced from any

well, pool, or field in this state, the supervisor shall allocate or distribute the allowable production in the field
or pool. The supervisor shall make such a determination or distribution in the field or pool on a reasonable
basis, giving, if reasonable, under all circumstances, to each small well of settled production in the pool or
field an allowable production that will prevent a general or premature abandonment of the wells in the pool or
field.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61513 Proration or distribution of allowable production among wells; basis; drilling unit;
unnecessary wells; pooling of properties; location of well; exceptions; minimum allowable
production; allowable production pursuant to rules or orders.
Sec. 61513. (1) When, to prevent waste, the total allowable production for any oil or gas field or pool in

the state is fixed in an amount less than that which the field or pool could produce if no restriction were
imposed, the supervisor shall prorate or distribute on a reasonable basis the allowable production among the
producing wells in the field or pool, to prevent or minimize reasonably avoidable drainage from each
developed area which is not equalized by counter drainage. The rules or orders of the supervisor, so far as it is
practicable to do so, shall afford the owner of each property in a pool the opportunity to produce his or her
just and equitable share of the oil or gas in the pool, being an amount, so far as can be practicably determined
and obtained without waste, and without reducing the bottom hole pressure materially below the average for
the pool, substantially in the proportion that the quantity of the recoverable oil or gas under the property bears
to the total recoverable oil or gas in the pool, and for this purpose to use his or her just and equitable share of
the reservoir energy. A well in a pool producing from an average depth of 1,000 feet or less, on the basis of a
full drilling unit as may be established under this section, shall be given a base allowable production of at
least 100 barrels of oil per well per week; for a well in a pool producing from an average depth greater than
1,000 feet, the base allowable production shall be increased 10 barrels per well per week for each addition
100 feet of depth greater than 1,000 feet, if the allowable production is or can be made without surface or
underground waste.

(2) To prevent the drilling of unnecessary wells, the supervisor may establish a drilling unit for each pool.
A drilling unit, as described in this subsection, is the maximum area that may be efficiently and economically
drained by 1 well. A drilling unit constitutes a developed area if a well is located on the drilling unit that is
capable of producing the economically recoverable oil or gas under the unit. Each well permitted to be drilled
upon any drilling unit shall be located in the approximate center of the drilling unit, or at such other location
on the drilling unit as may be necessary to conform to a uniform well spacing pattern as adopted and
promulgated by the supervisor after due notice and public hearing, as provided in this part.

(3) The drilling of unnecessary wells is hereby declared waste because unnecessary wells create fire and
other hazards conducive to waste, and unnecessarily increase the production cost of oil and gas to the
operator, and therefore also unnecessarily increase the cost of the products to the ultimate consumer.

(4) The pooling of properties or parts of properties is permitted, and, if not agreed upon, the supervisor
may require pooling of properties or parts of properties in any case when and to the extent that the smallness
or shape of a separately owned tract or tracts would, under the enforcement of a uniform spacing plan or
proration or drilling unit, otherwise deprive or tend to deprive the owner of such a tract of the opportunity to
recover or receive his or her just and equitable share of the oil or gas and gas energy in the pool. The owner of

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 9 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



any tract that is smaller than the drilling unit established for the field shall not be deprived of the right to drill
on and produce from that tract, if the drilling and production can be done without waste. In this case, the
allowable production from that tract, as compared with the allowable production if that tract were a full unit,
shall be in the ratio of the area of the tract to the area of a full unit, except as a smaller ratio may be required
to maintain average bottom hole pressures in the pool, to reduce the production of salt water, or to reduce an
excessive gas-oil ratio. All orders requiring pooling described in this subsection shall be upon terms and
conditions that are just and reasonable, and will afford to the owner of each tract in the pooling plan the
opportunity to recover or receive his or her just and equitable share of the oil or gas and gas energy in the pool
as provided in this subsection, and without unnecessary expense, and will prevent or minimize reasonably
avoidable drainage from each developed tract that is not equalized by counter drainage. The portion of the
production allocated to the owner of each tract included in a drilling unit formed by voluntary agreement or
by a pooling order shall be considered as if it had been produced from the tract by a well drilled on the tract.

(5) Each well permitted to be drilled upon a drilling unit or tract shall be drilled at a location that conforms
to the uniform well spacing pattern, except as may be reasonably necessary where after notice and hearing the
supervisor finds any of the following:

(a) That the unit is partly outside the pool or that, for some other reason, a well at the location would be
unproductive.

(b) That the owner or owners of a tract or tracts covering that part of the drilling unit or tract on which the
well would be located if it conformed to the uniform well spacing pattern refuses to permit drilling at the
regular location.

(c) That topographical or other conditions are such as to make drilling at the regular location unduly
burdensome or imminently threatening to water or other natural resources, to property, or to life.

(6) If an exception under subsection (5) is granted, the supervisor shall take such action as will offset any
advantage that the person securing the exception may have over other producers in the pool by reason of the
drilling of the well as an exception, and so that drainage from the developed areas to the tract with respect to
the exception granted will be prevented or minimized and the producer of the well drilled as an exception will
be allowed to produce no more than his or her just and equitable share of the oil or gas in the pool as the share
is set forth in this part, and to that end the rules and orders of the supervisor shall be such as will prevent or
minimize reasonably avoidable drainage from each developed area that is not equalized by counter drainage
and will give to each producer the opportunity to use his or her just and equitable share of the reservoir
energy.

(7) Minimum allowable production for some wells and pools may be advisable from time to time,
especially with respect to wells and pools already drilled on May 3, 1939, when former Act No. 61 of the
Public Acts of 1939 took effect, so that the production will repay reasonable lifting costs and thus prevent
premature abandonment of wells and resulting wastes.

(8) After the effective date of any rule promulgated or order issued by the supervisor as provided in this
part establishing the allowable production, a person shall not produce more than the allowable production
applicable to that person, his or her wells, leases, or properties, and the allowable production shall be
produced pursuant to the applicable rules or orders.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61513a Pooling of properties not required.
Sec. 61513a. The supervisor shall not require the pooling of state owned properties or parts of properties

under section 61513 if the state provides for the orderly development of state owned hydrocarbon resources
through an oil and gas leasing program and the supervisor determines the owner of each tract is afforded the
opportunity to recover and receive his or her just and equitable share of the hydrocarbon resources in the pool.

History: Add. 1998, Act 303, Imd. Eff. July 28, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61514 Certificates of clearance or tenders; issuance.
Sec. 61514. The supervisor may issue certificates of clearance or tenders if required to implement this part.
History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 10 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61515 Handling or disposition of illegal oil or gas; penalty.
Sec. 61515. A person shall not sell, purchase, acquire, transport, refine, process, or otherwise handle or

dispose of any illegal oil or gas or any illegal product of oil or gas. A penalty or forfeiture shall not be
imposed as a result of an act described in this section until certificates of clearance or tenders are required by
the supervisor as provided in section 61514.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61516 Rule or order; public hearings required; emergency rules or orders without public
hearing; requirements for public hearings held pertaining to pooling of properties.
Sec. 61516. (1) A rule or order shall not be made, promulgated, put into effect, revoked, changed, renewed,

or extended, except emergency orders, unless public hearings are held. Except as provided in subsection (2),
public hearings shall be held at such time, place, and manner and upon such notice, not less than 10 days, as
shall be prescribed by general order and rules adopted in conformity with this part. The supervisor may
promulgate emergency rules or issue orders without a public hearing as may be necessary to implement this
part. The emergency rules and orders shall remain in force and effect for no longer than 21 days, except as
otherwise provided for rules under the administrative procedures act of 1969, 1969 PA 306, MCL 24.201 to
24.328.

(2) A public hearing held pursuant to this section pertaining to the pooling of properties or parts of
properties under section 61513(4) shall be held at a place as determined by this subsection. At the time that
the supervisor provides for notice of the public hearing, the supervisor shall provide notice of the right to
request a change in location of the public hearing. A public hearing shall be held in the county in which the
oil and gas rights are located if the majority of the owners of oil or gas rights that are subject to being pooled
file with the supervisor a written request to hold the hearing in that county.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995;Am. 1998, Act 115, Imd. Eff. June 9, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61517 Actions against department or commission; jurisdiction of Ingham county circuit
court; injunction or restraining order; actions pertaining to pooling of properties.
Sec. 61517. (1) Except as provided in subsection (2), the circuit court of Ingham county has exclusive

jurisdiction over all suits brought against the department, the supervisor, or any agent or employee of the
department or supervisor, by or on account of any matter or thing arising under this part. A temporary
restraining order or injunction shall not be granted in any suit described in this section except after due notice
and for good cause shown.

(2) A suit brought against the supervisor pertaining to an order of the supervisor requiring the pooling of
properties or parts of properties under section 61513(4) may be brought in the circuit court for the county in
which the oil or gas rights are located or in the circuit court of Ingham county. A suit brought in the circuit
court of Ingham county against the supervisor pertaining to an order of the supervisor requiring the pooling of
properties or parts of properties under section 61513(4) may be removed to the circuit court for the county in
which the oil or gas rights are located upon petition by a majority of the owners of the oil and gas rights who
are subject to the order. Additionally, if all of the owners of the oil and gas interests being pooled reside in a
county in Michigan other than the county in which the oil and gas rights are located, the suit may be brought
in, or removed to, the circuit court for the county in which the owners reside. A petition for removal under
this subsection shall be filed within 28 days after filing and service of the complaint in circuit court.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995;Am. 1998, Act 115, Imd. Eff. June 9, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 11 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



324.61518 Enforcement of part and rules; representation by attorney general; complaint;
proceedings; powers of supervisor; exception.
Sec. 61518. (1) The supervisor may proceed at law or for the enforcement of this part and a rule

promulgated under this part or for the prevention of the violation of this part or a rule promulgated under this
part, and the attorney general shall represent the supervisor in an action brought under this part. The
supervisor or an assistant appointed by the supervisor may file a complaint and cause proceedings to be
commenced against a person for a violation of this part without the sanction of the prosecuting attorney of the
county in which the proceeding is commenced. The supervisor or an assistant of the supervisor may appear
for the people in a court of competent jurisdiction in a case for a violation of this part or a rule promulgated
under this part, and prosecute the violation in the same manner and with the same authority as the prosecuting
attorney of a county in which the proceeding is commenced, and may sign vouchers for the payment of fees
and do all other things required in the same manner and with the same authority as the prosecuting attorney.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a violation of this part that is subject to the penalty prescribed pursuant
to section 61522(3) or (4).

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61519 Failure of owner or operator to obtain permit or to construct, operate, maintain,
case, plug, or repair well; notice of determination; liability; claims.
Sec. 61519. If the supervisor determines that the owner or operator of a well subject to this part has failed

or neglected to properly obtain a permit, construct, operate, maintain, case, plug, or repair the well in
accordance with this part or the rules promulgated under this part, the supervisor shall give notice of this
determination, in writing, to the owner and operator and to the surety executing the bond filed with the
supervisor by the owner or operator in connection with the issuance of the permit authorizing the drilling of a
well. This notice of determination may be served upon the owner or operator and surety in person or by
registered mail. If the owner or operator cannot be found in the state, the mailing of the notice of
determination to the owner or operator at his or her last known post office address by registered mail
constitutes service of the notice of determination. If the owner or operator, or surety, fails or neglects to
properly case, plug, or repair the well described in the notice of determination within 30 days of the date of
service or mailing of the notice, the supervisor may enter into and upon any private or public property on
which the well is located and upon and across any private or public property necessary to reach the well, and
case, plug, or repair the well, and the owner or operator and surety are jointly and severally liable for all
expenses incurred by the supervisor. The supervisor, acting for and in behalf of the state, shall certify in
writing to the owner or operator and surety the claim of the state in the same manner provided in this section
for the service of the notice of determination, and shall list thereon the items of expense incurred in casing,
plugging, or repairing the well. The claim shall be paid by the owner or operator, or surety, within 30 days,
and if not paid within that time the supervisor, acting for and in behalf of the state, may bring suit against the
owner or operator, or surety, jointly or severally, for the collection of the claim in any court of competent
jurisdiction in the county of Ingham.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61520 Abandoning well without properly plugging; violation of part or rule; penalty;
liability of owner; “owner” and “operator” defined.
Sec. 61520. (1) A person who abandons a well without properly plugging the well as provided in this part

or the rules promulgated under this part, or, except as provided in section 61522(3) or (4), who violates this
part or a rule promulgated under this part, whether as principal, agent, servant, or employee, is guilty of a
misdemeanor, punishable by imprisonment for not more than 90 days, or a fine of not more than $1,000.00
and costs of prosecution, or both. This section does not impose liability upon the owner of land upon which a
well is located, unless the property owner is the owner or part owner of the well.

(2) The words “owner” and “operator”, as used in this section and section 61519 mean a person who, by
the terms of this part and the rules promulgated under this part, is responsible for the plugging of a well.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 12 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61521 Unlawful acts; penalties.
Sec. 61521. (1) A person who, for the purpose of evading this part or of evading a rule promulgated or an

order issued under this part, intentionally makes or causes to be made false entry or statement of fact in a
report required by this part or by a rule promulgated or an order issued under this part, or who, for that
purpose, makes or causes to be made false entry in an account, record, or memorandum kept by a person in
connection with this part, or of a rule promulgated or an order issued under this part; or who, for that purpose,
omits to make, or causes to be omitted, full, true, and correct entries in the accounts, records, or memoranda,
of all facts and transactions pertaining to the interest or activities in the petroleum industry of that person as
may be required by the supervisor under authority given in this part or by any rule promulgated or any order
issued under this part; is guilty of a felony, punishable by imprisonment for not more than 3 years, or a fine of
not more than $3,000.00, or both.

(2) A person who for the purpose of evading this part or a rule promulgated or an order issued under this
part removes from the jurisdiction of the state, or mutilates, alters, or by other means falsifies a book, record,
or other paper pertaining to transactions regulated by this part is subject to the penalties prescribed in the
freedom of information act, Act No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976, being sections 15.231 to 15.246 of the
Michigan Compiled Laws.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61522 Violations of part, rule, or order; penalties.
Sec. 61522. (1) Unless a penalty is otherwise provided for in this part, a person who violates this part or a

rule or order promulgated or issued under this part is subject to a penalty of not more than $1,000.00. Each
day the violation continues constitutes a separate offense. The penalty shall be recovered by an action brought
by the supervisor.

(2) A person aiding in the violation of this part or a rule or order promulgated or issued under this part is
subject to the same penalties as are prescribed in this section for the person who committed the violation.

(3) If the supervisor arbitrarily and capriciously violates section 61508(2), the supervisor is subject to the
penalties prescribed in the freedom of information act, Act No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976, being sections
15.231 to 15.246 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61523 Confiscation of illegal oil or gas, oil or gas products, conveyances, and
containers; notice; seizure; sale; intervention.
Sec. 61523. All illegal oil or gas, products derived from illegal oil or gas, conveyances used in the

transportation of illegal oil or gas or oil or gas products, and containers used in their storage, except railroad
tank cars and pipelines, are subject to confiscation, and the supervisor may seize such illegal oil or gas, oil or
gas products, conveyances, and containers. The supervisor shall immediately upon such seizure institute a
proceeding in rem to confiscate the oil or gas, oil or gas products, conveyances, and containers in the circuit
court of the county in which the seizure was made or in the circuit court of Ingham county. Upon
commencement of these proceedings, notice shall be given to all known interested persons in the manner as
directed by the court. The court, upon finding that the oil or gas, oil or gas products, conveyances, or
containers seized are illegal, shall order those items to be sold under the terms and conditions as it directs.
Any person claiming an interest in any oil or gas, oil or gas product, conveyance, or container that is seized
has the right to intervene in the proceedings, and the rights of that person shall be determined by the court as
justice may require.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 13 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61524 Fee for monitoring, surveillance, enforcement, and administration of part.
Sec. 61524. (1) For the purposes of monitoring, surveillance, enforcement, and administration of this part,

a fee not in excess of 1%, based upon the gross cash market value, is levied upon oil and gas produced in this
state. The fee shall be collected by the revenue division of the department of treasury in the same manner, at
the same time, and subject to the provisions of the tax levied by 1929 PA 48, MCL 205.301 to 205.317.

(2) The fee shall be computed as follows:
(a) The director of the department of management and budget, on or before November 1, shall certify to

the department of treasury the amount appropriated for the fiscal year for the purposes of monitoring,
surveillance, enforcement, and administration of this part.

(b) The department shall estimate the total production and gross cash market value of all oil and gas that
will be produced in this state during the fiscal year ending September 30, and shall certify its estimate to the
department of treasury on or before November 1.

(c) Within 30 days after the effective date of the 1998 amendments to this section and on or before
December 1 of each succeeding year, the department of treasury shall determine the fee as follows:

(i) If the fund balance is less than $7,000,000.00 as of the end of the fiscal year immediately prior to
November 1, the fee shall be 1% of the gross cash market value of oil and gas produced, or an amount
calculated to cause the fund to accumulate to $7,000,000.00 at the end of the current fiscal year, whichever is
less.

(ii) If the fund balance is equal to or exceeds $7,000,000.00 as of the end of the fiscal year immediately
prior to November 1, the fee shall be the ratio, to the nearest 1/100 of 1%, that the appropriation bears to the
total gross cash market value of the oil and gas that will be produced in this state as estimated by the
department as provided in subdivision (b).

(iii) Any money accumulated in the fund in excess of $7,000,000.00 as of the end of the fiscal year shall be
deducted from the following year's appropriation in determining an amount to be certified by the director of
the department of management and budget to the department of treasury for computing the annual fee
provided for in this section.

(d) The percentage determined pursuant to subdivision (c) shall not exceed 1% and shall be the fee
beginning the first of the following month and will continue to be the fee for the next 12 months and until a
different fee is determined. However, the fee shall be 1% beginning the first day of the second month after the
effective date of the 1998 amendments to this section and will continue to be the fee for the remainder of that
calendar year.

(3) The proceeds of the fee provided for in this section shall be forwarded to the state treasurer for deposit
into the fund.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995;Am. 1998, Act 252, Imd. Eff. July 10, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61525 Permit to drill well; application; bond; posting; fee; issuance; disposition of fees;
availability of information pertaining to applications; information provided to city, village,
or township.
Sec. 61525. (1) A person shall not drill or begin the drilling of any well for oil or gas, for secondary

recovery, or a well for the disposal of salt water, or brine produced in association with oil or gas operations or
other oil field wastes, or wells for the development of reservoirs for the storage of liquid or gaseous
hydrocarbons, except as authorized by a permit to drill and operate the well issued by the supervisor of wells
pursuant to part 13 and unless the person files with the supervisor a bond as provided in section 61506. The
permittee shall post the permit in a conspicuous place at the location of the well as provided in the rules and
requirements or orders issued or promulgated by the supervisor. An application for a permit shall be
accompanied by a fee of $300.00. A permit to drill and operate shall not be issued to an owner or his or her
authorized representative who does not comply with the rules and requirements or orders issued or
promulgated by the supervisor. A permit shall not be issued to an owner or his or her authorized
representative who has not complied with or is in violation of this part or any of the rules, requirements, or
orders issued or promulgated by the supervisor or the department.

(2) The supervisor shall forward all fees received under this section to the state treasurer for deposit in the
fund.

(3) The supervisor shall make available to any person, upon request, not less often than weekly, the
Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 14 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



following information pertaining to applications for permits to drill and operate:
(a) Name and address of the applicant.
(b) Location of proposed well.
(c) Well name and number.
(d) Proposed depth of the well.
(e) Proposed formation.
(f) Surface owner.
(g) Whether hydrogen sulfide gas is expected.
(4) The supervisor shall provide the information under subsection (3) to the county in which an oil or gas

well is proposed to be located and to the city, village, or township in which the oil or gas well is proposed to
be located if that city, village, or township has a population of 70,000 or more. A city, village, township, or
county in which an oil or gas well is proposed to be located may provide written comments and
recommendations to the supervisor pertaining to applications for permits to drill and operate. The supervisor
shall consider all such comments and recommendations in reviewing the application.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995;Am. 1998, Act 252, Imd. Eff. July 10, 1998;Am. 1998, Act 303, Imd. Eff.
July 28, 1998;Am. 2004, Act 325, Imd. Eff. Sept. 10, 2004.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61525a Annual well regulatory fee; report.
Sec. 61525a. The owner or operator of a well used for injection, withdrawal, or observation related to the

storage of natural gas or liquefied petroleum gas that has been used for its permitted purpose at any time
during the calendar year immediately prior to the time the fee is due is subject to a $20.00 annual well
regulatory fee. The owner or operator of a well described in this section shall file an annual report by January
31 of each year stating the number of wells used for injection, withdrawal, or observation related to the
storage of natural gas or liquefied petroleum gas that has been utilized for its permitted purpose during the
previous calendar year. The report shall include a list of wells identified by permit number, permit name, and
gas storage field name on a form provided by the supervisor, or such other form which may be acceptable to
the supervisor. The annual well regulatory fee described in this section is due not more than 30 days after the
supervisor sends notice to the owner or operator of the amount due. The supervisor shall forward all fees
collected under this section to the state treasurer for deposit into the fund.

History: Add. 1998, Act 252, Imd. Eff. July 10, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61525b Oil and gas regulatory fund; creation; disposition of money or other assets;
lapse; expenditures; annual report.
Sec. 61525b. (1) The oil and gas regulatory fund is created within the state treasury.
(2) The state treasurer may receive money or other assets from any source for deposit into the fund. The

state treasurer shall direct the investment of the fund. The state treasurer shall credit to the fund interest and
earnings from fund investments.

(3) Money in the fund at the close of the fiscal year shall remain in the fund and shall not lapse to the
general fund.

(4) The department shall expend money from the fund, upon appropriation, only for monitoring,
surveillance, enforcement, and administration of this part.

(5) The department shall annually submit a report to the legislature that itemizes the expenditure of money
in the fund. The report shall include, at a minimum, all of the following:

(a) The amount of money received and the amount of money expended.
(b) The number of full-time equivalent positions funded with money in the fund.
(c) The number of on-site inspections conducted by the department in implementing this part.
(d) The number of violations identified in enforcing this part, their locations, and a description of the

nature of the violations.
History: Add. 1998, Act 252, Imd. Eff. July 10, 1998.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 15 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61526 Part cumulative; conflicting provisions repealed; exception.
Sec. 61526. This part is cumulative of all existing laws on the subject matter, but, in case of conflict, this

part shall control and shall repeal the conflicting provisions, except for the authority given the public service
commission in sections 7 and 8 of Act No. 9 of the Public Acts of 1929, being sections 483.107 and 483.108
of the Michigan Compiled Laws, as authorized by law.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

324.61527 Applicability of part.
Sec. 61527. This part does not apply to drill holes for the exploration for and the extraction of iron, copper,

or brine; to water wells; to mine and quarry drill and blast holes; to coal test holes; or to seismograph or other
geophysical exploration test holes.

History: Add. 1995, Act 57, Imd. Eff. May 24, 1995.

Popular name: Act 451

Popular name: NREPA

Popular name: Supervisor of Wells

Rendered Tuesday, June 30, 2015 Page 16 Michigan Compiled Laws Complete Through PA 84 of 2015

 Legislative Council, State of Michigan Courtesy of www.legislature.mi.gov



The following questions were asked by Councilman Henderson via email. For clarity, questions are 

underlined and responses are in bold. 

 

Maybe a little info on fracking would be nice for others on council to read. Looks like the state has 

plenty of regulations on this, leaving Troy with the simple task of defining where a fracture location can 

be placed. All other safety concerns seem to be well documented and protective measures in place. 

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/deq-FINAL-frack-QA_384089_7_452648_7.pdf  

Fracking information from State of Michigan website is attached. 

 

First, the well head structure is not to exceed 22’. What is typical for well head structures? Are we in line 

with industry standard heights? 

Cameron produces a wide range of products for the oil and gas industry, including wellhead systems. 

A frac tree is a wellhead system containing a number of valves and outlets. The following illustration 

for various frac tree products Cameron sells was copied from Cameron’s website (c-a-m.com). The 

tallest model Cameron sells is 226” (18.83’) in height. Cameron also offers a horizontal frac tree that 

has a significantly shorter profile. This indicates that we are in line with industry standards. 

 

 

Source: c-a-m.com 

 

Second, I asked for maps of locations that would be conducive to oil drilling, but can we see a before 

and after map. I’d like to see what those potential sites look like before an ordinance and then after the 

ordinance. In other words, would someone be allowed to drill on a 3 acre non IB site now? If so, I think 

the before and after map would be more stark. 

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/deq-FINAL-frack-QA_384089_7_452648_7.pdf


Presently, an oil and gas facility could be located anywhere in the City that met State of Michigan 

locational criteria, which would generally include any location at least 450 feet from a residential 

building (Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, Act 451 of 1994). Maps were provided 

in the City Council memo. 

 

Third, Injection wells are prohibited? I think I need further information on why these are to be 

prohibited. It appears that these may be an essential part of the process as it relates to eliminating brine 

from the site?  

Injection of brine and other elements is a critical component of fracking. These elements are trucked 

to the site and then injected into the well. The injection wells prohibited by these provisions are those 

used to dispose of the brine used in oil and gas extraction, which may be contaminated. These wells 

are located deep underground, so as not to negatively impact drinking water.  

 

Separation of brine from fluid. It appears our new ordinance doesn’t allow for this, but reading the state 

of Michigan site about fracking process, it looks like that is SOP for fracking. Again, is this a restriction 

that would be extraordinary for a fracking company to overcome? 

Facilities for separating oil, gas and brine are similar in character to oil refineries and therefore 

considered heavy industrial uses. Requiring brine separation at appropriate locations away from the 

wellhead is not overly restrictive to the industry.   

 

 G:\ZOTAs\ZOTA 247 Oil and Gas Extraction\Questions 07 13 2015.doc 



 

 

G:\Contracts\Contracts - 2015\15-8 - Wattles Mill & Overlay\Correspondence\Bid AwardR2.doc  

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 14, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development  
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
    
Subject: Standard Purchasing Resolution #1: Award to Low Bidder and Budget Amendment 
  Contract 15-8 – Wattles Mill & Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Overlay 
   
History 

This project was budgeted to include asphalt overlay work on three (3) miles of Wattles from Coolidge to 
Rochester; Crooks from Big Beaver to Banmoor; and at the intersection of Coolidge and Square Lake.   It 
includes milling (grinding off)  a portion of the pavement, making repairs to the milled surface, replacing curb & 
gutter at spot locations, and overlaying the pavement with 1-1/2 to 2 inches of asphalt.   

The work is anticipated to start in August and be completed in October. 

Purchasing 

Bids were received and publicly read on July 8, 2015.  The low bid of $2,183,316.97 was submitted by Pro-
Line Asphalt Paving Corp. as shown on the attached tabulation of bids. 
 
The 2015-16 major road budget for this project is $1.95 million.  This budget is based on actual 2014 
construction costs, but we have seen higher construction costs this year due to an improving economy and 
higher construction demand.  This project’s higher “as bid” cost is due to these factors and also due to our 
decision to use an asphalt mix that has a lower percentage of recycled asphalt pavement (RAP).  Known as a 
Tier 1 mix it uses up to 17% less RAP than a Tier 2 mix.  Over the past few years we have seen better 
performance using the Tier 1 mix, but using it adds approximately $5 per ton or about $50,000 to the asphalt 
material cost for this project.  Additionally, during final design we added approximately 200 feet of sidewalk and 
a bypass lane on westbound Wattles at Lawson Street that were not contemplated in the budget amount.  
These items and the Tier 1 mix add approximately $155,000 to the construction cost of this project. 
 
The total estimated project cost, including construction, inspection, testing and contingency is: 
   

Bid – Construction                $2,183,316.97 
Inspection & Testing               $86,683.03  
Contingency                        $220,000.00 
Total                              $2,490,000.00  

 
The project was competitively bid and publicly opened with three (3) bidders responding.  The award is 
contingent upon submission of proper proposal and bid documents, including insurance certificates, bonds and 
all specified requirements. 
 
Financial 

Funds for this work are available in the 2015-16 budget. The total cost of the project including funds for 
engineering, construction, inspection and contingencies is estimated at $2,490,000.  The 2016 Major Street 
Fund will be amended to transfer additional funds in the amount of $540,000 to complete the project.     
 

stewartc
Text Box
I-05



 

 

G:\Contracts\Contracts - 2015\15-8 - Wattles Mill & Overlay\Correspondence\Bid AwardR2.doc  

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that City Council award the Wattles Mill & HMA Overlay contract to Pro-Line Asphalt Paving 
Corp., 11797 29 Mile Road, Washington Twp., MI, 48095 for their low total bid of $2,183,316.97.  In addition, 
we are requesting authorization to approve additional work, if needed, not to exceed 10% of the original project 
cost due to unknown unknown quantities of repair work needed after milling off the asphalt surface. 



Pro-Line Asphalt Paving Corp. Cadillac Asphalt LLC
11797 29 Mile Road 2575 S. Haggerty, Ste. 100 830 Kirts Blvd., Suite 100
Washington, MI 48095 Canton, MI  48188 Troy, MI 48084

 
TOTAL ALL BASE BIDS 2,078,350.28$      2,152,119.35$       * 2,168,633.35$     

TOTAL  ALTERNATE 3 104,966.69$         119,465.00$          95,800.15$          
SIDEWALKS AND BY-PASS LANE

2,183,316.97$      2,271,584.35$       2,264,433.50$     

* = Corrected By Engineer

 

TOTAL WITH ALTERNATE #3 :

Bid Tab Summary

AJAX Paving Industries, Inc.

Page 1 of 1





 

 
 
TO:  Members of the Troy City Council     
 
FROM: Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  Gary Mayer, Police Chief  
  William Nelson, Fire Chief 
  Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney  
 
DATE:  July 16, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Resolution Concerning Fireworks    

 
 At the July 13, 2015 City Council meeting, there was a report on the fireworks enforcement 
during the recent 4th of July holiday. As a result of some discussion at the City Council table, there 
was a request to prepare a proposed resolution for City Council consideration that expressed 
dissatisfaction with the current state statutes regulating fireworks.    
 
 The Michigan fireworks safety act was passed in 2011 (2011 PA 256).  In August 2012, the 
Troy City Council sent a resolution to all state elected officials representing any portion of the City of 
Troy.  Subsequently, there were some amendments to the state law that were passed in June 2013.  
State Representative Martin Howrylak introduced House Bill 4367 which if passed would clarify that 
the state law does not pre-empt local ordinances that regulate noise or zoning. This Bill was 
introduced on March 24, 2015, and it was immediately referred to the House Committee on 
Regulatory Reform.  This is the last official action that has been taken.  A bill was also introduced in 
the Michigan Senate on April 28, 2015 (SB 0300).  This Bill was immediately referred to the 
Committee on Governmental Operations, but no official action is recorded after that date.  The 
Senate Bill would essentially repeal the State Statute and allow local municipalities to regulate 
fireworks.   
 
    City Council may wish to send a resolution to all State elected officials representing the City 
of Troy, supporting legislative changes to the state law.  A proposed resolution is included for your 
consideration.   
 
 Please let us know if you have any questions or concerns about this matter.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AACCTTIIOONN  IITTEEMM    

stewartc
Text Box
I-06



   
 

 WHEREAS, 2011 PA No. 256 amended the law concerning fireworks in the State of Michigan, 
and these new provisions were effective on January 1, 2012; and  
 

 WHEREAS, this law was amended in part by the passage of 2013 PA 65, but the state law still 
precludes local units of government from enacting legislation to totally limit the ignition, discharge or 
use of consumer fireworks on the day before a national holiday, the day of a national holiday, and the 
day after a national holiday; and 
 

 WHEREAS, the revised state fireworks statutes have resulted in many complaints and 
concerns being raised by a number of municipal constituents during the most recent 4th of July 
holiday period, and have resulted in far more fireworks related noise, litter and potential safety 
issues; and  
 

 WHEREAS, the statutory revisions to the state fireworks statutes have created many concerns 
for Michigan municipalities, including but not limited to the allowance of the storage of explosives 
next to residences and businesses, and the removal of local control and discretion for the ignition, 
discharge, and use of fireworks; and  
 

 WHEREAS, proposed revisions have been introduced in both the State House of 
Representatives (HB 4367) and the State Senate (SB 0300), but action on these bills appears to 
have stalled.    
 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the Troy City Council strongly URGES the 
Michigan legislature to revisit and revise the state fireworks statutes, MCL 28.451 et. seq. in order to 
allow local units of government to carry out the obligation to preserve the quality of life and safety that 
its citizens expect.  
 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk shall SEND a copy of this Resolution to all 
state elected officials representing any portion of the City of Troy.         



 

 

1 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
Date:  July 15, 2015 
 
To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
   
From:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 

Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 
Mark Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
M. Aileen Dickson, City Clerk 
Cathleen Russ, Library Director 

   
Subject: Ballot Language for Library Millage Question, November 3, 2015 City General Election 
 

 
Background: 
 
On Tuesday, August 2, 2011, Troy voters approved a five-year, dedicated millage of 0.7 mills for the 
purpose of funding operations of the Troy Public Library. The term of this millage is July 1, 2011 through 
June 30, 2016.  
 
On February 3, 2014, City Council discussed the City of Troy AAA Bond Rating during a Study Session 
with City Administration and Robert Bendzinski, Certified Independent Professional Municipal Advisor 
(CIPMA) and President of Bendzinski & Co. Mr. Bendzinski provided insight into how bond rating 
agencies determine the City of Troy’s bond rating. One of the primary factors bond rating agencies 
consider and strongly encourage is having dedicated funding sources.   The rationale is it will provide 
assurance that funding will be consistent and stable for the municipality.  
 
On November 17, 2014, the FIT (Financial Ideas Team) discussed three areas of the budget: 1) General 
Fund; 2) Capital Fund; and 3) Library Fund.  FIT requested more information regarding the Library, 
specifically user makeup. The question was what percentage of users are residents versus non-
residents as quantified by the number of households holding a Library card.   
 
The Troy City Council explored the issue of future funding for the Troy Public Library at a study session 
on Monday, March 9, 2015. The main areas of discussion were budget information, capital needs, 
financial pressures and the millage.  Information regarding the Library users was provided.  For 
example, staff presented that 64% of Troy households have a Library card.  When the number of 
cardholders that live, work, go to school in Troy or are members of the Library Cooperative are factored 
in, the percentage rises to 99% of all Library users.  
 
The Financial Ideas Team convened on April 1 and April 23, 2015.  There was unanimous support to 
continue the services of the Troy Public Library. The consensus was to select the first option 
presented, which is to renew the existing 0.7 millage, use money from Library Fund Balance to 
purchase Library materials, and have the City of Troy provide a subsidy from its Capital Fund (if 
needed) to address the physical building issues.  FIT believed this option was best because it supports 

stewartc
Text Box
I-07



 

 

2 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

and continues the current six-day Library operation, keeps the Library materials budget stable, and 
addresses the Library’s capital needs all while not increasing the millage rate.  
 
The Team agreed that a millage increase would not have strong support, and should not be explored 
at this time. After reviewing the financial details of the General Fund and Library Fund, FIT believed 
a dedicated funding source through a millage renewal was the most prudent course of action.  
 
FIT recognized that the Library is a pillar of the Troy community. It is a community gathering place, 
fosters growth, and provides educational and recreational resources and programming. As such, the 
FIT members believe that this option is the optimal path for maintaining the Troy Public Library’s 
current high level of service. 
 
On April 29, 2015 the City Council conducted a budget study session and discussed the Library budget 
as well as future funding.  Three funding options were presented with the following option 
recommended: 1) request ballot question to renew the current 0.7 millage; 2) use Library fund balance 
to purchase materials; and 3) obtain a capital subsidy from the City’s Capital Fund, if needed.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
Based on the February 3, 2014 recommendation of Robert Bendzinski as the continuation of the Library 
millage pertains to the City’s AAA Bond Rating; November 17, 2014 FIT Discussion of the Budget; City 
Council’s discussion of the issue at its March 9, 2015 Study Session; and the April 1 and April 23, 2015 
recommendations of the Financial Ideas Team; And, the April 29, 2015 City Council Budget Study 
Session; City Administration recommends that City Council approve placement of a ballot question for 
renewal of the Troy Public Library Operating Millage Proposal in the amount of 0.7 mills for the 
November 3, 2015 ballot. If renewed, the term of the renewed dedicated Library millage would be July 
1, 2016 – June 30, 2021.  
 

CITY COUNCIL WOULD BE AUTHORIZED TO RENEW A LEVY OF 0.7 MILLS FOR 
FIVE YEARS FOR DEDICATED LIBRARY FUNDING WITH THE SUCCESSFUL 
PASSAGE OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTION: 

 
Shall the City of Troy renew its previously authorized millage of 0.7 mills against all 
taxable property for a five (5) year period of time, 2016 through 2021, inclusive, for 
the dedicated purpose of operating and maintaining the library? 0.7 mills are equal 
to $0.70 on each $1,000.00 of taxable value. If approved, the additional millage levied 
will raise approximately $3,203,233 in 2016, the first year it is levied. Millage revenue 
would be disbursed to the City for library purposes.  Of this amount, state law requires 
the capture of approximately $5,042 for Local Development Finance Authority, 
$52,808 for Downtown Development Authority, and $3,197 for Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority purposes.  This proposal is authorized under Section 6 of 
Article IX of the Michigan Constitution. 

 
Yes ____ No ______ 

 



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES-Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 1 - 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

A Special Meeting of the Troy City Council was held on Monday, July 13, 2015, at City Hall, 
500 W. Big Beaver Rd.  Mayor Slater called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 
 

B. ROLL CALL: 

Mayor Dane Slater 
Jim Campbell 
Steve Gottlieb 
Dave Henderson 
Ellen Hodorek 
Ed Pennington 
Doug Tietz 

 

Vote on Resolution to Adjourn into Closed Session 
 
Resolution #2015-07-088 
Moved by Pennington  
Seconded by Gottlieb  

 
BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL ADJOURN into Closed Session, as 
permitted by MCL 15.268 (c) – Labor Negotiations – Michigan Association of Police (MAP). 

 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

C. DISCUSSION ITEM:  

C-1 Closed Session – Labor Negotiations – Michigan Association of Police (MAP) 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT: 

E. ADJOURNMENT: 

 

The Meeting ADJOURNED at 6:19 PM. 
 
 

Mayor Dane Slater 
 
 
 

M. Aileen Dickson, CMC 
City Clerk 

 

stewartc
Text Box
J-02a



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 1 - 

Pastor Pat Rowland from Woodside Bible Church performed the Invocation.  The Pledge of 
Allegiance to the Flag was given. 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

A Regular Meeting of the Troy City Council was held on Monday, July 13, 2015, at City Hall, 
500 W. Big Beaver Rd.  Mayor Slater called the meeting to order at 7:31 PM. 

B. ROLL CALL: 

Mayor Dane Slater 
Jim Campbell 
Steve Gottlieb 
Dave Henderson 
Ellen Hodorek  
Ed Pennington  
Doug Tietz 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  

C-1 Presentation to Recognize Dr. Martin Wunsch Who Donated $50,000 to the Troy 

Public Library on Behalf of the Estate of Lucille Makarov.  The Funds Will Be Used 

to Make Improvements in Furnishings and Technology in the Youth Services Area, 

the Teen Services Area, and the Adult Services Collection (Presented by:  Cathy 
Russ, Library Director) 

 

C-2 Presentation to Sue Martin, President of the Friends of the Troy Public Library, in 

Recognition of Funding in the Amount of $111,525 for the 2015-16 Fiscal Year.  

The Funding will go Toward Library Programs, Purchasing New Meeting Room 

Furniture, a Mobile Computer Lab, and Other Aesthetic Improvements (Presented 
by:  Cathy Russ, Library Director) 

 

C-3 Fireworks Report (Presented by:  Gary Mayer, Chief of Police) 
 
It was the consensus of City Council to send a resolution to the State Legislature regarding the 
State Law on Fireworks. 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 

D-1 No Carryover Items 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

E-1 No Public Hearings 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY 

RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES: 

 

stewartc
Text Box
J-02b



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 2 - 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 

H-1 No Postponed Items 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – None; b) City 

Council Appointments – Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

a) Mayoral Appointments:  None 
 

b) City Council Appointments:   
 
Resolution #2015-07-085 
Moved by Campbell  
Seconded by Henderson  
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPOINTS the following nominated person(s) to 
serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated: 
 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
Appointed by Council 
7 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 

 

Term Expires:  4/30/2018 Thomas Desmond 

 Term currently held by: Thomas Desmond 
 

Term Expires:  4/30/2018 Glenn Clark 

 Term currently held by: Glenn Clark 
   

Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority, Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA); b) City 

Council Nominations – Charter Revision Committee, Historic District Commission, 

Traffic Committee 
 

a) Mayoral Nominations:   
 
City Council took no action on this Item. 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 3 - 

b) City Council Nominations:  

 
City Council took no action on this Item. 
 

I-3 No Closed Session Requested 
 

I-4 Contract Ratification – Michigan Association of Police (MAP) 2015-2018 
(Introduced by:  Jeanette Menig, Human Resources Director) 

 
Resolution #2015-07-086 
Moved by Pennington  
Seconded by Gottlieb  
 
RESOLVED, That a collective bargaining agreement between the City of Troy and the Michigan 
Association of Police (MAP) for the period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2018 is hereby 

RATIFIED by the City Council of the City of Troy, and the Mayor and City Clerk are 

AUTHORIZED TO EXECUTE the final agreement. 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Resolution #2015-07-087 
Moved by Henderson  
Seconded by Gottlieb  
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES all items on the Consent Agenda as 
presented. 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council  
 

J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 

 
Resolution #2015-07-087-J-2 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following Minutes as submitted: 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 4 - 

a) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – June 22, 2015 
 

J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  None Submitted 
 

J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions 
 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 4:  Cooperative Contract Award – Two (2) Dump 

Trucks with Snow Removal and Deicing Systems 
 
Resolution #2015-07-087-J-4a 
 

RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES contracts to purchase two (2) tandem 
axle truck chassis, for $99,679.00 each to Wolverine Freightliner-Eastside, Inc., of Mount 
Clemens, MI for an estimated total price of $199,358.00 and two (2) dump bodies, snow 
removal and deicing systems for $104,238.68 each from Truck and Trailer Specialties, Inc., of 
Dutton, MI for an estimated total price of $208,477.36; for an estimated grand total cost of 
$407,835.36. 
 

J-5 Resolution to Schedule a Special Study Session on Monday, August 10, 2015, to 

Discuss the Great Lakes Water Authority 
 
Resolution #2015-07-087-J-5 
 

RESOLVED, That a Special Study meeting is SCHEDULED for the Troy City Council for the 
purpose of discussing the Great Lakes Water Authority on Monday, August 10, 2015 at 6:00 
PM in the Council Boardroom at 500 W. Big Beaver Road, Troy, MI  48084. 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:   

a) July 20, 2015 – Rezoning Application – File ZOTA Z 746 – Proposed Troy Fire Station 
No. 4, North Side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121E. Maple), Section 25 from 
R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood Node ‘C’) 

b) July 20, 2015 – Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment – File ZOTA 247 – Oil & Gas 
Extraction  

 

K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at 

 some future point in time):   

a) Timeline for Library Millage Question – November 3, 2015 City General Election 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY 

RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES: 

Stanley Yolkiewicz 
(Resident) 

Spoke about the lack of PEG (Public, Education and Government) 
Programming for ATT U-Verse Customers. 

James Savage 
(Resident) 

Spoke about a proposal for consideration before the Planning 
Commission to build a 35 unit apartment building on a ½ acre lot.  He has 
concerns with high density housing and its long-term effects to the City.  



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 5 - 

Lee Nardi Spoke about a noise pollution by vehicles in Troy.   

 

M. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 

COMMENT: 

City Manager Kischnick indicated that he will meet with the first speaker after the meeting. 
 
The Mayor and Council Member Henderson addressed the issue with ATT.  Mayor Slater 
indicated that this is a long time issue and the City’s options are limited, as it would be very 
costly to the City to provide that service.  City Attorney Lori Bluhm mentioned that the City, as 
well as the ICCA, has been trying to work with ATT regarding the issue.   
 

N. COUNCIL REFERRALS:  

Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for 

Placement on the Agenda 

N-1  No Council Referrals  

O. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 

O-1  Council Comments 
 
Council Member Gottlieb addressed the City’s attempts to have the State of Michigan take 
action regarding fireworks. 

P. REPORTS: 

P-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:   
a) Building Code Board of Appeals-Draft-June 3, 2015 
b) Building Code Board of Appeals-Final-June 3, 2015 
c) Planning Commission-Final-June 9, 2015 
d) Building Code Board of Appeals-Draft – July 1, 2015 

Noted and Filed 
 

P-2 Department Reports:   
a) Building Department Activity Report – June 2015 
b) Great Lakes Water Authority Update 
c) 2015 Second Quarter Litigation Report 
d) Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint Local Development Finance Authority, Certified 

Technology Park; Amended, Restated and Extended Development and Tax Increment 
Financing Plan:  Update  

Noted and Filed 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Draft July 13, 2015 

 

- 6 - 

P-3 Letters of Appreciation:   
a) To Kurt Bovensiep from the Schoenherr Family Regarding Staff Rescuing a Mallard 

Duck Family 
b) To Chief Mayer from Stephanie Bergeron, President of Walsh College, Regarding 

Officer Assistance with Traffic Control at the Commencement Ceremonies Held at Zion 
Christian Church 

Noted and Filed 

P-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted 
 

P-5 Notice of Hearing for the Customers of DTE Electric Co. Case No. U-17772 – 

Biennial Review of the Energy Optimization Plan 
Noted and Filed 

 

P-6 Notice of Hearing for the Natural Gas Customers of Consumers Energy Company 

Case No. U-17868 – Application to Approve a Refund to its Natural Gas Customers 
Noted and Filed 

Q. COMMENTS ON ITEMS ON OR NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC OUTSIDE OF TROY (NOT RESIDENTS OF 

TROY AND NOT FROM TROY BUSINESSES): 

R. CLOSED SESSION:  

R-1 No Closed Session 

S. ADJOURNMENT: 

 

The Meeting ADJOURNED at 8:16 PM. 
 
 
 
 

Mayor Dane Slater 
 
 
 

M. Aileen Dickson, CMC 
City Clerk 

 
 

 



 

 

1 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
 
Date:  July 16, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  MaryBeth Murz, Purchasing Manager 
  Timothy L. Richnak, Public Works Director 
  Kurt Bovensiep, Public Works Manager 
 
Subject: Standard Purchasing Resolution 2: Award To Lowest Bidders Meeting Specifications –  
  Traffic Control Signs and Posts 
 
History 

 The Streets Division is responsible for the maintenance of all city posted traffic control signs and 
posts.   

 These signs and posts require new installations, as well as repairs and replacements to be in 
compliance with the most current standards as specified in the Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices. 

 
Purchasing 

 On July 9, 2015, a bid opening was conducted as required by City Charter and Code for one (1) year 
requirements of traffic control signs and posts.   

 The bid was posted on the Michigan Inter-governmental Trade Network (MITN) website; 
www.mitn.info and the bid was sent to the Troy Chamber of Commerce.   

 (9) bid responses were received.  Below is a detailed summary of potential vendors: 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 The following vendors responded to the Bid solicitation: 
Garden State Highway Products, Inc.   
Dornbos Sign & Safety, Inc.     
Osburn Associates, Inc.    
Lightle Enterprises of Ohio, LLC  
Vulcan, Inc, dba Vulcan Signs    
Rocal, Inc.       
Custom Products Corporation    
Rathco Safety Supply, Inc.     
MD Solutions       

Companies notified via MITN 88 

Troy Companies notified via MITN 1 

Troy Companies - Active email Notification 1 

Troy Companies - Active Free 0 

Companies that viewed the bid  29 

Troy Companies that viewed the bid 0 

 

 

MITN provides a resourceful online platform to streamline the 
procurement process, reduce costs, and make it easier and more 
transparent for vendors to do business with the City of Troy. 
Active MITN members with a current membership and paying annual 
dues receive automatic electronic notification which allows instant 
access to Bids, RFPS and Quote opportunities with the City.   
Active MITN non-paying members are responsible to monitor and 
check the MITN website for opportunities to do business with the City. 
Inactive MITN member status can occur when a company does not 
renew their account upon expiration.  Inactive members cannot be 
notified of solicitations or access any bid information. 

 

http://www.mitn.info/
stewartc
Text Box
J-04a



 

 

2 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 

 Quantities are estimated and shall be purchased at quoted unit prices, on an as needed basis. 

 All items bid were separated into 11 proposal categories, A – K.   

 Due to minimum shipment requirements, contracts are to be awarded on a proposal by proposal 
basis.   

 Proposal H is a set-up fee to fabricate non-standard signs for all sizes listed in the contract.  
Therefore, all vendors awarded sign material contracts shall also be awarded Proposal H.   

 
Financial 
Funds are available in the Operating Budgets of the Public Works Streets Division. 
 
 
Recommendation 
City management recommends awarding one (1) year contracts on a proposal by proposal basis to the 
following five (5) low bidders meeting specifications as detailed below for an estimated total cost of 
$73,941.35 at unit prices contained in the bid tabulation opened July 9, 2015. 
 

Bidder Proposal 
Estimated 

Total 

Custom Products Corp A $3,391.75  

Garden State Highway 
Products B,C, D $2,932.80 

Vulcan Signs E, F, G, K $54,290.80 

Lightle Enterprises of 
Ohio LLC I $2,016.00 

Dornbos Sign & Safety J $11,310.00 

Estimated Grand Total   $73,941.35  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\Bid Award 15-16 SPR 2 Traffic Signs ITB-COT 15-21.doc 
 
 



CITY OF TROY    ITB-COT 15-21

Opening Date -- 7/9/15 BID TABULATION Pg. 1 of 6

Date Reviewed -- 7/15/2015 TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS & POSTS

VENDOR NAME:

Garden State 

Highway Products, 

Inc.

Dornbos Sign & 

Safety Inc.

Osburn Associates, 

Inc.

Vineland, NJ Chalotte, MI Logan, OH
ITEM EST QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE

PROPOSAL A: COMPLETE SIGNS, SINGLE FACE 3M HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM

1. 25 36" YIELD (R1-2) 16.98$                        17.00$                        19.13$                        

2. 30 30" STOP (R1-1) 24.54$                        25.00$                        26.00$                        

3. 10 36" STOP (R1-1) 34.66$                        33.35$                        38.25$                        

4. 10 18" x 6" All Way        (R1-4) 4.07$                          3.10$                          3.19$                          
5. 500 12" x 12" No Parking (R8-3A) 4.63$                          4.55$                          4.25$                          

PROPOSAL A:  EST TOTAL  -- 3,863.00$                   3,814.50$                   3,797.65$                   

PROPOSAL B: 3M STANDARD PRE-PRINTED TRAFFIC SIGN FACES HIGH INTENSITY

1. 500 12" X 12" 1.69$                          2.50$                          1.80$                          

2. 10 30" Stop Faces 9.74$                          11.75$                        9.98$                          
3. 10 36" Yield Faces 5.46$                          9.00$                          14.40$                        

PROPOSAL B:  EST TOTAL -- 997.00$                      1,457.50$                   1,143.80$                   

PROPOSAL C: COMPLETE SIGNS, SINGLE FACE. 3M DIAMOND GRADE, VIP SHEETING, FLUORESCENT YELLOW GREEN 
ON ALUMINUM

1. 10 30" School Sign FYG 19.32$                        36.08$                        34.38$                        

2. 10 36" School Sign FYG 27.81$                        51.81$                        49.50$                        

3. 10 24" x 12" Directional Arrow FYG (W16-7p) 6.18$                          13.87$                        10.98$                        
4. 10 24" x 24" Directional Arrow FYG (W16-7p) 12.36$                        25.37$                        10.98$                        

PROPOSAL C:  EST TOTAL -- 656.70$                      1,271.30$                   1,058.40$                   

PROPOSAL D: MDO SINGLE FACED, RECTANGLE PLYWOOD SIGN

1. 5 96" X 48" HIP Orange 127.91$                      175.00$                      136.00$                      
2. 5 96" x 48" HIP White 127.91$                      189.00$                      136.00$                      

PROPOSAL D:  EST TOTAL -- 1,279.10$                   1,820.00$                   1,360.00$                   

PROPOSAL E: COMPLETE SIGNS, STANDARD WARNING DIAMOND, RECTANGULAR OR SQUARE - ONE COLOR HIGH
INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM, ROUNDED OR SQUARE CORNERS

1. 10 9" X 24" 8.38$                          6.18$                          6.38$                          

2. 10 9" X 30' 10.48$                        7.81$                          7.97$                          

3. 10 9" X 36" 12.57$                        9.34$                          9.56$                          

4. 10 9" X 48" 16.75$                        12.45$                        12.75$                        

5. 10 12" X 12" 4.49$                          4.10$                          4.25$                          

6. 100 12" X 18" 6.11$                          6.14$                          6.38$                          

7. 10 12" X 24" 7.99$                          8.18$                          8.50$                          

8. 10 12" X 30" 9.98$                          10.38$                        10.63$                        

9. 150 12" X 36" 11.98$                        12.36$                        12.75$                        

10. 25 12" X 42" 13.97$                        14.53$                        14.88$                        

11. 50 12" X 48" 15.98$                        16.60$                        17.00$                        

12. 25 12" X 54 17.96$                        18.68$                        19.13$                        

13. 25 18" X 18" 8.99$                          9.34$                          9.56$                          

14. 20 18" X 24 11.98$                        12.36$                        12.77$                        

15. 20 18" X 48" 15.98$                        35.28$                        25.50$                        

16. 20 18" X 60" 19.98$                        44.10$                        31.88$                        

17. 10 24" X 24" 15.98$                        16.60$                        17.00$                        

18. 200 24" X 30" 19.98$                        20.45$                        21.25$                        

19. 10 24" X 36" 23.98$                        24.90$                        25.50$                        

20. 10 24" X 48 31.97$                        33.20$                        34.00$                        

21. 200 30" X 30" 24.98$                        25.94$                        26.56$                        
22. 10 36" X 36" 35.96$                        37.35$                        38.25$                        

PROPOSAL E:  EST TOTAL -- 15,966.10$                 17,179.45$                 17,202.65$                 

1. 10 12" X 12" Two Color 4.63$                          4.15$                          4.35$                          

2. 50 12" X 18" Two Color 6.29$                          6.02$                          6.53$                          

3. 10 24" x 24" Two Color 16.46$                        16.05$                        17.40$                        
4. 10 30" X 30" Three Color 27.82$                        28.45$                        28.13$                        

PROPOSAL F:  EST TOTAL -- 803.60$                      787.50$                      825.30$                      

No parking Symbol         

PROPOSAL F: COMPLETE SIGNS, STANDARD, WARNING SIAMOND, RECTANGULAR OR SQUARE - TWO OR MORE 

COLORS HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 15-21

BID TABULATION Pg. 2 of 6

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS & POSTS

VENDOR NAME:

Garden State 

Highway Products, 

Inc.

Dornbos Sign & 

Safety Inc.

Osburn Associates, 

Inc.

Vineland, NJ Chalotte, MI Logan, OH
ITEM EST QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE

PROPOSAL G: COMPLETE SIGNS, DOUBLE FACED, HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC TWO SIDED ON WHITE ON 
EXTRUDED ALUMINUM

1. 25 9" X 24" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 10.26$                        5.58$                          10.62$                        

2. 25 9" X 30" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 12.83$                        8.95$                          13.28$                        

3. 25 9" X 36" Extruded BLANK (no film) 15.39$                        11.12$                        15.93$                        

4. 25 9" X 42" Extruded BLANK (no film) 17.96$                        13.28$                        18.55$                        
5. 25 9" X 48" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 20.53$                        14.49$                        21.24$                        

PROPOSAL G:  EST TOTAL -- 1,924.25$                   1,335.50$                   1,990.50$                   

PROPOSAL H: SET UP FEES 25.00$                        25.00$                        -$                            

PROPOSAL I: ROUND GALVANIZED STEEL POST, 2" NOMINAL SIZE, 2-1/8" ID,2-3/8" OD, .125 WALL THICKNESS, 3 LBS.
PER LINEAL FOOT.

1. 100 12 Ft. Galvanized steel round post 41.38$                        51.10$                        43.38$                        

PROPOSAL I:  EST TOTAL -- 4,138.00$                   5,110.00$                   4,338.00$                   

PROPOSAL J: U-CHANNEL SIGN POSTS

1. 200 10 FT - 2lbs Galvanized Steel 20.24$                        14.50$                        19.20$                        

2. 200 12 FT - 3lbs Galvanized Steel 29.49$                        26.05$                        34.75$                        
3. 100 15 FT - 3lbs Galvanized Steel 36.86$                        32.00$                        43.43$                        

PROPOSAL J:  EST TOTAL -- 13,632.00$                 11,310.00$                 15,133.00$                 

PROPOSAL K: SQUARE TUBULAR SIGN POSTS -- PERFORATED-- GALVANIZED STEEL-- FHWA APPROVED

1. 100 14 FT x 1-3/4"-14 Gauge 26.48$                        28.40$                        28.56$                        

2. 300 12 FT x 2" - 12 Gauge 32.16$                        39.14$                        37.98$                        

3. 300 10 FT X 2" - 12 Gauge 26.81$                        32.66$                        31.65$                        

4. 300 9 FT X 2" - 12 Gauge 24.60$                        29.40$                        28.49$                        

5. 100 3 FT X2" Anchor Base - 12 Gauge 8.61$                          9.56$                          9.50$                          
6. 1000 3 FT X 2-1/4" Anchor Base - 12 Gauge 10.27$                        11.83$                        10.17$                        

PROPOSAL K:  EST TOTAL -- 38,850.00$                 45,986.00$                 43,412.00$                 

ESTIMATED GRAND TOTAL AWARDED ITEMS: 82,109.75$                 90,071.75$                 90,261.30$                 

DELIVERY: Minimum Shipment $500.00 Blank

# of Days 21-30 30 30

CONTACT INFO: Hrs of Operation: Mon-Fri 7am-5pm 7:30am-5:00pm 8am-5pm

24 Hr Phone Number: 609-774-1116 517-543-4000 800-523-8917

DESCRIPTIVE LITERATURE: Marked N N specs

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30 Net 30 Net 30 days

WARRANTY: Blank 3M Warranty 10 years

EXCEPTIONS: Blank Blank Blank

Y Y Y

Non-Collusion Affadavit Y Y Y

Debarment Certification Y Y Y

Iran-Linked Business Y Y Y

ALL OR NONE AWARD: Y or N N N N

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNED:   Y or N Y Y Y

FORMS INCLUDED:  Legal Status Bidder

$1,000.00 *Posts: 6-8 

weeks delivery time



CITY OF TROY    ITB-COT 15-21

BID TABULATION Pg. 3 of 6

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS & POSTS

VENDOR NAME:

Lightle Enterprises of 

Ohio, LLC

Vulcan, Inc. (DBA 

Vulcan Signs)
Rocal, Inc.

Frankfort, OH Foley, AL Frankfort, OH
ITEM EST QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE

PROPOSAL A: COMPLETE SIGNS, SINGLE FACE 3M HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM

1. 25 36" YIELD (R1-2) $21.42 16.11$                        20.06$                        

2. 30 30" STOP (R1-1) $26.60 21.98$                        28.94$                        

3. 10 36" STOP (R1-1) $42.60 31.85$                        41.67$                        

4. 10 18" x 6" All Way        (R1-4) $3.60 3.44$                          5.47$                          
5. 500 12" x 12" No Parking (R8-3A) $4.80 4.44$                          6.63$                          

PROPOSAL A:  EST TOTAL  -- 4,195.50$                   3,635.05$                   5,156.10$                   

PROPOSAL B: 3M STANDARD PRE-PRINTED TRAFFIC SIGN FACES HIGH INTENSITY

1. 500 12" X 12" 2.10$                          2.11$                          1.99$                          

2. 10 30" Stop Faces 12.38$                        10.19$                        12.44$                        
3. 10 36" Yield Faces 8.92$                          6.64$                          9.76$                          

PROPOSAL B:  EST TOTAL -- 1,263.00$                   1,223.30$                   1,217.00$                   

PROPOSAL C: COMPLETE SIGNS, SINGLE FACE. 3M DIAMOND GRADE, VIP SHEETING, FLUORESCENT YELLOW GREEN 
ON ALUMINUM

1. 10 30" School Sign FYG 23.88$                        34.01$                        40.50$                        

2. 10 36" School Sign FYG 34.38$                        49.20$                        58.32$                        

3. 10 24" x 12" Directional Arrow FYG (W16-7p) 7.64$                          11.61$                        12.96$                        
4. 10 24" x 24" Directional Arrow FYG (W16-7p) 14.28$                        25.42$                        25.92$                        

PROPOSAL C:  EST TOTAL -- 801.80$                      1,202.40$                   1,377.00$                   

PROPOSAL D: MDO SINGLE FACED, RECTANGLE PLYWOOD SIGN

1. 5 96" X 48" HIP Orange 208.00$                      255.04$                      
2. 5 96" x 48" HIP White 208.00$                      255.04$                      

PROPOSAL D:  EST TOTAL -- 2,080.00$                   2,550.40$                   

PROPOSAL E: COMPLETE SIGNS, STANDARD WARNING DIAMOND, RECTANGULAR OR SQUARE - ONE COLOR HIGH
INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM, ROUNDED OR SQUARE CORNERS

1. 10 9" X 24" 7.14$                          5.77$                          6.95$                          

2. 10 9" X 30' 8.93$                          7.10$                          8.68$                          

3. 10 9" X 36" 10.71$                        8.50$                          10.42$                        

4. 10 9" X 48" 14.28$                        11.33$                        13.89$                        

5. 10 12" X 12" 4.76$                          3.91$                          6.63$                          

6. 100 12" X 18" 7.14$                          5.78$                          6.95$                          

7. 10 12" X 24" 9.52$                          7.54$                          9.26$                          

8. 10 12" X 30" 11.90$                        9.39$                          11.58$                        

9. 150 12" X 36" 14.28$                        10.83$                        13.89$                        

10. 25 12" X 42" 16.66$                        12.64$                        16.21$                        

11. 50 12" X 48" 19.04$                        14.44$                        18.52$                        

12. 25 12" X 54 21.42$                        16.25$                        20.84$                        

13. 25 18" X 18" 10.71$                        8.45$                          10.42$                        

14. 20 18" X 24 14.28$                        10.83$                        13.89$                        

15. 20 18" X 48" 28.56$                        21.66$                        27.78$                        

16. 20 18" X 60" 35.70$                        27.08$                        34.73$                        

17. 10 24" X 24" 19.04$                        14.44$                        18.52$                        

18. 200 24" X 30" 23.80$                        18.05$                        23.15$                        

19. 10 24" X 36" 28.56$                        21.66$                        27.78$                        

20. 10 24" X 48 38.08$                        28.88$                        37.04$                        

21. 200 30" X 30" 29.75$                        22.56$                        28.94$                        
22. 10 36" X 36" 42.84$                        32.49$                        41.67$                        

PROPOSAL E:  EST TOTAL -- 19,266.15$                 14,681.50$                 18,761.45$                 

PROPOSAL F: COMPLETE SIGNS, STANDARD, WARNING SIAMOND, RECTANGULAR OR SQUARE - TWO OR MORE
COLORS HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM

1. 10 12" X 12" Two Color 4.88$                          4.34$                          6.94$                          

2. 50 12" X 18" Two Color 7.32$                          6.21$                          7.41$                          

3. 10 24" x 24" Two Color 19.52$                        14.83$                        19.76$                        
4. 10 30" X 30" Three Color 30.50$                        23.36$                        36.69$                        

PROPOSAL F:  EST TOTAL -- 915.00$                      735.80$                      1,004.40$                   

No parking Symbol         

NO BID



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 15-21

BID TABULATION Pg. 4 of 6

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS & POSTS

VENDOR NAME:

Lightle Enterprises of 

Ohio, LLC

Vulcan, Inc. (DBA 

Vulcan Signs)
Rocal, Inc.

Frankfort, OH Foley, AL Frankfort, OH
ITEM EST QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE

PROPOSAL G: COMPLETE SIGNS, DOUBLE FACED, HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC TWO SIDED ON WHITE ON 
EXTRUDED ALUMINUM

1. 25 9" X 24" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 25.43$                        5.70$                          28.90$                        

2. 25 9" X 30" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 31.78$                        7.10$                          36.12$                        

3. 25 9" X 36" Extruded BLANK (no film) 38.14$                        8.50$                          38.50$                        

4. 25 9" X 42" Extruded BLANK (no film) 44.49$                        9.98$                          44.91$                        
5. 25 9" X 48" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 50.85$                        11.30$                        51.33$                        

PROPOSAL G:  EST TOTAL -- 4,767.25$                   1,064.50$                   4,994.00$                   

PROPOSAL H: SET UP FEES 40.00$                        25.00$                        100.00$                      

PROPOSAL I: ROUND GALVANIZED STEEL POST, 2" NOMINAL SIZE, 2-1/8" ID,2-3/8" OD, .125 WALL THICKNESS, 3 LBS.
PER LINEAL FOOT.

1. 100 12 Ft. Galvanized steel round post 20.16$                        NO BID NO BID

PROPOSAL I:  EST TOTAL -- 2,016.00$                   

PROPOSAL J: U-CHANNEL SIGN POSTS

1. 200 10 FT - 2lbs Galvanized Steel 19.60$                        18.34$                        

2. 200 12 FT - 3lbs Galvanized Steel 33.60$                        32.60$                        
3. 100 15 FT - 3lbs Galvanized Steel 42.00$                        41.57$                        

PROPOSAL J:  EST TOTAL -- 14,840.00$                 14,345.00$                 

PROPOSAL K: SWUARE TUBULAR SIGN POSTS -- PERFORATED-- GALVANIZED STEEL-- FHWA APPROVED

1. 100 14 FT x 1-3/4"-14 Gauge 31.12$                        26.26$                        

2. 300 12 FT x 2" - 12 Gauge 36.48$                        31.42$                        

3. 300 10 FT X 2" - 12 Gauge 30.40$                        26.18$                        

4. 300 9 FT X 2" - 12 Gauge 27.36$                        23.57$                        

5. 100 3 FT X2" Anchor Base - 12 Gauge 9.20$                          8.92$                          
6. 1000 3 FT X 2-1/4" Anchor Base - 12 Gauge 10.63$                        9.94$                          

PROPOSAL K:  EST TOTAL -- 42,934.00$                 37,809.00$                 

ESTIMATED GRAND TOTAL AWARDED ITEMS: 93,078.70$                 74,696.55$                 35,060.35$                 

DELIVERY: Minimum Shipment $2,000.00 $500.00 $500.00 

# of Days 30-45 ARO

Stock items 3-5 days. 

See bid for more 

details. 30-45

CONTACT INFO: Hrs of Operation: 8am-5pm 7am-4pm Central Time 7am-4:30pm

24 Hr Phone Number: 740-703-6740 800-633-6845 800-992-8633

DESCRIPTIVE LITERATURE: Marked Blank Blank A, B

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30 Net 30 Net 30

WARRANTY:

Per reflective sheeting 

manufacturer standard

Standard warranty 

applies

Labor - 1 year 

Materials - 10 years

EXCEPTIONS: Blank

Proposal G - We are 

quoting bare metal (no 

sheeting) extruded 

blanks.

We are bidding Avery 

Dennison series 6500 

HIP for Proposals A, B, 

D, E, and F. We are 

bidding Avery 

Dennison series 9500 

OmniView for 

Proposals C and G. 

Product Bulletins are 

attached.

Y Y Y

Non-Collusion Affadavit Y Y Y

Debarment Certification Y Y Y

Iran-Linked Business Y Y Y

ALL OR NONE AWARD: Y or N N N N

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNED:   Y or N Y Y Y

NO BID

NO BID

FORMS INCLUDED:  Legal Status Bidder



CITY OF TROY    ITB-COT 15-21

BID TABULATION Pg. 5 of 6

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS & POSTS

VENDOR NAME:

Custom Products 

Corporation

Rathco Safety Supply, 

Inc.
MD Solutions

Jackson, MS Portage, MI Plain City, OH
ITEM EST QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE

PROPOSAL A: COMPLETE SIGNS, SINGLE FACE 3M HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM

1. 25 36" YIELD (R1-2) 16.87$                        17.51$                        

2. 30 30" STOP (R1-1) 23.35$                        24.66$                        

3. 10 36" STOP (R1-1) 33.65$                        34.16$                        

4. 10 18" x 6" All Way        (R1-4) 3.30$                          3.40$                          
5. 500 12" x 12" No Parking (R8-3A) 3.80$                          4.49$                          

PROPOSAL A:  EST TOTAL  -- 3,391.75$                   3,798.15$                   

PROPOSAL B: 3M STANDARD PRE-PRINTED TRAFFIC SIGN FACES HIGH INTENSITY

1. 500 12" X 12" 2.35$                          2.45$                          

2. 10 30" Stop Faces 11.63$                        11.25$                        
3. 10 36" Yield Faces 7.50$                          7.85$                          

PROPOSAL B:  EST TOTAL -- 1,366.30$                   1,416.00$                   

PROPOSAL C: COMPLETE SIGNS, SINGLE FACE. 3M DIAMOND GRADE, VIP SHEETING, FLUORESCENT YELLOW GREEN 
ON ALUMINUM

1. 10 30" School Sign FYG 48.53$                        36.50$                        

2. 10 36" School Sign FYG 74.81$                        49.59$                        

3. 10 24" x 12" Directional Arrow FYG (W16-7p) 16.17$                        11.10$                        
4. 10 24" x 24" Directional Arrow FYG (W16-7p) 36.00$                        22.20$                        

PROPOSAL C:  EST TOTAL -- 1,755.10$                   1,193.90$                   

PROPOSAL D: MDO SINGLE FACED, RECTANGLE PLYWOOD SIGN

1. 5 96" X 48" HIP Orange 199.75$                      
2. 5 96" x 48" HIP White 226.85$                      

PROPOSAL D:  EST TOTAL -- 2,133.00$                   

PROPOSAL E: COMPLETE SIGNS, STANDARD WARNING DIAMOND, RECTANGULAR OR SQUARE - ONE COLOR HIGH
INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM, ROUNDED OR SQUARE CORNERS

1. 10 9" X 24" 6.02$                          6.45$                          

2. 10 9" X 30' 7.52$                          8.06$                          

3. 10 9" X 36" 9.02$                          9.64$                          

4. 10 9" X 48" 12.03$                        12.90$                        

5. 10 12" X 12" 4.20$                          4.24$                          

6. 100 12" X 18" 6.03$                          6.53$                          

7. 10 12" X 24" 8.02$                          8.20$                          

8. 10 12" X 30" 10.03$                        9.88$                          

9. 150 12" X 36" 12.03$                        12.30$                        

10. 25 12" X 42" 14.04$                        14.35$                        

11. 50 12" X 48" 16.04$                        16.40$                        

12. 25 12" X 54 18.18$                        18.45$                        

13. 25 18" X 18" 9.03$                          9.23$                          

14. 20 18" X 24 12.03$                        12.30$                        

15. 20 18" X 48" 24.06$                        24.60$                        

16. 20 18" X 60" 29.63$                        30.75$                        

17. 10 24" X 24" 16.04$                        16.40$                        

18. 200 24" X 30" 19.55$                        20.50$                        

19. 10 24" X 36" 23.46$                        24.26$                        

20. 10 24" X 48 31.28$                        32.80$                        

21. 200 30" X 30" 24.44$                        25.63$                        
22. 10 36" X 36" 36.00$                        36.90$                        

PROPOSAL E:  EST TOTAL -- 15,989.35$                 16,645.05$                 

PROPOSAL F: COMPLETE SIGNS, STANDARD, WARNING SIAMOND, RECTANGULAR OR SQUARE - TWO OR MORE
COLORS HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC ON ALUMINUM

1. 10 12" X 12" Two Color 11.50$                        4.54$                          

2. 50 12" X 18" Two Color 12.84$                        6.74$                          

3. 10 24" x 24" Two Color 32.00$                        13.86$                        
4. 10 30" X 30" Three Color 53.00$                        29.74$                        

PROPOSAL F:  EST TOTAL -- 1,607.00$                   818.40$                      

No parking Symbol         

NO BID

NO BID

NO BID

NO BID

NO BID

NO BID

NO BID



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 15-21

BID TABULATION Pg. 6 of 6

TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS & POSTS

VENDOR NAME:

Custom Products 

Corporation

Rathco Safety Supply, 

Inc.
MD Solutions

Jackson, MS Portage, MI Plain City, OH
ITEM EST QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE UNIT PRICE

PROPOSAL G: COMPLETE SIGNS, DOUBLE FACED, HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC TWO SIDED ON WHITE ON 
EXTRUDED ALUMINUM

1. 25 9" X 24" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 11.50$                        

2. 25 9" X 30" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 14.37$                        

3. 25 9" X 36" Extruded BLANK (no film) 17.24$                        

4. 25 9" X 42" Extruded BLANK (no film) 20.11$                        
5. 25 9" X 48" Extruded BLANK (No Film) 22.99$                        

PROPOSAL G:  EST TOTAL -- 2,155.25$                   

PROPOSAL H: SET UP FEES 35.00$                        NO BID NO BID

PROPOSAL I: ROUND GALVANIZED STEEL POST, 2" NOMINAL SIZE, 2-1/8" ID,2-3/8" OD, .125 WALL THICKNESS, 3 LBS.
PER LINEAL FOOT.

1. 100 12 Ft. Galvanized steel round post NO BID NO BID NO BID

PROPOSAL I:  EST TOTAL --

PROPOSAL J: U-CHANNEL SIGN POSTS

1. 200 10 FT - 2lbs Galvanized Steel 17.96$                        15.20$                        16.32$                        

2. 200 12 FT - 3lbs Galvanized Steel 34.15$                        26.28$                        27.40$                        
3. 100 15 FT - 3lbs Galvanized Steel 56.88$                        32.85$                        32.90$                        

PROPOSAL J:  EST TOTAL -- 16,110.00$                 11,581.00$                 12,034.00$                 

PROPOSAL K: SWUARE TUBULAR SIGN POSTS -- PERFORATED-- GALVANIZED STEEL-- FHWA APPROVED

1. 100 14 FT x 1-3/4"-14 Gauge 27.05$                        

2. 300 12 FT x 2" - 12 Gauge 33.60$                        

3. 300 10 FT X 2" - 12 Gauge 28.00$                        

4. 300 9 FT X 2" - 12 Gauge 25.20$                        

5. 100 3 FT X2" Anchor Base - 12 Gauge 9.50$                          
6. 1000 3 FT X 2-1/4" Anchor Base - 12 Gauge 10.28$                        

PROPOSAL K:  EST TOTAL -- 39,975.00$                 

ESTIMATED GRAND TOTAL AWARDED ITEMS: 40,219.50$                 39,740.75$                 52,009.00$                 

DELIVERY: Minimum Shipment

$500 & post must be 

ordered in full bundles 

of (50) $500.00 $2,500.00

# of Days 35; post up to 65 30 30

CONTACT INFO: Hrs of Operation: 7am-5pm 8am-4pm 8:30am-5pm

24 Hr Phone Number:

None / 7am-5pm: 888-

905-5665 n/a Blank

DESCRIPTIVE LITERATURE: Marked #8 Catalog Blank Blank

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30 Net 30 Net 30

WARRANTY: 3m Warranty applies 3M Sheeting Standard

EXCEPTIONS:

1) Post must be 

ordered in full bundles. 

See bid for more. Blank Blank

Y Y Y

Non-Collusion Affadavit Y Y Y

Debarment Certification Y Y Y

Iran-Linked Business Y Y Y

ALL OR NONE AWARD: Y or N N N N

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNED:   Y or N Y Y Y

ATTEST:

Enna Bachelor

Saraa Teets MaryBeth Murz

Susan Riesterer Purchasing Manager

G:\ITB-COT 15-21 Traffic Control Signs & Posts

FORMS INCLUDED:  Legal Status Bidder

NO BID

NO BID NO BID

NO BID



 

 

1 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
July 16, 2015 
 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  MaryBeth Murz, Purchasing Manager 
  Elaine S. Bo, Recreation Director 
 
Subject: Standard Purchasing Resolution 4 Cooperative Contract Award -Purchase of Grounds 

Maintenance Equipment 
 

History 

 The average age of the current grounds maintenance equipment at Sylvan Glen and 
Sanctuary Lake Golf courses is ten years.  

 The City is able to utilize State of Michigan and Billy Casper Golf contracted pricing in order to 
purchase replacement grounds maintenance equipment for the golf courses. 

 In 2013, through the State of Michigan MiDeal Contract and Billy Casper Golf contracted 
pricing the City was able to begin the process of replacing/upgrading grounds maintenance 
equipment for the golf courses with the purchase of six (6) pieces of equipment. (Resolution # 
2013-07-125-J-5) 

 
Purchasing 

 The City has the ability to purchase this equipment cooperatively utilizing the State of Michigan 
MiDeal Contract. 

 Upon analysis of the MiDeal State of Michigan and Billy Casper Golf contracted pricing these 
purchases are recommended for award utilizing the Billy Casper Golf contracted pricing as 
detailed and summarized in the attached tabulation. 

 Seven (7) pieces of equipment in total will be purchased based on the Billy Casper Golf 
contracted pricing. 

 Nine (9) pieces of old equipment will be traded in at the value of $13,850.00 to reduce the total 
purchase price to $190,126.32. 

 Purchasing this equipment utilizing the Billy Casper Golf contracted pricing will save the City 
an additional $9,089.45. 

 
Financial 
Funds are available in the Sylvan Glen Capital General Equipment fund in the 2015/2016 fiscal year. 
 
Recommendation 
City management recommends that the bid process be waived and a contract be awarded to Spartan 
Distributors of Auburn Hills, Michigan utilizing the Billy Casper Contract for the purchase of seven (7) 
pieces of Toro equipment for an estimated total cost of $190,126.32. 
 
G:\ Bid Award New Format 15-16 – Grounds Maintenance Equipment – Billy Casper Golf 

stewartc
Text Box
J-04b



Opening Date: N/A CITY OF TROY Bid Waiver

Date Prepared: 7/14/2015 BID TABULATION

Grounds Maintenance Equipment - Golf Course(s)

QTY DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE EXTENSION UNIT PRICE EXTENSION

3 TORO Greensmaster 3300 TriFlex Hydraulic (#04510)

(9) 11-Blade Cutting Unit (#04614)

(3) Narrow Wiehle Roller (.200" Spacing) (Set of 3) 

(#04626)

(9) Rotating Rear Roller Brush (RH) (Set of 1) (#04724)

(9) Bedknife - Fairway (#63-8600)

(3) Light Kit (#04717)

Price per unit: $ 29,726.0

$29,726.00 $89,178.00 $31,473.60 $94,420.80

1 $21,119.43 $21,119.43 $21,162.39 $21,162.39

1 $47,562.19 $47,562.19 $50,375.75 $50,375.75

1 TORO Groundsmaster 3500-D (25hp Diesel) (#30807) 

(3) Leaf Mulching Kit (1 per deck) (#30836)
$29,051.25 $29,051.25 $29,128.72 $29,128.72

1 TORO Sand Pro 3040 (#08703)              (1) Manual 

Blade (40") (#08714)

(1) Mid-Mount ASM (#08731)

(1) Weeder Tine Toolbar (#08732)

(1) Tooth Rake (#08751)

(1) Spring Rake (#08752)

(1) Light Kit (#110-1314)

(1) Lift Arm Adapter ASM (#108-9427)

$17,065.45 $17,065.45 $17,978.11 $17,978.11

GRAND TOTAL ALL ITEMS 203,976.32$  213,065.77$    

LESS TRADE-INS 13,850.00$   13,850.00$      

TOTAL PURCHASE  PRICE 190,126.32$  199,215.77$    

Savings utilizing Billy Gasper Contracted Pricing: 9,089.45$        

G:/Bid Waver Grounds Eqpt Golf Courses Purchasing Manager

MaryBeth Murz, 

Boldface Type Denotes Lowest Contracted Pricing

CONTRACTED PRICING

BILLY CASPER

CONTRACT #071B0200329

MIDEAL CONTRACT

TORO Workman HDX 2WD (Kubota Gas) (#07384)  

(1) High Flow Hydraulic Kit (#07316)

(1) Hitch Kit, Receiver Tube (#117-4831)

(1) Hand Throttle Kit (#07388)

TORO Reelmaster 5410 (36.8 Tier 4 Diesel) (#03606) 

w/Factory Installed ROPS

(5) 8-Blade Cutting Unit (#03694)

(5) Powered Roller Brush (#03668



 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM

 
Date:  July 16, 2015 
 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
    
Subject: Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements  
 Hunters Park 2 Site Condominiums - Project No. 15.904.3 
 
 
History 
 
Mondrian Properties Hunters Park 2, LLC proposes to develop Hunters Park 2 Site Condominiums 
located on the east side of John R Road between Square Lake and Long Lake Roads.   
 
Troy Planning Commission recommended preliminary site plan approval on March 24th, 2015. 
 
Site grading and utility plans for this development were reviewed and recently approved by the 
Engineering Department.  The plans include municipal improvements which will be constructed by 
Mondrian Properties Hunters Park 2, LLC on behalf of the City of Troy: including Water Main, 
Sanitary & Storm Sewer, Concrete Pavement and Sidewalk.  The required fees and refundable 
escrow deposits in the form of a Performance Bond and 10% Cash that will assure completion of the 
municipal improvements, have been provided by Mondrian Properties Hunters Park 2, LLC (see 
attached Private Agreement). 
 
Located south of Hunters Park 2 on Tucker Street is a barrier that was put in place in 1987 by 
Resolution #87-1086 (attached).  Although technically not related to the private agreement for 
Hunters Park 2, staff is providing information concerning the process by which this barrier is under 
review.    On July 15, 2015 the Traffic Committee received public comment on the question of 
removing the barrier.  On August 11, the Planning Commission is scheduled to hold a public hearing 
concerning this issue.  The recommendations of both committees will be submitted to City Council at 
the meeting of August 24, 2015.   
 
Financial 
 
See attached summary of required deposits and fees for this Private Agreement. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Approval of the Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements (Private Agreement) is 
recommended. 
 
 
G:\Projects\Projects - 2015\15.904.3 - Hunters Park 2 Condos\Private Agreement Agenda ItemR1.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-05















"
:

APPROVED 3/24/15

nm

CLI
FFSID

E

B
LA

IR

LONG LAKE

ROSEBROOK

R
E

N
S

H
A

W

SWEET

WILMET

HOPEDALE

ABBOTSFORD

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
C

R
EST

CO
RAL

A
S

T
E

R

STONEY COVE

PALMETTO

FEDORA

NILO

S
A

FF
R

O
N

H
A

R
B

O
R

SHIRLEY

H
O

L
M

DRAKE

M
A

N
D

A
L

E

PIL
OT

LA
TA

HIGHBURY

ADRIENNE

KNIGHT

DUKE

ERICKSON

C
LO

IS
T

E
R

WILLARD

V
IK

IN
G

JU
LI

A
N

MICHELE

CUSTERSHENANDOAH

M

A
R

B
LE

LAUREL

G
R

E
E

N
D

A
L

E

QUARTZ

RADCLIFFE

BRIDLE PATH

OAK FOREST

TUCKER

JO
H

N
 R

MAYFLOWER

IV
A

N
HO

E

ENGLISH

D
A

Y
T

O
N

S
TA

N
D

IS
H

JEFFREY

LARKINS

S
P

R
IN

G
M

E
A

D
O

W
S

C
R

O
W

F O
O

T

D
E

N
IS

E

PATTERSON

SANTIA

BINGHAM

LONG LAKE
MEADOWS

2237

WASS
ELEMENTARY

SCHOOLHUNTERS PARK 2

I
APPROVED 9/14/87

_̂

Gravel Road

"

: Road Barrier



 



 

 

1 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 13, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  M. Aileen Dickson, City Clerk 
    
Subject: Relocation of Election Precincts 19 and 28 
 
 

History 
In a letter dated April 14, 2015, Ms. MaryAnn Farrell of Christ, Our Light! Catholic Church informed 
the City of Troy that the May 5, 2015 Special Election would be their last election as a polling location. 
During a phone conversation, Ms. Farrell explained that since two parishes were consolidated into 
one at their location, the schedule for usage of the buildings has doubled, causing numerous conflicts 
with the annual election schedule. Previously, Christ Our Light! housed precincts 19 and 28.   
 
Fortunately, Pastor Paul Walters of Lutheran Church of the Master, located on Coolidge about one 
mile north of Christ, Our Light!, has offered their facility as a polling location.  
 
On July 2, 2015, I met with Pastor Walters for a tour of the Activities Center at Lutheran Church of the 
Master. It’s my opinion that their facility is ideal for the relocation of the two precincts for a number of 
reasons. There is ample parking for voters on election days. Pastor Walters explained that on election 
days, there would be no other activities scheduled so the parking lot and activities center would be 
completely dedicated to Troy voters. Also, the interior of the facility is large enough to accommodate 
the equipment, workers and voters of both precincts even during an election with a large turnout such 
as a Presidential Election. 
 
Lutheran Church of the Master is also ideal for precincts 19 and 28 due to its convenient location on 
the eastern border of precinct 19, just north of the northern border of precinct 28. Attached to this 
memo is a map detailing the previous and proposed new polling locations for precincts 19 and 28. 
The voters in these two precincts will not experience any significant traveling burden to the proposed 
new location. 
 
If City Council should approve this relocation of precincts 19 and 28, the City Clerk’s Office will issue 
new voter identification cards to the affected voters once the State of Michigan Bureau of Elections 
processes our change in polling location request. The City Clerk’s Office will also issue press 
releases informing voters of the change in location prior to the November 2015 General Election. 
 
Financial 
 
The cost of printing and mailing new voter identification cards to 3,355 voters will be paid from the 
Elections budget. 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-06



 

 

2 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends approval of the relocation of precincts 19 and 28 from Christ Our 
Light! Catholic Church, 3077 Glouchester, to Lutheran Church of the Master, 3333 Coolidge Highway. 
 
 
 
 
mad/G:\City Council\ Agenda\Clerk Council Agenda Items\Elections\Precincts - 20150720 Agenda - Relocation of Election Precincts 19 and 28.doc 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Christ Our Light

Lutheran 
Church 
of the 
Master

!(28

!(19

Existing Polling Location
(Precincts 19 & 28)

New Polling Location
(Precincts 19 & 28)

Polling Location Change
Precinct 19 and 28

New Location:
Lutheran Church of the Master
3333 Coolidge Highway

Big Beaver

Co
oli

dg
e H

wy
.



 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM

Date:  July 9, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: Request to Accept an Offer to Purchase a City Owned Remnant Parcel on 

Livernois Road at Cutting, Section 10, Sidwell #88-20-10-101-018 
 
History 
 
The City of Troy owns a remnant parcel of land located on the east side of Livernois Road, 
south of Square Lake Road at Cutting Boulevard. The site was once home to Old Fire 
Station #2. 
 
The vacant parcel is approximately 14,670 square feet in size (0.34 acres) with 88.79 feet 
along Livernois Road and 162.26 feet on Cutting Boulevard. The property is zoned O-Office 
Use. 
 
At its April 7, 2014 meeting, City Council determined that the best use of this property would 
be to combine it with an adjacent parcel. City Council approved the sale of this parcel 
without obtaining a sealed bid (Resolution #2014-04-040) in accordance with Resolution 
#2007-01-028 Policy Governing Disposal (Sales) of Excess City Owned Remnant Property.  
 
To meet one of the requirements for disposal/sale of excess City property, the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Committee reviewed this parcel for any park potential, determined there 
was no use as a park, but asked if Fire Station #2 might want to mark this site with a 
memorial. Fire staff declined this suggestion. 
 
The property was previously offered for public bid in 2004 with no bids received. 
Subsequent inquiries to staff from potential buyers yielded no offers because of the limited 
potential for development if not combined with an abutting property. 
 
The City owned parcel abuts two parcels. Engineering staff contacted both abutting property 
owners informing them that the property was available for purchase.  
 
Financial 
 
R.S. Thomas and Associates, an appraisal firm contracted by the City, determined a market 
value of $59,000.00. Staff notified the adjacent property owners of the value determination. 
The property owner to the east originally indicated an interest in submitting a purchase offer, 
but subsequent conversations and additional correspondence have not resulted in an offer 
to purchase from this owner. 
 
The owner to the south, Mr. Walter E. Boyd, has made an offer to purchase the City owned 
parcel for $30,000, an amount below the value determined by an appraiser.   
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-07



G:\MEMOS TO MAYOR AND CC\Cutting Purchase Agreement Section 10.doc 

 

Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council accept the attached Offer to Purchase City 
owned property from Mr. Walter E. Boyd for the amount of $30,000, because of the 
increased development potential if combined with an adjacent property. 
 
 



parsonsjm
Text Box



N

CITY  OF  TROY

Land Surveyor

George J. Ballard III, P.S.

Document Prepared By

SCALE DRAWN BY

STEVEN J. VANDETTE, P.E.

CITY ENGINEER

SHEET NO. JOB NO.

OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

DATE REV.

CONTRACT NO.

NAME GJBIII

DATE XX-XX-XX

VER. 1"=X'

N/A 1OF2 N/A

FILE: 88-20-10-101-018_Parcel B.DGN

88-20-10-101-018
Remnant Parcel B

Exhibit of Old Fire Station #2

HOR. 1"=40' NAME

DATE 07-30-14

CHECKED BY

Graphic Scale: 1"=40'

0 40' 80'20'

L
iv

e
r
n
o
is
 

R
d
.

Lot 1

Lot 2
8
8
-
2
0
-
10
-
10

1-
0
18

N
0
1
°

0
0
'0

0
"
E

9
2
.0

0

40.70

33.00

40.70

(L.17, P.28)

"Troy Subdivision"

S
e
c
t
io

n
 

L
in

e

N
0
1
°

0
0
'0

0
"
E

8
8
.7

9

40.70

162.29

S87°52'00"E

(48.5' Wide)

Cutting Blvd.

S88°59'45"E 162.26

5.75' Sidewalk Easement



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Final  January 22, 2007 

 

- 1 - 

Vote on Resolution to Amend Disposal/Sale of Excess Property as Amended 

 
Resolution #2007-01-028 
Moved by Stine   
Seconded by  Lambert  
 
WHEREAS, The City Council of the City of Troy endeavors to attain the highest and best land use, 
effective growth control measures and to enhance the health, safety and welfare of the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 12 of the Troy City Charter requires that…”in all sales or purchases in excess of 
$10,000, (a) the sales or purchases shall be approved by the City Council, (b) sealed bids shall be 
obtained, except where the City Council shall determine that an emergency exists or that the public 
interest will be best served without obtaining sealed bids…”; 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the City Council of the City of Troy MAY DETERMINE that the 
public interest will best be served without obtaining sealed bids for the sale of remnant parcels which 
remain after required right-of-way or excess property is taken when a purchase agreement is offered to 
the City of Troy by a prospective buyer which: 
 

1. Has submitted evidence of ownership or control of an assembly of adjoining land of sufficient 
size so as to achieve what is believed to be the best possible development as determined by the 
City Council after review and recommendation from the City Manager. 

 
2. Has submitted a conceptual site plan, which has been drawn to sufficient detail to indicate any 

and all features such as setbacks, parking and access, storm water detention and building 
height, which are governed by codes of the City of Troy. 
 

3. Is accompanied by a petition for rezoning, if necessary, in compliance with the Master Land Use 
Plan of the City of Troy as being the most appropriate land use. 

 
4. Commits the prospective buyer to a purchase price of at least a value established by an 

appraiser named by the Real Estate and Development Department of the City of Troy.  
 

5. During the site plan review, site plan is accompanied by architectural renderings of all buildings 
along with a description of building materials to permit evaluation by building quality.  

 
6. Is accompanied by a draft of proposed deed restrictions prepared by the City of Troy which will 

be imposed upon the purchaser of the City-owned property. 
 

7. Nothing in this resolution relieves the Purchaser/Developer of their obligation to adhere to any 
and all City Ordinances and development standards. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That staff will PROVIDE an analysis of the zoning and PRESENT the 
remnant parcel(s) to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee to review for possible use as parks 
prior to Council action on the offer to purchase; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That if it is most probable that a rezoning will be requested, that an 
appraisal based on that subsequent rezoning also be submitted; and 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That the City Council RETAINS discretionary authority to determine the 
applicability of this policy. 

 
Yes: All-7 











 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 9, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Troy Market Homes, LLC, 

Sidwell #88-20-27-180-030 
 
 
 
History 
 
As part of the redevelopment of a property located in the northwest ¼ of Section 27, on Starr at 
Kirkton Street, the Engineering department has received two permanent easements for sidewalks 
and storm sewers & surface drainage from Troy Market Homes, LLC, owner of the property having 
Sidwell #88-20-27-180-030. 
 
The format and content of these easements is consistent with easements previously accepted by City 
Council.  
 
 
Financial 
 
The consideration amount on each document is $1.00 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council accept the attached permanent easements 
consistent with our policy of accepting easements for development and improvement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-08



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

224

1:

Feet2240 112











 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 9, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings, Inc., 

Sidwell #88-20-27-180-028 
 
 
 
History 
 
As part of the redevelopment of a property located in the northwest ¼ of Section 27, on Starr at 
Kirkton streets, the Engineering department has received a permanent easement for sidewalks from 
Michigan United Holdings, Inc., owner of the property having Sidwell #88-20-27-180-028. 
 
The format and content of this easement is consistent with easements previously accepted by City 
Council.  
 
 
Financial 
 
The consideration amount on this document is $1.00 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council accept the attached permanent easement 
consistent with our policy of accepting easements for development and improvement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\MEMOS TO MAYOR AND CC\Michigan United Holdings 27-180-028.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-09



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

182

1:

Feet1820 91







 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 9, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings, Inc., 

Sidwell #88-20-27-180-031 
 
 
 
History 
 
As part of the redevelopment of a property located in the northwest ¼ of Section 27, on Kirkton 
Street between Starr and Hickory, the Engineering department has received a permanent easement 
for sidewalks from Michigan United Holdings, Inc., owner of the property having Sidwell #88-20-27-
180-031. 
 
The format and content of this easement is consistent with easements previously accepted by City 
Council.  
 
 
Financial 
 
The consideration amount on this document is $1.00 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council accept the attached permanent easement 
consistent with our policy of accepting easements for development and improvement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-10



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

182

1:

Feet1820 91







 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 9, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Srinivas Locula and 

Haripriya Locula, Sidwell #88-20-27-180-029 
 
 
History 
 
As part of the redevelopment of a property located in the northwest ¼ of Section 27, on Starr east of 
Kirkton Street, the Engineering department has received two permanent easements for sidewalks 
and storm sewers & surface drainage from Srinivas Locula and Haripriya Locula, owners of the 
property having Sidwell #88-20-27-180-029. 
 
The format and content of these easements is consistent with easements previously accepted by City 
Council.  
 
 
Financial 
 
The consideration amount on each document is $1.00 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council accept the attached permanent easements 
consistent with our policy of accepting easements for development and improvement purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\MEMOS TO MAYOR AND CC\Locula 7-9-15.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-11



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

182

1:

Feet1820 91











 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 14, 2015 
 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
    
Subject: Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements  
 Multi-Tenant Development - Project No. 15.906.3 
 
 
History 
 
Alrig USA proposes to develop Multi-Tenant Development located on the northeast corner of Big 
Beaver and Talbot.   
 
Troy Planning Commission recommended preliminary site plan approval on January 13, 2015.  
 
Site grading and utility plans for this development were reviewed and recently approved by the 
Engineering Department.  The plans include municipal improvements which will be constructed by 
Alrig USA on behalf of the City of Troy: including sanitary sewer, storm sewer, sidewalks, paving, soil 
erosion and landscaping.  The required fees and refundable escrow deposits in the form of a Check, 
that will assure completion of the municipal improvements, have been provided by Alrig USA (see 
attached Private Agreement).  
 
Financial 
 
See attached summary of required deposits and fees for this Private Agreement. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Approval of the Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements (Private Agreement) is 
recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\Projects\Projects - 2015\15.906.3 - Multi-Tenant Development\Private Agreement Agenda Item Document_NEW_2-24-14.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-12











JJ INVESTMENTSWIRELESS

BURGERS
T-TOWNSUB SHOP

ONE STOP

MASSAGE + SPA

JJ INVESTMENTS WIRELESS

BURGERS
T-TOWN SUB SHOP

ONE STOP

MASSAGE + SPA

335 W. Big Beaver Road
Troy, MI

South Elevation

Troy Retail Center

Scale 1/8" = 1'-0"
December 1, 2014

RETAIL DEVELOPMENT
355 BIG BEAVER ROAD

TROY, MICHIGAN
DECEMBER 4, 2014

Overall North and South Elevations
Scale 1/8” = 1’-0”





 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  July 14, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: Request to Vacate a Portion of an Existing Public Utility Easement,  

Sidwell #88-20-21-326-014 
 
 
 
History 
 
As part of the development of a Hilton Garden Hotel facility, located in the southwest ¼ of Section 21 on 
Wilshire Boulevard, it is necessary to vacate a portion of an existing public utility easement previously 
granted to the City and recorded with Oakland County Register of Deeds in Liber 43410, Page 099, 
located on a property now having Sidwell #88-20-21-326-014. 

 
The easement rights for the vacated utilities will be granted back to the property owner, Galleria of Troy, 
LLC, by means of a Quit Claim Deed. 
 
The format and content of this Quit Claim deed is consistent with conveyance documents previously 
granted by City Council. 
 
Financial 
 
The consideration amount on this document is $1.00 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends that City Council vacate that portion of the public utility easement 
previously granted to the City. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\MEMOS TO MAYOR AND CC\Hilton-Wilshire easement vacation.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
J-13



Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax
maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this

data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

500

1:

Feet5000 250





















 

 
 

1 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

______________________________________________________________________         
 
Date:             July 17, 2015 
 
To:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Glenn Lapin, Economic Development Specialist 
 
Subject: Resolution calling Public Hearings Regarding Approval of District Boundary 

Amendments and Approval of the Amended, Restated and Extended 

Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan of the Cities of 

Southfield and Troy Joint Local Development Finance Authority 

 
Background 
 
In 2003 the Cities of Troy and Southfield created a Joint Local Development Finance 
Authority (JLDFA) and Certified Technology Park (CTP), which is also designated as the 
Automation Alley SmartZone. The reason for creating a Joint LDFA is that the State of 
Michigan, through the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC), authorized 
a limited number of SmartZones throughout the state.  The collaborative effort was the 
only way to create a SmartZone in Troy.  This Joint LDFA does not capture tax (TIF) or 
have a budget.   
 
Over the past eighteen months the City of Troy, City of Southfield and Automation Alley 
collaborated to solve the long term funding issues for Automation Alley.  By hosting a 
Satellite SmartZone in the City of Port Huron, Southfield and Troy qualified for a 15-year 
extension of the LDFA’s, Certified Technology Park (CTP) and Automation Alley 
SmartZone. In September of 2014 all three LDFA’s and the two City Councils approved 
an MEDC application for the 15-year extension.  The MEDC subsequently approved the 
extension.  Therefore the Cities of Southfield and Troy are required to approve Cities of 
Southfield and Troy, Joint Local Development Finance Authority, Certified Technology 
Park, Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing 
Plan.  The City of Port Huron is a separate entity with a completely independent approval 
process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-14



 

 
 

2 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

The Cities of Southfield and Troy, Joint Local Development Finance Authority, Certified 
Technology Park, Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax 
Increment Financing Plan 
 

1. City of Troy 

 15-year extension of LDFA, CTP and Automation Alley SmartZone 

 Updates tax capture estimates 

 60% of the tax capture is devoted for operation, furnishing and equipping 
the Automation Alley business incubator/accelerator 

 40% of tax capture is devoted to marketing (Automation Alley Foundation 
Membership), public infrastructure improvements, building and site 
improvements for Automation Alley and City of Troy administrative costs 

 Increased collaboration with Automation Alley, City of Southfield, City of 
Port Huron and St. Clair Innovation and Technology SmartZone 
(SCCiTech) 

 
2. City of Southfield 

 15-year extension of LDFA, CTP and Automation Alley SmartZone 

 Updates tax capture estimates 

 $50,000 a year in support to Automation Alley 

 Extend boundaries of LDFA, CTP and Automation Alley SmartZone 

 Lawrence Technological University establishes a business incubator and 
accelerator 

 Significant public infrastructure improvements 

 Improved marketing 
 

3. City of Port Huron 

 Although not part of the Southfield/Troy Plan the process, the St. Clair 
Innovation and Technology SmartZone within Port Huron provides financial 
support to Automation Alley 

 
Recommendation 
 
City Administration recommends that City Council adopt the resolution calling for two 
public hearings on August 24, 2015, 7:30 P.M. ET. 
 
Attachments:  JLDFA Resolution 
   JLDFA/Troy Subcommittee 
   JLDFA Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 
 
 
 



 

 
 

3 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

City Attorney’s Review as to Form and Legality 

 

____________________________  ______________ 

Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney   Date 















1 
 

 

 

 

CITIES OF SOUTHFIELD AND TROY 

JOINT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK 

AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN 

 

Joint Local Development Finance Authority Board 

 City of Southfield 

  Fred Zorn, City Administrator 

  James Pierce, Assistant Finance Director 

  Michael Racklyeft, City Assessor 

   

 City of Troy 

  Robin Beltramini, Chair 

  Paul Hoef 

  Michael Kidder 

  John Sharp 

  David Shields 

  Nickolas Vitale 

  Dane Slater, Mayor (Alternate) 

  Ellen Hodorek, City Council (Alternate)  

  Irene Spanos, Oakland County  

 

Current Plan Adopted: May 2003 

Amended, Restated and Extended Plan Adopted: _____________ 

 

 

 

 



2 
 

 

CITIES OF SOUTHFIELD AND TROY 

JOINT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FINANCE AUTHORITY 

CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK 

AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

SECTION PAGE 

Introduction and Plan Summary 3 

  

City of Southfield  9 

  

Section 1: Development Plan 10 

  

Section 2: Tax Increment Financing Plan 19 

  

Exhibits A-D 27 

  

City of Troy  33 

  

Section 1: Development Plan 34 

  

Section 2: Tax Increment Financing Plan 43 

  

Exhibits A-D 51 

 

 

 

 



3 
 

INTRODUCTION AND PLAN SUMMARY 

The purpose of Act No. 281, Public Acts of Michigan, 1986 , as amended  (Act 281 or the LDFA Act), is 

to encourage local development, to prevent conditions of unemployment and to promote economic growth. 

Act 281 provides that if the board of a local development finance authority determines that it is necessary 

for the achievement of the purposes of Act 281, the authority is required to prepare and submit a tax 

increment financing plan in accordance with the requirements of Act 281.  Act 281 further provides that a 

tax increment financing plan shall include a development plan. 

Background 

The LDFA Act provides for the creation of Certified Technology Parks (CTP) (sometimes referred to herein 

as “SmartZones”). SmartZones are designed to create clusters of technological businesses and research 

institutions throughout the state. The SmartZones program is designed to encourage partnerships between 

municipalities, universities and businesses by creating an environment of cooperation and competition.  

In November 2002, Automation Alley granted a license to the City of Southfield to use the service mark 

“Automation Alley” in connection with its proposed Certified Technology Park. On December 16, 2002, 

the City of Southfield contracted with the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) to 

receive the designation of Automation Alley SmartZone for its Certified Technology Park (CTP). 

Automation Alley and the MEDC encouraged expansion of the Automation Alley SmartZone to other 

jurisdictions.  

The LDFA Act also provides that two or more municipalities may join with one or more other municipalities 

located within the same county to establish a joint authority. Pursuant to the provisions of the LDFA Act, 

in April 2003 the City of Southfield, and in May 2003 the City of Troy, passed resolutions approving the 

creation of the Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint Local Development Finance Authority1 (JLDFA) and the 

extension of the JLDFA district boundaries into a portion of the City of Troy. The original boundaries of 

the JLDFA in Southfield and Troy are also coterminous of Certified Technology Park designation. 

Since being designated as a SmartZone by the Michigan Economic Development Corporation, the 

Automation Alley Certified Technology Park and SmartZone has been marketed both nationally and 

internationally by the City of Troy, City of Southfield, Oakland County and the State of Michigan as one 

of Michigan’s prime real estate locations. The current Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

(hereinafter referred to as the Current Plan) adopted by the JLDFA in May 2003 was intended to define and 

promote the partnership between the City of Southfield, the City of Troy, Oakland County, the State of 

Michigan, Lawrence Technological University (LTU), Oakland University, Automation Alley and 

numerous major and smaller high-tech businesses within the designated SmartZone areas within Southfield 

and Troy. This Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

(herein referred to as the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan) amends  and restates the Current Plan and 

addresses the extension of the JLDFA Certified Technology Park designations for an additional fifteen (15) 

year period beginning January 1, 2019 and ending December 31, 2033.  

                                                           
1 Also known as the Automation Alley Joint Local Development Finance Authority 



4 
 

Under the Current Plan, the Southfield CTP is located in Sections 17 and 18 of the City of Southfield. The 

Amended, Restated and Extended Plan expands the Southfield CTP into Section 22 to include the campus 

of Lawrence Technological University and one additional property directly west of the campus on Civic 

Center Drive. The Amended, Restated, and Extended Plan also expands the boundaries of the Southfield 

CTP to include an additional approximately 234 acres of land in Southfield that was not part of the Current 

Plan.  This 234 acres has already received designation as a Certified Technology Park by agreement with 

the MEDC.  A legal description and map of the original boundaries of the Southfield CTP as provided in 

the Current Plan, and a legal description and map of the amended and expanded boundaries of the Southfield 

CTP as provided in the Amended, Restated, and Extended Plan are provided as Exhibits A and B. Southfield 

has become the home for nearly 400 high-tech companies including 90 software development companies, 

more than 30 telecommunication companies, three television stations and two satellite companies. 

Southfield also houses several “telco hotels” and numerous companies involved in research and 

development. These companies which are involved in many phases of high-tech activity prefer to locate in 

clusters due to proximity to high-speed fiber optics, broadband and satellite facilities; financial resources 

and other complementary businesses for efficient and quick interaction. The Southfield Development Plan 

and Tax Increment Financing Plan, included as part of the Current Plan, was originally intended to provide 

for the development of an approximately 27-acre site in northwestern Southfield as Southfield’s portion of 

one of Michigan’s Certified Technology Parks. The Certified Technology Park designation was later 

expanded by agreement with MEDC to encompass a total of approximately 261 acres in the City of 

Southfield, although the boundaries of the JLDFA district were not expanded at that time to include the 

additional 234 acres.   

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the boundaries of the Southfield CTP are expanded to include 

the campus of Lawrence Technological University (LTU). Including LTU in the CTP further strengthens 

the relationship between the City and LTU for economic development and specifically permits support of 

the LTU business incubator/accelerator.  In addition, in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the 

boundaries of the Southfield CTP are expanded to include an additional approximately 234 acres of land in 

the City of Southfield previously designated as a Certified Technology Park by agreement with MEDC. 

The City of Troy CTP is located in Section 26 of the City of Troy. A legal description of the City of Troy 

CTP and a map are provided as Exhibits A and B. Troy has become the home for nearly 500 high tech 

companies as defined by the Bureau of Labor Statistics2 involved in research and development in all aspects 

of business and industry. These companies which are involved in many phases of high tech activity prefer 

to locate in clusters due to proximity to high speed fiber optics, broadband and satellite facilities: financial 

resources and complementary businesses for efficient and quick interaction. The Troy CTP was intended 

to provide for the development of an approximately 75 acre site in southeastern Troy, as the Automation 

Alley SmartZone. 

THE CURRENT PLAN ADOPTED IN MAY 2003 INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT 

WHICH SHALL REMAIN IN EFFECT FOR THE AMENDED, RESTATED, AND EXTENDED PLAN. 

IT IS HEREBY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY BOTH THE CITY OF SOUTHFIELD AND THE 

                                                           
2 These include manufacturers of chemical, plastics, drugs, paints, petroleum products, special industrial machinery, 
computers, electronics, communications equipment, motor vehicles, aircraft, navigation equipment, instruments, 
measuring & controlling devices and photographic equipment. Also included are service firms specializing in 
computers & data processing, engineering, research, testing, management and public relations. 



5 
 

CITY OF TROY THAT ALL REVENUES GENERATED IN EACH COMMUNITY WILL ONLY BE 

USED FOR EXPENSES OF THAT PARTICULAR COMMUNITY AND WILL NOT BE 

TRANSFERRED OR USED BY THE JOINT LDFA OR OTHERWISE TO PAY EXPENSES OF THE 

OTHER COMMUNITY WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE JOINT ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES TO 

OPERATE THE JOINT BOARD, INCLUDING AUDITING AND OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES AS APPROVED BY THE JOINT LDFA BOARD. 

The City of Southfield Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

The purpose of the Southfield CTP Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan adopted by the 

JLDFA in May 2003 was to provide for the construction and financing of public facilities within the City 

of Southfield necessary for the project. Specifically, it included the I-696 Interchange improvements, the 

repaving of portions of Franklin Road, Center Drive and American drive, improvements to Eleven Mile 

Road and improved landscaping/lighting/infrastructure as needed. The implementation of specific projects 

is more fully described in the Development Plan. 

The Southfield CTP Amended, Restated and Extended Plan will provide for the completion of infrastructure 

improvements to serve the CTP, provide greater support to enhance the marketability and image of the CTP 

(SmartZone), assist in the attraction of additional services within the CTP, and promote placemaking 

activities within the CTP.  

The Plan will provide support to Automation Alley in order to create additional jobs and technology-based 

businesses within the CTP, as well as support broader efforts at regional collaboration. Finally, the Plan 

will provide support to the collaboration effort between the City of Southfield and Lawrence Technological 

University to establish a business incubator and accelerator on property owned by LTU and contiguous to 

the campus of LTU. 

The City of Troy Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

The purpose of the Troy CTP Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan adopted by the JLDFA 

in May 2003 was to provide for the construction and financing of public facilities within the City of Troy 

necessary for the project. Specifically it included the local share of costs for the widening of Big Beaver 

Road from John R to Dequindre, and the improvement of the McCulloch Drain from the south side of Big 

Beaver Road for approximately ¾ mile to Bellingham Road. In addition, an on-ramp from southbound 

Rochester Road to northbound I-75 was intended as a long-term project associated with the Certified 

Technology Park and Smart Zone. The implementation of specific projects is more fully described in the 

Development Plan. 

The Troy CTP Amended, Restated and Extended Plan will provide for the improvements to the McCulloch 

Drain within the Troy CTP, reconstruction/resurfacing of Bellingham Drive which provides service to the 

Troy CTP, improvement of access to the Troy CTP from John R. Road, reconstruction/resurfacing of Big 

Beaver Road in proximity and providing access to the Troy CTP, and improvement of pedestrian crossings 

of Big Beaver in proximity to and serving the Troy CTP, as well as improvements to the Automation Alley 

building and site. 

The Plan will provide support to Automation Alley in order to create additional jobs and technology-based 

businesses within the Troy CTP, as well as support broader efforts at regional collaborations. 



6 
 

The Finance Plans will provide for the capture of tax revenues from all property within the Certified 

Technology Park including the capture of City, County, Community College, and SMART taxes and ½ of 

the operating levies of State, K-12 school districts and Intermediate School Districts. 

The construction of the public facilities described herein will facilitate the construction of the project and 

thereby create economic growth and development in the Authority District and other areas of the Cities and 

Oakland County. 

The Development Plans contain the information required by Section 15(2) of Act 281 and the Tax Increment 

Financing Plans contain the information required by Section 12(2) of Act 281. 

Amendment and Extension of the CTP Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

In September of 2014, the Cities of Southfield and Troy sought and received approval from the Michigan 

Economic Development Corporation for a 15-year TIF Extension. The following summarizes how the Joint 

LDFA intends to meet the required legislative criteria including: 

1. The Cities of Southfield and Troy, their respective LDFA’s, and the Joint Southfield/Troy LDFA 

have agreed to host the St. Clair Innovation and Technology SmartZone (SCCiTech) as a satellite 

SmartZone. The Host has entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with the Satellite. 

2. Satellite SCCiTech has agreed to include Local TIF in response to receiving state school TIF 

capture. 

3. Satellite SCCiTech has a budget in excess of $200,000 a year for operations. 

4. The respective parties of the JLDFA agree to additional reporting requirements including: 

 Providing monthly reporting during the term of the TIF capture on the following 

information for companies served by the SmartZone: companies created, jobs created, and 

investment in companies by source (federal grants, state grants, venture capital, angel 

funding, and increase in revenue). 

 Providing annual reports during the term of the TIF capture reporting on the progress of 

regional collaboration. 

5. Host JLDFA agrees to modify its TIF plan to include regional collaboration as part of the agreement 

with the satellite. 

6. The Host has previously provided a summary of TIF performance against current plan as part of 

the extension request to MEDC. 

Satellite LDFA 

The Host Cities of Southfield and Troy, their respective LDFA’s, and the Joint Southfield-Troy LDFA have 

designated the St. Clair Innovation and Technology SmartZone (SCCiTech) as a Satellite SmartZone. The 

boundaries of the proposed SCCiTech SmartZone are set forth in the Satellite SmartZone Plan.  

In the course of considering the designation of the SCCiTech as a Satellite, the Host made the following 

conclusions: 

A) The Satellite has the following unique characteristics and specialties:  

 



7 
 

1) SCCiTech is located within a region which is the gateway for international trade, 

particularly Canada. It provides vital linkages to the automotive and chemical supply 

chains in Michigan, Ontario and the Midwest. 

 

2) SCCiTech is in a unique position in Michigan to capitalize upon commercialization and 

development of technologies that improve border security and improve efficiencies in the 

transport of goods. 

 

3) SCCiTech will focus on promoting enhanced mobility through autonomous and connected 

vehicles software and technologies and lightweight material research.  

 

4) SCCiTech is a key sponsor and supporter of Tech Port, a co-working and business 

accelerator program which is a critical catalyst to diversify the economy and drive 

innovation. 

 

5) SCCiTech has also formed key partnerships with Spartan Innovations, Center of 

Automotive Research, MSU Eli Broad School of Business, Automation Alley and other 

organizations. 

 

B) Both regional collaboration and cooperation would benefit the Host and Satellite in the 

following manner: 

 

1) There will be a benefit from regional collaboration and cooperation to help the growth of 

technology based businesses and jobs. The Host and Satellite recognize the benefit of 

collaborative arrangements with other community partners. Expanded collaboration could 

be a benefit through attraction and retention of a trained workforce, nurturing existing 

second stage companies and formation of new technology based businesses. 

 

2) The Host and Satellite agree to financially support the activities of Automation Alley. The 

Hosts and Satellite each agree to provide financial support to Automation Alley. In return, 

enhanced services and regional collaboration will be provided by Automation Alley to the 

Host and Satellite. 

 

C) The Satellite will add to the mission of the Host in the following manner: 

 

1) The unique position of SCCiTech to capitalize on all aspects of international trade meshes 

seamlessly with the mission of Automation Alley and the Automation Alley Smart Zone, 

particularly the International Trade Center. 

 

2) Commercialization and technologies that support border security and improve efficiencies 

in the transport of goods offer significant opportunities for innovation from the private 

sector as well as our educational partners.  

Regional Collaboration 



8 
 

The Cities of Southfield and Troy, in collaboration with public- and private-sector partners, are focused on 

helping businesses grow. Both Cities recognize the benefit of collaborative arrangements with other 

community partners. Expanded collaboration will be a benefit through attraction and retention of a trained 

workforce, nurturing existing second stage companies and formation of new technology based businesses.  

The City of Troy has formed a strong alliance with key stakeholders including Automation Alley, Walsh 

College, Troy Chamber of Commerce, Oakland County’s Economic Development Office and the Michigan 

Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) to provide targeted business assistance, through an economic 

gardening approach. Troy’s economic development staff assists local companies by identifying specific 

business needs and providing the information, infrastructure and connectivity necessary to address those 

needs. By leveraging Troy’s unique community assets, partnerships and available tools to promote business 

growth, the City is creating an environment for investment. 

The City of Southfield established a strong track record of intergovernmental collaboration with more than 

150 partnerships. Centrally located within the region, the City coordinates economic development activities 

with MEDC, Oakland County, the Detroit Regional and Southfield Area Chambers and other state and 

regional organizations. Southfield also has an active partnership with Lawrence Technological University 

(LTU). LTU is launching the LTU Detroit Design and Technology Center in Midtown Detroit. 

Troy’s partnership with and support for Automation Alley has resulted in one of the most successful 

regional collaboration efforts in Michigan. Since its inception, Automation Alley has gained members in 

Oakland, Macomb, Wayne, Washtenaw, Livingston, Genesee, Ingham and St. Clair Counties. Automation 

Alley has opened satellite offices in Sterling Heights and Detroit. As part of the request for a 15 year 

extension, the City of Southfield has agreed to participate in efforts at regional collaboration by providing 

support for Automation Alley, including, but not limited to, becoming a foundation member and providing 

financial support. Therefore, both Troy and Southfield agree to support the Alley’s extensive program of 

regional collaboration. The SCCiTech Satellite has also agreed to provide financial support to Automation 

Alley. 

With the support of the Host and Satellite, in part, Automation Alley will continue to conduct the following 

regional activities: 

 Workforce training across region 

 Programming presented across region 

 Investment in companies within region that will result in the creation of jobs 

 Introduction of companies within region to global marketplace  

 Continue with the Automation Alley Technology Gala which has been held in Detroit, Wayne 

County, Oakland County and Macomb County 

 Preparation of the only State of Technology Report in Michigan 

The designation of the SCCiTech satellite will greatly enhance regional collaboration. The Host 

communities have identified the assets of the Satellite and how such assets will be of mutual benefit. To 

further foster regional cooperation and collaboration, both the Host and Satellite have agreed to designate 

responsibility for coordination of activities between the Host and Satellite to Automation Alley. 



9 
 

 

CITY OF SOUTHFIELD 

AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



10 
 

Section 1: Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan 

Section 15 (1) of Public Act 281 of 1986 states that if a board decides to finance a project under the Act, it 

shall prepare a development plan. The activities of the Southfield Development Plan adopted by the JLDFA 

in May 2003 (hereinafter referred to as Current Plan) and the proposed activities of the Amended, Restated 

and Extended Plan are described. Section 15(2) states that, to the extent necessary to accomplish the 

proposed development program, the development plan shall contain the following: 

(a) A DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES IN RELATION TO THE 

BOUNDARIES OF THE AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE 

PROPERTY. 

At the time of adoption of the Current Plan in May, 2003, the property to which the Development Plan 

applied (Property) included approximately 27 acres of property designated as the CTP.  

In conjunction with the approval of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the boundaries of the 

JLDFA district in the City of Southfield will be expanded to include (i) the campus of Lawrence 

Technological University, which encompasses approximately 60 acres and one additional property of 

approximately 4.8 acres needed to expand the LTU incubator/accelerator and (ii) an additional 

approximately 234 acres of land in the City of Southfield that previously received Certified Technology 

Park designation by agreement with the MEDC. 

The Amended, Restated, and Extended Plan applies to the total area within the City of Southfield portion 

of the original and expanded JLDFA district boundaries described above.  A legal description of the 

Property to which the Amended, Restated, and Expanded Plan applies is attached hereto as Exhibit A and 

is illustrated in Exhibit B. 

(b) THE DESIGNATION OF BOUNDARIES OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES 

IN RELATION TO HIGHWAYS, STREETS, OR OTHERWISE. 

The Current Plan included property to which the Development Plan applies in the area generally bounded 

on the north by I-696 and Northwestern Highway; on the east by Franklin Road and; on the south by Eleven 

Mile Road.  

The Amended, Restated and Extended Plan will expand the existing boundaries of the Southfield CTP to 

include the campus of LTU and one additional property. The campus of Lawrence Technological University 

is generally bounded on the north by Civic Center Drive, on the east by the John C. Lodge Freeway, and 

on the south by W. 10 Mile Road. The legal boundaries are provided in Exhibit A and illustrated in Exhibit 

B.  The Amended, Restated and Extended Plan will also expand the existing boundaries of the Southfield 

CTP to include an additional approximately 234 acres of land, which is contiguous to the original 27 acres 

and extends the boundaries north of Eleven Mile Road to Inkster Road. 

 

 

 



11 
 

(c) THE LOCATION AND EXTENT OF EXISTING STREETS AND OTHER PUBLIC FACILITIES IN 

THE VICINITY OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES; THE LOCATION, 

CHARACTER, AND EXTENT OF THE CATEGORIES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE LAND USES 

THEN EXISTING AND PROPOSED FOR THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES, 

INCLUDING RESIDENTIAL, RECREATION, COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL, EDUCATIONAL, 

AND OTHER USES. 

The Current Plan described the following area associated with the CTP: 

I-696 (M-102) is located near the northern boundary of the Southfield portion of the JLDFA. I-696 is a 

major east-west Federal Highway extending through the community. It consists of an eight-lane divided 

highway with four lanes in each direction and contains an average right-of-way of two hundred and four 

(204) feet. 

Northwestern Highway (M-4) is a major northwesterly to southeasterly State Trunkline which is an 

extension of the M-10 Freeway extending through the community. It consists of an eight-lane divided 

highway with four lanes in each direction and contains an average right-of-way of two hundred and four 

(204) feet. It is located near the northeastern corner of the Southfield portion of the JLDFA.  

Eleven Mile Road is an east-west, City owned, part concrete and part asphalt road with a ninety-eight-foot 

wide right-of-way, forming the southern boundary of the Southfield portion of the JLDFA. It extends across 

the City from the west to the east boundaries. 

Centre Road is an eighty-six-foot wide, City owned, concrete road located near the eastern and southern 

boundaries of the Southfield portion of the JLDFA. It extends northerly then easterly from Eleven Mile 

Road to Franklin Road. 

American Drive is an eighty-six-foot wide, City owned, concrete road located in the center of the Southfield 

portion of the JLDFA. It extends northerly then easterly from Eleven Mile Road to Franklin Road. 

Inkster Road is a one-hundred and twenty foot wide right-of-way, north-south, City-owned, for the most 

part asphalt road. It forms the western boundary of the Southfield portion of the JLDFA and the City of 

Southfield. 

Franklin Road is a one-hundred and twenty-foot wide, north-south, City-owned, concrete road which forms 

most of the eastern border of the Southfield portion of the JLDFA.  

The property to which the Amended, Restated and Expanded Plan applies includes approximately 125 acres 

of commercial and industrial property, 21 acres of parklands, 24 acres devoted to military use and 91 acres 

of vacant property. All property is zoned RC Regional Center. The Amended, Restated and Extended Plan 

will also include Lawrence Technological University. The campus of Lawrence Technological University 

is an educational institution zoned ERO – Education Research Office. 

 

 



12 
 

(d) A DESCRIPTION OF PUBLIC FACILITIES TO BE ACQUIRED FOR THE PROPERTY TO WHICH 

THE PLAN APPLIES, A DESCRIPTION OF ANY REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS NECESSARY TO 

MAKE THOSE IMPROVEMENTS, AND AN ESTIMATE OF THE TIME REQUIRED FOR THE 

COMPLETION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

I-696 Interchange with new on and off ramps and a new parking structure will be constructed and the 

Franklin Road Bridge will be widened to accommodate the improvements. ROW acquisition has been 

negotiated for the ramps and parking structure. 

American Drive and Centre Drive will be reconstructed – no additional ROW is required. 

Eleven Mile from Franklin westerly will be reconstructed – no additional ROW is required. 

Franklin Road will be reconstructed – no additional ROW is required. 

In regards to projects described in the Current Plan, the I-696 project and a portion of the Eleven Mile 

reconstruction was completed. Only the Eleven Mile project used the Southfield portion of the JLDFA 

funds. 

With the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the balance of Eleven Mile reconstruction will be 

completed by 2020. There will be reconstruction and improvements made to streets, including any 

necessary improvements in the right-of-way, within the Southfield portion of the JLDFA including 

Northwestern Hwy., Service Drive, American, Center and Franklin. These will be scheduled based upon 

need but are not expected to occur before 2015-2030. The parking structures will also be scheduled based 

on need but will not occur before 2032. Improvements to Civic Center Drive and Service Drive adjacent to 

and serving the LTU incubator and accelerator are also planned for 2025. 

It is the intent of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan that infrastructure improvements employ 

advanced “state of the art” technology to promote innovation and long-term sustainability, throughout the 

CTP.   

The Southfield CTP will also support the establishment of the Lawrence Technological University Business 

and Technology business incubator and accelerator, described more fully in subsection (p).  Tax increment 

revenues from the Southfield CTP will be used to support the establishment and operation of the business 

incubator/accelerator for the duration of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan.  Tax increment 

revenues will be used to pay for certain operational costs of the business incubator/accelerator and all or a 

portion of the costs of other “public facilities” for the business incubator/accelerator permitted by the LDFA 

Act, including costs related to the construction, improvement, renovation, maintenance, repair, furnishing 

and equipping of facilities to house the operations of the business incubator/accelerator. 

Based on stakeholder input sessions held in December of 2014, the following additional projects, which 

will enhance the marketability and image of the CTP, are planned within the Southfield CTP: 

 Improvements to Pebble Creek Park – Stormwater Management 

 Enhanced pedestrian accessibility throughout SmartZone 



13 
 

 Improvements to visibility of and accessibility to SmartZone including better gateway signage and 

wayfinding 

 Branding and marketing of SmartZone 

 Streetscaping and gateway improvements 

 Stormwater management improvements 

The project also includes administrative costs related to the public facilities described above, including, but 

not limited to, architectural, engineering, legal and accounting fees and other related costs.   

The anticipated construction schedule is included in Section (e) following. 

(e) THE LOCATION, EXTENT, CHARACTER, AND ESTIMATED COST OF THE PUBLIC 

FACILITIES FOR THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES, AND AN ESTIMATE OF THE 

TIME REQUIRED FOR COMPLETION. 

The Current Plan described the following projects: 

 I-696 Interchange 

Construction is anticipated to begin in Fall, 2003 with completion by December, 2004. The 

estimated total cost is $14,000,000 with the local cost of $3,000,000. This project is complete. 

 Parking Deck 

Construction is anticipated to begin in Fall, 2003 with completion by Spring, 2004. The estimated 

cost is $6,000,000, all local cost. This project has been postponed until a later date when demand 

increases. 

 American Drive, Centre Drive reconstruction 

Construction of this project is projected to take place in 2005, with completion by Fall, 2005. The 

estimated cost for the American Drive and Centre Drive projects is $840,000.  

 Eleven Mile reconstruction (partial) 

Construction of this project is projected to take place in 2005, with completion by Fall, 2005. The 

estimated local cost for Eleven Mile Reconstruction is $230,000. This project is complete. 

 Franklin Road reconstruction 

Construction of this project is projected to take place in 2006, with completion by Fall, 2006. The 

estimated cost for Franklin Road Reconstruction is $1,900,000. This project is complete. 

 

 

 



14 
 

Projects and estimated costs that are anticipated within the time frame of the Amended, Restated and 

Extended Plan include the following: 

Project  Est. Cost Time Frame 

Roads   

Northwestern Hwy. Service Drive $750,000 2015 

Eleven Mile (balance of reconstruction) $2,000,000 2020 

Clare Lane $2,000,000 2022 

Franklin (north of I-696) $3,000,000 2025 

Civic Center Drive (between Lahser and Northwestern) $1,600,000 2025 

Civic Center Service Drive $2,000,000 2025 

Swanton (between Franklin and Northwestern) $1,300,000 2030 

American Drive $2,500,000 2030 

Miscellaneous   

Gateway signage $500,000 2016 

Lawrence Technological University Business 

 Incubator/Accelerator – Initial Facility Build-Out 

$200,000 2015/2016 

Lawrence Technological University Business 

 Incubator/Accelerator – Operational Costs 

Up to $100,000 

per year 

Duration of Plan 

Pebble Creek Park – Stormwater Management $200,000 2018 

Pedestrian Improvements $1,500,000 2021 

Parking Structure $7,500,000 2032 

Stormwater Management $2,500,000 2021 

Operating and Planning Costs $150,000 per 

year 

Duration of Plan 

 

(f) A STATEMENT OF THE CONSTRUCTION OR STAGES OF CONSTRUCTION PLANNED, AND 

THE ESTIMATED TIME OF COMPLETION OF EACH STAGE. 

Please refer to Section 1.(e). 

(g) A DESCRIPTION OF ANY PORTIONS OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES, 

WHICH THE AUTHORITY DESIRES TO SELL, DONATE, EXCHANGE, OR LEASE TO OR FORM 

THE MUNICIPALITY AND THE PROPOSED TERMS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The parking deck will be constructed by the project and will be transferred to the current property owners 

upon completion. All roads and improvements will remain under their current jurisdictions. 

With the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, no changes are proposed. 

(h) A DESCRIPTION OF DESIRED ZONING CHANGES AND CHANGES IN STREETS, STREET 

LEVELS, INTERSECTIONS, AND UTILITIES. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The new I-696 Eastbound off ramp and Westbound on ramp will be constructed, an additional capacity lane 

will be added to I-696, and the Franklin Road Bridge will be widened to accommodate these improvements. 



15 
 

The proposed redevelopment area will be provided with a full complement of urban utility services which 

currently exist or which will be included in all new construction. They are, or will be sufficient to 

accommodate the additional development. 

As indicated, the I-696 project and a portion of the I-696 project has been completed. 

With the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, no changes are proposed, other than street improvements 

set forth in Section 1.(e) under the Amended and Extended Plan. 

(i) AN ESTIMATE OF THE COST OF THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES, A STATEMENT OF 

THE PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES, AND THE 

ABILITY OF THE AUTHORITY TO ARRANGE THE FINANCING. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The estimated cost of all public facilities is $35,000,000 with a Southfield share of $14,000,000 and an 

MDOT share of $21,000,000. The Current Plan stated the Southfield CTP will borrow its $14,000,000 share 

from the City of Southfield or will bond as needed and will repay the debt from tax increment revenues 

with an agreed upon interest rate. However, due to other sources of funding, the Southfield CTP did not 

borrow funds to complete any projects. 

The estimated cost of the proposed projects are included in Section 1 (e) under the Amended, Restated and 

Extended Plan. Projects will be funded either partially or solely through tax increment funds.  Where 

possible, TIF funds will be supplemented by grants or other sources of funding the City will seek.  The City 

does not anticipate incurring bonded indebtedness to complete these projects. 

(j) DESIGNATION OF THE PERSON OR PERSONS, NATURAL OR CORPORATE, TO WHOM ALL 

OR A PORTION OF THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES IS TO BE LEASED, SOLD, OR 

CONVEYED AND FOR WHOSE BENEFIT THE PROJECT IS BEING UNDERTAKEN, IF THAT 

INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE TO THE AUTHORITY. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

I-696 is part of the Federal Highway System and all improvements to it will remain Federal. All other roads 

are City owned and will remain so. The parking structure will be constructed on private adjacent property 

and will be transferred at no cost to the property owners upon completion. All roadway improvements are 

being made for the benefit of the public and will be dedicated for public use. 

No changes are proposed under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(k) THE PROCEDURES FOR BIDDING FOR THE LEASING, PURCHASING, OR CONVEYING OF 

ALL OR A PORTION OF THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES UPON ITS COMPLETION, IF 

THERE IS NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AUTHORITY AND 

PERSONS, NATURAL OR CORPORATE, THAT ALL OR A PORTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

WILL BE LEASED, SOLD, OR CONVEYED TO THOSE PERSONS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 



16 
 

All improvements will be constructed on a competitive basis. The parking structure will be conveyed to the 

current land owner at no cost. The newly constructed roadway improvements will be dedicated to the 

appropriate public authority upon their completion. 

No changes are proposed under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(l) ESTIMATES OF THE NUMBER OF PERSONS RESIDING ON THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE 

PLAN APPLIES AND THE NUMBER OF FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS TO BE DISPLACED. IF 

OCCUPIED RESIDENCES ARE DESIGNATED FOR ACQUISITION AND CLEARANCE BY THE 

AUTHORITY, A DEVELOPMENT PLAN SHALL INCLUDE A SURVEY OF THE FAMILIES AND 

INDIVIDUALS TO BE DISPLACED, INCLUDING THEIR INCOME AND RACIAL COMPOSITION, 

A STATISTICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE HOUSING SUPPLY IN THE COMMUNITY, INCLUDING 

THE NUMBER OF PRIVATE AND PUBLIC UNITS IN EXISTENCE OR UNDER CONSTRUCTION, 

THE CONDITION OF THOSE IN EXISTENCE, THE NUMBER OF OWNER-OCCUPIED AND 

RENTER-OCCUPIED UNITS, THE ANNUAL RATE OF TURNOVER OF THE VARIOUS TYPES OF 

HOUSING AND THE RANGE OF RENTS AND SALE PRICES, AN ESTIMATE OF THE TOTAL 

DEMAND FOR HOUSING IN THE COMMUNITY, AND THE ESTIMATED CAPACITY OF 

PRIVATE AND PUBLIC HOUSING AVAILABLE TO DISPLACED FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The Development Plan does not require public acquisition of any residential property nor the relocation of 

any residents. All privately owned commercial property ROW’s will be acquired by negotiations. No 

residents will be displaced. 

There is no public housing presently available in the City. On the whole, housing conditions in the City of 

Southfield can be classified as standard and adequate opportunity exists for relocation within the City on 

an owner or rental basis. 

No changes are proposed under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(m) A PLAN FOR ESTABLISHING PRIORITY FOR THE RELOCATION OF PERSONS DISPLACED 

BY THE DEVELOPMENT. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The Development Plan does not include the construction of new housing within the Development Area nor 

the relocation by public means of any existing residents as no relocation is necessary to implement the 

development plan. 

No changes are proposed under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(n) PROVISION FOR THE COSTS OF RELOCATING PERSONS DISPLACED BY THE 

DEVELOPMENT, AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES, 

INCLUDING LITIGATION EXPENSES AND EXPENSES INCIDENT TO THE TRANSFER OF 

TITLE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS AND PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL 

UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE AND REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICIES ACT 

OF 1970, 42 U.S.C. 4601 TO 4655. 



17 
 

The Current Plan described the following: 

No relocation is anticipated under the development plan. Relocation benefits, if necessary, will be provided 

in accordance with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act of 1970 (Public 

Law 91-646). 

No changes are proposed under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(o) A PLAN FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ACT NO. 227 OF THE PUBLIC ACTS OF 1972, BEING 

SECTIONS 213.321 TO 213.332 OF THE MICHIGAN COMPILED LAWS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Act 227 of P.A. 1972 is an act to provide financial assistance, advisory services and reimbursement of 

certain expenses to persons displaced from real property or deprived of certain rights in real property. Under 

this Act, a displaced person is defined as a “person who vacates real property or removes his personal 

property therefrom pursuant to a program undertaken by a state agency (political subdivision of the state) 

which results in the acquisition of the real property in whole or in part, or in order to vacate the real 

property”. This Act requires procedures and policies comparable to the Federal Uniform Relocation 

Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 and the benefits references in paragraph (n) 

satisfy the requirements of this paragraph.  

No changes are proposed under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(p) OTHER MATERIAL WHICH THE AUTHORITY OR GOVERNING BODY CONSIDERS 

PERTINENT. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Although the Interchange portion of the Development Plan has received Michigan Department of 

Transportation and Federal Highway Administration approval for funding and it is included in the Regional 

Transportation Improvement Program, there may be a delay in the interchange portion of the Development 

Plan due to MDOT’s Preserve First policy. If this occurs, there may be some shifting in construction 

schedules and phasing of work to be done. 

With the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the partners in the Host-Satellite relationship are providing 

financial support of Automation Alley provided sufficient TIF funds are available. Automation Alley will 

be responsible for coordinating between the Host-Satellite communities to advance regional collaboration. 

The Southfield CTP is also undertaking a number of other programs and projects to enhance economic 

development as follows:  

Design Plan and Improvements - A Design Plan has been prepared that will identify improvements and 

amenities that will make the CTP more attractive to new investment. Stakeholders have identified a need 

for better identification of the CTP along with an upgraded image. Specific improvements identified in the 

Design Plan process include improved identification and wayfinding. 



18 
 

Marketing and Promotion – Additional funding will be directed towards the Marketing and Promotion of 

the CTP. Such activities may include, but not limited to, improved website promotion, special events and 

brochures. 

LTU Business and Technology Center – The Southfield CTP will support the establishment of a business 

incubator/accelerator on the campus of Lawrence Technological Center. Establishing the LTU Business 

Technology Center business incubator/accelerator is a natural outgrowth of entrepreneurial education and 

support that has been a focus of the University for many years.  

LTU and the City of Southfield through the Automation Alley SmartZone are collaborating to establish a 

temporary Business and Technology Center in a 4,000 square foot space within a building located on the 

campus of and owned by LTU until the 17,000 square foot facility to be located in Mark Plaza property is 

available. Property has also been sought to permit future expansion of the business incubator. The LTU 

Center will be operated by LTU Economic Development, with day to day management provided by the 

LTU Collaboratory. Oversight will be provided by a seasoned Advisory Board that includes business and 

economic developers, innovators, entrepreneurs, investors, and attorneys.  

Specific objectives of the Center will be to:  

 Create jobs through new and expanded economic activity  

 Help start-ups define their customers, improve their products and raise capital 

 Foster production of ground-breaking technologies in key industry sectors  

 Benefit businesses through public/private participation 

 Improve access to LTU’s academic resources applied research capabilities, and entrepreneurial 

culture 

 Leverage the City’s location, accessibility and assets as a major economic catalyst 

 Enhance the quality of life in the City and Region to retain and attract talent 

  



19 
 

 

CITY OF SOUTHFIELD 

AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED  

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



20 
 

Section 2: Amended, Restated and Extended Tax Increment Financing Plan 

The activities of the Tax Increment Financing Plan adopted by the JLDFA in May 2003 (hereinafter referred 

to as Current Plan) and the proposed activities of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan are described. 

Section 12 (1) of the LDFA Act states that when a board decides to finance a project pursuant to the Act, it 

shall prepare a tax increment financing plan which shall include: 

(a) A STATEMENT OF THE REASONS THAT THE PLAN WILL RESULT IN THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE THAT COULD NOT OTHERWISE BE EXPECTED. THE 

REASONS MAY INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, ACTIVITIES OF THE MUNICIPALITY, 

AUTHORITY, OR OTHERS UNDERTAKEN BEFORE FORMULATION OR ADOPTION OF THE 

PLAN IN REASONABLE ANTICIPATION THAT THE OBJECTIVES OF THE PLAN WOULD BE 

ACHIEVED BY SOME MEANS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

New ramps on I-696 would provide improved access to and from the freeway for businesses, police, fire, 

and other emergency vehicles. They would provide safer, direct movements between I-696, Northwestern 

Highway, and the Southfield CTP, negating the existing convoluted movements through the congested 

Northwestern/Telegraph interchange. The District has been zoned “Regional Center” since 1965 but has 

not been fully developed as such indicating the lack of adequate public facilities including roads. American 

Drive and Centre Drive are both in poor condition and they have deteriorated partially as a result of their 

proximity to the wetlands in the area. Franklin Road has substantially deteriorated due to the unusually high 

heavy truck traffic generated by the public road agency yards located at the north end of the project area. 

Eleven Mile Road has similarly deteriorated due to the truck traffic to the yards and to heavy traffic patterns 

caused by employees working at the Blue Cross facility. Due to the poor condition of these roads, adjacent 

property owners have been unwilling or unable to expand and have expressed a need to move out of the 

City if conditions do not improve. The Chrysler Corporation has already moved from the area and will 

consolidate outside the City. 

The construction of the project will provide additional assessed valuation resulting in tax increments to 

finance the public facilities and redevelopment. Without the planned public facilities to be acquired, 

constructed and financed pursuant hereto the project would not be feasible.   

The above statements are accurate, although Blue Cross relocated out of the area. The facility has been 

purchased and is being reoccupied by a variety of businesses. 

The Amended, Restated and Extended Plan is intended to invest in technologically advanced infrastructure 

supporting the CTP, improve the marketing and image of the CTP, assist in establishing a business 

incubator and accelerator at LTU and to support the activities of Automation Alley to attract and retain 

technology based businesses and jobs within the Southfield CTP, the City of Southfield and the region. 

Without the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the City of Southfield would not be able to support 

these activities to the extent that is set forth in this Plan.  

(b) AN ESTIMATE OF THE CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE FOR EACH YEAR OF THE PLAN. THE 

PLAN MAY PROVIDE FOR THE USE OF PART OR ALL OF THE CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE 

OR, SUBJECT TO THE SUB-SECTION (3), OF THE TAX INCREMENT REVENUES 



21 
 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE LEVY OF ANY TAXING JURISDICTION, BUT THE PORTION 

INTENDED TO BE USED SHALL BE CLEARLY STATED IN THE PLAN. THE BOARD OR THE 

MUNICIPALITY CREATING THE AUTHORITY MAY EXCLUDE FROM CAPTURED ASSESSED 

VALUE A PERCENTAGE OF THE CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE AS SPECIFIED IN THE PLAN 

OR GROWTH IN PROPERTY VALUE RESULTING SOLELY FROM INFLATION. IF EXCLUDED, 

THE PLAN SHALL SET FORTH THE METHOD FOR EXCLUDING GROWTH IN PROPERTY 

VALUE RESULTING SOLELY FROM INFLATION. 

Current Plan 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Please refer to Exhibit C for an estimate of the captured assessed value for each year of the plan. No 

exclusion for inflation is planned. From the time of approval of the TIF Plan for the Southfield CTP, the 

City captured TIF revenue from only the original 27 acre portion. Revenues were not collected from the 

balance of the 261 acres. Referring to the estimates found in Exhibit C, the actual performance of the tax 

increment financing plan is set forth in Table 1 as follows: 

Table 1 

Estimated and Actual Captured Taxes 

Southfield Portion of JLDFA 

2003-2018 

Fiscal Year Estimated Captured Taxes Actual Captured Taxes 

2002/2003 0 0 

2003/2004 32,146 01 

2004/2005 177,332 116,478 

2005/2006 246,634 259,676 

2006/2007 391,635 272,671 

2007/2008 550,332 282,825 

2008/2009 642,237 271,692 

2009/2010 656,822 309,095 

2010/2011 672,835 283,717 

2011/2012 688,032 276,990 

2012/2013 703,533 243,403 

2013/2014 719,344 242,477 

2014/2015 735,471 246,114 

2015/2016 751,921 2,710,7192 

2016/2017 768,699 2,551,7032 

2017/2018 785,814 2,399,8692 

1. Delay due to amendment of District boundaries. 

2. Estimates. 

  



22 
 

An estimate of the capture of assessed value for each year of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan is 

provided in Exhibit D. The TIF capture under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan will include tax 

capture from the entire area of the Southfield CTP, with the exception of the campus of LTU. This additional 

capture is reflected in Exhibit D. No exclusion for inflation is planned. 

(c) THE ESTIMATED TAX INCREMENT REVENUES FOR EACH YEAR OF THE PLAN. 

Estimated tax increment revenues for the Current Plan are provided in Exhibit C: 

Exhibit D provides an estimate of the tax increment revenues for each year of the Amended, Restated and 

Extended Plan. No exclusion for inflation is planned. 

(d) A DETAILED EXPLANATION OF THE TAX INCREMENT PROCEDURE. 

Tax increment financing for a Certified Technology Park permits the JLDFA to capture certain tax revenues 

attributable to increases in the Taxable Values of all real and personal property that is located in the Certified 

Technology Park and included in the tax increment financing plan. 

At the time the tax increment financing plan is approved by the City Council the Taxable Value of the real 

and personal property located in the Certified Technology Park (the “Initial Assessed Value”) is established. 

The Initial Assessed Value is the Taxable Value of all of the real and personal property within the Certified 

Technology Park for the base year. Property exempt from taxation at the time of determination of the Initial 

Assessed Value will be given an Initial Assessed Value of zero.  In each subsequent year for the duration 

of the tax increment financing plan the “Current Assessed Value” of the real and personal property in the 

Certified Technology Park will be determined. The Current Assessed Value for each year is the Taxable 

Value of all of the real and personal property located in the Certified Technology Park for that year. 

The amount by which the Current Assessed Value exceeds the Initial Assessed Value in any one year is the 

“Captured Assessed Value.” For the duration of the tax increment financing plan, the local taxing 

jurisdiction will continue to receive tax revenues based upon the Initial Assessed Value established in the 

base year. The JLDFA, however, receives that portion of the tax levy of all taxing jurisdictions paid each 

year on the Captured Assessed Value of the property included in the tax increment financing plan. It should 

be noted that the JLDFA does not receive any part of millage specifically levied for the payment of principal 

and interest on obligations approved by the electors or obligations pledging the unlimited taxing power of 

the local governmental unit. The JLDFA will also capture only ½ of the “Education mills” which includes 

the local school district, the intermediate school district and the State Education Tax mills.  The capture of 

the local school district, intermediate school district and State Education Tax mills will be subject to 

adjustment by the JLDFA if and to the extent required by Section 12(3) of the LDFA Act. 

Tax increment revenues from the Southfield Certified Technology Park may be used for public facilities 

for any eligible property located in the Southfield Certified Technology Park (or for the repayment of 

advances made for such purposes) as provided in and in accordance with Act 281, subject to approval of 

the MEDC if such approval is required by Act 281. 

The Southfield CTP will have two initial assessed values (one for the original approximately 27 acres and 

one for the balance of the Southfield CTP).   

Table 2 shows current millages and portions of each jurisdiction millage captured under the Current Plan.  



23 
 

Table 2 

Captured Millages 

Current Plan 

Taxing Authority Total Mills Non-Captured or  

Debt Mills 

Captured Mills 

City of Southfield 15.8781 0 15.8781 

Oakland County 4.6523 0 4.6523 

Oakland Interm SD* 3.4224 1.7112 1.7112 

Community College 1.6090 0 1.6090 

State Education* 6.0000 3.0000 3.0000 

School Operating* 20.6345 10.3173 10.3173 

OCPTA 0.3207 0 0.3207 

Total Mills 52.5086 15.0283 37.4801 

* = ½ millage levy minus debt 

Table 3 shows the current millages and the portions of each jurisdiction millage captured under the 

Amended, Restated, and Extended Plan.  The millage rates used are only for the purpose of estimating tax 

revenue and are not intended to be a cap on the total mills that may be captured in the future. 

Table 3 

Captured Millages 

Amended, Restated and Extended Plan 

Taxing Authority Total Mills Non-Captured or  

Debt Mills 

Captured Mills 

City of Southfield 23.7441 0 23.7441 

Oakland County 4.6461 0 4.6461 

Oakland Interm1 3.369 1.6845 1.6845 

Community College 1.5844 0 1.5844 

State Education2 6.0000 3.0000 3.0000 

School Operating3 18.0/6.0 9.0000/3.00 9.0000/3.000 

OCPTA 1.0000 0 1.0000 

Total Mills 58.3436/46.3436 13.6845/7.6845 44.6591/38.6591 
1 = ½ millage levy minus debt 
2 = ½ millage levy of real property and commercial personal property 
3 = ½ millage levy of real property or 9.0 mills and commercial personal property or 3.0 mills 

Table 2 and 3 represent the millage rates for the purposes of estimating tax increment revenues but are not 

intended to be a cap on the total mills that can be captured in the future.   

 

 

(e) THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT OF NOTE OR BONDED INDEBTEDNESS TO BE INCURRED, IF 

ANY. 

The maximum amount of note indebtedness to the Southfield CTP will be $14,000,000 plus interest subject 

to actual construction costs. While the Current Plan called for bonded indebtedness, no debt was incurred. 



24 
 

Under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the Southfield CTP does not plan on incurring any 

bonded indebtedness. 

(f) THE AMOUNT OF OPERATING AND PLANNING EXPENDITURES OF THE AUTHORITY AND 

MUNICIPALITY, THE AMOUNT OF ADVANCES EXTENDED BY OR INDEBTEDNESS 

INCURRED BY THE MUNICIPALITY, AND THE AMOUNT OF ADVANCES BY OTHERS TO BE 

REPAID FROM TAX INCREMENT REVENUES. 

The amount of operating and planning expenditures of the Southfield CTP and the City of Southfield in 

connection with the activities of the JLDFA under the Current Plan was estimated to be $100,000 per year. 

It was not anticipated that there would be any indebtedness incurred by the City. The Current Plan provides 

that the JLDFA Board may request a loan from the City of Southfield to provide interim financing for the 

Southfield costs of the Development Plan. The loan will be repaid from tax increment revenues as received. 

The amount of operating and planning expenditures of the Southfield CTP are not expected to exceed 

$150,000 per year under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. The JLDFA Board may request a loan 

from the City of Southfield to provide interim financing for the Southfield costs of the Development Plan. 

The loan will be repaid from tax increment revenues as received. 

(g) THE COSTS OF THE PLAN ANTICIPATED TO BE PAID FROM TAX INCREMENT REVENUES 

AS RECEIVED. 

It was anticipated that the costs of the implementation of the Current Development Plan would be paid 

entirely from tax increment revenues as received. 

No change is proposed with the Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan. 

(h) THE DURATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND THE TAX INCREMENT PLAN. 

The Current Development Plan and the Tax Increment Financing Plan provided that it would continue for 

the period of time needed to collect and disburse tax increment revenues resulting from taxes levied prior 

to December 31, 2018, or such other period as may be needed to repay the amounts borrowed by the 

Authority. 

The Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan becomes 

effective when approved and will continue for the additional period of time needed to collect and disburse 

tax increment revenues resulting from taxes levied before December 31, 2033. 

(i) AN ESTIMATE OF THE IMPACT OF TAX INCREMENT FINANCING ON THE REVENUES OF 

ALL TAXING JURISDICTIONS IN WHICH THE ELIGIBLE PROPERTY IS OR IS ANTICIPATED 

TO BE LOCATED. 

Except for those portions of millage specifically levied for the payment of principal and interest of 

obligations approved by electors or obligations pledging the unlimited taxing power of the local 

governmental units (the ‘debt’ portion of their millage) and ½ of all school captures for the duration of the 

extended plan, the tax revenues of the taxing jurisdictions for property within the CTP will not increase as 

a result of increases in the taxable value of property in the CTP until the termination of the Amended, 

Restated and Extended Tax Increment Financing Plan. However, the taxing jurisdictions have and are 



25 
 

expected to continue to benefit from increased property values and accompanying tax increases from other 

nearby property outside the CTP.  

(j) A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE ELIGIBLE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE TAX INCREMENT 

FINANCING PLAN APPLIES OR SHALL APPLY UPON QUALIFICATION AS ELIGIBLE 

PROPERTY. 

The property to which the Current Plan applies consists of all real and personal property in the City of 

Southfield, County of Oakland, State of Michigan, located within the current boundaries of the CTP 

described on Exhibit A.  

The property to which the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan applies includes all real and personal 

property in the original JLDFA district boundaries in the City of Southfield described in the Current Plan 

and, in addition, includes all real and personal property in the expanded JLDFA district boundaries in the 

City of Southfield described in Exhibit A. 

(k) AN ESTIMATE OF THE NUMBER OF JOBS TO BE CREATED AS A RESULT OF 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN. 

The Current Plan estimated that the construction of the Project will result in the creation of approximately 

5000 new jobs and the retention of approximately 250 jobs in the City. It was expected that the direct job 

creation would result in additional indirect jobs.  

There are currently an estimated 4,650 jobs within the Southfield CTP. Improvements that have been 

included and improvements contemplated by this plan will help ensure the retention of these jobs. Federal 

Mogul recently made a $700 million investment bringing 700 jobs. With additional improvements to the 

CTP, it is anticipated that at least one new employer or employers of 1,000 jobs will be attracted.  

While not located in the Southfield CTP, BASF will be making a $19 million investment adding 154 jobs 

to the 400 which exist. Road improvements completed by the LDFA have assisted in their expansion. It is 

expected that the existence of this project will result in additional indirect jobs. 

(l) THE PROPOSED BOUNDARIES OF A CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK TO BE CREATED 

UNDER AN AGREEMENT PROPOSED TO BE ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO SECTION 12a, AN 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE REAL PROPERTY WITHIN THE CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK TO 

BE INCLUDED IN THE TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN FOR PURPOSES OF 

DETERMINING TAX INCREMENT REVENUES, AND WHETHER PERSONAL PROPERTY 

LOCATED IN THE CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK IS EXEMPT FROM DETERMINING TAX 

INCREMENT REVENUES. 

The boundaries of the Current Southfield CTP are included in Exhibit A and are illustrated in the map 

included as Exhibit B.  

The boundaries under the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan area also included in Exhibit A and are 

illustrated in the map included as Exhibit B. 



26 
 

The entirety of the current JLDFA district boundaries in the City of Southfield and of the expanded JLDFA 

district boundaries in the City of Southfield described in Exhibit A have been or will be designated as a 

Certified Technology Park pursuant to agreements entered into or to be entered into with the MEDC. 

Under both the Current Plan and the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, personal property is not exempt 

from determining tax increment revenues. 

 

  



27 
 

SOUTHFIELD EXHIBITS 

 

 Exhibit Description 

 A Southfield CTP Legal Description 

 B Map of Southfield CTP 

 C Captured Assessed Value of Current Plan 

 D Captured Assessed Value of Amended and Extended Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



28 
 

EXHIBIT A – SOUTHFIELD CTP  LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

District Boundaries in Current Plan 

Part of the S.W. ¼ of Section 17 and the S. ½ of Section 18, T.1N., R.10E., City of Southfield, Oakland 

County, Michigan and more particularly described as commencing at the S.W. corner of said Section 18, 

distant North, 60 feet and East, 60 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING of this description; thence northerly 

along the east line of Inkster Road, approximately 1,682 feet to a point on the south line of I-696; thence 

easterly along the said south line of I-696, approximately 5,406 feet to a point on the west line of Franklin 

Road; thence southeasterly along the said west line, approximately 1,653 feet to a point on the east line of 

Center Drive; thence southwesterly along the said east line, approximately 640 feet to the northwest corner 

of parcel sidwell number 2417-352-001; thence east along the north line of said sidwell number 2417-352-

001, approximately 540 feet to the northeast corner of parcel sidwell number 2417-352-002; thence south 

along the east line of said sidwell number 2417-352-002, approximately 738 feet to a point on the north 

line of Eleven Mile Road; thence west along the said north line of Eleven Mile Road, approximately 2,967 

feet to the southeast corner of parcel sidwell number 2418-400-029; thence northerly along the east line of 

sidwell number 2418-400-029, approximately 554 feet to the northeast corner of said sidwell number 2418-

400-029; thence westerly along the north line of said sidwell number 2418-400-029, approximately 1,129 

feet to the northwest corner of said sidwell number 2418-400-029; thence southerly along the west line of 

said sidwell number 2418-400-029, approximately 847 feet to the southwest corner of said sidwell number 

2418-400-029 and a point on the north line of Eleven Mile Road, approximately 2,650 feet to the POINT 

OF BEGINNING.  

Also part of the N.W. ¼ of Section 17 and the N.E. ¼ of Section 18, T.1N.,R.10E., City of Southfield, 

Oakland County, Michigan and more particularly described as commencing at the intersection of the center 

lines of Franklin and Beck Roads, distant southeasterly, 45 feet and northeasterly, 91 feet to a point on the 

east line of Beck Road and the POINT OF BEGINNING of this description; thence northeasterly along the 

east line of Beck Road, approximately 916 feet to a point on the south line of Northwestern Highway; 

thence southeasterly along the said south line of Northwestern Highway, approximately 1,175 feet to a 

point on the north line of I-696; thence southwesterly along the said north line of I-696, approximately 

1,063 feet to a point on the north line of Franklin Road; thence northwesterly along the north line of Franklin 

Road, approximately 239 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Expanded District Boundaries included in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan 

TIN, R10E, SEC 22 PART OF SE ¼ BEG AT PT DIST N 02-47-50 E 60.04 FT FROM S ¼ COR, TH N 

02-47-50 E 2284.63 FT, TH ALG CURVE TO RIGHT, RAD 3660.72 FT, CHORD BEARS S 44-32-48 E 

191.72 FT, DIST OF 191.74 FT, TH S 43-02-46 E 2958.99 FT, TH S 23-48-35 W 9.95 FT, TH N 89-20-

04 W 2261.89 FT TO BEG 59.78 AC. 

T1N, R10E, SEC 22 330C SECTION 22 PART OF E ½ OF SW ¼ BEG AT PT DIST S 86-40-50 W 

616.67 FT FROM CEN OF SEC, TH S 02-02-30 W 692.95 FT, TH W 330 FT, TH N 02-02-30 E674 FT 

APPROX TO CEN LINE OF 101/2 MILE RD TH N 86-40-50 E 330 FT ALG CEN LINE OF 101/2 

MILE RD TO THE BEG EXC NLY 41 FT DED TO R.O.W. 4.850A 000000. 

 



Exhibit B 
Southfield CTP 

29 
 



Exhibit B 
Southfield CTP – Lawrence Technological University Expansion 

30 
 



 

31 
 

EXHIBIT C – CITY OF SOUTHFIELD CTP 

Exhibit C 

City of Southfield CTP 

Estimated TIF Captured from Current Plan 

2003-2018 

Year 
Base Assessed 

Value 

Total Real & 

personal 
Capture Value 

Estimated 

Captured Taxes 

(37.4801) 

($) 

2002/2003 2,321,650   0 

2003/2004 2,321,650 3,179,330 857,680 32,146 

2004/2005 2,321,650 5,452,163 3,130,513 117,332 

2005/2006 2,321,650 8,902,048 6,580,398 246,634 

2006/2007 2,321,650 12,770,804 10,449,154 391,635 

2007/2008 2,321,650 17,004,974 14,683,324 550,332 

2008/2009 2,321,650 19,457,074 17,135,424 642,237 

2009/2010 2,321,650 19,846,215 17,524,565 656,822 

2010/2011 2,321,650 20,273,437 17,951,787 672,835 

2011/2012 2,321,650 20,678,906 18,357,256 688,032 

2012/2013 2,321,650 21,092,488 18,770,834 703,533 

2013/2014 2,321,650 21,514,334 19,192,684 719,344 

2014/2015 2,321,650 21,944,621 19,622,971 735,471 

2015/2016 173,539,360 59,166,230 59,166,230 2,710,719 

2016/2017 170,068,573 55,695,443 59,166,230 2,551,703 

2017/2018 166,667,201 52,294,071 59,166,230 2,399,869 

Total Captured Taxes - $13,818,644 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT D – City of Southfield CTP 

Captured Assessed Value of Amended, Restated and Extended Plan 

2015/16 – 2018/19 and 2019/20 – 2033-34 
 

32 
 

 

Year 
Base       

Taxable 
Value  

Taxable  
Value    

Projected 

Total 
Increment 
per Year 

Capture of 
City taxes, 

or 
23.74410  

mils 

Capture 
County 

Operating 
Taxes, or 

4.6461 mils 

Capture of 
OCPTA 

taxes, or 
1.0 mils 

50% 
Capture of 

ISD, or 
1.68450 

mils 

Capture of 
OCC taxes, 
or 1.5844 

mils 

50% Capture of 
School Operating 
Taxes, or RP 9.0 

mils and Comm PP 
taxes, or 3.0 mils 

50% State 
Education Tax  RP 

& Comm PP 
Taxes, or 3.0 mils 

Total 
Annual 
Capture 

2003/2014 8,669,220 8,776,460 107,240 2,546 498 107 181 170 322 643 4,468 

2015/16 114,373,130 173,539,360 59,166,230 1,404,849 274,892 59,166 99,666 93,743 423,405 354,997 2,710,719 

2016/17 114,373,130 170,068,573 55,695,443 1,322,438 258,767 55,695 93,819 88,244 398,568 334,173 2,551,703 

2017/18 114,373,130 166,667,201 52,294,071 1,241,676 242,963 52,294 88,089 82,855 374,227 313,764 2,395,869 

2018/19 114,373,130 167,500,537 53,127,407 1,261,462 246,835 53,127 89,493 84,175 380,190 318,764 2,434,048 

2019/20 114,373,130 168,338,040 53,964,910 1,281,348 250,726 53,965 90,904 85,502 386,184 323,789 2,472,419 

2020/21 114,373,130 169,179,730 54,806,600 1,301,333 254,637 54,807 92,322 86,836 392,207 328,840 2,510,981 

2021/22 114,373,130 170,025,629 55,652,499 1,321,418 258,567 55,652 93,747 88,176 398,260 333,915 2,549,736 

2022/23 114,373,130 170,875,757 56,502,627 1,341,604 262,517 56,503 95,179 89,523 404,344 339,016 2,588,685 

2023/24 114,373,130 171,730,136 57,357,006 1,361,890 266,486 57,357 96,618 90,876 410,458 344,142 2,627,828 

2024/25 114,373,130 172,588,786 58,215,656 1,382,278 270,476 58,216 98,064 92,237 416,603 349,294 2,667,168 

2025/26 114,373,130 174,314,674 59,941,544 1,423,258 278,494 59,942 100,972 94,971 428,954 359,649 2,746,240 

2026/27 114,373,130 176,057,821 61,684,691 1,464,647 286,593 61,685 103,908 97,733 441,428 370,108 2,826,103 

2027/28 114,373,130 177,818,399 63,445,269 1,506,451 294,773 63,445 106,874 100,523 454,027 380,672 2,906,764 

2028/29 114,373,130 179,596,583 65,223,453 1,548,672 303,035 65,223 109,869 103,340 466,752 391,341 2,988,232 

2029/30 114,373,130 181,392,549 67,019,419 1,591,316 311,379 67,019 112,894 106,186 479,604 402,117 3,070,515 

2030/31 114,373,130 183,206,475 68,833,345 1,634,386 319,807 68,833 115,950 109,060 492,585 413,000 3,153,620 

2031/32 114,373,130 185,038,539 70,665,409 1,677,887 328,319 70,665 119,036 111,962 505,696 423,992 3,237,557 

2032/33 114,373,130 186,888,925 72,515,795 1,721,822 336,916 72,516 122,153 114,894 518,938 435,095 3,322,333 

2033/34 114,373,130 188,757,814 74,384,684 1,766,197 345,599 74,385 125,301 117,855 532,312 446,308 3,407,957 

Total       27,557,481 5,392,279 1,160,603 1,955,036 1,838,860 8,305,064 6,963,620 53,172,943 

             

Note:             

Years 2003 - 2014 has a Base year value total from 2003         

Years 2015/16  thru  2033/34 has a Base year value from 2015        

50% Capture of School Op uses TV for Real Property at 9.0 mils and PP at 3.0 mils       
 

 

 

 



 

33 
 

CITY OF TROY 

AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED  

DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

34 
 

Section 1: Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan 

Section 15 (1) of Public Act 281 of 1986 states that if a board decides to finance a project under this Act, it 

shall prepare a development plan. The activities of the Troy Development Plan adopted by the JLDFA in 

May 2003 (hereinafter referred to as Current Plan) and the proposed activities of the Amended, Restated 

and Extended Plan are described. Section 15(2) states that, to the extent necessary to accomplish the 

proposed development program, the development plan shall contain the following: 

(a) A DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES IN RELATION TO THE 

BOUNDARIES OF THE AUTHORITY DISTRICT AND A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE 

PROPERTY. 

The property to which the Development Plan applies (Property) includes approximately 73.61 acres of land 

within the Troy CTP, which is the total area of the Troy portion of the District. The legal description of the 

Property is attached hereto as Exhibit A and is illustrated in Exhibit B. 

There are no changes proposed in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(b) THE DESIGNATION OF BOUNDARIES OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES 

IN RELATION TO HIGHWAYS, STREETS, OR OTHERWISE. 

The property to which the Development Plan applies is generally bounded on the north by Big Beaver 

Road; on the East by John R. Road; on the West by Rochester Road and I-75; and to the South by Maple 

Road. Exact legal boundaries are provided in Exhibit A and illustrated in Exhibit B. 

There are no changes proposed in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(c) THE LOCATION AND EXTENT OF EXISTING STREETS AND OTHER PUBLIC FACILITIES IN 

THE VICINITY OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES; THE LOCATION, 

CHARACTER, AND EXTENT OF THE CATEGORIES OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE LAND USES 

THEN EXISTING AND PROPOSED FOR THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES, 

INCLUDING RESIDENTIAL, RECREATIONAL, COMMERCIAL, INDUSTRIAL, EDUCATIONAL, 

AND OTHER USES. 

Big Beaver Road (16 Mile Road) forms the northern boundary of the Troy CTP. It is a major east-west 

County road extending through Troy. From Coolidge Highway to Dequindre Road, Big Beaver is a six lane 

divided road with three lanes in each direction and an average right-of-way of two hundred and four (204) 

feet.  

I-75 is a major north/south Federal Interstate providing access to the Troy portion of the CTP to the City of 

Detroit, Pontiac, Flint, I-696 and M-59. 

Also to the west lies Rochester Road, a six lane divided road north of I-75 and a four lane divided road 

south of I-75 which provides access to Stephenson Highway, a four lane divided road with 2 lanes in each 

direction. Rochester Road and Stephenson Highway are both major thoroughfares with on and off access 

to I-75. 



 

35 
 

To the south is Maple Road (15 Mile Road), a five lane County road running east and west, extending from 

Macomb County and the City of Sterling Heights to the east, to the City of Birmingham to the west. 

To the east is John R Road, a five lane County road running north and south, extending from the south at 

the City of Madison Heights north to the City of Rochester Hills. 

Approximately fifty-five (55) acres of the Troy portion of the CTP were zoned R-C (Research Center) and 

approximately 20 acres were zoned M-1, at the time of adoption of the Plan in May 2003.  

Amended and Extended Plan 

The only change which has occurred is the rezoning of the M-1 to IB-Integrated Business. This change 

came as a result of the comprehensive revision of the Troy Zoning Ordinance. 

(d) A DESCRIPTION OF PUBLIC FACILITIES TO BE ACQUIRED FOR THE PROPERTY TO WHICH 

THE PLAN APPLIES, A DESCRIPTION OF ANY REPAIRS AND ALTERATIONS NECESSARY TO 

MAKE THOSE IMPROVEMENTS, AND AN ESTIMATE OF THE TIME REQUIRED FOR THE 

COMPLETION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS. 

Current Plan 

The Current Plan described the following projects: 

Phase I 

The Big Beaver project potentially required the full acquisition of 13 to 15 parcels along the south side of 

Big Beaver, from Dequindre to the west. If these parcels became full acquisitions the homes currently on 

the property would be demolished as part of the project. Relocation of the affected homeowners would be 

part of the right-of-way phase of the project. There was also the potential for various temporary construction 

easements and grading permits along the entire project length. 

The right-of-way phase was in progress and was expected to be completed by December 2004. The City 

prepared preliminary right-of-way plans to be approved by MDOT prior to any acquisition taking place. 

The right-of-way phase was estimated at $4,200,000. The City’s share of this amount was $840,000. 

Also the McCulloch Drain improvement project. See Section 1(f). 

Phase II 

Future projects included the renovation of the street grid to the south and east serving the Troy portion of 

the . In addition, an on-ramp from southbound Rochester Road to northbound I-75 would be an intended 

long-term project associated with the Troy CTP. 

In regards to the projects and activities described in Phase I , the City of Troy was able to secure funding 

from other sources and did not use LDFA funds to complete the Big Beaver project. The entire McCulloch 

Drain project was not implemented due to cost constraints, although there were drainage improvements 

made to improve the Automation Alley site. 

 



 

36 
 

Regarding Phase II projects, the improvement to the street grid south and east of the Troy portion of the 

JLDFA will be carried forward as a project in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

The improvements that are proposed to be completed in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan include 

the following: 

1. Repair/reconstruction of Bellingham Drive within the area that services the CTP  

2. Improvement of pedestrian access to and within the CTP  

3. Repair/reconstruction of Big Beaver in proximity to and serving the Troy portions of the CTP  

4. Improvement of the street grid south of the Troy portion of the CTP to improve southerly access 

from John R 

5. Improvement of the McCulloch Drain in proximity to the National Electrical Contractors 

Association offices located within the CTP  

6. Improvements to the building, surface parking and associated site improvements for Automation 

Alley which will benefit expansion of the business incubator/accelerator. 

7. The project also includes administrative costs related to the public facilities described above, 

including but not limited to architectural, engineering, legal and accounting fees and other related 

costs.  

The anticipated construction schedule is included in Section (e) following.  

(e) THE LOCATION, EXTENT, CHARACTER, AND ESTIMATED COST OF THE PUBLIC 

FACILITIES FOR THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES, AND THE ESTIMATE OF 

THE TIME REQUIRED FOR COMPLETION. 

The Current Plan described the following projects and funding mechanism: 

The Big Beaver, Rochester to Dequindre project consisted of the widening of the existing four (4) and five 

(5) lane concrete boulevard to provide for a six (6) lane concrete boulevard with median cross overs and 

right turn lanes at the intersections of Rochester, John R and Dequindre. Also included was will be the 

rehabilitation of areas of failed concrete pavement, drive approaches and curb and gutter. 

The estimated construction cost is was $2,803,000. The City’s share of the construction phase is was 

$603,000.  

The project is was anticipated to begin in April 2005 with a projected completion date of November 2005. 

Final project clean up and restoration, as needed, would take place in the Spring of 2006. 

In each calendar year, 60% of the revenue generated by the captured millage within the boundaries of the 

Certified Technology Park was allocated for support of the business accelerator/incubator program and 

40% was allocated for public infrastructure, either in or associated with the Troy Certified Technology Park 

However, in any calendar year the 40% allocated for infrastructure was not less than the revenue generated 

by the total City millage levied against the total captured taxable value in each calendar year. If this latter 

sum was greater than 40%, then the accelerator program would receive 60% of the tax increment revenue 

minus the sum necessary to provide a full allocation for infrastructure.  



 

37 
 

The City did not use TIF funds to complete the Big Beaver Project. The full McCulloch Drain project was 

not implemented due to cost, although a portion of the drain in proximity to Automation Alley was 

completed. 

The Troy portion of the JLDFA has provided funding support of Automation Alley for the business 

accelerator/incubator program in accordance with the formula set forth in the Current Plan, despite the 

economic downturn and reduction in TIF revenues. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan the funding formula will be modified to provide greater 

clarity. Annually, the tax increment revenues available to the Troy CTP shall be used in those amounts 

specified in the following: 

 Sixty (60) percent shall be devoted to operation, furnishing and equipping the Automation Alley 

business incubator/accelerator. 

 Forty (40) percent shall be devoted to the following: 

o Marketing expense of the Troy CTP including Foundation membership in Automation 

Alley 

o Public infrastructure improvements to streets, drains and pedestrian systems serving the 

Troy CTP 

o Building, parking and site improvements to Automation Alley 

o Costs incurred by the City of Troy to administer the Troy CTP 

The Troy CTP anticipates that the following projects as described in Section 1(d) will be conducted in 

accordance within the following time frame, estimated time of completion, and estimated cost: 

Table 1 

Proposed Projects 

Troy CTP 

Projects Cost 

($) 

Estimated Time Frame/ 

Time of Completion 

1. Repair/reconstruction of Bellingham Drive 100,000 FY 2023/24 

2. Improvement of pedestrian access 200,000 FY 2016/17 

3. Repair/reconstruction of Big Beaver Road 200,000 FY 2028/29 

4. Repair/reconstruction Brinston, Alger, 

Larchwood, Austin, Woodslee, Birchwood, 

Chopin Streets 

100,000 FY 2033/34 

5. Repair/reconstruction of John R 100,000 FY 2033/34 

6. Improvements to Automation Alley building, 

parking and associated site improvements 

200,000 FY 2020/21 

 

(f) A STATEMENT OF THE CONSTRUCTION OR STAGES OF CONSTRUCTION PLANNED, AND 

THE ESTIMATED TIME OF COMPLETION OF EACH STAGE. 

The Current Plan described the construction, stages and estimated time of completion. 

The Big Beaver, Rochester to Dequindre project was to be constructed while maintaining traffic.  



 

38 
 

It was anticipated that the construction would take up to six (6) months to complete and restoration and 

final clean up would take approximately one (1) month to complete. The final contract completion date was 

anticipated to be June of 2006. 

The proposed McCulloch Drain improvements was to include the construction of a 2.5 MCF storage basin 

facility along Wattles Road (north and west of the CTP). In conjunction with the retention facility, a 6-foot 

to 6.5-foot diameter storm drain along Rochester Road was to be constructed to transport storm water to a 

13-foot diameter storm drain beginning in the vicinity of Rochester Road and Big Beaver Road. The 

proposed 13-foot diameter sewer would then extend southeasterly, along with the southern boundary of the 

proposed SmartZone, to the confluence of the existing 14-foot diameter Douglas Drain located at the 

southeast corner of the CTP boundary. The estimated construction cost for this project was $11,000,000 

with 100% of the project cost being paid for by the City. 

As indicated, the City did not use TIF funds to complete the Big Beaver project. The full McCulloch Drain 

project was not implemented due to cost, although a portion was improved in proximity to Automation 

Alley. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the planned construction, construction stages and estimated 

time of completion are described in Table 1, in Section 1.(c). 

(g) A DESCRIPTION OF ANY PORTIONS OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE PLAN APPLIES, 

WHICH THE AUTHORITY DESIRES TO SELL, DONATE, EXCHANGE, OR LEASE TO OR FROM 

THE MUNICIPALITY AND THE PROPOSED TERMS. 

In the Current Plan and in the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, there will be no property which the 

Authority desires to sell, donate, exchange or lease to or from the City of Troy. 

(h) A DESCRIPTION OF DESIRED ZONING CHANGES AND CHANGES IN STREETS, STREET 

LEVELS, INTERSECTIONS, AND UTILITIES. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The former Preston Trucking site could seek a rezoning from M-1 (Light Industrial) to R-C (Research 

Center). For street changes see Section 1(d)(e)(f) for Big Beaver Road changes and for Phase II a complete 

renovation was planned for the street grid south and east of the Certified Technology Park. (Bellingham to 

John R) 

The former Preston Trucking site was redeveloped as Old Dominion Trucking, thereby adding jobs and tax 

base to the Troy CTP. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, all street changes are identified in Section 1.(d)(e)(f). Zoning 

changes are identified in Section 1.(c). 

 

 



 

39 
 

(i) AN ESTIMATE OF THE COST OF THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES, A STATEMENT OF 

THE PROPOSED METHOD OF FINANCING THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES, AND THE 

ABILITY OF THE AUTHORITY TO ARRANGE THE FINANCING. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The estimated cost of all public facilities in Phase I was $18,003,000. The Michigan Department of 

Transportation agreed to pay $5,560,000 of the cost and the LDFA would pay the balance of $1,443,000 

for the road project. 

The proposed method of financing the public facilities may be summarized as follows: 

The Troy LDFA would bond its share or the City of Troy would exercise its bonding authority on behalf of 

the LDFA. 

The Troy LDFA did not provide funds for the projects identified in Section 1.(d)(e)(f), with the exception 

of the improvements to the McCulloch Drain in proximity to Automation Alley. There was no bonded 

indebtedness incurred. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, projects within the Troy CTP will be on a “pay as you go” 

basis. There will be no bonded indebtedness incurred. 

(j) DESIGNATION OF THE PERSON OR PERSONS, NATURAL OR CORPORATE, TO WHOM ALL 

OR A PORTION OF THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES IS TO BE LEASED, SOLD, OR 

CONVEYED AND FOR WHOSE BENEFIT THE PROJECT IS BEING UNDERTAKEN, IF THAT 

INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE TO THE AUTHORITY. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The City constructed the Big Beaver widening. The Big Beaver Road project, including all improvements, 

is owned by the Road Commission for Oakland County. 

All other roads are City owned and will remain so. 

All City roadway improvements are being made for the benefit of the public and will be dedicated for public 

use. The improvements of the McCulloch Drain will be contracted by the County Drain Commission and 

remain property of the Oakland County Drain Commission. 

The City did not proceed with the full McCulloch Drain project, although a portion of the Drain was 

improved in proximity to Automation Alley. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, all projects identified in Section 1.(d)(e)(f) will be 

constructed by the City. Any improvements made to Big Beaver will be owned by the Road Commission 

for Oakland County. Any improvements made to storm drainage within the Troy CTP will be completed 

by either the City, or the Oakland County Water Resources Commissioner. 

(k) THE PROCEDURES FOR BIDDING FOR THE LEASING, PURCHASING, OR CONVEYING OF 

ALL OR A PORTION OF THE PUBLIC FACILITY OR FACILITIES UPON ITS COMPLETION, IF 

THERE IS NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AUTHORITY AND 



 

40 
 

PERSONS, NATURAL OR CORPORATE, THAT ALL OR A PORTION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

WILL BE LEASED, SOLD, OR CONVEYED TO THOSE PERSONS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

All improvements would be constructed on a competitively bid basis. The newly constructed roadway and 

drain will be dedicated to the appropriate public authority upon their completion.  

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, all improvements will be bid on a competitive basis. There 

will be no newly constructed roadways. All improvements will be to existing roadways which serve the 

Troy CTP. 

(l) ESTIMATES OF THE NUMBER OF PERSONS RESIDING ON THE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE 

PLAN APPLIES AND THE NUMBER OF FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS TO BE DISPLACED. IF 

OCCUPIED RESIDENCES ARE DESIGNATED FOR ACQUISITION AND CLEARANCE BY THE 

AUTHORITY, A DEVELOPMENT PLAN SHALL INCLUDE A SURVEY OF THE FAMILIES AND 

INDIVIDUALS TO BE DISPLACED, INCLUDING THEIR INCOME AND RACIAL COMPOSITION, 

A STATISTICAL DESCRIPTION OF THE HOUSING SUPPLY IN THE COMMUNITY, INCLUDING 

THE NUMBER OF PRIVATE AND PUBLIC UNITS IN EXISTENCE, THE NUMBER OF OWNER-

OCCUPIED AND RENTER-OCCUPIED UNITS, THE ANNUAL RATE OF TURNOVER OF THE 

VARIOUS TYPES OF HOUSING AND THE RANGE OF RENTS AND SALE PRICES, AN ESTIMATE 

OF THE TOTAL DEMAND FOR HOUSING IN THE COMMUNITY, AND THE ESTIMATED 

CAPACITY OF PRIVATE AND PUBLIC HOUSING AVAILABLE TO DISPLACED FAMILIES AND 

INDIVIDUALS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The Development Plan required public acquisition of between 13 to 15 residential properties and the 

relocation of these residents in order to accommodate the widening of Big Beaver. (See Section 1(d)). No 

privately owned commercial properties were acquired. 

There is no public housing presently available in the City. On the whole, housing conditions in the City of 

Troy can be classified as standard and adequate opportunity exists for relocation within the City on an 

owner or rental basis. 

While all of the above statements are accurate, the Troy LDFA did not provide funding for the Big Beaver 

project. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, there will be no public acquisition of occupied residences 

for any project set forth in Section 1.(d)(e)(f). 

(m) A PLAN FOR ESTABLISHING PRIORITY FOR THE RELOCATION OF PERSONS DISPLACED 

BY THE DEVELOPMENT. 

Current Plan 



 

41 
 

The Development Plan does not include the construction of new housing within the Development Area. 

Relocation of between 13 to 15 residential property owners was in full compliance with the Federal Uniform 

Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, 42 U.S.C. 4601 to 4655. 

While all of the above statements are accurate, the Troy LDFA did not provide funding for the Big Beaver 

project. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, there will be no public acquisition of occupied residences 

for any project set forth in Section 1.(d)(e)(f). 

(n) PROVISION FOR THE COSTS OF RELOCATING PERSONS DISPLACED BY THE 

DEVELOPMENT, AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES, 

INCLUDING LITIGATION EXPENSES AND EXPENSES INCIDENT TO THE TRANSFER OF 

TITLE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARDS AND PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL 

UNIFORM RELOCATION ASSISTANCE AND REAL PROPERTY ACQUISITION POLICIES ACT 

OF 1970, 42 U.S.C. 4601 TO 4655. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Relocation benefits will be provided in accordance with the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real 

Property Acquisition Act of 1970 (Public Law 91-646). 

While all of the above statements are accurate, the Troy LDFA did not provide funding for the Big Beaver 

project. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, there will be no public acquisition of occupied residences 

for any project set forth in Section 1.(d)(e)(f). 

(o) A PLAN FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ACT NO. 227 OF THE PUBLIC ACTS OF 1972, BEING 

SECTIONS 213.321 TO 213.332 OF THE MICHIGAN COMPILED LAWS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Act 227 of P.A. 1972 is an act to provide financial assistance; advisory services and reimbursement of 

certain expenses to persons displaced from real property or deprived of certain rights in real property. Under 

this Act, a displaced person is defined as a “person who vacates real property or removes his personal 

property there from pursuant to a program undertaken by a state agency (political subdivision of the state) 

which results in the acquisition of the real property in whole or in part, or in order to vacate the real 

property”. This Act requires procedures and policies comparable to the Federal Uniform Relocation 

Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 and the benefits references in paragraph (n) 

satisfy the requirements of this paragraph. 

While all of the above statements are accurate, the Troy LDFA did not provide funding for the Big Beaver 

project. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, there will be no public acquisition of occupied residences 

for any project set forth in Section 1.(d)(e)(f). 



 

42 
 

 

(p) OTHER MATERIAL, WHICH THE AUTHORITY OR GOVERNING BODY CONSIDERS 

PERTINENT. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, all partners in the Host Satellite relationship agree to 

participate in and support regional collaboration as a means to create technology based business and jobs. 

The City of Troy and the Troy LDFA have and will continue to support Automation Alley in the pursuit of 

technology-based businesses and jobs. This will include support of Automation Alley operational costs and 

support of costs of the business incubator/accelerator program, as provided in this Development Plan. In 

return, Automation Alley will be responsible for coordinating regional collaboration efforts between the 

Host-Satellite LDFAs. 



 

43 
 

 

CITY OF TROY 

AMENDED, RESTATED AND EXTENDED  

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

44 
 

Section 2: Amended, Restated and Extended Tax Increment Financing Plan 

The activities of the Tax Increment Financing Plan adopted by the JLDFA in May 2003 (hereinafter referred 

to as Current Plan) and the proposed activities of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan are described. 

Section 12(1) of the LDFA Act states that when a board decides to finance a project pursuant to the Act, it 

shall prepare a tax increment financing plan which shall include: 

(a) A STATEMENT OF THE REASONS THAT THE PLAN WILL RESULT IN THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE THAT COULD NOT OTHERWISE BE EXPECTED. THE 

REASONS MAY INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, ACTIVITIES OF THE MUNICIPALITY, 

AUTHORITY, OR OTHERS UNDERTAKEN BEFORE FORMULATION OR ADOPTION OF THE 

PLAN IN REASONABLE ANTICIPATION THAT THE OBJECTIVES OF THE PLAN WOULD BE 

ACHIEVED BY SOME MEANS. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Approximately fifty-five acres of the Troy CTP is the former Big Beaver Airport, which was underutilized 

for a number of years and while Zoned M-1, was tax-exempt property. The former Preston Trucking 

Company has been vacant for approximately three years and little activity has occurred during that period 

of time. In addition, the generally highly competitive situation for technology companies and the high price 

of real estate in Troy has placed the future of this entire area in jeopardy. 

The construction of the project will provide additional assessed valuation resulting in tax increment to 

finance the public facilities and redevelopment. Without the plan, public facilities to be acquired, 

constructed and financed pursuant to the project would not be feasible. 

The construction of the project will provide additional assessed valuation resulting in tax increments to 

finance the public facilities and redevelopment. Without the planned public facilities to be acquired, 

constructed and financed pursuant hereto the project would not be feasible. 

The above statements in the current Plan are accurate, although the Preston Trucking Company remained 

vacant until 2013. It is now occupied by Old Dominion Trucking, Inc. 

The primary focus of the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan is to attract and retain technology based 

businesses and jobs within the Troy CTP, the City of Troy and the region by supporting the activities of 

Automation Alley. Without the JLDFA, the City of Troy would not have any funding source to attract and 

retain technology based businesses and jobs and to support Automation Alley to the extent that is set forth 

in this Plan. 

The Plan will also result in the use of tax increment dollars to fund infrastructure to support the Automation 

Alley Smart Zone and enhance City of Troy infrastructure.  

  



 

45 
 

(b) AN ESTIMATE OF THE CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE FOR EACH YEAR OF THE PLAN. THE 

PLAN MAY PROVIDE FOR THE USE OF PART OR ALL OF THE CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE 

OR, SUBJECT TO THE SUB-SECTION (3), OF THE TAX INCREMENT REVENUES 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE LEVY OF ANY TAXING JURISDICTION, BUT THE PORTION 

INTENDED TO BE USED SHALL BE CLEARLY STATED IN THE PLAN. THE BOARD OR THE 

MUNICIPALITY CREATING THE AUTHORITY MAY EXCLUDE FROM CAPTURED ASSESSED 

VALUE A PERCENTAGE OF THE CAPTURED ASSESSED VALUE AS SPECIFIED IN THE PLAN 

OR GROWTH IN PROPERTY VALUE RESULTING SOLELY FROM INFLATION. IF EXCLUDED, 

THE PLAN SHALL SET FORTH THE METHOD FOR EXCLUDING GROWTH IN PROPERTY 

VALUE RESULTING SOLELY FROM INFLATION. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Exhibit C provides an estimate of the captured assessed value for each year of the plan. No exclusion for 

inflation is planned. 

Referring to the estimates found in Exhibit C, the actual performance of the tax increment financing plan 

is illustrated in Table 2 as follows: 

Table 2 

Estimated and Actual Captured Taxes 

Troy LDFA 

2003-2018 

Fiscal Year Estimated Captured Taxes Actual Captured Taxes 

2002/2003 0 0 

2003/2004 188,650.64 138,879 

2004/2005 537,569.09 138,881 

2005/2006 824,502.03 212,602 

2006/2007 831,598.76 248,244 

2007/2008 839,138.53 296,552 

2008/2009 847,117.90 295,134 

2009/2010 855,533.66 292,368 

2010/2011 864,382.85 196,186 

2011/2012 873,662.77 123,990 

2012/2013 883,370.93 86,234 

2013/2014 893,505.08 184,443 

2014/2015 904,063.21 125,448 

2015/2016 915,043.51 130,443* 

2016/2017 926,444.40 130,084* 

2017/2018 938,264.52 135,896* 

Total 12,122,847.86 2,735,381 

 

*Estimated  

For the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, please refer to Exhibit D for an estimate of the capture of 

the assessed value for each year. No exclusion for inflation is planned. 



 

46 
 

(c) THE ESTIMATED TAX INCREMENT REVENUES FOR EACH YEAR OF THE PLAN. 

The estimates of tax increment revenues for the Current Plan are provided in Exhibit C.  

The estimates of tax increment revenues for the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan are provided in 

Exhibit D. 

(d) A DETAILED EXPLANATION OF THE TAX INCREMENT PROCEDURE. 

The Current Plan described the tax increment procedures as follows: 

Tax increment financing for a Certified Technology Park permits the JLDFA to capture certain tax revenues 

attributable to increases in the Taxable Value of all real and personal property that is located in the CTP 

and included in the Tax Increment Financing Plan.   

Property value increases, in the case of the proposed Automation Alley SmartZone and Preston Trucking 

(now Old Dominion Trucking), will be attributable to the project.  

At the time the tax increment financing plan is approved by the City Council the Taxable Value of the real 

and personal property located in the CTP (the “Initial Assessed Value”) is established. The Initial Assessed 

Value is the Taxable Value of all of the real and personal property within the property within the CTP for 

the base year. Property exempt from taxation at the time of the determination of the Initial Assessed Value 

will be given an Initial Assessed Value of zero.  In each subsequent year for the duration of the tax increment 

financing plan the “Current Assessed Value” of the real and personal property will be determined. The 

Current Assessed Value for each year is the Taxable Value of all of the property located in the CTP for that 

year. 

The amount by which the Current Assessed Value exceeds the Initial Assessed Value in any one year is the 

“Captured Assessed Value”. For the duration of the tax increment financing plan, the local taxing 

jurisdictions will continue to receive tax revenues based upon the Initial Assessed Value established in the 

base year. The LDFA, however, receives that portion of the tax levy of all taxing jurisdictions paid each 

year on the Captured Assessed Value of the property included in the tax increment financing plan. It should 

be noted that the LDFA does not receive any part of millage specifically levied for the payment of principal 

and interest on obligations approved by the electors or obligations pledging the unlimited taxing power of 

the local governmental unit. Tax increment revenues from the Troy LDFA may be used for public facilities 

for any eligible property located in the Troy CTP or for the repayment of advances made for such purposes 

as provided in and in accordance with Act 281, subject to the approval of the MEDC if such approval is 

required by Act 281.   

  



 

47 
 

Table 3 shows the current millages and the portions of each jurisdiction’s millage captured under the 

Current Plan. 

Table 3 

Captured Millages 

Current Plan 

Taxing Authority Total Mills Non-Captured or  

Debt Mills 

Captured Mills City Only 

City of Troy* 9.4500 0.7500 8.7000 9.4500 

Oakland County 4.6523 0 4.6523 0 

Transportation 0.6000 0 0.6000 0 

Oakland Interm 

SD** 

3.4224 0 1.7112 0 

Community College 1.6090 0 1.6090 0 

State Education** 6.0000 3.0000 3.0000 0 

School Operating** 18.0000 9.0000 9.0000 0 

School Debt 3.1400 3.1400 0 0 

Administration 0.3742 0.3742 0 0 

Total Mills 47.2479 16.2642 29.2725 9.4500 

* = millage levy minus debt 

**= ½ millage levy  

For the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the explanation of tax increment financing is unchanged. 

Table 4 shows the current millages and the portions of each jurisdiction’s millage that captured under the 

Amended, Restated, and Extended Plan. Please note that the format of Table 4 has been changed from the 

Current Plan to more accurately reflect captured millages. The LDFA will capture ½ of the “Educational 

mills” which includes the local school district, the intermediate school district, and the state education tax 

mills.  The capture of the local school district, intermediate school district and state education tax mills will 

be subject to adjustment by the JLDFA if and to the extent required by Section 12(3) of the LDFA Act.  

The millage rate used are for the purpose of estimating tax revenue but are not intended to be a cap on the 

total mills that can be captured in the future.   

  



 

48 
 

Table 4 

Captured Millages 

Amended, Restated and Extended Plan 

Taxing Authority Total Mills Non-Capt or  

Debt Mills 

Captured Mills City Only 

City of Troy* 10.5 / 9.8 0.706 9.7940 / 9.094 10.5 / 9.8 

Oakland County 4.6461 0 4.6461 0 

Transportation 1.0 0 1.0 0 

Oakland Interm SD 3.369 1.684 1.684 0 

Community College** 1.5844 0 1.5844 0 

State Education** 6.0000 3.0000 3.0000 0 

School Operating** RP 18.0 / PP 6.0 RP 9.0 / PP 3.0 RP 9.0 / PP 3.0 0 

School Hold Harmless 5.3741 2.68705 0 0 

Total Mills 32.1036 / 31.4036 14.07755 / 11.07755 27.709 / 24.709 10.5 / 9.8 

* = millage levy minus debt 

** = ½ millage levy minus debt 

(e) THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT OF NOTE OR BONDED INDEBTEDNESS TO BE INCURRED, IF 

ANY. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The maximum amount of indebtedness for Phase 1 to the Troy CTP was estimated to be $12,443,000, 

although there was no indebtedness incurred. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the Troy CTP will not incur any bonded indebtedness. 

(f) THE AMOUNT OF OPERATING AND PLANNING EXPENDITURES OF THE AUTHORITY AND 

MUNICIPALITY, THE AMOUNT OF ADVANCES EXTENDED BY OR INDEBTEDNESS 

INCURRED BY THE MUNICIPALITY, AND THE AMOUNT OF ADVANCES BY OTHERS TO BE 

REPAID FROM TAX INCREMENT REVENUES. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The amount of operating and planning expenditures of the Authority and the City in connection with the 

activities of the Authority was estimated to be $100,000 per year. It was not anticipated that there would be 

any indebtedness incurred by the City. 

The actual costs of operating and planning expenditures were considerably less. 

In the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, the amount of operating and planning expenditures of the 

Troy LDFA and the City in connection with the activities of the CTP are not expected to exceed $25,000 

per year. 

 

(g) THE COSTS OF THE PLAN ANTICIPATED TO BE PAID FROM TAX INCREMENT REVENUES 

AS RECEIVED. 



 

49 
 

The Current Plan described the following: 

It is anticipated that the costs of the implementation of the Development Plan will be paid entirely from tax 

increment revenues as received. 

While it is anticipated that the costs of the implementation of the Amended, Restated and Extended 

Development Plan will come largely from tax increment revenues, the City and the Troy LDFA intend to 

pursue other sources of public and private funding to achieve the objectives of this Plan. 

(h) THE DURATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND THE TAX INCREMENT PLAN. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The Development Plan and the Tax Increment Financing Plan were to continue for the period of time needed 

to collect and disburse tax increments resulting from taxes levied after December 31, 2003. The 

Development Plan and Tax Increment Plan was expected to last for 15 years. 

The Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan becomes 

effective when approved will last for an additional period of 15 years, continuing for the period of time 

needed to collect and disburse tax increments resulting from taxes levied before December 31, 2033.   

 (i) AN ESTIMATE OF THE IMPACT OF TAX INCREMENT FINANCING ON THE REVENUES OF 

ALL TAXING JURISDICTIONS IN WHICH THE ELIGIBLE PROPERTY IS OR IS ANTICIPATED 

TO BE LOCATED. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

Except for those portions of millage specifically levied for the payment of principal and interest of 

obligations approved by electors or obligations pledging the unlimited taxing power of the local 

governmental units (the ‘debt’ portion of their millage), and ½ of all school captures for the duration of the 

extended plan, the tax revenues of the taxing jurisdictions for property within the CTP will not increase as 

a result of increases in the Taxable Value of property within the CTP until the termination of the Amended 

and Restated and Extended Tax Increment Financing Plan. However, the taxing jurisdictions have and are 

expected to continue to benefit from increased property values and accompanying tax increases for 

ineligible property within the CTP and from other nearby property outside the CTP. 

No change will occur with the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 

(j) A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE ELIGIBLE PROPERTY TO WHICH THE TAX INCREMENT 

FINANCING PLAN APPLIES OR SHALL APPLY UPON QUALIFICATION AS ELIGIBLE 

PROPERTY. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

The property to which the Current Plan applies consists of all real and personal property in the City of Troy, 

County of Oakland, State of Michigan located within the boundaries of the CTP described on Exhibit A 

attached.  

No change will occur with the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan. 



 

50 
 

(k) AN ESTIMATE OF THE NUMBER OF JOBS TO BE CREATED AS A RESULT OF 

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN. 

The Current Plan described the following: 

It is estimated that the construction of the projects will result in the creation of 700 jobs in the City. It is 

expected that the existence of this project will result in additional indirect jobs. In addition, one hundred 

(100) jobs are anticipated from construction activity. 

With the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, it is estimated that the construction of the projects 

described in Section 1 (d)(e)(f) and support of the activities of Automation Alley will result in the creation 

of over 360 jobs within the CTP. This job growth will likely come from existing companies such as Seco 

Tools, Precision Global Systems, Altair, Plastic Omnium, NBS Commercial Interiors and Old Dominion 

Trucking. 

(l) THE PROPOSED BOUNDARIES OF A CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK TO BE CREATED 

UNDER AN AGREEMENT PROPOSED TO BE ENTERED INTO PURSUANT TO SECTION 12a, AN 

IDENTIFICATION OF THE REAL PROPERTY WITHIN THE CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK TO 

BE INCLUDED IN THE TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN FOR PURPOSED OF 

DETERMINING TAX INCREMENT REVENUES, AND WHETHER PERSONAL PROPERTY 

LOCATED IN THE CERTIFIED TECHNOLOGY PARK IS EXEMPT FROM DETERMINING TAX 

INCREMENT REVENUES. 

The entirety of the current district boundaries of the Troy portion have been designated as a Certified 

Technology Park pursuant to agreements entered into with the MEDC.   Under both the Current Plan and 

the Amended, Restated and Extended Plan, personal property is not exempt in this Certified Technology 

Park. 



 

51 
 

TROY EXHIBITS 

 

 Exhibit Description 

 A Legal Description – Troy CTP 

 B Map -Troy CTP 

 C Captured Assessed Value of Current Plan 

 D Captured Assessed Value of Amended, Restated and Extended Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

52 
 

EXHIBIT A – LEGAL DESCRIPTION – TROY CTP 

PART OF THE NORTH ½ SECTION 26, T. 2N., R. 11E., CITY OF TROY, OAKLAND COUNTY, 

MICHIGAN, BEING DESCRIBED AS:  COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 

SECTION 26, THENCE S 89º 42’ 00” W. 720.60 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SECTION 26; 

THENCE S. 00º 29’ 22” E. 102.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, SAID POINT BEING ON 

THE SOUTH LINE OF BIG BEAVER ROAD (204.00 FEET WIDE); THENCE CONTINUING S. 00º 

29’ 22” E. 837.99 FEET (RECORDED AS S. 00º 11’31” W.); THENCE S. 89º 42’ 00”  W. 600.00 FEET; 

THENCE S. 00º 29’ 22” E. 1,231.93 FEET (RECORDED AS S. 00º 11’ 31” W.); THENCE N. 89º 21’ 30” 

W. 275.00 FEET (RECORDED AS DUE WEST) TO THE CENTERLINE OF THE STURGIS DRAIN 

EASEMENT; THENCE N. 55º 11’ 44” W. 785.73 FEET (RECORDED AS N. 53º 50’ 14” W.) ALONG 

THE CENTERLINE OF STURGIS DRAIN EASEMENT; THENCE N. 64º 27‘ 00” W. 141.02 FEET 

(RECORDED AS N. 65º 05’ 30” W.) ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF THE STURGIS DRAIN 

EASEMENT; THENCE N. 66º 04’ 33” W. 497.19 FEET; THENCE N. 47º 34’ 57” W. 200.22 FEET; 

THENCE N. 74º 32’ 17” W. 210.77 FEET; THENCE N. 71º 34’ 14” W. 397.45 FEET; THENCE N. 00º 

35’ 17” W. 1025.71 FEET; THENCE N. 89º 34’ 43” E. 50.76 FEET; THENCE S. 00º 35’ 17” E. 698 FEET; 

THENCE N. 89º 34’ 43” E. 325 FEET; THENCE S. 01º 06’ 40” E. 18.72 FEET; THENCE N 89º 31’ 16” 

E. 510.00 FEET; THENCE N. 00º 36’ 00” W. 716.12 (RECORDED AS N. 00º 56’ 45” E.) TO THE 

SOUTH LINE OF BIG BEAVER ROAD; THENCE N. 89º 35’ 11” E. 14.37 FEET (RECORDED AS S. 

88º 53’ 15” E.) ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF BIG BEAVER ROAD TO THE NORTH AND SOUTH 

¼ LINE OF SECTION 26; THENCE S. 00º 36’ 00’ E. 410 FEET (RECORDED AS S. 00º 04’ 55” E.) 

ALONG THE NORTH AND SOUTH ¼ LINE OF SECTION 26; THENCE N. 89º 42’ 00” E. 358.00 

FEET; THENCE N. 00º 36’ 00” W. 410.00 FEET (RECORDED AS N. 00º 04’ 55” W.) TO THE SOUTH 

LINE OF BIG BEAVER ROAD; THENCE N. 89º 42’ 00” E. 1564.00 FEET ALONG THE SOUTHERLY 

LINE OF BIG BEAVER ROAD (204 FEET WIDE) TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 

73.61 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

 



Exhibit B 
Troy CTP 

53 
 



 

54 
 

EXHIBIT C 

City of Troy CTP 

Estimated TIF Captured from Current Plan  

2003-2018 

Schedule of Estimated Projected (*Taxable) Values & Captured Taxes 

Year Base 

*Assessed 

Value 

Total Real 

& Personal 

Captured 

Value 

Captured 

Taxes 

(29.2725) 

(Mills) 

2003 13,548,470 13,548,470 0 0.00 

2004 13,548,470 19,993,107 6,444,637 188,650.64 

2005 13,548,470 31,912,774 18,364,304 537,569.09 

2006 13,548,470 41,714,907 28,166,437 824,502.03 

2007 13,548,470 41,957,344 28,408,874 831,598.76 

2008 13,548,470 42,214,916 28,666,446 839,138.53 

2009 13,548,470 42,487,505 28,939,035 847,117.90 

2010 13,548,470 42,775,002 29,226,532 855,533.66 

2011 13,548,470 43,077,306 29,528,836 864,382.85 

2012 13,548,470 43,394,324 29,845,854 873,662.77 

2013 13,548,470 43,725,972 30,177,502 883,370.93 

2014 13,548,470 44,072,172 30,523,702 893,505.08 

2015 13,548,470 44,432,857 30,884,387 904,063.21 

2016 13,548,470 44,807,963 31,259,493 915,043.51 

2017 13,548,470 45,197,437 31,648,967 926,444.40 

2018 13,548,470 45,601,233 32,052,763 938,264.52 

Total 15 year Captured Taxes 12,122,847.86 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT D 

City of Troy CTP 

Captured Assessed Value of Amended and Extended Plan 

2015/16 – 2018/19 and 2019/20 – 2034/35 

 

55 
 

Year Base Taxable Value 

Taxable 

Value 

Projected 

Total 

Increment 

per Year 

Capture of City 

taxes, or 

9.7940 mils, 

after 2015/16 

no library, or 

9.0974 mils 

Capture of 

County 

Operating 

Taxes, or 

4.6461 mils 

Capture of 

OCPTA 

taxes, or 1.0 

mils 

50 % Capture 

of ISD, or 

1.68450 mils  

Capture of 

OCC taxes, or 

1.5844 mils 

50% Capture of 

School Operating 

Taxes, or RP 9.0 

mils and 

commercial PP 

taxes, or 3.0 mils 

50% Capture of 

school hold 

harmless 

commercial & 

industrial PP 

taxes, or 2.68705 

mils  

50% State 

Education  tax 

RP & 

commercial PP 

taxes, or 3.0 

mils 

Total 

Annual 

Capture 

             

2015/16 14,447,380 22,850,510 8,403,130 82,329 39,042 8,403 14,155 13,314 5,136 21,921 0 184,299 

2016/17 14,447,380 21,614,437 7,203,056 65,529 33,466 7,203 12,134 11,413 7,118 18,126 0 154,988 

2017/18 14,447,380 21,315,797 6,868,417 62,485 31,911 6,868 11,570 10,882 9,131 16,647 0 149,495 

2018/19 14,447,380 21,322,698 6,875,318 62,548 31,943 6,875 11,581 10,893 11,176 6,566 0 151,094 

2019/20 14,447,380 20,824,268 6,376,888 58,013 29,628 6,377 10,742 10,104 13,253 14,140 6,566 148,821 

2020/21 14,447,380 20,656,578 6,209,198 56,488 28,849 6,209 10,459 9,838 15,363 13,082 7,318 147,607 

2021/22 14,447,380 20,534,640 6,087,260 53,378 28,282 6,087 10,254 9,645 17,506 12,137 8,084 147,374 

2022/23 14,447,380 20,454,326 6,006,946 54,648 

 

27,909 6,007 10,119 9,517 19,683 11,294 8,861 148,038 

2023/24 14,447,380 20,411,926 5,964,546 54,263 27,712 5,965 10,047 9,450 21,895 10,543 9,650 149,525 

2024/25 14,447,380 20,404,112 5,956,732 54,191 27,676 5,957 10,034 9,438 24,141 9,875 10,451 151,762 

2025/26 14,447,380 20,427,893 5,980,513 54,407 27,786 5,981 10,074 9,476 26,423 9,281 11,264 154,692 

2026/27 14,447,380 20,480,585 6,033,205 54,886 28,031 6,033 10,163 9,559 28,741 8,754 12,090 158,258 

2027/28 14,447,38014,447,380 20,659,944 6,212,564 56,518 28,864 6,213 10,465 9,843 31,096 8,557 12,929 164,484 

2028/29 14,447,380 20,848,623 6,401,243 58,235 29,741 6,401 10,783 10,142 33,488 8,371 13,780 170,944 

2029/30 14,447,380 21,046,438 6,599,058 60,034 30,660 6,599 11,116 10,456 35,917 8,205 14,645 177,631 

2030/31 14,447,380 21,253,220 6,805,840 61,915 31,621 6,806 11,464 10,783 38,385 8,049 15,523 184,545 

2031/32 14,447,380 21,468,812 7,021,432 63,877 32,622 7,021 11,828 11,125 40,892 7,905 16,320 191,778 

2032/33 14,447,380 21,693,071 7,245,691 65,917 33,664 7,246 12,205 11,480 43,438 7,772 17,239 199,123 

2033/34 14,447,380 21,925,864 7,478,484 68,035 34,746 7,478 12,598 11,849 46,025 7,651 18,239 206,620 

Total     1,149,695 584,153 125,730 211,791 199,206 468,807 218,392 183,131 3,140,905 

 

 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

1 
 

Chair Edmunds called the Regular meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission to order at 
7:00 p.m. on June 23, 2015 in the Council Board Room of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Ollie Apahidean 
Karen Crusse 
Donald Edmunds 
Michael W. Hutson 
Tom Krent 
Padma Kuppa 
Philip Sanzica 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
 

Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
Ben Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
David Roberts, Assistant Fire Chief/Fire Prevention 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-037 
Moved by: Krent 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-038 
Moved by: Strat 
Seconded by: Apahidean 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the June 9, 2015 Regular meeting as 
submitted. 
 

Yes: Apahidean, Crusse, Edmunds, Hutson, Krent, Kuppa, Sanzica, Strat 
Abstain: Tagle 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

stewartc
Text Box
P-01a



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Sanzica reported there was no Zoning Board of Appeals meeting in June. 

 
6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant reported there was no Downtown Development Authority meeting in June. 

 
7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant informed the Planning Commission of recently submitted applications. 

 
PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 
8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 998) – Proposed Murray Plaza, 

West side of Rochester between Vanderpool and Trombley (3385 Rochester), Section 
22, Currently Zoned GB (General Business) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle reported the revised Site Plan Application addresses all the items identified 
in his report dated June 3, 2015 and recommended approval of the application. Mr. 
Carlisle noted the revised plans reflect a dense evergreen buffer along the rear property 
line which more than satisfies the landscape requirements. 
 
Mr. Savidant reminded the Board that the applicant circulated building material samples 
at the June 9, 2015 meeting. 
 
The applicant was not present. 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-039 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Krent 
 

RESOLVED, That Preliminary Site Plan Approval, pursuant to Article 8 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, as requested for the proposed Murray Plaza, located west side of Rochester 
between Vanderpool and Trombley (3385 Rochester), Section 22, within the GB 
(General Business) District, be granted. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
The applicant arrived and was advised the Board granted Preliminary Site Plan 
approval. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

3 
 

ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT 
 
9. PUBLIC HEARING - ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 247) 

– Oil and Gas Extraction 
 
Mr. Savidant gave a PowerPoint presentation. He addressed the proposed regulations 
as relates to: 

 Zoning District 

 Special Use permit 

 Minimum lot size and setbacks 

 Screening and lighting 

 Potential oil and gas sites (map) 

 Nuisance performance standards 

 Submittal requirements 

 Comparison with Rochester Hills regulations 
 
Mr. Motzny addressed the proposed regulations with respect to the constitutionality and 
non-exclusionary aspects of the law.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Jennifer Halucha of 3219 Abington would like the City to strengthen its proposed 
regulations. She addressed regulations imposed by other communities. 
 
Lois Pylat of 2378 Topaz encouraged members of government to contact Lansing in an 
effort to stop fracking. She addressed the potential for health consequences. 
 
Cynthia Khan of 6902 Aurora addressed the dependency on other countries for energy 
and encouraged the use of our country’s resources. 
 
Toni Kovach of 2370 Topaz would like the City to strengthen the proposed regulations 
and provide protection of those who are in ill health. 
 
Michael Ross of 152 Randall addressed the viable direction in which our country needs 
to go to stabilize its borders and international economy. 
 
John Griffin of American Petroleum Institute, 124 W Allegan, Lansing, encouraged 
interested parties to learn more about the extraction of oil and fracking before speaking 
negatively on the matter. He addressed permitting in Troy, geological findings in 
Oakland County, protection of property rights and State regulations. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

4 
 

Chair Edmunds encouraged residents to contact their State legislators. 
 
Mr. Savidant advised the audience the Planning Commission is the recommending body 
for a proposed text amendment and a Public Hearing will be scheduled at a future City 
Council meeting for consideration. 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-040 
Moved by: Hutson 
Seconded by: Kuppa 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that Articles 2, 4, and 6 of Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy, which includes 
miscellaneous provisions related to oil and gas extraction, be amended as printed on 
the proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment.  
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

REZONING REQUEST 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746) – Proposed Troy 
Fire Station No. 4, North side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121 E Maple), Section 
25, From R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood Node ‘C’) 
 
Mr. Carlisle addressed the proposed rezoning as relates to the Master Plan, 
compatibility with the surrounding areas and the rezoning standards of the Zoning 
Ordinance. Mr. Carlisle stated that if the proposed rezoning is approved, the existing fire 
station would remain in service during the construction of the new fire station. He 
recommended approval of the proposed rezoning. 
 
Assistant Fire Chief David Roberts was present. 
 
Mr. Savidant addressed a conceptual drawing of the building layout. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
The following residents were present to express opposition to the proposed rezoning 
because of the close proximity of the new fire station to their homes. 
 

 Natasha Duda, 2167 E Maple 

 Lena Tereziu, 2155 E Maple 

 Theodhor Duda,  2167 E Maple 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

5 
 

Resolution # PC-2015-06-041 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Strat 
 

RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that the R-1E to NN ‘C’ rezoning request, located on the north side of Maple Road, east 
of John R (2103 and 2121 E. Maple Road), in Section 25, being approximately 0.885 
acres in size, be approved. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

11. CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 013) – Proposed Amber 
Studios and Lofts, East side of Livernois between Vermont and Birchwood, Section 21, 
From O (Office) District to MR (Maple Road) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle introduced the proposed Conditional Rezoning application. He addressed 
the application with respect to the Master Plan and site plan issues relating to height, 
density and parking. 
 
Present were Dennis Cowan of Plunkett Cooney, Jerome Amber of Amber Properties 
Company and Justin Wieber of Stantec. 
 
There was discussion on: 

 Master Plan consistency 

 Market demand for studio living 

 Building architecture, height, mezzanine, balcony screening. 

 Good location, positive reuse of vacant property 

 Vacation of alley 

 Parking 

 Snow removal 

 Stormwater management. 

 Surrounding vitality, magnets (MJR Theatre) 

 Single person tenancy 

 Pet policy 
 

12. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items on Current Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

6 
 

13. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT 
 
There were general Planning Commission comments. 
 
Mr. Strat shared with the Board that he is moving from the City of Troy and his last 
Planning Commission meeting would be July 14. 

 
The Regular meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 9:15 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
Donald Edmunds, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2015 PC Minutes\Final\2015 06 23 Regular Meeting_Draft.doc 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

1 
 

Chair Edmunds called the Regular meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission to order at 
7:00 p.m. on June 23, 2015 in the Council Board Room of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Ollie Apahidean 
Karen Crusse 
Donald Edmunds 
Michael W. Hutson 
Tom Krent 
Padma Kuppa 
Philip Sanzica 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
 

Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
Ben Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
David Roberts, Assistant Fire Chief/Fire Prevention 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-037 
Moved by: Krent 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-038 
Moved by: Strat 
Seconded by: Apahidean 
 

RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the June 9, 2015 Regular meeting as 
submitted. 
 

Yes: Apahidean, Crusse, Edmunds, Hutson, Krent, Kuppa, Sanzica, Strat 
Abstain: Tagle 
 

MOTION CARRIED 

stewartc
Text Box
P-01b



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Sanzica reported there was no Zoning Board of Appeals meeting in June. 

 
6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant reported there was no Downtown Development Authority meeting in June. 

 
7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 

 
Mr. Savidant informed the Planning Commission of recently submitted applications. 

 
PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 
8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 998) – Proposed Murray Plaza, 

West side of Rochester between Vanderpool and Trombley (3385 Rochester), Section 
22, Currently Zoned GB (General Business) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle reported the revised Site Plan Application addresses all the items identified 
in his report dated June 3, 2015 and recommended approval of the application. Mr. 
Carlisle noted the revised plans reflect a dense evergreen buffer along the rear property 
line which more than satisfies the landscape requirements. 
 
Mr. Savidant reminded the Board that the applicant circulated building material samples 
at the June 9, 2015 meeting. 
 
The applicant was not present. 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-039 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Krent 
 

RESOLVED, That Preliminary Site Plan Approval, pursuant to Article 8 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, as requested for the proposed Murray Plaza, located west side of Rochester 
between Vanderpool and Trombley (3385 Rochester), Section 22, within the GB 
(General Business) District, be granted. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
The applicant arrived and was advised the Board granted Preliminary Site Plan 
approval. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

3 
 

ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT 
 
9. PUBLIC HEARING - ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 247) 

– Oil and Gas Extraction 
 
Mr. Savidant gave a PowerPoint presentation. He addressed the proposed regulations 
as relates to: 

 Zoning District 

 Special Use permit 

 Minimum lot size and setbacks 

 Screening and lighting 

 Potential oil and gas sites (map) 

 Nuisance performance standards 

 Submittal requirements 

 Comparison with Rochester Hills regulations 
 
Mr. Motzny addressed the proposed regulations with respect to the constitutionality and 
non-exclusionary aspects of the law.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Jennifer Halucha of 3219 Abington would like the City to strengthen its proposed 
regulations. She addressed regulations imposed by other communities. 
 
Lois Pylat of 2378 Topaz encouraged members of government to contact Lansing in an 
effort to stop fracking. She addressed the potential for health consequences. 
 
Cynthia Khan of 6902 Aurora addressed the dependency on other countries for energy 
and encouraged the use of our country’s resources. 
 
Toni Kovach of 2370 Topaz would like the City to strengthen the proposed regulations 
and provide protection of those who are in ill health. 
 
Michael Ross of 152 Randall addressed the viable direction in which our country needs 
to go to stabilize its borders and international economy. 
 
John Griffin of American Petroleum Institute, 124 W Allegan, Lansing, encouraged 
interested parties to learn more about the extraction of oil and fracking before speaking 
negatively on the matter. He addressed permitting in Troy, geological findings in 
Oakland County, protection of property rights and State regulations. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

4 
 

Chair Edmunds encouraged residents to contact their State legislators. 
 
Mr. Savidant advised the audience the Planning Commission is the recommending body 
for a proposed text amendment and a Public Hearing will be scheduled at a future City 
Council meeting for consideration. 
 
Resolution # PC-2015-06-040 
Moved by: Hutson 
Seconded by: Kuppa 
 
RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that Articles 2, 4, and 6 of Chapter 39 of the Code of the City of Troy, which includes 
miscellaneous provisions related to oil and gas extraction, be amended as printed on 
the proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment.  
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

REZONING REQUEST 
 

10. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746) – Proposed Troy 
Fire Station No. 4, North side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121 E Maple), Section 
25, From R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood Node ‘C’) 
 
Mr. Carlisle addressed the proposed rezoning as relates to the Master Plan, 
compatibility with the surrounding areas and the rezoning standards of the Zoning 
Ordinance. Mr. Carlisle stated that if the proposed rezoning is approved, the existing fire 
station would remain in service during the construction of the new fire station. He 
recommended approval of the proposed rezoning. 
 
Assistant Fire Chief David Roberts was present. 
 
Mr. Savidant addressed a conceptual drawing of the building layout. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
The following residents were present to express opposition to the proposed rezoning 
because of the close proximity of the new fire station to their homes. 
 

 Natasha Duda, 2167 E Maple 

 Lena Tereziu, 2155 E Maple 

 Theodhor Duda,  2167 E Maple 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

5 
 

Resolution # PC-2015-06-041 
Moved by: Sanzica 
Seconded by: Strat 
 

RESOLVED, That the Planning Commission hereby recommends to the City Council 
that the R-1E to NN ‘C’ rezoning request, located on the north side of Maple Road, east 
of John R (2103 and 2121 E. Maple Road), in Section 25, being approximately 0.885 
acres in size, be approved. 
 

Yes: All present (9) 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

11. CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 013) – Proposed Amber 
Studios and Lofts, East side of Livernois between Vermont and Birchwood, Section 21, 
From O (Office) District to MR (Maple Road) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle introduced the proposed Conditional Rezoning application. He addressed 
the application with respect to the Master Plan and site plan issues relating to height, 
density and parking. 
 
Present were Dennis Cowan of Plunkett Cooney, Jerome Amber of Amber Properties 
Company and Justin Wieber of Stantec. 
 
There was discussion on: 

 Master Plan consistency 

 Market demand for studio living 

 Building architecture, height, mezzanine, balcony screening. 

 Good location, positive reuse of vacant property 

 Vacation of alley 

 Parking 

 Snow removal 

 Stormwater management. 

 Surrounding vitality, magnets (MJR Theatre) 

 Single person tenancy 

 Pet policy 
 

12. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items on Current Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 23, 2015 
  

 
 

6 
 

13. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT 
 
There were general Planning Commission comments. 
 
Mr. Strat shared with the Board that he is moving from the City of Troy and his last 
Planning Commission meeting would be July 14. 

 
The Regular meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 9:15 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
Donald Edmunds, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2015 PC Minutes\Final\2015 06 23 Regular Meeting_Final.doc 



 

 

1 
 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
  

Date:  July 9, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Maggie Hughes, Management Analyst 
    
Subject: Update on the Request from Resident Martha Wells for SMART Bus Shelters in Troy 
 
 
History 
 
At the June 22, 2015 City Council meeting resident Martha Wells raised concerns regarding the lack of 
bus shelters or benches at SMART stops in the City of Troy. She cited the brutal and unpredictable 
nature of Michigan’s weather as the main reason for her comments. Since this time, the City Manager’s 
Office has been exploring opportunities to address the problem. 
 
Action 
 
Staff began by speaking with SMART Ombudsman Madonna Van Fossen who requested that the city 
create a “wish list” of stops that we would like to see upgraded. She added that, in regards to shelter 
installations:  
 

“Depending upon the number of stops you would like upgraded SMART will decide how many 
they will cover financially. Since we service three counties (Wayne, Oakland, and Macomb), 
there has to be a balanced amount of funds spent for installations and upgrades between them. 
Therefore, once you request in passed along [sic], many variables are researched and a final 
determination made.” 

 
Below is the list of stops that will be submitted for consideration. This list includes input from Ms. Wells 
as well as staff recommendations. 
 

1. North west quadrant of Maple and Coolidge intersection (Servicing routes 460, 465, 780) 
2. Oakland Mall (Specific stop to be determined based on ridership numbers from SMART) 
3. South west quadrant, across from Kona Grill, of Livernois and Big Beaver intersection 

(Servicing route 430)  
4. South east quadrant, near MJR, of Maple and Livernois intersection 
5. Golfview at Dorchester, near Somerset Collection and Somerset Apartments (Servicing 

routes 430, 460, 780) 
 
Next Steps 
 
This list will be submitted to SMART on Tuesday, July 21. It will take two to three weeks to collect 
ridership numbers that will be used to value and determine which stops will be considered for an 
upgrade. The City of Troy will continue to work with SMART and Ms. Wells throughout the project. 

stewartc
Text Box
P-02a



 

 

2 
 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* North west quadrant of Maple and Coolidge intersection 



June 24, 2015 

 

 

To: Mayor Slater and City Council 

From:  Martha Wells, Troy resident 

Subject: Enclosed Bus Shelters 

 

I appreciate having had the opportunity to voice my concerns for the provision of sheltered bus stops 
along Troy bus routes, at the June 22 council meeting. 

Waiting for a bus in a thunderstorm or in blustery cold weather can be a challenge even for the best of 
us.  For some, it may mean arriving to work late, or missing work altogether because of the inability to 
wait in the rain or to trudge through the snow.  What can be done? 

The availability of enclosed shelter at the bus stops coincides with Troy’s vision statement which 
includes making Troy “an attractive place to live, work, and grow a business.”  There are a number of 
fronts on which to argue that as businesses grow, so will the magnitude of people traveling to those new 
jobs.  While it is not the City’s responsibility to see that bus shelters exist, a city is certainly exemplary 
when it shows concern for all of its workforce, those that live in the city and those that don’t. 

Additionally, as the City continues to grow, the potential benefits of providing enclosed shelters for bus 
riders may include: enhanced bus service in the Troy area, increase ridership leading to a minimization 
of vehicle emissions, and perhaps will encourage older citizens to remain active.  All of which helps Troy 
to remain the “City of the Future.” 

I look forward to this new phase of investing in the workforce. 

 

Respectfully, 

 

Martha C. Wells 

 

 

 



From: Martha Wells [mailto:yourgracemercy@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, June 24, 2015 11:39 AM
To: Maggie Hughes
Subject: Re: Bus Shelters

Good morning, Maggie.  I am elated to say the least, to see that "something" is being  done 

already concerning providing shelter at the bus stops.  I am willing to work with  you on this 

endeavor in any way that I can. My initial thought to your request is that  the covered shelters 

should be placed at the "major" stops (i.e. connecting bus stop,  most riders board here etc) 

however, I will try to get my hands on a Troy bus  schedule and will get back to you asap.  Also, 

please see attached letter to the City  Council. 

Note: The quickest way to reach me would be to text me (at least for now).

Thanks

Martha Wells

Count your blessings.

On Wednesday, June 24, 2015 11:06 AM, Maggie Hughes <Maggie.Hughes@troymi.gov> wrote:

Good morning Ms. Wells,

This is Maggie Hughes from the City Manager’s Office following-up on your request  for bus 

shelters/benches in the City of Troy. I spoke today with Madonna Van Foosen  from SMART, the 

operators of our bus service, and was asked to create a “wish list”  of bus stops that we would like 

to receive shelters. Because you brought this issue to City Council’s attention I would be remise 
to not include you in the process! If you  would like to submit to me a list of stop location that you 
believe are most in need of  shelters/benches please either respond to this email, call me at 
248-524-3327, or  come visit me in the City Manager’s Office.

Thank you again for sharing your concerns. I believe together we can have a huge  impact on our 
community!

Maggie Hughes  | Management Analyst
City of Troy | 500 W. Big Beaver, Troy, MI 48084  | Office: 248.524.3327 | Cell: 248.410.7241 | troymi.gov 
“We believe a strong community embraces diversity, promotes innovation, and encourages collaboration.  We strive 
to lead by example within the region. We do this because we want everyone to choose Troy as  their community for 
life. We believe in doing government the best.”

mailto:/O=CITY OF TROY/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=MAGGIE HUGHES72A
mailto:yourgracemercy@yahoo.com
mailto:Maggie.Hughes@troymi.gov


 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM

Date:  July 17, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  Larysa Figol, Sr. Right-of-Way Representative 
    
Subject: UPDATE: Sale of Surplus City Parcels 
 
 

City Council approved the sale of eleven (11) City owned remnant parcels on April 7, 2014. The 
development potential of the parcels fell into 2 categories, buildable and those whose development 
potential would best be realized if combined with an adjacent property.  
 

5 BUILDABLE PARCELS 

Of the 11 parcels, 5 were deemed buildable parcels and offered for sale to the public. Bid 
documents were upload to MITN.info with a bid deadline date of December 18, 2014. Four of the 
five properties received bids and City Council approved the highest bids at their January 12, 2015 
meeting. Staff has closed on all four parcels that received bids.  

 

6 ASSEMBLAGE PARCELS 
 
Staff sent letters to owners of properties that abut City owned parcels. We received no response 
from abutting property owners to 3 of our parcels. 
 
Of the remaining 3 parcels; we sold one, are waiting for confirmation of fee simple ownership on 
another and received an offer to purchase for the parcel located at Livernois and Cutting. This 
purchase offer will be presented to City Council at their July 20, 2015 meeting. 
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
P-02b



DEVELOPMENT 
POTENTIAL  PIN  ADDRESS/LOCATION  ZONING  ACRE 

APPRAISED 
AMOUNT 

Highest 
Bid/Sale 
Amount 

 
STATUS 

Buildable  88‐20‐03‐126‐006  6972 Donaldson  R‐1B  0.95  $55,000   $107,500  Closed 
Deed recorded 

Buildable  88‐20‐20‐226‐038  Engineering Field 
Office/Boulan Park 

CF  0.56  $80,000   $130,000  Closed 
Deed to be recorded 

Buildable  88‐20‐16‐476‐027  Livernois & Paragon  R‐1B  0.42  $45,000   $65,000  Closed 
Deed recorded 

Buildable  88‐20‐16‐476‐028  Livernois & Paragon  R‐1B  0.42  $45,000   $55,000  Closed 
Deed recorded 

Buildable  88‐20‐24‐451‐029  Big Beaver, West of 
Waterfall 

R‐1E  0.31  $55,000   No bids 
received 

 

Assemblage  88‐20‐10‐101‐018  Old Fire Station 2  O  0.34  $59,000   $30,000   Offer to purchase from one of 
adjoining property owners.       

To City Council for acceptance 
on 7‐20‐15 

Assemblage  88‐20‐28‐227‐006  2995 Livernois  BB  0.18  $40,000     No interest from adjoining 
property owner 

Assemblage  88‐20‐22‐358‐028  Big Beaver & Frankton  BB  0.21  $36,000     Staff is waiting for proof of fee 
ownership from adjacent 

property owner to proceed with 
sale process 

Assemblage  88‐20‐27‐155‐013  Hickory & Plum  R‐1E  0.17  $55,000     No interest from adjoining 
property owners 

Assemblage  88‐20‐34‐201‐003  598 E. Maple  IB  0.14  $6,200   $6,300  Closed  
Deed recorded 

Assemblage  88‐20‐26‐483‐053  John R & Maple  CB  0.39  $70,000     No interest from adjacent 
property owner 

            $393,800  



JO
HN R

MAPLE

CRO
O

KS
WATTLES

ADAM
S

CO
O

LI
DG

E

DEQ
UIN

DRE

LONG LAKE

BIG BEAVER

LI
VE

RNO
IS

SOUTH BLVD

RO
CHES

TE
R

SQUARE LAKE

FOURTEEN MILE

1

2

3/4

5

6

7
8

9

10
11



 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  RREEPPOORRTT  
 
Date:  July 16, 2015 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  William J. Huotari, Deputy City Enginer/Traffic Engineer  
    
Subject: Summary of Traffic Committee Discussion of Tucker Barricade 
 
A Private Agreement for Hunters Park 2 Site Condominiums is on the agenda tonight for approval of 
municipal improvements related to the development. 
 
An independent but parallel item regarding an existing barricade on Tucker was raised during the 
preliminary site plan approval for Hunters Park 2.  James and Dorothy Konarske stated their 
opposition to the project at the Planning Commission, based primarily on the proposed vehicular 
connection with Drake. This connection eliminated the “dead end” status of Drake and provided a 
more direct vehicular connection with John R Road.  The Konarkse’s submitted a request to remove 
the barricade on Tucker Street, east of John R. 
 
The issue of interconnectivity and the removal of the barricade on Tucker Street was placed on the 
agenda at the Traffic Committee meeting of July 15, 2015.  Notices were sent to properties in the SE 
quarter of Section 13 (322 addresses).   
 
Twenty-five (25) residents signed in at the meeting regarding the Tucker barricade item, but many 
more were in attendance and the venue was moved from the Lower Level Conference Room to City 
Council Chambers to accommodate the public in attendance.   
 
A petition was submitted opposed to the removal of the barricade and was signed by sixty-two (62) 
residents in the immediate area.  Emails in opposition to removing the barricade were received from 
twenty-five (25) residents.  Emails supporting removal were received from seven (7) residents. 
 
A majority of residents spoke in opposition to removing the barricade, while a minority spoke in favor 
of removing the barricade.   
 
A motion was made at the conclusion of public comment to “Leave the barricade in place and 
encourage an Emergency Vehicle Address (EVA)”.  This motion ended in a tie vote (3-3). 
 
The item will next be included on the Planning Commission agenda at their meeting of August 11.  A 
complete report with minutes of both meetings and supporting documentation will be provided to City 
Council at their meeting of August 24, 2015. 
 
WJH/wjh\G:\Traffic\aaa Traffic Committee\2015\7_July 15\Tucker Summary_July 15 2015_TC.doc 

stewartc
Text Box
P-02c



stewartc
Text Box
P-03a


	July 20, 2015 Agenda
	Cover Memo
	Vision Statement & Goals
	Top 10 Strategies
	AGENDA: Return to 1st Page
	EXPLANATION BOOKLET: Return to 1st Page
	INVOCATION:  Pastor Vincent Messina From Woodside Bible Church
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:
	A. CALL TO ORDER:
	B. ROLL CALL:
	C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:
	C-1 On behalf of the City of Troy Employees’ Casual for a Cause Program for the Months of March & April 2015, Community Affairs Director Cindy Stewart will Present a Check in the Amount of $596 to Executive Director Mary Grace McCarter from Rainbow Co...
	C-2 SAFEbuilt Scholarship Presentation to Curtis Hsu and Ellen Zhang (Introduced by Paul Featherston, SAFEbuilt Building Official and Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director)

	D. CARRYOVER ITEMS:
	D-1 No Carryover Items

	E. PUBLIC HEARINGS:
	E-1 Public Hearing – Rezoning Application – File Number: Z 746 – Proposed Troy Fire Station No. 4 – North Side of Maple, East of John R (2103 and 2121 E. Maple), Section 25 from R-1E (One Family Residential) District to NN ‘C’ (Neighborhood Node ‘C’) ...
	E-2 Public Hearing – Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment – File ZOTA 247 – Oil and Gas Extraction (Presented by Brent Savidant, Planning Director)

	F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES:
	G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC COMMENT:
	H. POSTPONED ITEMS:
	H-1 No Postponed Items

	I. REGULAR BUSINESS:
	I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – None; b) City Council Appointments – None
	I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Brownfield Redevelopment Authority, Local Development Finance Authority (LDFA), Planning Commission; b) City Council Nominations – Charter Revision Committee, Historic District Commission, ...
	I-3 Closed Session Requested
	I-4 TAP Grant Presentation – Trails and Pathways (Introduced by:  Kurt Bovensiep, Public Works Manager)
	I-5 Standard Purchasing Resolution #1:  Award to Low Bidder and Budget Amendment – Contract 15-8 Wattles Mill and Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) Overlay (Introduced by:  Steve Vandette, City Engineer)
	I-6 Resolution Concerning Fireworks (Introduced by:  Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney, and Gary Mayer, Chief of Police)
	I-7 Ballot Language for Library Millage Question - November 3, 2015 City General Election  (Introduced by:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager, Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney, Aileen Dickson, City Clerk, and Cathleen Russ, Library Director)

	J. CONSENT AGENDA:
	J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion
	J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council
	J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes
	a) Special City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – July 13, 2015
	b) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – July 13, 2015

	J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  None Submitted
	J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions
	a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 2:  Award to Lowest Bidders Meeting Specifications – Traffic Control Signs and Posts
	b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 4:  Cooperative Contract Award – Purchase of Grounds Maintenance Equipment

	J-5 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements Hunters Park 2 Site Condominiums – Project No. 15.904.3
	J-6 Relocation of Election Precincts 19 and 28
	J-7 Request to Accept an Offer to Purchase a City-Owned Remnant Parcel on Livernois Road at Cutting, Section 10 – Sidwell #88-20-10-101-018
	J-8 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Troy Market Homes, LLC – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-030
	J-9 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings, Inc. – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-028
	J-10 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings, Inc. – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-031
	J-11 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Srinivas Locula and Haripriya Locula – Sidwell #88-20-27-180-029
	J-12 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements – Multi-Tenant Development – Project No. 15.906.3
	J-13 Request to Vacate a Portion of an Existing Public Utility Easement – Sidwell #88-20-21-326-014
	J-14 Resolution Calling Public Hearings Regarding Approval of District Boundary Amendments and Approval of the Amended, Restated and Extended Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan of the Cities of Southfield and Troy Joint Local Developmen...
	EXHIBIT A
	EXHIBIT B
	EXHIBIT C


	K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS:
	K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted
	K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at  some future point in time):  None Submitted

	L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM TROY RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES:
	M. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC COMMENT:
	N. COUNCIL REFERRALS:
	N-1  No Council Referrals

	O. COUNCIL COMMENTS:
	O-1  No Council Comments Advanced

	P. REPORTS:
	P-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:
	a) Planning Commission-Draft – June 23, 2015
	b) Planning Commission-Final – June 23, 2015

	P-2 Department Reports:
	a) Update on Request for SMART Bus Shelters in Troy by Resident Martha Wells
	b) Update: Sale of Surplus City Parcels
	c) Summary of Traffic Committee Discussion of Tucker Barricade

	P-3 Letters of Appreciation:
	a) To Paul Featherston Commending Mark Riley for His Excellent Service

	P-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted

	Q. COMMENTS ON ITEMS ON OR NOT ON THE AGENDA FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC OUTSIDE OF TROY (NOT RESIDENTS OF TROY AND NOT FROM TROY BUSINESSES):
	R. CLOSED SESSION:
	R-1 Closed Session – City of Troy v. Grand Sakwa

	S. ADJOURNMENT:
	Attachments.pdf
	20150720 Agenda - E-01  PH - Rezoning App File No Z 746 - Proposed Troy Fire Station No 4 - From R-1E to NN 'C' District.pdf
	PC 2015 06 23 Fire digital.pdf
	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. MINUTES
	June 9, 2015

	4. PUBLIC COMMENT
	5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT
	6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT
	7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT
	8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 998)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan

	9. PUBLIC HEARING - ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 247)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Zoning Ordinance Draft Text 
	Map of potential oil and gas sites

	10. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps
	Master Plan Excerpt
	Planning Consultant Report
	Concept Drawing

	11. CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 013)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Maps
	Master Plan Excerpt
	Planning Consultant Report for Original Rezoning Application

	12. PUBLIC COMMENT
	13. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT


	20150720 Agenda - E-02  PH - Recommendation Regarding ZOTA 247 - Gas and Oil Extraction
	PC Item ZOTA 247l.pdf
	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. MINUTES
	June 9, 2015

	4. PUBLIC COMMENT
	5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT
	6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT
	7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT
	8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 998)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan

	9. PUBLIC HEARING - ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT (File Number ZOTA 247)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Zoning Ordinance Draft Text 
	Map of potential oil and gas sites

	10. PUBLIC HEARING – REZONING APPLICATION (File Number Z 746)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps
	Master Plan Excerpt
	Planning Consultant Report
	Concept Drawing

	11. CONDITIONAL REZONING APPLICATION (File Number CR 013)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Maps
	Master Plan Excerpt
	Planning Consultant Report for Original Rezoning Application

	12. PUBLIC COMMENT
	13. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT

	mcl-451-1994-III-3-2-615.pdf
	SUPERVISOR OF WELLS Division&&&&Part&&&&615&&&&SUPERVISOR OF WELLS
	324.61501 Section&&&&324.61501 &&&&Definitions.
	324.61502 Section&&&&324.61502 &&&&Construction of part.
	324.61503 Section&&&&324.61503 &&&&Supervisor of wells; assistants; commission as appeal board; hearing; compensation and expenses; office.
	324.61503a Section&&&&324.61503a &&&&Gas lease; duties of lessee; monthly revenue statements and payments; initiation; deferment.
	324.61503b Section&&&&324.61503b &&&&Postproduction costs.
	324.61503c Section&&&&324.61503c &&&&Violation of MCL 324.61503a or MCL 324.61503b; penalty; injunction or damages; separate offenses; recovery of postproduction costs and attorney fees; notice.
	324.61504 Section&&&&324.61504 &&&&Waste prohibited.
	324.61505 Section&&&&324.61505 &&&&Supervisor of wells; jurisdiction; authority; enforcement of part.
	324.61505a Section&&&&324.61505a &&&&Drilling permit for well beneath lake bottomlands for exploration or production of oil or gas; condition.
	324.61506 Section&&&&324.61506 &&&&Supervisor of wells; powers and duties generally.
	324.61506a Section&&&&324.61506a &&&&Notice of violation.
	324.61506b Section&&&&324.61506b &&&&Conditions prohibiting issuance of permit or authorization to drill oil or gas well; waiver; exception.
	324.61506c Section&&&&324.61506c &&&&Toll-free telephone number; maintenance; use.
	324.61507 Section&&&&324.61507 &&&&Prevention of waste; procedure; hearing; rules; orders.
	324.61508 Section&&&&324.61508 &&&&Rules of order or procedure in hearings or other proceedings; entering in book; copy of rule or order as evidence; availability of writings to public.
	324.61509 Section&&&&324.61509 &&&&Hearings; subpoena; witnesses and production of books; incriminating testimony.
	324.61510 Section&&&&324.61510 &&&&Failure to comply with subpoena; refusal to testify; attachment; contempt; fees and mileage of witnesses.
	324.61511 Section&&&&324.61511 &&&&False swearing as perjury; penalty.
	324.61512 Section&&&&324.61512 &&&&Allocation or distribution of allowable production in well, field, or pool; basis.
	324.61513 Section&&&&324.61513 &&&&Proration or distribution of allowable production among wells; basis; drilling unit; unnecessary wells; pooling of properties; location of well; exceptions; minimum allowable production; allowable production pursuant to rules or orders.
	324.61513a Section&&&&324.61513a &&&&Pooling of properties not required.
	324.61514 Section&&&&324.61514 &&&&Certificates of clearance or tenders; issuance.
	324.61515 Section&&&&324.61515 &&&&Handling or disposition of illegal oil or gas; penalty.
	324.61516 Section&&&&324.61516 &&&&Rule or order; public hearings required; emergency rules or orders without public hearing; requirements for public hearings held pertaining to pooling of properties.
	324.61517 Section&&&&324.61517 &&&&Actions against department or commission; jurisdiction of Ingham county circuit court; injunction or restraining order; actions pertaining to pooling of properties.
	324.61518 Section&&&&324.61518 &&&&Enforcement of part and rules; representation by attorney general; complaint; proceedings; powers of supervisor; exception.
	324.61519 Section&&&&324.61519 &&&&Failure of owner or operator to obtain permit or to construct, operate, maintain, case, plug, or repair well; notice of determination; liability; claims.
	324.61520 Section&&&&324.61520 &&&&Abandoning well without properly plugging; violation of part or rule; penalty; liability of owner; “owner” and “operator” defined.
	324.61521 Section&&&&324.61521 &&&&Unlawful acts; penalties.
	324.61522 Section&&&&324.61522 &&&&Violations of part, rule, or order; penalties.
	324.61523 Section&&&&324.61523 &&&&Confiscation of illegal oil or gas, oil or gas products, conveyances, and containers; notice; seizure; sale; intervention.
	324.61524 Section&&&&324.61524 &&&&Fee for monitoring, surveillance, enforcement, and administration of part.
	324.61525 Section&&&&324.61525 &&&&Permit to drill well; application; bond; posting; fee; issuance; disposition of fees; availability of information pertaining to applications; information provided to city, village, or township.
	324.61525a Section&&&&324.61525a &&&&Annual well regulatory fee; report.
	324.61525b Section&&&&324.61525b &&&&Oil and gas regulatory fund; creation; disposition of money or other assets; lapse; expenditures; annual report.
	324.61526 Section&&&&324.61526 &&&&Part cumulative; conflicting provisions repealed; exception.
	324.61527 Section&&&&324.61527 &&&&Applicability of part.



	20150720 Agenda - I-05  SPR1 Award to Low Bidder and Budget Amendment - Contract 15-8 - Wattles Mill and HMA Overlay
	20150720 Agenda - I-06  Resolution Concerning Fireworks
	20150720 Agenda - I-07  Ballot Language for Library Millage Question - November 3, 2015 City General Election
	20150720 Agenda - J-02a  Special City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft - July 13, 2015
	20150720 Agenda - J-02b  City Council Minutes-Draft - July 13, 2015
	20150720 Agenda - J-04a  SPR2 Traffic Control Signs and Posts
	20150720 Agenda - J-04b  SPR4 Purchase of Grounds Maintenance Equipment
	20150720 Agenda - J-05  Private Agreement - Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements Hunters Park 2 Site Condominiums - Project No 15 904 3
	Private Agreement Agenda ItemR1.pdf
	AGENDA.pdf
	3_2981 Iowa_DPW Memo.pdf
	6_Maple Vet Sidewalk Variance Request_2015-06-17.pdf
	p1 signed
	1 - Cover Sheet Maple Vet_2015-06-17
	Sheets
	1 - Cover Sheet
	2 - Site Plan
	3 - Landscape & Existing Drainage
	4 - Floor Plan
	5 - Elevations


	2 - Site Plan Maple Vet_2015-06-17


	3a_City of Troy Capital ImprovementsDoc.pdf
	Sidewalk VarianceReq 2981 Iowa Drive_2015-06-15
	Arial 2981 Iowa Dr Troy MI
	1 - Cover Sheet Maple Vet_2015-06-02
	Sheets
	1 - Cover Sheet
	2 - Site Plan
	3 - Landscape & Existing Drainage
	4 - Floor Plan
	5 - Elevations


	2 - Site Plan Maple Vet_2015-06-02
	Sheets
	1 - Cover Sheet
	2 - Site Plan
	3 - Landscape & Existing Drainage
	4 - Floor Plan
	5 - Elevations



	7a_Memo Planning and Traffic_Tucker Barricade.pdf
	PC 2015 03 24 digital.pdf
	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. MINUTES
	March 10, 2015

	4. PUBLIC COMMENT
	5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT
	6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT
	7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT
	8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW – Proposed Hunters Park 2 Site Condominium
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan Application
	MDEQ Report

	9. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 1002-B) - Proposed The Mark of Troy
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	February 10, 2015 Minutes Excerpt 
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan Application

	10. PUBLIC COMMENT
	11. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT





	20150720 Agenda - J-06  Relocation of Election Precincts 19 and 28
	20150720 Agenda - J-07  Request to Accept an Offer to Purchase a City-Owned Remnant Parcel on Livernois Road at Cutting - Section 10 - Sidwell 88-20-10-101-018
	20150720 Agenda - J-08 Request for Acceptance of Two Permanement Easements from Troy Market Homes LLC - Sidwell 88-20-27-180-030
	20150720 Agenda - J-09 Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings Inc - Sidwell 88-20-27-180-028
	20150720 Agenda - J-10  Request for Acceptance of a Permanent Easement from Michigan United Holdings Inc - Sidwell 88-20-27-180-031
	20150720 Agenda - J-11  Request for Acceptance of Two Permanent Easements from Srinivas Locula and Haripriya Locula - Sidwell 88-20-27-180-029
	20150720 Agenda - J-12  Private Agreement - Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements - Multi-Tenant Development - Project 15 906 3
	Building Elevations.pdf
	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. MINUTES
	May 26, 2015

	4. PUBLIC COMMENT
	5. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 1001)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Approved Preliminary Site Plan/Elevations 
	Proposed Revised Site Plan/Elevations

	6. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 1006)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Planning Consultant Report 
	Site Plan

	7. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 1007)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Planning Consultant Report
	Site Plan

	8. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 998)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Maps (2)
	Planning Consultant Report
	Minutes September 23, 2014
	Site Plan

	9. PUBLIC COMMENT
	10. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT


	20150720 Agenda - J-13  Request to Vacate a Portion of an Existing Public Utility Easement - Sidwell 88-20-21-326-014
	20150720 Agenda - J-14  Resolution Calling Public Hearings Regarding JLDFA
	20150720 Agenda - P-01a  Planning Commission-Draft - June 23, 2015
	20150720 Agenda - P-01b  Planning Commission-Final - June 23, 2015
	20150720 Agenda - P-02a  Update on Request for SMART Bus Shelters in Troy by Resident Martha Wells
	7.20.15 SMART Bus Shelters Report
	07.20.15 - Letter of Appreciation to City Council re Enclosed Bus Shelters
	Troy City Council Thank You Letter 6 24 2015 (00000005)
	Martha Wells LOA


	20150720 Agenda - P-02b  Update - Sale of Surplus City Parcels
	20150720 Agenda - P-02c  Summary of Traffic Committee Discussion of Trucker Barricade
	20150720 Agenda - P-03a LoA to Paul Featherston From Charlene Femminino Regarding Excellent Customer Service From Mark Riley




